PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Date: Tuesday 6 February 2018
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue:

Committee Room B6, Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton Hill SW2 1RW

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov
Members of the Committee
Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor Nigel Haselden, Councillor Diana Morris, Councillor Mohammed
Seedat, Councillor Joanne Simpson (Vice-Chair) and Councillor Clair Wilcox (Chair)
Substitute Members
Councillor Liz Atkins, Councillor Anna Birley, Councillor Jennifer Brathwaite, Councillor Tim Briggs, Mayor
Marcia Cameron, Councillor Jane Edbrooke, Councillor Robert Hill, Councillor Ben Kind, Councillor Luke
Murphy, Councillor Louise Nathanson, Councillor Jane Pickard and Councillor Sonia Winifred
Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Maria Burton, Telephone: 020 7926 8703; Email: MBurton2@lambeth.gov.uk
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting. If you have any specific needs please contact
Facilities Management (020 7926 1010) in advance.
Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.
Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact Democratic
Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the
meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons including disruption caused by
the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that it
can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Representation
Ward Councillors (details via the website www.lambeth.gov.uk or phone 020 7926 2131) may be
contacted at their surgeries or through Party Group offices to represent your views to the Council:
(Conservatives 020 7926 2213) (Labour 020 7926 1166).
Security
Please be aware that you may be subject to bag searches and asked to sign in at meetings that are held
in public. Failure to comply with these requirements could mean you are denied access to the meeting.
There is also limited seating which is allocated on a first come first serve basis, you should aim to arrive at
least 15 minutes before the meeting commences. For more details please visit: our website.
Please contact Democratic Services for further information – 020 7926 2170 – or the number on the front
page.
Map

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING
Page
Nos.

1.

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct (para. 4)) in any matter
to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a committee, sub-committee or
joint committee, they must withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of
the consideration of that matter and must not participate in any vote on that
matter unless a dispensation has been obtained from the Monitoring Officer.
Town & Country Planning Act (1990), The Planning & Compensations Act
(1991), The Town & Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) Regulations
(1992), The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act (1990),
The Town & Country Planning General Regulations (1990), The Rush
Common Act 1806 and related legislation: Applications
For information on documents used in the preparation of the reports contact
the Planning Advice Desk, Tel: 020 7926 1180.

2.

Princes Wharf, Upper Ground (Bishops) 17/04152/FUL

1 - 12

Recommendation:
Resolve to grant conditional planning permission

3.

41-45 Acre Lane (Brixton Hill) 17/03846/FUL

13 - 84

Recommendations:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the
completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the planning obligations listed in
this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and
Development to:
-

Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report; and
Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this
report pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission
and there is a subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to
officers, having regard to the heads of terms set out in the report, to
negotiate and complete a document containing obligations pursuant to
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to
meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.

4.

The London Television Centre, 60 - 72 Upper Ground (Bishops)
17/03986/FUL
Recommendations:

85 - 178

1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to any
direction that may be received following referral to the Mayor of London
and subject to the completion of a Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 of the planning obligations listed in this
report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and
Development to:
 Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report
including such amendments, additions and/or deletions as the
Director of Planning and Development (in consultation with the
Planning Committee Chair) considers reasonably necessary; and
 Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in
this report pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990, including adding to, amending and/or deleting
the obligations detailed in the heads of terms as the Director of
Planning and Development (in consultation with the Planning
Committee Chair) considers reasonably necessary.
3. If the Section 106 Agreement is not signed by 31 March 2018 the
Director of Planning, Transport and Development be given delegated
powers to consider refusing the application in the absence of a legal
agreement.
4. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission

and there is a subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to
officers, having regard to the heads of terms set out in the report, to
negotiate and complete a document containing obligations pursuant to
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to
meet the requirements of the Planning Inspector.

5.

Graphite Square (Princes) 17/02936/FUL
Recommendations:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to any direction
that may be received following referral to the Mayor of London and subject
to the completion of an agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 including the planning obligations listed in
this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport
and Development to:



Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report; and
Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this
report pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and
there is a subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers,
having regard to the heads of terms set out in the report, to negotiate and
complete a document containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to meet the requirements of
the Planning Inspector.

179 - 288

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE (PAC) FAQs - YOUR QUESTIONS ANSWERED
1

Who sits on the PAC?
The Council has established a PAC, which consists of seven Councillors (elected members).

2

Where and when do PAC meetings take place?
Meetings are usually held at the Karibu Education Centre, 7 Gresham Rd, London SW9 7PH.
However, the Town Hall is closed, PAC will be held in a number of different venues across the
borough. Please therefore ensure that you check the front page of the agenda pack before every
meeting.
The meetings are normally held on a Tuesday evening at 7pm, one or two times a month and are
listed on the Council’s calendar of meetings at:
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCalendarMonthView.asp?GL=1&bcr=1

3

Can I attend PAC meetings?
Yes. All PAC meetings are open to the press and public although on rare occasions the Committee
may discuss a matter in private.

4

How can I get a copy of any reports to be considered by PAC?
The officer reports on applications to be considered are circulated to PAC Members and published
on the Council’s website a week before the meeting. Papers for meetings can be viewed at:
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=600
A limited number of hard copies are also available from Democratic Services at the meeting.

5

Can I make written representations to the PAC meeting?
Yes. Written representations, including any letters, petitions or photos should be:

Sent to the relevant case officer listed on the front page of the officer report preferably by
email.

Sent by 12 noon two clear working days before the meeting. Meetings are normally on a
Tuesday, so the deadline would be 12 noon by the Thursday before the meeting.

6

Can I speak at PAC meetings?
Yes. Up to three supporters (including applicants), three objectors and the Ward Members can
address the meeting at the Committee’s discretion for a maximum of two minutes each.
You must register your wish to speak on any application by telephoning Democratic Services on 020
7926 8703 or emailing democracy@lambeth.gov.uk by 12 noon on the last working day before
the meeting. You will be required to supply in writing an outline of the points you wish to
raise at the meeting. If you telephone, Democratic Services will record these points.
Where the number of requests to speak exceeds three, and/or it is clear the speakers wish to make
similar points, like-minded speakers will be asked to liaise with each other so that all the points can
be raised succinctly.

7

Does the PAC consider applications in the order listed on the agenda?
Not necessarily. The order of business is determined at the meeting taking into consideration:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Applications which are withdrawn or which officers recommend should be deferred.
Applications where there are no notified speakers present wishing to address the committee
and members have no questions to ask the applicant or officers.
Applications which have been deferred from a previous meeting or have been the subject of a
site visit.
Applications for developments which would be in receipt of public funding and which are
subject to deadlines affecting delivery and other applications subject to specific deadlines.
Applications regarded as a priority due to the large number of people present, or where
applicants, objectors or other members of the public have special requirements.

8

What is the process for considering an application at the meeting?
Officers will introduce each application with a brief presentation which will usually include drawings
and photographs of the application site. The Committee will then hear from and question all
interested parties. Any registered objectors will speak first with applicants having the right of reply.
The merits of the application are considered taking into account the views of the interested parties
and planning officers before the committee reaches a decision.

9

What time does the meeting come to an end?
The meeting will be conducted in a business-like fashion and the Committee will endeavour to deal
with reports as quickly as possible.
However if there is a lot of outstanding business at 9.00pm the Chair will advise the meeting if and
how the timetable for the meeting has to be revised, in order to deal with remaining business and
finish the meeting at 10.00pm. At 10.00pm, if the meeting has not ended, the meeting will decide
which business can be completed by 10.45pm and any business not reached by that time will be
deferred to the next meeting.

10

What are site visits?
Site visits are arranged by Planning Officers to allow members of the PAC to observe the site and
gain a better understanding of the impact of the proposal. The decision of whether to have a site
visit is made by the Chair of the committee in consultation with the Director of Planning and
Development.

11

When do site visits take place and can I attend?
Site visits will normally take place on the Saturday morning immediately prior to the committee which
will consider the application. An alternative date can be arranged with the agreement of the Chair.
Other than for reasons of access, the arrangements for site visits will not normally be publicised or
made known to applicants, agents or third parties except in exceptional circumstances. Objectors
are not invited to site visits except in exceptional circumstances.
For more information please see the ‘Protocol for Members of the Planning Applications Committee’
in the Council Constitution.

12

If I am unable to attend the PAC meeting, how can I find out the decision?
Decisions will be posted on Twitter from @lbldemocracy immediately as the decision is taken. You
can also contact Democratic Services by telephone or email. The minutes from the meeting will also
be available on the Council’s website approximately five clear working days after the meeting.
Planning officers will send the applicant and any interested parties who have made written
representations formal notification of the Committee decision.

13

Can I listen to PAC online?
Yes! You can now listen to the any meeting of the PAC live via the council’s website. Simply go to
the specific meeting webpage (via the main PAC webpage) and tune in from the start of the
meeting. You can also listen back to previous meetings via the same method.

14

What is the addendum?
Sometimes planning officers are required to make amendments or add further information to
planning reports after the main agenda pack has been published. These changes will be
documented in an addendum (published the Friday before the meeting), and if necessary a second
addendum (published the day of the meeting). All addenda can be reviewed online as soon as it is
published and hard copies are made available for members of the public at the meeting.

15

Where can I get further information or advice?
If you would like further information or advice, please contact:
(a) Town Planning Advice Desk: Tel: 020 7926 1180, Email: planning@lambeth.gov.uk
(b) Town Planning Webpage: http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/Services/HousingPlanning/Planning/
(c) Democratic Services: Tel: 020 7926 8703, Email: democracy@lambeth.gov.uk

Guide to Use Classes Order in England (May 2013)
The table below is intended as a general guide. Reference needs to be made to the Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes)
Classes

Use/Description

A1
Shops

Shops, retail warehouses, hairdressers, undertakers,
travel and ticket agencies, post offices, pet shops,
sandwich bars, showrooms, domestic hire shops, dry
cleaners, funeral directors and internet cafes.

A2
Financial &
professional
services

Financial services such as banks and building societies,
professional services (other than health and medical
services) including estate and employment agencies and
betting offices.

A3
Restaurants &
cafés

For the sale of food and drink for consumption on the
premises - restaurants, snack bars and cafes.

A4
Drinking
establishments

Public houses, wine bars or other drinking
establishments (not night clubs).

A5
Hot food
takeaways

For the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises.

B1
Business

a) Office other than a use within Class A2.
b) Research and development of products or processes.
c) Light industry appropriate in a residential area.

B2
General industrial

Use for industrial process other than one falling within
class B1 (excluding incineration purposes, chemical
treatment or landfill or hazardous waste).

B8
Storage or

This class includes open air storage.

Permitted change
Mixed use as A1 and up
to 2 flats above.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A2, A3, B1.
To A1 where there is a
display window at ground
floor level and to mixeduse as A2 and up to 2
flats above.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A3, B1.
To A1 where there is a
display window at ground
floor level, and A2.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, B1.
To A1, A2 or A3.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, A3,
B1.
To A1, A2 or A3.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, A3,
B1.
To B8 subject to total
floorspace being no
greater than 500sqm.
B1(a) permitted change
to C3 subject to: prior
approval process;
previous use timings;
limitations and exempt
areas (until 30.05.16).
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, A3.
To state-funded school,
subject to prior approval.
To B1 and B8. Permitted
change to B8 is subject
to total floorspace being
no greater than 500sqm.
To B1 subject to total
floorspace being no

distribution
C1
Hotels
C2
Residential
institutions
C2A
Secure residential
institutions

C3
Dwellinghouses

C4
Houses in
multiple
occupation
D1
Non-residential
institutions

Hotels, boarding and guest houses where no significant
element of care is provided (excludes hostels).
Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes,
boarding schools, residential colleges and training
centres.
Prisons, young offenders’ institutions, detention centres,
secure training centres, custody centres, short term
holding centres, secure hospitals, secure local authority
accommodation or use as a military barracks.
Use as a dwellinghouse: a) A single person or by people
to be regarded as forming a single household; b) Not
more than six residents living together as a single
household where care is provided for residents; c) Not
more than six residents living together as a single
household where no care is provided to residents (other
than use within Class C4).
Small shared houses occupied by 3-6 unrelated
individuals, as their only or main residence, who share
basic amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom. NB Large
HMOs (more than 6 people) are unclassified and
therefore sui generis.
Clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, day
centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire),
museums, libraries, halls, places of worship, church
halls, law court. Non residential education and training
centres.

greater than 500sqm.
To state-funded school,
subject to prior approval.
To state-funded school,
subject to prior approval.
To state-funded school,
subject to prior approval.

To C4.

To C3.

Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, A3,
B1.

D2
Assembly and
leisure

Cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and dance halls
(but not night clubs), swimming baths, skating rinks,
gymnasiums or area for indoor or outdoor sports and
recreations (except for motor sports, or where firearms
are used).

To state-funded school,
subject to prior approval.
Temporary permitted
change (2 years) for up
to 150sqm to A1, A2, A3,
B1.

Sui Generis
Uses that do not
fall
within a specified
class

Includes theatres, large houses in multiple occupation,
hostels providing no significant element of care, scrap
yards, petrol filling stations and shops selling and/or
displaying motor vehicles, retail warehouse clubs,
nightclubs, launderettes, taxi businesses, amusement
centres and casinos.

No permitted change
except casino to D2.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

Page 2

Address:

Princes Wharf, 58 Upper Ground, London, SE1 9PP

Application Number:
17/04152/FUL

Case Officer:
Ben Le Mare

Ward:
Bishops

Date Received:
14.08.2017

Proposal:
Demolition of existing temporary structures (external staircases, portable building, bridge
links and other structures) and making good to the fabric of the retained building.
Drawing numbers: 2000 Rev.E, 2100 Rev.A, 2101 Rev.A, 2102 Rev.A, 2153 Rev.A, 2200
Rev.C,2201 Rev.D, 2202 Rev. E, 2453 Rev.B, 2507 Rev.B, 9010 Rev.B (photographs of
structures to be removed)
Recommendation:
Resolve to grant conditional planning permission
Applicants:
ITV Plc

Agent:
DP9

Page 3

SITE DESIGNATIONS
Relevant site designations:
London Plan Waterloo Opportunity Area
Protected Vista LVMF - Westminster Pier To St Pauls Cathedral - 8A.1
CA38 : South Bank Conservation Area
Flood Risk Zone 3
London Plan Thames Policy Area
Lambeth Local Plan Policy PN1: Site 9 – ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground
LAND USE DETAILS
Use Class

Use Description

Existing Internal
Floorspace
(square metres)

B1(a)

Offices

4,697 sq.m

Gross internal
floorspace to be
lost by
demolition
(square metres)
271.9 sq.m

Total
remaining
floorspace
(square
metres)
4,425.1 sq.m

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing portable buildings, a connecting
bridge link and associated structures to Princes Wharf, a narrow, rectangular plot which is
located between the ITV Studios and Gabriel’s Wharf. The Site is located within the South
Bank Conservation Area. The works are required in order to implement the future mixed use
re-development of the ITV Studios; an application has been submitted for the erection of a 14storey and a 31-storey building on the site, to provide office, retail and residential uses
(application reference 17/03986/FUL). This is currently pending consideration.
By enabling the wider re-development of the ITV Studios, the proposals would contribute to
the Council’s objectives to develop opportunity Site 9, as designated by the Lambeth Local
Plan, and therefore accord with Policy PN1. The relatively modest loss of office floorspace
should be seen in context with the provision of replacement office accommodation put forward
in the aforementioned application.
The works would involve the demolition and removal of structures within a site which is
considered to make a negative contribution to the character and appearance of the
conservation area, as described by the South Bank Conservation Area Statement. Works of
repair and making good would be controlled by condition where necessary, to ensure
alterations are sympathetic to the conservation area. The proposals would therefore accord
with Policies Q5 and Q22 of the Local Plan.

Page 4

PLANNING OFFICER’S REPORT
Reason for referral to Planning Applications Committee:
The application is reported to the Planning Applications Committee in accordance with
(1)(c) of the Committee’s terms of reference as it relates to development carried out on
a site having an area of 1 hectare or more.
1

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
The Site is a long narrow plot located between ITV Building and Gabriel’s Wharf, within
the South Bank Conservation Area (CA38). The site includes No.58 Upper Ground
which fronts Upper Ground and is described within the South Bank Conservation Area
Statement (SBCAS) as a ‘Neo Tudor buildings which adds interest and detail on an
otherwise plain part of Upper Ground’ (SBCAS, 2007). A warehouse building currently
occupies the site with elevations fronting Queen’s Walk and Gabriel’s Wharf both of
which are painted. The SBCAS identifies the site as making a negative contribution to
the character and appearance of the conservation area.
The Site is situated within the South Bank ‘Cultural Quarter’ and is an area of mixed
use comprising civic, cultural, commercial and residential uses and buildings of
different periods and styles, many of good architectural quality. The buildings in the
surrounding area fronting Queen’s Walk include the Royal Festival Hall, National
Theatre, IBM, The Oxo Tower and Sea Containers. There are also varied types of
residential use to the south of the Site along Upper Ground, where Iroko and Mulberry
Housing Co-Operatives face the Site.
The Site is a designated opportunity site (ref. Site 9) in the Lambeth Local Plan 2015,
along with the Princes Wharf and Gabriel’s Wharf. It is also within the Waterloo
Opportunity Area (OA).

2

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL
Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing structures on the site,
and other enabling works in order to implement the future development on the adjacent
ITV site (application reference 17/03986/FUL), as detailed below:
Ground Floor:
1. Demolition of the existing steel fire escape stair to west elevation.
2. Infilling of existing door openings to west elevation with matching materials (both
painted brickwork and painted render). This will be secured by condition (see
condition 3).
3. The removal of existing railings, gates and turnstile to the west elevation.
First Floor:
1. Demolition of the existing steel fire escape stair elevation and replacement with
matching black painted metal railings to west elevation. This will be secured by
condition (see condition 3).

Page 5

2. Infilling of existing door openings to west elevation with matching materials (both
painted brickwork and painted render). This will be secured by condition (see
condition 3).
3. The uncovering of original windows to the west elevation (making good if required)
4. Removal of portable buildings and connecting bridge structure to the west
elevation, together with the infilling of window and door openings within the original
Princes Wharf fabric.
5. Removal of the enclosed temporary link bridge between portable buildings and
Princes Wharf (No.58 Upper Ground), together with the infilling of a door, and
making good of the roof deck with roofing membrane to match surrounding areas.
6. It is also proposed to remove the existing ITV sign to the west elevation of No. 58
Upper Ground.

Figure 1: Structures to be demolished

Page 6

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The Application Site
Application No.
01/00540/FUL

Proposals
Erection of first floor extension to existing
studio 8 to create scenery storage area,
on top of existing flat roof area.

Decision
Granted

Date
16.07.2001

01/01917/FUL

Erection of 1 storey extension at semi
basement level to provide storage space.

Granted

14.11.2001

02/01702/FUL

Erection of single storey ground floor
extension to existing set storage area.

Granted

06.08.2002

09/01140/FUL

Removal of 2 existing windows and
replace with new timber doors and
installation of timber windows.
Installation of new door with balustrade
and step up to opening with new
aluminium door to match existing.
Replacement of existing curtain walling
with new timber door and window unit.

Granted

25.06.2009

The London Television Centre, 60 - 72 Upper Ground, London
Application No.
17/02292/EIASCP

Proposals
Decision
Request for a Scoping Opinion in respect Issued
of an Environmental Impact Assessment
in relation to a planning application for the
demolition of the existing structures,
including the ITV Tower, to be replaced
with television, office, and studio
accommodation
incorporating
a
residential tower of up to 38 storeys.

Date
20.06.2017

17/03986/FUL

Demolition of existing buildings and the Pending
construction of two new buildings (up to
14 storeys and 31 storeys in height with
two basement levels) for the provision of
circa. 44,434 sq.m of offices (Use Class
B1), 3,634 sq.m of television studios (Sui
Generis), 216 sq.m of retail (Use Class
A1) and 213 residential dwellings (Use
Class C3) with associated vehicle and
cycle parking, access works, servicing
and landscaping.

N/A

The application is accompanied by an
Environmental Statement (ES).

Page 7

4

CONSULTATIONS

4.1.1

The proposal was advertised on site and in the press. Letters notifying ‘neighbours’ of
the application, were sent to 39 addresses, and a number of statutory and non-statutory
consultees were notified.

4.1.1

The representations are discussed and grouped below under the headings ‘Statutory
Consultees’, ‘Internal Consultees’, ‘Local Groups/Other Consultees’ and
‘Residents/Neighbours’.

4.2

Statutory Consultees

4.2.1

Historic England: Responded, stating that they did not wish to offer any comments.

4.3

Internal Consultees

4.3.1

The following section of the report presents the responses received from colleagues
across the Council. The details of the comments are presented within the planning
assessment section.

4.3.2

Design and Conservation: No objections, following the receipt of revised drawings and
subject to relevant conditions. These will be detailed within section 6.2 of the report.

4.3.3

Planning Enforcement Team: No response received

4.3.4

Regeneration Team: No response received

4.4

Local Groups / Other Consultees and Stakeholders

4.4.1

Coin Street Community Builders (CSCB):

Comment
The CSCB recognises that the demolition
and alterations presented in the application
are necessary enabling steps for the main
redevelopment plans, but raise concerns
about the missed opportunity to create a
high quality pedestrian route from Upper
Ground to the Riverside Walkway, in line
with Policy PN1.

Officer Response
Officers welcome the comments from the
CSCB which provide general support to the
scheme. The proposals amount to the
demolition and modest alteration of existing
buildings in Princes Wharf, and cannot
comment on the merits of any proposed
pedestrian route which does not form part
of the submitted scheme.

A reduction in size of the single storey
buildings would allow a broader entrance to
new route to the Riverside and improve the
public realm in this location.

Although the proposed new route
technically falls within the ‘red line’ of the
application site, officers can only consider
the planning merits of the proposals
submitted, and cannot speculate on
alternative designs. A detailed assessment
is provided in section 6 below.

The CSCB (as freeholder) would be willing
to ‘pull back’ any future development of
Princes Wharf, enabling a section of land to
be used to provide a wider route through to
the riverside, if secured as part of the redevelopment now.

The wider re-development of the ITV
studios is currently being assessed by
officers under ref. 17/03986/FUL, and it is
considered that this issue will form part of
the planning assessment under this
application.

Page 8

4.4.2

We Are Waterloo: No response received

4.4.3

Friends of Hatfield Green: No response received

4.4.4

Friends of Jubilee Gardens: No response received

4.4.5

Friends of Archbishop’s Park: No response received

4.4.6

Friends of Lambeth High Street: No response received

4.4.7

Association of Waterloo Groups: No response received

4.4.8

South Bank Employers Group: No response received

4.4.9

Lambeth Estates Residents Association: No response received

4.4.10 Waterloo Community Development Group: No response received
4.4.11 Kennington Association Planning Forum: No response received
4.4.12 Kennington Oval and Vauxhall Forum: No response received
4.4.13 South Bank Management Company: No response received
4.5

Residents/Neighbours

4.5.1

No letters of objection or support have been received.

5

POLICIES

5.1.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning
decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

5.1.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012. This
document sets out the Government’s planning policies for England including the
presumption in favour of sustainable development and is a material consideration in
the determination of all applications.

5.1.3

The development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (2016, consolidated with
alterations since 2011) and the Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015). The new Draft
London Plan was published on 1 December 2017 for consultation and will eventually
supersede the current 2016 consolidation London Plan once the final version is
published (anticipated Autumn 2019). The Draft London Plan is a material
consideration in planning decisions, but is currently afforded very limited weight.

5.1.4

The current planning application has been considered against all relevant national,
regional and local planning policies as well as any relevant guidance. Set out below
are those policies most relevant to the application, however, consideration is made
against the development plan as a whole.
The London Plan (MALP 2016) (as amended)

5.1.5

Provided below is a list of the key London Plan policies which are considered relevant
in the determination of this planning application:

Page 9

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Policy 1.1 Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London
Policy 2.1 London in its global, European and United Kingdom context
Policy 2.10 Central Activities Zone – strategic priorities
Policy 2.11 Central Activities Zone – strategic functions
Policy 2.12 Central Activities Zone – predominantly local activities
Policy 2.13 Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
Policy 4.2 Offices
Policy 4.6 Support for & enhancement of arts, culture, sport & entertainment
Policy 7.6 Architecture
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology
Policy 7.9 Heritage-led regeneration
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)

5.1.6

Provided below is a list of the key Local Plan policies which are considered relevant in
the determination of this planning application:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

D1 (Delivery and monitoring)
D2 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development)
Q2 (Amenity)
Q5 (Local distinctiveness)
Q22 (Conservation areas)
Q23 (Undesignated heritage assets: local heritage list)
PN1 (Waterloo)
Site 9 ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground SE1
Local Guidance / Supplementary Planning Documents

5.1.7

Relevant local guidance and SPDs for Lambeth:
• Waterloo SPD (2013);
• Building Alterations and Extensions SPD (2015);
• South Bank Conservation Area (2007)

6

PLANNING OFFICER ASSESSMENT

6.1

Land use and principles

6.1.1

This Site is allocated as Site 9 in the Lambeth Local Plan 2015 (LLP). It is noted that
part of Site 9 (Gabriel’s Wharf) is not included in this application. The Site is currently
occupied by ITV and in use as television studios with office floorspace.

6.1.2

Policy PN1 states that the council will support and enhance Waterloo as a key part of
central London and Lambeth, and these proposals will help enable the wider
development of the ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, as set out in the Local Plan (Site
9).

6.1.3

The proposal would result in a small loss of office floorspace (approximately 270 sqm)
as a consequence of removing the portable buildings. However this needs to be seen
in context with the proposed wider re-development of the site, which is intended to
provide approximately 44,000 sqm of office floorspace in addition to retail and
residential units. In this context, the modest loss of B1 floorspace is considered
acceptable.

Page 10

6.2

Urban Design, Heritage and Conservation

6.2.1

This section of the report deals with design and conservation (heritage) matters arising
from the proposed development. The Council’s Design and Conservation Team’s
comments have been incorporated into this section of the report.

6.2.2

Policy Q5 – Local Distinctiveness: The area comprises a mix of Architecture; the
current buildings on the application site are identified as making a negative contribution
to the character and appearance of the conservation area. It is considered that the
removal of temporary structures on the site and associated alterations will improve the
appearance of the conservation area, and cause no harm to the local distinctiveness.
Condition 3 (refer to section 9 of the report) has been attached to ensure that details
of new railings, and the infill of windows and doors, are made available on site before
works commence to ensure works are carried out in a sympathetic manner.

6.2.3

Policy Q22 – Conservation Areas: states that proposals are required to preserve or
enhance conservation areas, respecting or reinforcing materials, joinery and window
details etc. Demolition within conservation areas will only be supported where the
building does not make a positive contribution to the character or appearance of the
area. The South Bank Conservation Area Statement identifies the site as making a
negative contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area. The
removal of temporary buildings and structures on site, together with the infilling of doors
and windows, will improve the appearance of the building and cause no further harm
to the character and appearance of the conservation area. Conditions ensuring the
external finishes of the making good works will also ensure that the appearance of the
area is preserved.

6.2.4

Overall, the proposals would enable the wider re-development of the adjacent ITV
studios, and the removal of these largely portable structures would accord with Policies
Q5 and Q22 of the Local Plan, as well as overarching London Plan policies.

6.3

Amenity

6.3.1

LLP Policy Q2 seeks to protect the amenity of existing neighbours and the visual
amenity of the community as a whole. The proposed demolition works would not have
a harmful impact upon the occupiers of properties within the area in relation to outlook
privacy and daylight/sunlight.

6.3.2

The modest nature of the proposals, involving only demolition or minor alteration of
buildings on site, ensure that the application would not give rise to loss of amenity, nor
would it result in a harmful impact on occupiers of properties within the area. It is further
considered that the proposal would result in an improvement in the overall appearance
of the site, area and conservation, and to the visual amenity of the community as a
whole.

7

CONCLUSION

7.1.1

It is considered that the proposal complies with the relevant policies of the Lambeth
Plan. The works proposed are required in order to implement the wider re-development
of the ITV studios, and therefore accords with Policy PN1 of the Local Plan and the
objectives set out within Site 9: ITV Studios and Gabriel’s Wharf. The small amount of
office floorspace lost as a result of the proposal must be seen in context with the 44,000
sqm of office accommodation proposed as part of the pending application.

Page 11

7.1.2

The South Bank Conservation Area Statement identifies the site as making a negative
contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation area, and the
proposed works are considered to improve the appearance or cause no further harm
to the conservation area. The proposals therefore accord with Policies Q5 and Q22 of
the Local Plan.

8

RECOMMENDATION

8.1.1

Resolve to grant conditional planning permission, subject to conditions.

9

CONDITIONS

1. Time period (standard three years)
The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than three years
from the date of this decision notice.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
2. In accordance with approved plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
approved plans and drawings listed in this decision notice, other than where those details are
altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3. Materials
Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, of the development hereby permitted, a
schedule and details of the materials to be used in the external elevations (including RAL
numbers where appropriate) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. This shall include a sample panel to be provided on site. The development hereby
permitted shall be thereafter built in accordance with the approved details. The details of the
following are required:
a) Details of materials to include door and window infill areas.
b) Details of boundaries to include railings
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and that it
protects or enhances the character and appearance of the South Bank conservation area.
(Policies Q5 and Q22 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
4. Materials to match adjacent
All new external work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing adjacent
original work in respect of the, materials, colour, texture, profile, and finished appearance,
except where indicated otherwise on the drawings hereby approved, or unless otherwise
required by condition.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and that it
protects or enhances the character and appearance of the South Bank conservation area
(Policies Q5 and Q22 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 12

10 INFORMATIVES
1. This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required under
any enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
2. Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations, and related legislation
which must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council's Building Control Officer.
3. You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council’s Highways team prior to the
commencement of construction on 020 7926 9000 in order to obtain necessary approvals
and licences prior to undertaking any works within the Public Highway including Scaffolding,
Temporary/Permanent Crossovers, Oversailing/Undersailing of the Highway,
Drainage/Sewer Connections, Hoarding, Excavations (including adjacent to the highway
such as basements, etc), Temporary Full/Part Road Closures, Craneage Licences etc.

Page 13

Agenda Item 3

Page 14
ADDRESS: 41-45 Acre Lane, London, SW2 5TN
Application Number: 17/03846/FUL

Case Officer: Alison Lavin

Ward: Brixton Hill

Date Received:18/9/2017

Proposal: Demolition of buildings and erection of a part 2, part 4 and part 5-storey building with
basement level to provide 613sqm of office space (B1 Use Class), 22 self-contained flats and 2
dwelling houses (C3 Use Class) together with provision of cycle and refuse storage, plus a
landscaped communal amenity space.

Drawing Numbers: Location Plan; Proposed site location plan; 010,Rev_P; 011, Rev_PA; 012,
Rev_ PA; 013, Rev_PA; 020, Rev_PA; 021, Rev_PA, 030, Rev_PA; Tree Survey Plan dated July
2017 and; Tree Protection Plan dated July 2017.
Documents: Design and Access Statement (DB Architects August 2017); Energy Statement (T16
Design July 2017); Viability Report prepared by HEDC (dated August 2017); Planning Statement
(SP Planning dated 3rd August 2017); Arboricultural Report (Landvision South East Ltd dated
August 2017); Daylight/Sunlight Assessment dated 3rd August 2017; Basement Impact
Assessment dated August 2017; Air Quality Assessment (hrs services ltd. dated December 2017)
and; Transport Statement (Caneparo Associates dated July 2017).

RECOMMENDATION:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the
planning obligations listed in this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Development to:
-

Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report; and
Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers, having regard to the heads of
terms set out in the report, to negotiate and complete a document containing obligations
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to meet the
requirement of the Planning Inspector.
Applicant:
Mr Jerry Knight
Unit 2, Cumberland Works,
Wigton Place
London
SE11 4AN

Agent:
Mr Darren Bland
Suite 14
Building 70, Churchill Square
Kings Hill
West Malling
ME19 4YU

Page 15
SITE DESIGNATIONS

Relevant site designations:
None.

Site area

0.11 hectares

NON-RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DETAILS

Use Class

Use Description

Floorspace
(Gross Internal Area sq.m.)

A1 (+
Existing

associated

Retail

233

Office

301

storage)
B1 (a)
Other

550
1084

Total existing
Proposed

A1

Retail

0

B1 (a)

Office

613

Other

0
613

Total proposed

RESIDENTIAL DETAILS

Tenure
Market
Proposed

Dwelling Type (bedrooms)
1

2

3

Total

3

12

4

19

Shared Ownership

3

3

Affordable Rent

2

2

Total

4

14

6

24

% of total

17%

58%

35%

100%

PARKING DETAILS
No on-site car parking is proposed as part of this proposal.

Page 16
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report relates to an application to demolish an existing two storey commercial building on Acre
Lane currently in use for retail and commercial purposes and the erection of a part 2, part 4, part 5
storey building to provide 24 residential units, office space (Class B1(a)) with associated private
and communal amenity space provision, cycle parking and refuse and recycling storage.

Pursuant to Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the application has
been assessed in accordance with the development plan and material considerations that include
the response to the public notification and consultation of the application. The key aspects of the
assessment are summarised below.

a. Development Principle
The scheme is acceptable in principle for the following reasons, namely:
Re-provision of office space: Currently unused office space will be re-provided on site as a
new improved facility.
Housing provision including affordable housing: The scheme provides much needed private
and affordable housing and includes two dwellinghouses with front and rear amenity space.
Density: The scheme has a density of 324 units or 1054 habitable rooms per hectare, which
is within the GLA London Plan range of 650-1100 habitable rooms per hectare for such a
location.
Affordable Housing level and viability: The scheme has been subject to a viability
assessment for affordable housing and a total of 5units including 2 x 3 bed affordable rent
houses, will be secured as part of the s106 legal agreement.
Accessible, Adaptable and Wheelchair Housing Provision: 10% wheelchair housing is
proposed.

b. Quality of Residential Accommodation
The scheme provides good quality accommodation for future occupiers by: meeting
minimum floorspace standards; providing suitable layouts including dual aspect apartments
and avoiding north-facing, single aspect orientation; providing suitable outlook and
openness and not resulting in any unacceptable privacy and overlooking impacts; and
providing a suitable living environment in terms of adequate levels of daylight and sunlight.
The amenity space provided would exceed minimum requirements and includes a
dedicated children’s playspace.

Page 17
c. Design and Conservation
The scheme design (amended since the previous refusal/appeal scheme) has had regard
to its context including statutory and non-statutory listed buildings, conservation areas, their
setting as well as other public views. The design has been assessed and is considered to
be of high quality with an appropriate and acceptable layout, scale, architectural detailing
and materials, which would enhance the area.

d. Neighbour Amenity
The proposal would not result in any significant loss of outlook and openness nor have any
privacy or overlooking impacts to neighbours. The daylight, sunlight and overshadowing
impacts of the scheme have been independently assessed on behalf of the council to
confirm that neighbouring properties have levels of light maintained in accordance with the
BRE guidelines. There are no noise or general disturbance impacts posed as part of the
operational development of the proposed scheme and any impacts during construction
including traffic, noise and dust will be mitigated through the requirement for a construction
management plan and other noise related conditions.

e. Transport, Parking and Servicing
The application has been assessed by the Council’s Transport and Highways team who
confirm that the scheme can be accommodated within the capacity of the public transport
and local highway network. In respect of parking, the development would be car free as
well as fulfilling the requirement for accessible (blue badge) parking. Cycle parking is
provided as part of the scheme in accordance with London Plan standards and refuse
storage and collection in accordance with Lambeth guidance. Various conditions of
approval are recommended if the council is minded to grant planning permission to control
the construction, operation and management of the development including details of a
construction management plan and design of cycle and refuse storage arrangements.

f.

Refuse and Recycling

Appropriate and acceptable arrangements are made for refuse storage and collection
points, having regard to the size of the development, number of bins required and their
accommodation in the development. The Council’s Streetcare (Waste) team have
considered the application and access to the bin chambers and subsequent collections
which are consistent with current collection arrangements on neighbouring site.

g. Energy, Sustainability, Climate Change Mitigation and Resources
The scheme addresses the Mayor’s policy and energy hierarchy proposing a range of
energy efficient and sustainable measures achieving the target 35% CO2 savings. Flood

Page 18
risk has been considered and is appropriately addressed by the applicant. A Sustainable
Urban Drainage System (SUDS) will be required. Appropriately worded conditions of
approval will secure these aspects.

h. Landscape, Trees and Biodiversity
A landscaping scheme is proposed. One existing tree is proposed to be removed, however,
four new trees will be planted on the site in addition to new planting along Baytree Road. No
protected species or habitats will be lost or impacted upon as part of the development and
the proposed soft landscaping including Green roofs will increase biodiversity on this site.

i. Community Safety/Designing Out Crime
The proposal has been designed with safety, security and crime prevention in mind.
Appropriately worded conditions are recommended to secure Secured by Design
accreditation, in consultation with the Metropolitan Police.

j. Planning Obligations
A full range of planning obligations including affordable housing, employment and training
and transport related heads of terms will be secured as part of the s106 legal agreement if
the council is minded to approve the application. In addition, the scheme will be liable for
Mayoral and Lambeth CIL at commencement.

Overall, the scheme is considered appropriate and acceptable, and is recommended for
approval subject to the recommendations made on the cover sheet to this report.

Page 19
OFFICER REPORT

Reason for referral to PAC: The application is reported to the Planning Applications
Committee in accordance with Clauses (1)(i) and (ii) of the Committee’s terms of
reference as it relates to a major application for the provision of more than 10
residential dwellings.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

1.1

The application site is located on the corner of Acre Lane and Baytree Road and covers an
area of approximately 0.11 hectares, accommodating a two storey building fronting Acre
Lane plus a service yard and single storey warehouse structure to the rear. Access to the
service yard is from Baytree Road. The ground floor frontage along Acre Lane was last
used for retail purposes (Use Class A1) with ancillary storage to the rear. The first floor was
partly vacant but otherwise used as ancillary space for the retail operations on the ground
floor.

1.2

To the south/south east of the site Baytree Road is a residential street with two storey
terraced housing predominating. Directly opposite the site to the east (Baytree Road) is the
side elevation and loading area of a large single storey supermarket (Tesco). To the west
and north, along Acre Lane, the surrounding area is characterised by 3 and 4 storey
buildings, many in the vicinity with retail functions at ground floor level, although the
properties opposite the site in Acre Lane are solely in residential use. To the west of the
site is an open builder's yard at 47 to 51 Acre Lane, behind which are empty timber
warehouses accessed off Sudbourne Road. The latter is the site of an unimplemented
planning approval for a 3 storey 3 Form of Entry primary school (Ref: 14/00412/FUL).

Figure 1: Photo of site – Acre Lane frontage/Junction with Baytree Road

Page 20
1.3

The designated Brixton Town Centre boundary includes the Tesco store, but does not
extend as far as the application site. The site is not located in a Conservation Area and the
existing buildings on site are not historically significant, however the eastern boundary of
the Trinity Gardens Conservation Area is approximately 40 metres away on Acre Lane.
Three Grade II early 19th Century listed buildings are located within that Conservation Area,
opposite the Tesco site, whilst a cluster of four Grade II listed buildings lie 50 metres to the
west, on either side of Acre Lane. The site has a public transport accessibility level (PTAL)
rating of 6a, which is categorised as ‘Excellent’.

Figure 2: Aerial view of site (Source: Google)

2

PROPOSAL

2.1

The application proposes the demolition of the existing buildings and hardstanding on the
site and the construction of a part 2, part 4, and part 5 storey building comprising:


613sqm of office space (Use Class B1(a)) at ground and basement floor levels;



24 residential units (4 x 1-bed, 14 x 2-beds and 4 x 3-beds flats) and 2
dwellinghouses and;



Hard and soft landscaping in the form of a communal garden to the rear of the site.

Page 21

2.2

This planning application follows on from a refused application for the redevelopment of the
site to provide 21 residential units, 269sqm of commercial floor space (Use Class A1 -retail)
and 295sqm of office space (Use Class B1) under application reference (16/03327/FUL). A
subsequent appeal (ref: APP/N5660/W/17/3175759) was dismissed on design grounds,
and the Planning Inspector’s conclusions will be discussed further below.

2.3

The main differences between the current application and the appeal scheme can be
summarised as follows:


Removal of Class A1 retail space at ground floor level;



Inclusion of a basement level to provide of two floors of Class B1 office space, thereby
increasing the office floorspace from 301sqm to 613sqm;



Reduction in height, bulk and massing of the scheme (maximum building height
reduced from 6 to 5 storeys).



2.4

Increased number of residential units from 21 to 24 units.

The footprint of the proposed building is L-shaped, stretching along the Acre Lane and
Baytree Road frontages and retaining an enclosed area of communal amenity space to the
rear. The built form extends to a maximum height of 5 storeys on the corner elevations to
Acre Lane and Baytree Road, is set back and stepped down to 4 storeys on Acre Lane and
Baytree Road and further stepped down 2 storeys on Baytree Road, where one of the 2
dwellinghouses is a two storey building. The majority of the building is to be finished in a
light brick, except the recessed parts on the second, third and top floor, where a brown zinc
cladding is proposed. The windows will consist of large brown aluminium powder coated
frames with big glazed openings to allow natural light into living areas. The building
features a glazed box located at the 4th floor level on the corner of Acre Lane and Baytree
Road, which encloses a private terrace and marks the termination of other private terraces
on the floors below. The building is also punctuated by inset and projecting balconies and
terraces on the Baytree Road elevation and on the rear elevations. The building would
terminate in a series of Green flat roofs with the 5th storey also hosting photovoltaic/solar
panels.

Page 22

Figure 3: Proposed ground floor layout

2.5

The ground floor and basement level spaces will be divided into 2 independent office units
of comparable size, arranged over the two floors and accessed off Acre Lane and Baytree
Road - behind floor-to-ceiling glazing. Each of the office units is shown to have storage
space for 4 cycles. At the western edge of the Acre Lane frontage, is the street-level
entrance door to one of the two staircase/lift cores, which would provide access to the flats
on the upper floors. Communal domestic refuse and commercial waste stores, future plant
space, and post/mail boxes are located on either side of this entrance. A cycle store is
located at the end of the entrance corridor in ‘Core A’ at ground floor level, with a second

Page 23
communal cycle store located at ground floor level for the residents of ‘Core B’. Individual
cycle storage is provided for each of the houses within the front gardens. .

2.6

A second street-level entrance door to the other staircase/lift core (Core B), which would
provide access to the flats on the upper floors, is located on Baytree Road, approximately
12m from its junction with Acre Lane. A communal domestic refuse store is located next to
this entrance. The cycle store to the residents of Core B, is accessed via this street
entrance to the flats. The rest of the Baytree Road frontage of the site hosts the 2
dwellings, which are set behind enclosed front gardens; one of the houses occupies the
ground and first floors of the 4 storey part of the building (with flats above) and the other is
within the 2 storey part of the building. Cycle and refuse storage for both dwellings is to be
provided within the front gardens of the houses. Both dwellings also benefit from private
rear gardens/terraces. A communal amenity space is proposed to the rear of the site, next
to the rear gardens of the 2 dwellinghouses. It would contain several new trees, a lawn area
incorporating a children’s playspace with play equipment and some seating.

2.7

The first, second, third and fourth floors will be wholly occupied by residential units. Each
unit will feature an amenity space in the form of a balcony or roof terrace. The dual core
design of the development means that most of the units will have dual aspect orientation.

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

The site is subject to the following recent relevant planning history:

3.2

15/07255/FUL - Demolition of buildings and erection of a part 2, part 4, part 5 and part 6storey building plus basement to provide 610sqm of retail space (A1 Use Class), 25 flats
and 2 family houses together with associated cycle and waste storage and hard and soft
landscaping to form communal amenity space The application was refused under officer’s
delegated powers in February 2016 for the following reasons:

1

In the absence of any clear and robust evidence which shows there is no demand
for the use of the first floor of the existing building for business (B class) uses, the
proposal would result in an unacceptable loss of employment land, to the detriment
of Lambeth and wider London economy and the range of local business and job
opportunities. As such the proposal is contrary to Policy ED2 of the Lambeth Local
Plan (2015).

Page 24
2

The proposed development, by virtue of its design and in particular the elevations
facing Bay Tree Road and Acre Lane, including the proposed interlocking
architectural forms on the Bay Tree Road elevation and the corner and sloping
parapets, would result in a building which would appear bulky and overly dominant
in the street scene. Additionally the changing brickwork in the street facing
elevations and the ground floor overhang would represent an incongruous and
visually intrusive form of development. The proposed development is considered to
be detrimental to the character and appearance of the street scene and harmful to
the visual amenity of adjoining sites and the public realm and contrary to policies
Q2, Q5, Q7 and Q8 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2016.

3

The development would fail to provide a range of dwelling sizes and types suitable
to meet current and future affordable housing needs. There is no evidence to show
that the site's location, its constraints or the viability of the scheme would justify the
lack of an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes and types, as such the development is
contrary to Policy H4 of the Lambeth Local Plan Policy (2015).

4

In the absence of a daylight or sunlight assessment to demonstrate otherwise, the
proposals fails to demonstrate that the proposed dwellings would receive adequate
levels of light and that the development would not result in an unacceptable loss of
daylight to the habitable windows in the dwellings at 60 to 70 Acre Lane contrary to
Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan Policy (2015).

5

The proposed development by reason of the proximity of the proposed habitable
room windows and balconies to one another and to the habitable room windows in
the northern elevation of the dwelling at 73 Bay Tree Road would fail to provide
satisfactory amenities for the proposed dwellings and existing occupiers of the
neighbouring property, due to the loss of privacy that could arise. The proposal is
therefore contrary to Policy Q2 and H5 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).

6

The proposal, by reason of its failure to mitigate its direct impacts (relating to
affordable housing, construction training and traffic related matters), through
Planning Obligations, would result in an increase in demand on infrastructure and
services to their unacceptable detriment. As such the proposal is contrary to policies
D4, H2, T1, T6 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).

Page 25

7

The development, by virtue of the recessed position of doorways and the
overhanging design approach to the street facing elevations are not designed to
prevent opportunistic crime, antisocial behaviour and fear of crime in a site-specific
manner, contrary to Policy Q3 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).

8

The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the scheme has been designed in
accordance with the London Plan energy hierarchy, and achieve a reduction in
carbon emissions of 35% over that required by Part L of the Building Regulations
2013. The energy strategy submitted illustrates a target of 19% which is below the
target required.

3.3

16/03327/FUL - Redevelopment of the site, involving demolition of the existing buildings
and erection of a part 2, part 4, part 5 and part 6-storey building to provide 295sqm of office
space (B1 Use Class), 269sqm of retail space (A1 Use Class), 19 self-contained flats and 2
family houses, together with the provision of cycle and waste storage, including hard and
soft landscaping to create communal amenity space. The application was refused by the
Planning Applications Committee against officers’ recommendation in April 2017 for the
following reason:

1

The proposed development by virtue of its excessive bulk and scale and its design,
particularly at the corner of Acre Lane and Baytree Road, would result in a building
which would appear discordant and overly dominant in relation to the prevailing
local character, and create an inappropriate context that would not respect or
contribute to the intended future character of the area, contrary to policy Q7 (i) and
(ii) of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015.

3.4

The applicant appealed this decision, and the Inspectorate dismissed the appeal (Ref:
APP/N5660/W/17/3175759) on the 11th of September 2017.

3.5

In determining the appeal, the Inspectorate noted that ‘the reduction in height (along
Baytree Road) would help reduce its visual dominance within the residential parts of the
Baytree Road street scene’. The Inspectorate also noted that a recessed fifth storey
element would ‘help to reduce the perception of bulk’.

3.6

When remarking upon the sixth storey corner element of the building, the Inspector noted
that this would appear ‘particularly prominent’. With regard to its overall height and

Page 26
massing, the Inspector was of the opinion that the building would appear prominent from
immediately outside the site when compared with the adjacent Tesco site, and the height of
the building was extenuated in open views at the road junction of Acre Lane and Baytree
Road. The Inspector concluded that ‘the building would unacceptably dominate its
surroundings to the detriment of the character and appearance of the area.’

3.7

The Inspector also remarked on the detailed design of the proposal, noting that elements
such as its fenestration, balconies and materiality were acceptable given that Acre Lane
has a mixed appearance.

3.8

17/00551/G31 - Demolition of a two storey commercial building and an industrial
warehouse, service yard and parking to the rear of the site. The application, which was for
Prior Approval for demolition was refused on the grounds that the applicant failed to
demonstrate an adequate demolition methodology for the proposal. The reason for refusal
stated as follows:

1

The proposal fails to comply with Schedule 2, Part 11, Class B of the Town and

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended), and prior
approval is refused.

Page 27
4

CONSULTATIONS

4.1

Statutory External Consultees

4.1.1

Transport for London (TfL)
TfL have welcomed the car free nature of the development, and request that a car free
development is secured by way of a Section 106 legal agreement. TfL also considered the
44 long stay and 8 short stay cycle parking spaces to be acceptable. TfL recommend that a
Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) and Delivery and Servicing Plan are provided to allow
TfL to agree the approach to the method of construction and the servicing of the
development when completed; this should be secured by condition. The footway and
carriageway on the A23 should not be blocked during development. These
recommendation are attached as conditions or informatives. TfL raises no objections to the
proposal subject to compliance with the above conditions and informatives.

4.1.2

Thames Water
With regards to sewerage and water infrastructure capacity, Thames Water raises no
objections to the proposal. The applicant is advised to be aware of building over any public
sewer access points. The applicant is requested to contact Thames Water to discuss the
details of the any piling method that might be employed in the construction of the building.
Informatives are recommended in relation to minimum water pressure standards and
access arrangements for maintenance and repairs.

4.2

Internal and Other Consultees

4.2.1

Environmental Quality - Waste
No objection to the proposal subject to the installation of a dropped kerb within 10 metres of
the bin storage area. This detail is secured as a condition of consent.

4.2.2

Transport/Highways
The local network has the capacity to support the new trips associated with the proposed
commercial and residential units. The development falls below the threshold for a travel
plan or statement, but as the applicant is willing to provide a sustainable travel pack to all
new residents upon occupation, this should be secured by way of a condition. The new
dwelling units and commercial space can be supported as a car free development, which
will be secured by legal agreement. The 44 residential cycle spaces and 8 commercial
cycle spaces are welcomed and are appropriately located. Conditions are recommended to
secure a Construction and Environment Management Plan and Sustainable Travel Pack.

Page 28
4.2.3

Sustainability
The applicant is required to provide more information regarding sustainable design
standards using guidance from the Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG. The
Council’s sustainability consultant raises no objection to the proposal subject to conditions
regarding Energy Strategy; water usage; specification details for the green roof; BREEAM;
cooling, overheating and/or cash in-lieu contribution for carbon emission offset.

4.2.4

Arboricultural Officer
No response received to date but in commenting on the appeal scheme, the officer raised
concern over the loss of the Sycamore tree on Baytree Road in terms of the impact on
public amenity. The compensatory trees to be planted on site should not just be Rowan
(Mountain Ash). A detailed landscaping scheme should be secured as a condition of
consent to ensure quality both at the rear but also at the site frontage.

4.2.5

Ecology/Biodiversity Officer
No response received to date

4.2.6

Regulatory Support Services
No objection to the scheme in terms of air quality subject to conditions relating to an air
quality and dust management plan.

4.2.7

Metropolitan Police - Designing Out Crime
The scheme should achieve ‘Secured by Design’ certification, through use of conditions.

4.2.8

Local Amenity/Interest Groups
No comments have been received to date from the following local amenity/interest groups
who were notified of the application: Arlington Lodge Residents Association; Brixton
Society, Brixton Business Improvement Districts, Acre Lane Residents Association and
Porden Road residents association.

4.3

Adjoining owners/occupiers

4.3.1

Letters were sent to occupiers of 107 neighbouring properties on 8th of September 2017. In
addition, site notices were displayed in the vicinity of the site on the same date. The
proposal was advertised in the Press on the 22nd of September 2017. In response, 16
letters of objection and 1 of support have been received.

Page 29
4.3.2

A summary of the concerns and an Officer response raised is set out in the table below or
in relevant paragraphs:

Summary of objections

Response

Amenity – noise and
disturbance
Noise and disturbance to

The scheme is considered to be acceptable in this

neighbouring housing

regard and conditions are attached to mitigate
potential noise and disturbance during the
construction process. The development is compatible
with adjacent commercial and residential uses and as
such is not considered likely to cause harm to
neighbours’ amenity

Affordable Housing
Proposal fails to deliver at

A viability assessment has been submitted and

least 40% affordable housing.

independently reviewed and the amount of affordable
proposed is considered to be the maximum
reasonable. A review mechanism will capture any
future increase in viability.

Design
The proposal is too high

The proposal has been assessed and deemed
appropriate to the context of the site. See paragraphs
: 6.5.11, 6.5.12 and 6.5.13

The new buildings would

The proposal has been assessed and deemed

appear bulky and over

appropriate to the context of the site. See paragraphs:

dominant.

6.5.11, 6.5.12 and 6.5.13

The proposal is incongruous

There are a range of building forms and scales in the

and visually intrusive, out of

vicinity of the site. The scheme has been revised

character with surrounding

since the previous application, which was refused and

area.

is considered to have appropriately addressed the
Council and the Planning Inspector’s concerns over
the building’s scale, design and appearance. It is
considered that the proposal will not detract from the
character of existing buildings and will enhance the
area. See paragraphs 6.5.11, 6.5.12 and 6.5.13

Page 30
The design detailing is not

The proposal has been revised since the previously

appropriate

refused scheme, and it is considered that the building
design has incorporated appropriate detailing
resulting in a cohesive building form in the
surrounding townscape. Furthermore, the Planning
Inspectorate in the previous appeal decision cited no
objections to the detailed scheme design.

Amenity – Daylight Sunlight
Impact of large development

The scheme has been assessed against BRE

on sunlight and views

guidelines and officers’ are satisfied that it will not
have significant impacts on neighbouring amenity in
terms of sunlight, daylight and overshadowing
considerations.
Loss of a view is not a material planning
consideration. See paragraphs 6.7.1 – 6.7.5.

Impact on light to

The scheme has been assessed against BRE

neighbouring dwellings and

guidelines and officers’ are satisfied that it will not

having negative impact on

have significant impacts on neighbouring amenity in

health and child development

terms of sunlight, daylight and overshadowing
considerations. It is not considered that this scheme
has potential to affect the health and development of
children. Conditions are attached to ensure that
issues of air quality are addressed during the
construction process and post-occupation.

Amenity - Privacy
Impact of development on

The scheme has been designed to limit and mitigate

privacy of neighbours due to

potential overlooking opportunities. See paragraph

overlooking

6.7.6.

Highways/Transport
Additional strain on car

No on-site car parking is proposed and a legal

parking provision within the

agreement is to be secured so that residents will not

area as no car parking is

be eligible to apply for parking permits so will not be

proposed.

able to park in the area during the hours of operation

Page 31
of the Controlled Parking Zones in the vicinity of the
site. The site is in the vicinity of a number of public
transport options, which future occupiers are expected
to make use of and therefore rely less on the use of
the private car. See paragraph 6.14.3.

Other issues
The new residents in the

Thames Water have been consulted in respect of

scheme will put additional

local water and sewerage infrastructure matters and

pressure on the local

have raised no objection to the scheme on these

amenities such as gas, water

grounds. Gas and broadband services are also the

and broadband.

responsibility of the relevant provider.

The inclusion of separation

A total of 5 units (three flats and two houses) are

access for market and

earmarked for affordable housing. The two separate

affordable housing will result

entrances are visually comparable, and both have

in a ‘poor door’ for residents.

access from active street frontages. It is not
considered the arrangement will result in a “poor door”
entrance for non-market housing occupiers. The
dwellings will have street door entrances in keeping
with the existing properties on Baytree Road.

The development will result in

The scheme has been provided with appropriate

more litter.

amount of domestic refuse and commercial waste
storage. The Council’s waste management services
are satisfied with the proposed refuse/waste storage
and collection arrangements for both the commercial
and residential elements of the scheme.

Increased pressure on school

Given the nature of the dwelling types and the scale

places

of the development proposed, it is not considered that
school places will be adversely impacted. In any case
any additional demand placed on existing schools will
be mitigated through the Council Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to which the development
will be liable.

Page 32
5

POLICIES

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning
decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

5.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012. This document
sets out the Government’s planning policies for England including the presumption in favour
of sustainable development and, is a material consideration in the determination of all
applications.

5.3

The development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (2016) and the Lambeth Local Plan
(September 2015).

5.4

The current planning application has been considered against all relevant national, regional
and local planning policies as well as any relevant guidance. Set out below are those
policies most relevant to the application, however, consideration is made against the
development plan as a whole.

5.5

The London Plan (2016)
Policy 1.1: Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London
Policy 2.9: Inner London
Policy 2.14: Areas of Regeneration
Policy 3.1: Ensuring equal life chances for all
Policy 3.2: Improving health and addressing health inequalities
Policy 3.3: Increasing housing supply
Policy 3.4: Optimising housing potential
Policy 3.5: Quality and design of housing developments
Policy 3.6: Children and young people's play and informal recreation facilities
Policy 3.8: Housing choice
Policy 3.9: Mixed and balanced communities
Policy 3.10: Definition of affordable housing
Policy 3.11: Affordable housing targets
Policy 3.12: Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential and mixed use
schemes
Policy 3.13: Affordable housing thresholds
Policy 4.1: Developing London’s economy
Policy 4.3: Mixed use development and offices

Page 33
Policy 4.12: Improving opportunities for all
Policy 5.1: Climate change mitigation
Policy 5.2: Minimising carbon dioxide emissions
Policy 5.3: Sustainable design and construction
Policy 5.7: Renewable Energy
Policy 5.9: Overheating and Cooling
Policy 5.10: Urban Greening
Policy 5.11: Green roofs and development site environs
Policy 5.12: Flood risk management
Policy 5.13: Sustainable Drainage
Policy 5.14: Water quality and wastewater infrastructure
Policy 5.15: Water use and supplies
Policy 5.16: Waste self-sufficiency
Policy 6.3: Assessing effects of development on transport capacity
Policy 6.5: Funding Crossrail and other strategically important transport infrastructure
Policy 6.9: Cycling
Policy 6.10: Walking
Policy 6.12: Road network capacity
Policy 6.13: Parking
Policy 7.1: Lifetime neighbourhoods
Policy 7.2: An inclusive environment
Policy 7.3: Designing out crime
Policy 7.4: Local character
Policy 7.5: Public realm
Policy 7.6: Architecture
Policy 7.8: Heritage assets and archaeology
Policy 7.14: Improving air quality
Policy 7.21: Trees and woodlands
Policy 8.2: Planning obligations
Policy 8.3: Community Infrastructure Levy

5.6

Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015)
Policy D1: Delivery and monitoring
Policy D2: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy D3: Infrastructure
Policy D4: Planning obligations
Policy H1: Maximising housing growth
Policy H2: Delivering affordable housing

Page 34
Policy H4: Housing mix in new developments
Policy H5: Housing standards
Policy ED2: Business, industrial and storage uses outside KIBAs
Policy ED6: Town Centres
Policy ED10: Local Centres and dispersed local shops
Policy ED14: Employment and training
Policy T1: Sustainable Travel
Policy T2: Walking
Policy T3: Cycling
Policy T6: Assessing impacts of development on transport capacity and infrastructure
Policy T7: Parking
Policy T8: Servicing
Policy EN1: Open Space and Biodiversity
Policy EN4: Sustainable design and construction
Policy EN5: Flood Risk
Policy EN6: Sustainable drainage systems and water management
Policy Q1: Inclusive environments
Policy Q2: Amenity
Policy Q3: Community safety
Policy Q5: Local distinctiveness
Policy Q6: Urban design: public realm
Policy Q7: Urban design: new development
Policy Q8: Design quality: construction detailing
Policy Q9: Landscaping
Policy Q10: Trees
Policy Q12: Refuse/recycling storage
Policy Q13: Cycle storage
Policy Q15: Boundary treatments
Policy Q16: Shop fronts
Policy Q22: Conservation Areas

5.7

Other Guidance
The following other guidance is also considered relevant to the application proposal:

Regional


Crossrail Funding (March 2016)



Housing (March 2016)



Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007);

Page 35


Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Guidance (April
2014);



The control of dust and emission during construction and demolition (July 2014);
and



Accessible London – Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014);



Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)

Lambeth


Refuse and Recycling Storage Design Guide (July 2013);



Waste and Recycling storage and collection requirements – Technical specification
for Architects and Developers (October 2013);



Approved CIL Charging Schedule (1st October 2014);



Lambeth Regulation 123 List (1st October 2014); and



Lambeth Development Viability (9th October 2017).

Page 36
6

PLANNING ASSESSMENT

6.1

Land Use

6.1.1

The existing retail and office space at the site would be replaced with 2 Class B1(a)office
units arranged over ground and basement floor levels, totalling 613sqm. Both units will
have an entrance door off Acre Lane, and ‘Unit 2’ on the eastern side will have an
additional access off Baytree Road.

6.1.2

The existing retail units in their last use consisted of 2 premises, one selling bathroom
fittings, kitchen appliances and plumbing supplies and one, which rented out DIY
equipment to householders. The upper floor was used as ancillary showroom and storage
space in connection with the sales business. An appeal decision in 1989 (ref:
T/APP/N5660/A/89/112150) allowed the first floor office space to be used independently of
the retail unit at this building (i.e. as a separate planning unit providing office space (Use
Class B1 (a)). This permission appears to have been implemented. Subsequently, much of
this space has been converted for ancillary retail use but there is no evidence as to when
this conversion took place and no planning permission was given for the expansion of the
ground floor retail business to the first floor (i.e. no evidence that this use is lawful). As
such, it is considered for the purposes of this assessment that this space is, in planning
terms, Class B1 (a) office. In land use terms, the appeal scheme was assessed on that
basis and there have been no lawful and material change to the use of the building since
the planning status of the site was established by the 2016 appeal scheme.

6.1.3

The site lies just outside the designated boundary of the Brixton Town Centre and as such
change of use in respect of the retail floorspace is subject to Policy ED10 of the Local Plan
(Local centres and dispersed local shops). This policy seeks to support and protect local
shops in meeting the day-to-day needs of communities and seeks to protect active
frontages, with Class A1 uses being encouraged and/or protected. In this case, it is
proposed to remove all of the Class A1 use from the site, with the commercial floorspace
proposed to operate solely under a Class B1 use. The application site is not located within
designated a town centre or a local centre as illustrated in Figure 4 below.

Page 37

Figure 4: Application site lies outside designated town and local centres

6.1.4

The application premises are a local shop and therefore are considered having regard to
the provisions of Policy ED10. The proposed office use would retain an active frontage
along Acre Lane, in accordance with the requirements of Policy ED10 although this is
particularly required for retail uses and in this case will depend on the type of office use(s)
that occupy the premises. Given that Brixton Town Centre (to the east of the site) is within
400m walking distance of the site, and the given proximity of a Local Centre to the west of
the site, it is considered that there is adequate provision of alternative retail functions within
the surrounding area and as such the loss of this local shop would not compromise the
ability of the local community to meet their day-to-day retail needs. Furthermore, the
provision of Class B1 office space in close proximity to the Town Centre is considered to
offer a supporting role to the vitality of the retail functions nearby. In this instance, the loss
of the Class A1 retail floorspace is acceptable. The loss of the retail space in this location
was established as acceptable during consideration of the appeal scheme.

6.1.4

The proposed increase in Class B1 office floorspace of 312sqm is considered acceptable in
the context of a new development with enhanced facilities such as a lift and shower room
for the benefit of users, facilities which do not currently exist. The creation of accessible,
contemporary and functional office space is considered to outweigh the loss of the Class
A1 retail floorspace. The requirements of Policy ED2 of the Local Plan, which seeks to

Page 38
protect existing employment floorspace outside designated Key and Industrial Areas
(KIBAs) are considered to have been met. The increased provision of Class B1 use on the
site over and above the provision in the appeal scheme is welcome.

6.1.5

Policy H1 of the Local Plan seeks to maximise the supply of additional homes in the
borough to meet and exceed the annual housing target for Lambeth as set out in the
London Plan for the period 2015 to 2030. The proposal would contribute to this target with
an additional 24 residential units of which are 4 are family sized dwellings, in an appropriate
and sustainable location, subject to other planning considerations. The mixed commercial
and residential nature of the scheme is therefore supported in land use terms.

6.2

Residential Mix

6.2.1. Policy H4 (a) of the Local Plan requires the provision of a mix of housing sizes, types and
tenures in new residential schemes to meet the needs of different sections of the
community. This policy provision does not prescribe a mix of units for market housing but
instead recommends "a balanced mix of unit sizes including family-sized accommodation".
In all cases proposals are expected to demonstrate that the provision of family-sized units
has been maximised. However, policy recognises that the dwelling type and mix proposed
might depend on the particular location and nature of the individual development site,
viability considerations and need to achieve mixed and balanced communities. The
affordable housing element of residential developments should reflect the preferred
borough-wide housing mix for social / affordable rented and intermediate housing set out
below:
o

1-bedroom units Not more than 20%

o

2-bedroom units 20-50%

o

3-bedroom+ units 40%

6.2.2. In terms of the affordable housing element the 5 units included in the scheme are proposed
as: 1 x 1 bed, 2x2 bed flats and 2 x 3 bed dwellinghouses. . The mix in respect of the
affordable housing offer is considered acceptable.

6.2.3

The private market housing mix is proposed to be made up of 3x1-beds; 12 x 2-beds and 4
x 3-beds. The mix of dwelling types is an improvement on the previous scheme, which
comprised 73% 2 bed units compared to the 63% 2 bed units in the current proposal
scheme. There are constraints associated with this site, being as it is on a busy route, in an
edge of town centre location and with a design that, because of the associated ground floor
commercial activity, limits design options, in particular for quality family sized units with

Page 39
access to amenity space. The provision of two bedroom units would also serve to meet the
greater need for 2 bed market housing in Lambeth above other units (Lambeth Housing
Needs Survey 2012). Overall, noting site constraints and the affordable provision, the mix
dwelling types and sizes proposed is considered accepted.
6.3

Affordable Housing

6.3.1

The NPPF defines affordable housing as 'Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate
housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility
for affordable housing is determined having regard to local incomes and local house prices.

6.3.2

Policy H2 of the Local Plan states that the Council “will seek the maximum reasonable
amount affordable housing when negotiating on individual private residential and mixed use
schemes. Affordable housing is sought on all sites over 0.1 of a hectare or capable of
providing 10 or more units.

6.3.3

This proposal, consisting of 24 new dwellings, is subject to providing a proportion of
affordable housing consistent with the specific requirements of policy. The policy
requirements are for at least 40% (50% with public subsidy) of units to be affordable with a
tenure split of 70% social (affordable) rented and 30% intermediate (shared ownership)
housing tenures and would be secured via s106 agreement in accordance with Policy D4 of
the Local Plan.

6.3.4

If affordable housing provision is less than that specified above, an independently validated
financial viability appraisal is required to justify the failure to meet the policy provisions. In
this case, the proposal incorporates 5 affordable units (2 x 3 bed houses for Affordable
Rent and 3 flats on the first floor as intermediate housing for shared ownership)
representing 21% of the overall total (an improvement over the appeal schemes proportion
of 19%). The applicant’s Planning Viability and Affordable Housing statement drafted by
HEDC (dated August 2017) concludes that the proposed scheme is only marginally viable.
The statement has been independently reviewed by the Council’s independent consultants
BNP Paribas.

6.3.5

Some of the assumptions made by the applicant regarding the development were queried
by BNP Paribas and therefore adjustments have been made to affordable rent values,
sales agency and marketing fees and the pre-construction period in the final review of the
viability appraisal. All other values as set out by HEDC were adopted by BNP Paribas who
noted that the viability assessment had adopted much of the recommendations from the

Page 40
last scheme assessment. The viability appraisal contains a level of developer profit of 20%
for the private residential element, a level considered acceptable given that the site is
currently generating an income for the landowner and a premium is required to incentivise
redevelopment.

6.3.6

BNP Paribas concluded that the developer’s assumption that the scheme can provide 21%
affordable housing (2 x affordable rent three bedroom houses and 3 shared ownership 2
bed flats) is appropriate and is the maximum viable level for the development to come
forward.

6.3.7

As set out in Local Plan Policy H2, provisions for re-appraising the viability of schemes may
form part of section 106 planning agreements where the financial appraisal demonstrates
that the maximum amount of affordable housing that a scheme can reasonably support is
below policy target. The affordable housing provision in this scheme is 21%, therefore this
triggers the need for a review mechanism as part of the s106 legal agreement to capture
any additional affordable housing contribution that may accrue in the development of the
scheme when it is re-appraised. The review mechanism will not include a grace period so
as to ensure that the maximum uplift in value can be achieved. The re-appraisal of the
viability of the scheme will be triggered when 75% of the total number of the residential
units are sold and, will result in a payment in lieu, which will be ring-fenced for spending on
affordable housing.

6.4

Housing Density

6.4.1

London Plan Policy 3.4 provides guidance in relation to the density of development and
sets out recommended density ranges at Table 3.2. For a “Central” area with a PTAL rating
of 4 to 6 the recommended density ranges are 175 - 355 units per hectare (for units of 3.13.7 habitable rooms) and 650-1100 habitable rooms per hectare (hr/ha). The proposed
scheme lies within an area with a PTAL of 6a and would provide a total of 24 units with 81
habitable rooms (3.3 habitable rooms per unit on average) on a site area of 0.11ha.

6.4.2

As this is a mixed use scheme the size of the site to be calculated for density is reduced by
the amount equivalent to the proportion of the total floorspace allocated to non-residential
uses, which in this case accounts for 32.5% (613 square metres) of the total floorspace.
Hence, the density calculation is based on 67.5% of the site area, i.e. 0.074 hectares, and
on this basis the scheme would yield 324 units or 1054 habitable rooms per hectare. Given
the site is adjacent to a major town centre and is within walking distance (approximately
600 metres) of Brixton Underground and Overground stations and on an accessible bus

Page 41
route, such a density is considered suitable for this site subject to design and other policy
considerations.
6.5

Design and Conservation

6.5.1

Local Plan Policy Q5 seeks development, which reflects the local distinctiveness of the
area and states that proposals should respond to the positive aspects of the local context in
terms of urban block and grain, pattern of space and relationship, townscape/landscape
character; built form (bulk, scale, height and massing) including roofscapes; siting,
orientation and layout and relationship with other buildings and spaces; materials; and
quality of architectural detailing. Where development proposals deviate from locally distinct
development patterns, applicants will be required to show in their design statements that
the proposal clearly delivers design excellence; and will make a positive contribution to its
local and historic context.

6.5.2

Policy Q2 seeks to ensure the visual amenity from adjoining sites and the public realm are
not unacceptably compromised by development.

6.5.3

Policy Q7 of the Lambeth Local Plan seeks new development of a high quality design, with
a bulk, scale/mass, siting, building line and orientation which preserves or enhances the
prevailing local character. The policy also requires that the development is built of durable,
robust, low maintenance materials; includes well considered windows and doors, and any
vehicular access, parking or servicing is designed so as to be well related to the adjacent
area and minimise impact on amenity and be visually attractive.

6.5.4

Policy Q8 emphasises the need to ensure that new buildings are buildable and visually
attractive. The Council will seek construction detailing that is unified, robust and
maintenance free whilst resisting value engineering approaches, which dilute design
quality.

6.5.5

This application follows on from a refused proposal (16/03327/FUL, dismissed under
appeal ref: APP/N5660/W/17/3175759) which had a comparable footprint but differed in
height, scale, form and material finish. The refusal of that scheme was based solely on
design grounds stating that the excessive bulk and scale and its design, particularly at the
corner of Acre Lane and Baytree Road, would result in a building which would appear
discordant and overly dominant in relation to the prevailing local character, and which
would create an inappropriate context that would not respect or contribute to the intended
future character of the area.

Page 42

Figure 5(a): Refused/Appeal Scheme Acre Lane Elevation

Figure 5(b): Current Proposal Scheme Acre Lane elevation

Page 43

Figure 6(a): Refused/Appeal Scheme: Baytree Road elevation

Figure 6(b): Current Proposal Scheme (Baytree Lane Elevation)

6.5.6

The Appeal case focused on the single reason for refusal, namely visual impact of the
building and its impact on the character of the area. The Inspector commented that the
‘sixth storey element on the corner of Baytree Road would appear particularly prominent
within its surroundings considering that there are no buildings of comparable visible height
within this part of the street scene’. The Inspector was more conciliatory with regard the
height of the building along Baytree Road noting that ‘the reduction in height would help
reduce its visual dominance within the residential parts of the Baytree Road street scene’.

Page 44
6.5.7

The main design differences between the current application scheme and the appeal
scheme are summarised as follows:


Reduction in height on the corner section of the building from 6 storeys to 5 storeys
(including a setback roof level);



The corner design is now curved;



A redesign of the elevational treatment to include slight recesses to the splayed window
reveals, incorporation of a more simple material palette to include light brickwork to
main residential core, brown zinc cladding to the roof and glazed frontages to the
ground floor commercial element; and



6.5.8

Balconies now recessed into the building core.

As stated above, the site is currently occupied by a two storey commercial building, facing
Acre Lane, with a further industrial shed structure extending to the rear enclosing a service
yard. The building is approximately 40 years old and is a simple flat roofed building with
extended shopfronts and ribbon windows at first floor. Whilst there are a variety of buildings
style within the area, this building is not considered to be of architectural merit and its loss
and replacement with one of a high quality design is considered acceptable in principle.

6.5.9

The road is wide at this section of Acre Lane, with deep pavements on both sides creating
a sense of openness accentuated by the restrained height of the Tesco building, gaps
between buildings on Acre Lane (including the Tesco car park to the east and the site to the
west) plus the buildings to the north, which are set behind deep front gardens. The street
trees, which are present on Acre Lane help to mitigate the existing incoherence of built form
on the southern side of Acre Lane. Save for the plot immediately adjacent, there are fewer
gaps in built form to the west with a mixture of buildings ranging from single to 4 storeys
and which are of various periods and architectural styles.

6.5.10 In terms of Baytree Road, the majority of the street to the south east is comprised of two
storey residential properties, however in the vicinity of this site the streetscene is less
cohesive. As well as the break to the rear of the application site, there is the unappealing
side exit and loading area of the adjacent Tesco store opposite. Enclosed by security
fencing, this space is visually unattractive and sits adjacent to a single storey plant building
and a detached house to the south after which Baytree Road takes on its residential form.
The Tesco store has a long, blank and inactive frontage on Acre Lane, which does not
make a positive contribution to the street scene.

Page 45
Scale and Massing

6.5.11The proposal scheme has been revised to respond to the previous reason for refusal and the
comments set out by the Planning Inspectorate. The overall height and massing of the
building has been greatly reduced and now reads as a predominantly four storey building,
given the setback design of the fifth floor roof element along Acre Lane. The massing
responds to the differing character conditions of Baytree Road and Acre Lane with a part 2,
part 4 storey mass on Baytree Road and a 5 storey mass on Acre Lane. The corner is
expressed with curved form on the main building and a glass box at roof level, which
softens the appearance of the building on the approach from the eastern side of Acre Lane.
Whilst the 4 storey step down on Baytree Road diminishes the sensitivity of the scheme to
the low-rise residential grain on this side, this 4 storey massing is setback significantly from
the street and is therefore considered to have a low impact on the street scene.

Figure 7: view showing both north and east façades from Acre Lane
6.5.12 In respect of the Baytree Road frontage, the development’s massing has responded to the
residential character of the street by stepping down the height of the building to two storeys
at the junction with the existing early 20th Century residential terrace. The transition in scale
is not dissimilar to that in the appeal scheme, which the Inspector found acceptable. The
form proposed is considered to be cohesive and will retain the integrity of the terraced

Page 46
properties to the south/south east. The use of light brickwork and the incorporation of front
gardens to the end two units will further emphasise the domestic scale of development
where it adjoins the existing residential terrace in Baytree Road. In terms of the relationship
with the extant permission for the three storey Sudborne School building, the proposed
development would be set sufficiently away from the school block (and the existing sheds)
so as to afford views around the buildings which would not cumulatively be over dominant
in this setting.

Figure 8: Proposed view of eastern façade from Baytree Road

6.5.13 Overall, the redesign of the building is considered to be appropriate in terms of scale,
height and massing. In light of the comments set out by the Planning Inspectorate under
appeal ref: APP/N5660/W/3175759, it is considered that the building form has been
sensitively redesigned in order to respond the Council’s reason for refusal and subsequent
appeal decision. The built form would assimilate into the corner site location and would not
dominate the surrounding streetscene and townscape. It is considered that the building is
now well proportioned and would have a positive impact on the character of the local area
in line with Policies Q5 and Q7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).

Materials and Elevation Treatment:

6.5.14 The scheme design has incorporated a simplified materials palette, which creates a more
cohesive appearance of the building. The use of stock brick is supported, and a condition
will ensure that a high quality of material and design detailing (particularly next to the

Page 47
window openings) is secured. The splayed window design adds depth and interest to the
elevations, and a condition is recommended which would ensure that the depth of the
windows reveals is slightly deeper thereby enhancing the visual quality of the building.

6.5.15 The treatment of the ground floor as slightly recessed with columns is appropriate and a
condition will be added which requires further details of how the rounded column will
interface with the glazing. The use of zinc for the setback volumes at roof level and on the
Baytree Road section provides a pleasant contrast from the light brickwork. The detailing
for the Juliet balconies would be secured by condition because the use of frameless glazed
balustrades may impede the visual quality of the building through use of bulky fixings. In
addition, as a condition of consent, the applicant will be required t to incorporate a brick
parapet along the entirety of the north elevation in conjunction with the proposed use of
glass balustrading along a section of this elevation.

6.5.16 In light of the improved detailed design elements and the comments made by the Planning
Inspector when assessing the appeal scheme, the elevational treatment and materials
proposed are considered to contribute to an acceptable visual quality for the development
scheme.

Legislative and national policy considerations
6.5.17 It is the local planning authorities statutory duty when considering development that affects
a listed building and/or its setting to pay special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses.
It is also the local authority’s statutory duty when considering any development that affects
a conservation area to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of that area or its setting.
6.5.18 This section sets out the legislative and national policy context for the Officer assessment
of the impact of the development proposal on the historic environment and its heritage
assets.
Legislative Framework
6.5.19 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
(“PLBCAA”) provides that in considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

Page 48
6.5.20 Section 72(1) PLBCAA provides that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other
land in a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of (amongst others) the
planning Acts, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of the conservation area.
6.5.21 The South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment case and the
Barnwell Manor case (East Northamptonshire DC v SSCLG) establish that “preserving” in
both s.66 and s.72 means “doing no harm’.
National Policy
6.5.22 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out 12 “core planning principles” that should underpin both
plan-making and decision-taking. Those principles include the following requirement:
“Planning should always seek to secure high quality design and should conserve heritage
assets in a manner appropriate to their significance so that they can be enjoyed for their
contribution to the quality of life of this and future generation”.
6.5.23 The NPPF defines a “heritage asset” as:
“A building, monument, site place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest”.
6.5.24 The definition includes both designated heritage assets (of which, Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas are relevant here) and assets identified by the local planning authority
(including local listing).
6.5.25 “Significance” is defined within the NPPF as being:
“the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest.
That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its “setting”.
6.5.26 Paragraph 129 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including
by development affecting its setting), taking account of the available evidence and any
necessary expertise. That assessment should then be taken into account when considering
the impact of the proposal on the heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the
heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.
6.5.27 Paragraphs 131 and 132 of the NPPF provide as follows:

Page 49
131. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account of:
•

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

•

the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and

•

the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.

132. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or
lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting.
As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing
justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or garden should
be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of designated heritage assets of the highest
significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, battlefields, grade I and
II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites,
should be wholly exceptional.
6.5.28 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF deals with substantial harm to or total loss of significance of
significance of a designated heritage asset.
6.5.29 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF provides that where a development proposal will lead to less
than substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum
viable use.
6.5.30 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF deals with non-designated heritage assets as follows:
135. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that
affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset.
6.5.31 Paragraphs 137 and 138 of the NPPF are as follows:

Page 50
137. Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets to
enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the
setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of the asset
should be treated favourably.
138. Not all elements of a World Heritage Site or Conservation Area will necessarily
contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which makes a positive
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be
treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 133 or less than substantial harm under
paragraph 134, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of the element
affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage
Site as a whole.
6.5.32 Officers have also had regard to the Planning Practice Guidance in respect of conserving
and enhancing the historic environment.
Approach required
6.5.33 Turning to consider the application of the legislative and policy requirements set out above,
the first step is for the decision-maker to consider each of the designated heritage assets
which would be affected by the proposed development in turn and assess whether the
proposed development would result in any harm to the significance of the designated
heritage asset.
6.5.34 The decision of the Court of Appeal in Barnwell Manor confirms that the assessment of the
degree of harm to the heritage asset is a matter for the planning judgement of the decisionmaker. However, where the decision-maker concludes that there would be some harm to
the heritage asset, in deciding whether that harm would be outweighed by the advantages
of the proposed development (in the course of undertaking the analysis required by s.38(6)
PCPA 2004) the decision-maker is not free to give the harm such weight as the decisionmaker thinks appropriate. Rather, Barnwell Manor establishes that a finding of harm to a
heritage asset is a consideration to which the decision maker must give considerable
importance and weight in carrying out the balancing exercise.
6.5.36 There is therefore a “strong presumption” against granting planning permission for
development which would harm a heritage asset. In the Forge Field case the High Court
explained that the presumption is a statutory one. It is not irrebuttable. It can be outweighed
by material considerations powerful enough to do so. But a local planning authority can only
properly strike the balance between harm to a heritage asset on the one hand and planning

Page 51
benefits on the other if it is conscious of the statutory presumption in favour of preservation
and if it demonstrably applies that presumption to the proposal it is considering.
6.5.37 The case-law also establishes that even where the harm identified is less than substantial
(i.e. falls within paragraph 134 of the NPPF), that harm must still be given considerable
importance and weight.
6.5.38 Where more than one heritage asset would be harmed by the proposed development, the
decision-maker also needs to ensure that when the balancing exercise in undertaken, the
cumulative effect of those several harms to individual assets is properly considered. In their
response, Historic England has not suggested that the cumulative effect of the individual
instances of harm identified amounts to substantial harm and Officers do not consider that
the total harm (i.e. the cumulative effect of the several instances of harm identified)
amounts to substantial harm in this case. Looking at the position as a whole, there are a
number of adverse impacts on heritage features which individually and cumulatively result
in less than substantial harm. However, less than substantial harm does not mean
insignificant harm. Considerable importance and weight must be attached to each of the
harms identified and to their cumulative effect.
Impact on Conservation Area
6.5.39 The Trinity Gardens Conservation area is in the vicinity of the site. However, given the
distance, approximately 27 metres, from the development to this conservation area, officers
consider that no harm would be caused to the setting of the conservation area.

Impact on Statutory Listed Buildings
6.5.40 As per the national policy and Policy Q20 of the Local Plan, development should conserve
and not harm the significance/special interest of statutory listed buildings and should not
harm the significance of their setting (including views to and from).

6.5.41 The proposal site is in the vicinity of a number of Grade II Listed Buildings; to the west of
the site, approximately 70 metres away on the Northern side of Acre Lane are Nos. 86 - 88
Acre Lane and 90 - 92 Acre Lane. On the southern side of Acre Lane, approximately 80
metres from the site are 55-57 Acre Lane. To the east of the site, approximately 52 metres
away are Nos. 52 Acre Lane, 48 - 50 Acre Lane (Cedar House) and No. 46 Acre Lane.
These statutorily listed buildings have the potential to be affected by the proposal.

6.5.42 Similar to the assessment made on the neighbouring conservation area, it is also

Page 52
considered that the setting and historical significance of the surrounding statutory listed
buildings would be preserved with no harm being caused to them by the proposed
development. The distance of the application site from the listed buildings, together with the
reduced mass and form, totaling 5 storeys, would not cause harm to the character and
special interest of setting of the Grade II Listed buildings sited to the east and west of the
proposal site on Acre Lane. The materials used on the elevations of the proposal scheme
are sympathetic to the character of the Listed Buildings and although the building has a
modern appearance, it does incorporate traditional detailing and materials. In views along
Acre Lane, it is not considered that the proposal scheme would over dominate views of the
Listed buildings, given the separation distance and the height of these buildings
themselves. Neither the Council nor the Planning Inspector had concerns over the impact
of the appeal scheme on the nearby heritage assets and therefore this matter is not
considered to have changed in light of the design modifications which have improved the
proposal scheme.

6.5.43 Overall, it is considered that in design terms the applicant has addressed the reason for
refusal on the previous proposal. The reduced scale and height of the building is
appropriate to the setting and the design details more coherent than previously proposed,
and, subject to quality finishes will it is officers considered view that the proposal would
have a positive impact on the character and appearance of the area.

6.6

Living conditions for future occupiers

6.6.1

Policy 3.5 of the London Plan outlines minimum space standards for new residential
development. All proposed units meet these standards. Floor-to-ceiling heights just fall
short of the London Plan standard of 2.5 metres by 5cm, however the generous size of the
units compensates for this marginal shortfall. All but three of the units are dual aspect,
however these are east facing and each would have ample glazing and access to sufficient
daylight and sunlight.

6.6.2

In terms of overlooking between units, given the revisions to the built form of the scheme,
which now incorporates inset/setback balconies, it is considered this arrangement is an
improvement when compared to the previous scheme. A marginal degree of overlooking
between habitable rooms of some of the flats and external balconies at the rear would
remain, however, visual angles in these incidences are acute and as such would not unduly
comprise the privacy of future occupiers of the site. In order to secure privacy for all future
occupiers, it is considered prudent to attach a condition recommending a privacy screen to
be installed to side of the balconies of Units 12 and 18 at the rear and Unit 22 to the

Page 53
northern side, where there is the potential for overlooking from balconies to these flats.

6.6.3

The rear gardens of the two three bedroom houses would experience some overlooking
from upper floors balconies and windows, but given the separation distances and angles of
vision, the arrangement of the units would not undermine the enjoyment of the garden to
the new dwellinghouses. This arrangement is similar to the previously refused appeal
scheme. To the south of the existing site a new primary school has been approved (but
not implemented). A check of the plans approved at the primary school shows that the
nearest windows would be over 21m away from any facing habitable room windows at the
application site. This separation distance is considered adequate to prevent any
unacceptable loss of privacy for future occupiers. The school also possesses a MUGA at
roof level. This is set behind brickwork and a screen and restricted in hours of use so that it
would not compromise residential amenity of future occupiers.

6.6.4

Policy H5 of the Lambeth Local Plan states that for flatted development, 50sqm of
communal amenity space should be provided in addition to private balcony space. This
detail has not changed when compared with the previous scheme. The current application
proposes approximately 289sqm of amenity space (incorporating play equipment), which is
welcomed. Each unit has access to a private balcony measuring between 5sqm to 36sqm
in size. Whilst Officers acknowledge that some of the units fail to meet the 10sqm standard
as sought under Policy H5, all balconies would meet Standard 25 of the London Plan
Housing SPG (2016) and all spaces are functional and useable. Taking into consideration
the provision of private shared amenity space at ground floor level and the proximity of
Rush Common public amenity space (200metres away), the development scheme as a
whole provides a decent quality of accommodation in terms of amenity space provision.

6.6.5

For new houses this same policy states that 30sqm of private amenity space per house
should be provided and they should preferably have direct access to a private garden. The
two houses each benefit from 30.5sqm (Unit 23) and 36.7sqm (Unit 24), respectively and
so are well provided for in terms of outdoor amenity space.

Residential Accessibility

6.6.6

Policy 3.8 of the London Plan deals with housing choice and the Mayor of London has
integrated the National Housing Standards into the policy, requiring 10% of new housing to
meet building regulation M4 (3) 'wheelchair user dwellings', and further advising that 90% of
homes should meet building regulation M4 (2) – ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’.
Wheelchair user dwellings are designed to be readily useable by a wheel chair user,

Page 54
accessible and adaptable dwellings are designed to be easily adapted for a wheel chair
user. In this case, two of the two-bed flats (Units 3 and 9), equating to 16% of the scheme
have been designed to be readily usable by a wheel chair user in line with the requirements
of part M4 (3). These units are located adjacent to the lift at first and second floor level,
and turning circles, storage and path analysis is shown on plans within the design and
access statement, which demonstrate compliance with this provision.

Noise and general disturbance

6.6.7

Adjoining the site to the west is a builder's yard, and activities associated with this business
would generate noise and disturbance for future residential occupiers of the proposed
development. The Baytree Road frontage faces on to the exit point and a loading area for
the Tesco store, which has the potential to compromise residential amenity at application
site. Given this context, it is recommended that a condition be attached to any approval to
ensure that units are secured against excessive noise and vibration associated with the
operational use of these neighbouring premises. In addition, conditions are recommended
to review external and internal plant layout and noise associated with proposed plant
equipment prior to commencement of development above ground level in order to
safeguard amenity for the existing and future and residents.

Air Quality Impacts

6.6.8

The proposed development is a major development located within Lambeth-wide Air
Quality Management Area and within less than 300m of the GLA’s designated Air Quality
Focus Area (area of high air pollution combined with high population’s exposure) of Brixton
Road. Given the site is adjacent to a major road there is the potential for impact on
occupier health and wellbeing.

6.6.9

The application was accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA), dated (December
2017), which concludes that the development would be acceptable with regards the air
quality afforded to occupiers of the site. The predicted emission concentrations of
particulate matter (PM10) and NO2 are below the relevant objectives for road traffic.
Predicted concentrations at all modelled receptors fall within APEC Category A, which
states that there are “no air quality grounds for refusal, however, mitigation of any
emissions should be considered”. The Council’s Sustainability officer has confirmed that
they have no concerns over this development in respect of its impact on air quality.
However, to ensure that the quality of air is safeguarded during the construction phase,
conditions are recommended which require details of an air quality and dust management

Page 55
plan and details of non-road mobile machinery having regard to the aims and objectives of
London Plan Policy 7.14 (Improving air quality).
6.7

Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

Daylight and Sunlight

6.7.1

Policy Q2 states that development would not be supported if it would have unacceptable
impact on levels of daylight and sunlight on adjoining development. The application has
been accompanied by a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment, dated 3rd August 2017, which
considers the impact of the proposal in terms of potential impact on the adjoining residential
properties on Baytree Road and Acre Lane. The previous scheme was considered to be
acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring occupiers, and given the reduction in scale
and massing of the current application scheme, it is not considered that daylight and
sunlight issues are contentious at this site. Nonetheless, the report has been assessed by
Officers.

6.7.2

The Baytree Road properties are located to the south and south east of the proposed
scheme, hence there would be no detrimental impact on sunlight resulting from the new
buildings. Opposite the site on the northern side of Acre Lane (No’s 60 – 70) there is a
terrace of residential buildings located 36 metres away, which have lower ground floor
street facing windows. The report tests the impact on sunlight against the lower ground
floor window of 64 Acre Lane, which would lie north and opposite the tallest element
(thereby the most susceptible to impact) of the development. The report finds that this
existing window would retain levels of sunlight that significantly exceed those
recommended by BRE guidelines and would only be marginally affected in winter months
but not to a detrimental level.

6.7.3

As regards daylight, the report concludes that the development would have minimal
impacts on the surrounding occupiers. It is shown that there will be one window on
neighbouring property at 73 Baytree Road, which would both have a Vertical Sky
Component (VSC) that would fall below 27 degrees, down from 28.2 to 17.9 and also be
less than 80% of its current value (63%). This window faces north towards the site at a
distance of 4.3 metres and serves the kitchen part of a living/kitchen open plan area. The
consequence of this proposal would be that the amount of daylight reaching this window
would be noticeably less, however, given the room as a whole has 3 other openings and an
unimpeded rear window, the amount of daylight within the space would not be unduly
compromised. In any case the applicant has produced an Average Daylight Factor (ADF)

Page 56
calculation for the kitchen which shows that for this space alone the ADF is 2.48%, which s
above the 2% level considered suitable for kitchens. The VSC for the first floor window at
No. 73 would fall from 28.6 to 26.8, which is marginally below acceptable values, however,
this room benefits from another window opening, and as such the breach in respect
daylight reaching this window would not harm the amount natural lighting currently enjoyed
by the occupiers of this property. The assessment concludes that there would be no impact
in terms of daylight to the windows of No. 79 Baytree Road and 64 Acre Lane.

6.7.4

In terms of the adjoining school buildings and grounds and Baytree Road gardens, the
proposed building is to the north east and will have minimal impact on these sites in this
regard.

6.7.5

Officers have reviewed these findings and are satisfied that the proposal would not have an
unacceptable impact on neighbouring dwellings and other users in terms of daylight and
sunlight

Overlooking impact/privacy

6.7.6

There are windows in the northern elevation, to the side of the back addition, of the dwelling
at 73 Baytree Road which would face towards the application site. The majority of
habitable room windows in the proposed residential units would be separated by a distance
of over 21m from 73 Baytree Road, which is considered sufficient separation to prevent an
unacceptable loss of privacy. The first floor windows of the new houses, would be
approximately 11 metres away from the only first floor window of 73 Baytree Road which
serves a habitable room. However, from officers’ assessment of the plans, the views would
be at an acute angle, and as such it is not considered that a loss of privacy would occur to
this room. Some flats would have views over the rear garden of this property and
neighbouring properties to the south but these views would be long and over spaces that
are already overlooked from neighbouring dwellings. Any additional overlooking would not
be unduly significant and common place in an urban setting such as this. In other respects
given the breadth of Acre Lane and the presence of the Tesco store on the opposite side of
Baytree Road, there will be limited overlooking opportunities resulting from this
development. Likewise, because of the location of the proposal and its relationship with
surrounding housing, it is not considered that the development would lead to a loss of
outlook for neighbouring properties. Whilst it is recognised that from the rear of Baytree
Road gardens the building will be prominent in views to the north, it is considered that the
additional three storeys when compared to the existing building, would not result in a
significant loss of amenity noting that these gardens are orientated east-west and not

Page 57
towards the site.

Noise and general disturbance

6.7.7

Taking into account the existing use and openness at the back of the site, the new scheme
has the potential for reduced levels of disturbance and noise compared to the existing use
(or if the property was converted). This proposal would however afford the Council the
opportunity to control the hours associated with the commercial operation of the site such
that they are appropriate for this mixed commercial and residential location. In that regard it
is considered reasonable that a planning condition on hours of use of the office premises
on the site is attached to safeguard amenity. Additionally conditions are proposed in
respect of construction management and servicing so that residential amenity is protected
as much as possible during both the construction and operation phases of the
development.

6.8

Waste

6.8.1

Separate waste and recycling storage facilities are proposed for the proposed commercial
and residential uses. Policy Q12 of the Local Plan deals with refuse and recycling storage
and states that in new-build schemes refuse storage areas should be located well away
from residential accommodation to avoid harm to amenity. The refuse storage units are
sited in accordance with Transport officers’ advice (within 25m of the highway; the
maximum distance for refuse collection) and are considered acceptable in this regard. The
bin stores have been designed to be separate from the residential access cores in order to
assist in security, reduce fire risks and alleviate concerns about odour from bins in common
areas. A waste management strategy is recommended to be attached as a planning
condition so that the deposit and collection of waste is managed well and sustainably.

6.9

Land Contamination

6.9.1

The site has been used for employment purposes in the past, and as such there is some
concern that contamination may exist at the site. Policy EN4 (Sustainable design and
construction) states that adequate remedial treatment of any contaminated land will be
required before development can commence. It is proposed to introduce residential
occupiers to the site and as such it is considered appropriate to require the site to be
investigated to identify if any contamination exists on site. Additionally, if any contamination
is identified, the implementation of a remediation strategy will be required to ensure that no
risk is posed to future residential occupiers. If approved, a condition should be imposed on

Page 58
the consent to ensure the land is appropriately investigated and (if necessary) remediated.

6.10

Security

6.10.1 Policy Q3 of the Local Plan relates to community safety and requires that development
proposals design out opportunistic crime, antisocial behaviour and fear of crime in a sitespecific manner, based on an understanding of the locality and likely crime and safety
issues it presents.

6.10.2 The application was referred to the Metropolitan Police Crime Prevention through Design
advisor who raised no objections to the scheme. It is recommended that a condition
requiring details of physical protection measures incorporated into the scheme design to
ensure compliance with Secured by Design standards.
6.11

Sustainability

6.11.1 The NPPF seeks that development promotes the use of renewable energy where
technology is viable, economic and where the social impacts can be addressed
satisfactorily. From 1 October 2016, London Plan policy 5.2 requires major residential
developments to achieve zero carbon status through a combination of onsite measures
(35%) and cash-in-lieu contributions to a ring-fenced carbon off-set fund (65%).

6.11.2 Policy 5.3 of the London Plan states that development proposals should demonstrate that
sustainable design standards are integral to the proposal and should meet the minimum
standards set out in the Mayor’s ‘Sustainable Design and Construction’ SPG (2014). Policy
5.2 of the London Plan states that Councils should seek to ensure that development
proposals make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in
accordance with the Mayors energy hierarchy, namely; using less energy, supplying energy
efficiently and using renewable energy. The London Plan requires that all major
developments meet specific targets for carbon dioxide emissions reduction in buildings.
These targets are expressed as minimum improvements over the Target Emission Rate
(TER) outlined in the national Building Regulations (2013)

6.11.3 Policy EN4 (Sustainable design and construction) of the Local Plan requires all
development to meet high standards of sustainable design and construction feasible,
having regard to the scale, nature and form of the development proposal. Proposals should
demonstrate in a supporting statement that these standards are integral to the design,
construction and operation of the development. Non-residential developments are required

Page 59
to show how the development would meet the British Research Establishment
Environmental Assessment Methodology (BREEAM) target credit rating of at least
“Excellent” through the implementation of the London Plan Energy Hierarchy of energy
efficiency, decentralised energy and renewable energy technologies (London Plan Policy
5.2 refers).

6.11.4 An Energy Statement (dated July 2017) has been prepared and reviewed. The report
demonstrates that this development would achieve a reduction in carbon emissions in
accordance with the energy hierarchy in London Plan (Policy 5.2, refers). The proposed
energy efficient design and use of materials are complemented by renewable technologies
including solar PVs on the roof. The energy strategy for the site has been developed to
comply with London Plan target of a 35% reduction in carbon emissions compared to Part L
2013 baseline. This saving has been demonstrated using the London Plan ‘Be Lean, Be
Clean, Be Green’ hierarchy. The units will be fitted so that water usage is kept below the
required 105 litres per day. In addition, a green roof is incorporated into the building design.
It is not anticipated that there would be overheating at the site although a condition
stressing that no mechanical ventilation is provided is recommended along with other
conditions to ensure the scheme is constructed in accordance with London Plan and
Lambeth Local Plan guidance.
6.11.6 With regard BREEAM rating, to achieve an ‘excellent’ level, the development must achieve
a total score of 70 percentage points or more as well as achieving all of the mandatory
elements relevant to that level. The sustainability report suggests a score of 78.7% could
be achieved on this site. A condition will be attached requiring the submission of a
BREEAM design stage certificate prior to the commencement of above ground works,
alongside a condition requiring a BREEAM Post Construction certificate and summary
score sheet demonstrating that this ‘Excellent’ rating has been achieved.

6.11.7 Officers recommend that a number of conditions are attached to this decision to ensure that
the sustainability of the development is secured, including, details of how the green roofs
will be managed for the lifetime of the development, mitigation measures for overheating,
and a reduction in waste from construction.
6.12

Flood Risk

6.12.1 The site is located within a Flood Zone 1 area, which is classed as having less than 1 in
1000 chance of river flooding (River Thames) in any one year. The site is not in any
immediate risk of flooding from other sources (reservoirs, canals and artificial sources) and

Page 60
such only the risk of flooding form ground water is considered. The proposal also includes
Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDs).

6.12.2 London Plan Policy 5.13 encourages the use of sustainable urban drainage systems
(SUDS) to minimise surface water runoff. All external surfaces are required to either be
permeable paving or planting. To comply with Policy 5.13 an appropriately worded
condition will be attached.

6.12.3 A Basement Impact Assessment (dated August 2017) was submitted in support of the
application. The report details the possible presence of subterranean ground water flows
and sewers, and further site investigations are recommended before work commences on
the excavation. It is noted that the basement will need to be fully waterproofed and the
report recommends a pumping system to be installed which will incorporate a battery
backup and warning system. These details are considered acceptable and will secured as a
condition of consent

6.12.4 In relation to surface water drainage, Thames Water reiterated that it is the responsibility of
a developer to make proper provision for drainage to ground water, water courses or a
suitable sewer. An informative in respect of these drainage related matters is
recommended.

6.13

Landscape, trees and biodiversity

6.13.1 The ‘sustainable development’ imperative of NPPF 2012 includes enhancing the natural
environment and improving biodiversity (para 7). London Plan Policy 7.19 states that
development proposals, where possible, should make a positive contribution to the
protection, enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity.

6.13.2 Lambeth Local Plan Policy Q9 states that development will be supported where provision is
made for landscaping for future growth and aftercare, existing features are retained and
enhanced, including any habitat as well as creating new ones, maximises greening
opportunity, uses local characteristic species, takes account of existing and potential
routes, provides strong boundary treatments, avoids leftover spaces, are attractive and
provides sustainable drainage and minimises runoff.

6.13.3 The application site currently includes a single Sycamore Tree, located adjacent to the
Baytree Road frontage. The proposal seeks to remove the tree, a measure that received an
objection from the Council’s Arboricultural Consultant on the basis of the loss of public

Page 61
amenity value given that trees to the rear would not be visible in the streetscene. The tree
has no formal protection and could be removed by the applicant at any time. To
compensate for the loss, the applicant will plant (semi-mature) trees at the rear and
enhance the landscaping to the front of the two houses on Baytree Road, bringing in soft
landscaping where none currently exists. The London Plane tree to the front of the site on
Acre Lane will be preserved as part of the development.

6.13.4 Soft landscaping is to be integrated into the site in the form of the communal rear garden
which will incorporate a play space and amenity space for future occupiers. The amenity
space will include seating areas, sand area, climbing net and other play features. The
amenity space will have a level access from the internal cores of the building. Full details of
the hard and soft landscaping are reserved as a condition of consent.
6.14

Transport

6.14.1 The application has been accompanied by a revised Transport Statement (dated July
2017), given the exclusion of the Class A1 retail floorspace from this scheme. The site is
located at the edge, but outside, of Brixton Town Centre, on a main road and is highly
accessible. As a result, public transport, walking and cycling are likely to be the principal
modes of transport to and from this site.

Cycle Parking

6.14.2 In line with London Plan requirements, 20 Sheffield stands for the residential units and 4
Sheffield stands for the B1 use are required. The applicant has proposed a total of 44
secure and sheltered spaces for cycle parking for the flats and the two houses allocated
sheltered space for two bikes within the front garden areas. The office units are allocated 4
cycle parking spaces. The spaces are provided at ground floor level and are considered to
be accessible. An additional 2 spaces for visitors are provided via a single Sheffield stand
located to the north of the property on the footway in front of the site. Further details of the
cycle parking are to be secured as a condition of consent.

Car Parking

6.14.3 The applicant has also agreed to provide payment via a s106 legal agreement to secure the
provision of a disabled bay ahead of the area of the redundant crossover on Baytree Road.
As part of the same legal agreement the applicant will also undertake to secure that future

Page 62
residents are not allowed to apply for car permits for the local CPZ and also that each new
household is provided with car club membership for 3 years post occupation.

Servicing and deliveries

6.14.4 The commercial element of the scheme now comprises solely office use at ground and
basement floor levels, which is considered to be a less intensive use when compared with
the servicing and delivery needs of the previously proposed Class A1 units. The Class B1
use is expected to receive 1-2 deliveries per day comprising post or stationery, while the
residential use is expected to generate approximately 2 deliveries per day. The
development will primarily be serviced on-street from Acre Lane. Refuse collection will
continue to take place as in the existing situation with vehicles stopping on Acre Lane. An
informative is recommended to ensure that the arrangements for refuse servicing do not
undermine highway safety or contribute towards congestion. A delivery and servicing plan
is to be secured as a condition of consent.
6.15

Planning Obligations and CIL

6.15.1 The Local Plan (Policy D4 and Annex 10) sets out the Council’s policy in relation to seeking
planning obligations and the charging approaches for various types of obligations. For
contributions that are not covered by Annex 10, the Council’s approach to calculating
contributions is guided by its July 2013 revised draft S106 Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) produced for consultation.

6.15.2 The following planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the development and are fairly and
reasonably related in kind and in scale to the development. They are therefore compliant
with the requirements of regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations
2010.

Housing:
-

2 x affordable rent three bedroom houses and 3 shared ownership 2 bed flats;

-

A review mechanism to capture any additional affordable housing contributions.

Transport and Highways:

-

Free Car Club membership for a minimum period of 3 years from the date of first
occupation of the residential units to all households of the residential buildings.

Page 63
-

No residential parking permits within the CPZ.

-

Contribution of £10,000 towards the provision of a Disabled Bay on Baytree Road.

-

Completion of Highway works; removing redundant crossover and reinstatement of
footway.

Employment and Training:

-

Employment and Skills Plan

-

WorkSmart Plan

-

Local Labour in Construction (Formula for contribution is as follows: £2,500 per
£1,000,000 Capital Construction costs).

-

Employment and Training Contributions

Other:

Monitoring cost capped at 5% of the total value of the above financial obligations.

6.15.3 If the application is approved and the development is implemented, a liability to pay the
Lambeth Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will arise.

6.15.4 The Lambeth CIL contribution is £50 per square metre and £35 per square metre by the
GLA in relation to the uplift in floorspace. Expenditure of the majority of a future CIL receipt
would be applied towards Borough infrastructure needs as contained in the published CIL
Regulation 123 List, which defines what CIL may be spent on. Local neighbourhood funding
from CIL may be applied to infrastructure needs in line with the CIL Regulation 123 List, or
to anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that the development
places on an area. Allocation of CIL monies to particular infrastructure projects is not a
matter for consideration in the determination of planning applications. Separate governance
arrangements are being put in place for Borough Infrastructure needs, and locally through
the Cooperative Local Investment Plan initiative.

Page 64
7

CONCLUSION

7.1

In conclusion, officers have assessed the proposals in accordance with relevant policies
and in light of all representations received. Officers note the concerns of adjoining
residential occupiers in terms of potential impact on design quality, transport impacts and
amenity. However, it is considered that the scale and design of the development is
appropriate to its setting and the renewed commercial space and residential units
introduced are welcomed. Through appropriate mitigation and conditions it is considered
that the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on the amenity of surrounding
residential occupiers.

8.

EQUALITY DUTY AND HUMAN RIGHTS

8.1

In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the council must have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the
Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public
Sector Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics (age, disability, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual
orientation).

8.2

In line with the Human Rights Act 1998, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way
which is incompatible with a Convention right, as per the European Convention on Human
Rights. The human rights impact have been considered, with particular reference to Article
1 of the First Protocol (Protection of property), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and
family life) and Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) of the Convention.

8.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 does not impair the right of the state to make decisions and
enforce laws as deemed necessary in the public interest. The recommendation is
considered appropriate in upholding the council's adopted and emerging policies and is not
outweighed by any engaged rights.

Page 65
9

RECOMMENDATION

9.1

Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the planning
obligations listed in this report.

9.2

Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Development to:

-

Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report; and

-

Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report

pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

9.3.

In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers, having regard to the heads of
terms set out in the report, to negotiate and complete a document containing obligations
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to meet the
requirement of the Planning Inspector.

Page 66
10

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

General
1.

Time period (standard three years)
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning from the date of this decision notice.

Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004).

2.

In accordance with approved plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with
the approved plans and drawings listed in this decision notice, other than where
those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3.

Secured by Design

The new building hereby permitted shall be constructed to include the design
principles and provision of physical protection measures to meet Secured By Design
/ New Homes 2014/16 (to include external security lighting in communal areas).
. A certificate of accreditation to Secured by Design Standards shall be submitted to and
approved writing by the local planning authority prior to the residential occupation of the
development.

Reason: To ensure the safety and security of future occupiers and adjoining
properties and prevent crime and disorder occurring within and in the immediate
vicinity of the site, in the interest of public safety. (Policy Q3 of Lambeth Local Plan
(2015)).

Page 67
4.

Adaptable and wheelchair accessible housing (Parts M4 (2) and M4 (3)
compliant)
At least 10 per cent of the residential units hereby permitted shall be constructed to
comply with Part M4 (3) of the Building Regulations. Any communal areas and
accesses serving the M4 (3) compliant Wheelchair User Dwellings shall also comply
with Part M4 (3). All other residential units, communal areas and accesses hereby
permitted shall be constructed to comply with Part M4 (2) of the Building
Regulations.

Reason: To secure appropriate access for disabled people, older people and others
with mobility constraints (Policies 3.8 of the London Plan (2015) and Q1 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and the guidance in the London
Plan Housing SPG (2016)).

Design
5.

Materials
Prior to the commencement above ground level of the development hereby
permitted, detailed drawings including a schedule of the materials to be used in the
external elevations (together with samples of all external brickwork including
pointing and special brick detailing erected on site for inspection), shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development hereby permitted shall be thereafter built in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory
(Policies Q2, Q7 and Q8 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

6.

Detailed Design
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, above ground
works shall not commence until drawings showing all external construction detailing
of the approved development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The drawings shall include details of:

a)

Details of any fascia signage space

b)

Details of balconies and balustrades

c)

Details of roof and cladding (method of fixing) to include sections

Page 68
d)

Details of communal entrances including signage

e)

Details of windows, secure vents and doors; section and cross section of
typical window (scale 1:5 and 1:10)

f)

Details of lighting including type, colour/RAL and location

g)

Details and location of rainwater pipes, flues and vents

h)

Details of boundary treatments and gates and sections

i)

Details of cycle storage; appearance, materials and location

j)

Details of corner glass box feature in plan and section showing how glass
interfaces with the zinc cladding

k)

Details of cills, soffits, reveals, grilles, soffits, rain water pipes, air bricks,
canopies, brickwork

l)

Details of roller shutters

m)

Details of how ground floor glazing is fixed to steel columns

n)

Details of rainwater goods, pipes and extracts

The details set out above shall be provided at 1:10 scale (including sections) or at
another scale agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not
be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details and drawings thus
approved.

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and
does not detract from the character and visual amenity of the area. (Policies Q6,
Q7, Q8 and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
7.

No external pipes
No external pipes No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed to
the external faces of buildings.

Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of design (Policies Q6, Q8 and PN2 of
the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Landscaping
8.

Landscaping
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a landscaping scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development hereby permitted shall be thereafter carried out in accordance with the
approved details within 6 months of the date of occupation. All tree, shrub and hedge

Page 69
planting included within the above specification shall accord with BS3936:1992,
BS4043:1989 and BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current
Arboricultural best practice. The submitted details are expected to demonstrate the
following:

a) The quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all trees and
shrubs to be planted;
b) An indication of how they integrate with the proposal in the long term with regard to
their mature size and anticipated routine maintenance and protection;
c) Specification of which shrubs and hedges to be planted that are intended to achieve a
significant size and presence in the landscape;
d) How the landscaping scheme would be managed;
f) How replacement planting helps to mitigate the loss existing trees on site.

Reason: In order to ensure high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in the
interests of the ecological value of the site and in the interests of visual amenity (policy
Q2, Q9 and Q10 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

12.

Planting
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation
of the development hereby permitted or the substantial completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner. Any trees, hedgerows or shrubs forming part
of the approved landscaping scheme which within a period of five years from the
occupation or substantial completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: In order to introduce high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in
the interests of the ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory
landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity (Policies: Q2, Q6, Q9 &
Q10 of the Local Plan (2015).
13.

Details of boundary treatments
No development above ground level shall take place until details of the siting and
design of all walls gates and/or fencing and the existing boundary walls that are to
be retained have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning

Page 70
Authority. Such walls, gates or fencing as may be approved shall be erected prior to
the first occupation of the new building unless the prior written approval of the Local
Planning Authority to any variation has been obtained.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance and standard of amenity of the site; to
prevent unacceptable harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties and; to
minimise the opportunities for crime (Policies Q2, Q3, Q5, O6, Q7, Q15, Q20, Q22
and Q23 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

14.

Green/Brown roofs
No development above ground level shall take place until there has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailed schemes for the
design, construction, establishment and sustainable management of all areas of
green and biodiverse (‘brown’) roof or wall for the application site. This should be
developed using good practice based on current advice provided by qualified
experts and advisors, and offer the maximum ecological and visual benefit to the
site and locality. The schemes should aim to assist with rainwater attenuation and
management, in terms of its design and integration into other aspects of the
development designed to reduce flooding and reduce potable water wastage.

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and encourage biodiversity
(policies EN1, Q2 and Q9 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
15.

Green roof– to be maintained
If within 5 years of the installation of the green roofs and any planting forming part of
the green roof shall die, be removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased,
then either this planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with planting
of a similar size and species or alternatives to be agreed in writing with the local
planning authority and thereafter maintained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area (Policies Q2 and Q9 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Transport

16.

Waste and recycling storage
Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, details of waste and
recycling storage (including detail on ventilation of bin stores) for the development

Page 71
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
waste and recycling storage shall be provided in accordance with the approved
details prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, and shall thereafter
be retained solely for its designated use. The waste and recycling storage
areas/facilities should comply with the Lambeth's Refuse & Recycling Storage
Design Guide (2013), unless it is demonstrated in the submissions that such
provision is inappropriate for this specific development.

Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to
encourage the sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual
amenities of the area (policies Q2 and Q12 of the London Borough of Lambeth
Local Plan (2015).
17.

Waste Management Strategy
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a Waste Management
Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the
approved details and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use. The
use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved
Waste Management Strategy. The Waste Management Strategy will align with the
guide for architects and developers on waste and recycling storage and collection
requirements submitted details and will include the following:
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to
encourage the sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual
amenities of the area (policies Q2 and Q12 of the London Borough of Lambeth
Local Plan (2015)).

18.

Cycle Storage
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the provision
to be made for cycle parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking shall thereafter be implemented in full in
accordance with the approved details before the use hereby permitted commences
and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use.

Reason: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available on site and to promote
sustainable modes of transport (policies T1, T3 and Q13 of the London Borough of
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Page 72

19.

Existing vehicular access to be removed
Within 3 months of occupation of the development hereby approved the existing
redundant vehicular access points shall be removed by raising the dropped kerb
and reinstating the footway to the specification required by the Council’s Highways
Department.

Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the
highway (Policies T1 and T6 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

20.

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
The use hereby permitted shall not commence until a Delivery and Servicing
Management Plan has been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with
the approved details. The submitted details must include the following:
a) frequency of deliveries to the site;
b) frequency of other servicing vehicles such as refuse collections;
c) dimensions of delivery and servicing vehicles;
d) proposed loading and delivery locations; and
e) a strategy to manage vehicles servicing the site.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area
(policy Q2 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and to limit the
effects of the increase in travel movements (Policy T8 (Servicing) - Lambeth Local
Plan 2015)

Environmental

21.

Construction and Environmental Management Plan

The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include details of the
following relevant measures:

i.

An introduction consisting of construction phase environmental management
plan, definitions and abbreviations and project description and location;

ii.

A description of management responsibilities;

Page 73
iii.

A description of the construction programme which identifies activities likely
to cause high levels of noise or dust;

iv.

Site working hours and a named person for residents to contact;

v.

Detailed Site logistics arrangements;

vi.

Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;

vii.

Details regarding dust and noise mitigation measures to be deployed
including identification of sensitive receptors and ongoing monitoring;

viii.

Details of the hours of works and other measures to mitigate the impact of
construction on the amenity of the area and safety of the highway network;
and

ix.

Communication procedures with the LBL and local community regarding key
construction issues – newsletters, fliers etc.

The applicant is encouraged to consult with local residents and evidence of and
details related to consultation with local residents on the CEMP to be submitted
shall be included within the submission. The construction shall thereafter be carried
out in accordance with the details and measures approved in the CEMP for the
related phase, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received
for any variation.

Reason: This is required prior to construction to avoid hazard and obstruction being
caused to users of the public highway and to safeguard residential amenity during
the whole of the construction period. (Policies T6 and Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan
(2015)).
22.

Air Quality and Dust Management Plan

No demolition or development shall commence until full details of the proposed
mitigation measures for impact on air quality and dust emissions, in the form of an
Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP), have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. In preparing the AQMDP the
applicant should follow the guidance on mitigation measures for Medium Risk sites
set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and
Demolition SPG 2014. Both ‘highly recommended’ and ‘desirable’ measures should
be included. The AQDMP can form part of the Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP).The AQDMP shall include the following for each relevant
phase of work (demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout):

Page 74
a) A summary of work to be carried out;
b) Proposed haul routes, location of site equipment including supply of water for
damping down, source of water, drainage and enclosed areas to prevent
contaminated water leaving the site;
c) Inventory and timetable of all dust and NOx air pollutant generating activities;
d) List of all dust and emission control methods to be employed and how they relate
to the Air Quality (Dust) Risk Assessment;
e) Details of any fuel stored on-site;
f) Details of a trained and responsible person on-site for air quality (with knowledge
of pollution monitoring and control methods, and vehicle emissions);
g) Summary of monitoring protocols and agreed procedure of notification to the local
authority; and
h) A log book for action taken in response to incidents or dust-causing episodes and
the mitigation measure taken to remedy any harm caused, and measures employed
to prevent a similar incident reoccurring.
No demolition or development shall commence until all necessary precommencement measures described in the AQDMP have been put in place and set
out on site. The demolition and development shall thereafter be carried out and
monitored in accordance with the details and measures approved in the AQDMP.

Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to
manage and mitigate the impact of the development on the air quality and dust
emissions in the area and London as a whole, and to avoid irreversible and
unacceptable damage to the environment (London Plan Policies 5.3 and 7.14, and
the London Plan SPGs for Sustainable Design and Construction and Control of Dust
and Emissions during Construction and Demolition).

23.

Noise and vibration measures
Prior to the commencement of development above ground level a scheme of noise
and vibration attenuation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall achieve the habitable room standard as
detailed in BS8233:2014 with no relaxation for exceptional circumstances and must
include details of post construction validation. The approved noise and vibration
attenuation measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained in working order
for the duration of the use in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the
amenities of future occupiers (Policy Q2 of Lambeth's Local Plan (2015)).

Page 75

24.

Noise
Prior to the commencement of development above ground level a scheme of
measures to ensure that all residential units have access to amenity space within
the development where noise levels do not exceed 55dB LAEQ (16 hour) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
shall include details of post construction validation. Thereafter the development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and a separate
validation report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority 3 months prior to occupation.

Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the
amenities of future occupiers (Policy Q2, Amenity - Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
25.

Soundproofing
Prior to the occupation of the any part of the development hereby approved
soundproofing shall be installed between the commercial premises and residential
units. The sound insulation shall be provided and installed in the premises to ensure
that internal noise levels within the most noise sensitive habitable rooms meet
BS8233: Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings (2014)

Reason: To ensure an adequate level of internal amenity is provided for future
residents in accordance with Policy Q2, ED2 and ED7 of the Lambeth Local Plan
(2015)).
26.

Land Contamination
A) No demolition or development shall commence until the following components of
a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:

i) A site investigation scheme, based on previous findings to provide information for
a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including
those off-site;
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment resulting from a);
iii) An options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken;
iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in iii) are complete and identifying any

Page 76
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action. The development shall thereafter be
implemented in accordance with the details and measures approved.

B) Prior to occupation of any part of the development, a verification report
demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling
and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include
any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency
action, as identified in the verification plan, and for the reporting of this to the local
planning authority.

C) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
present at the site then no further development shall be carried out until the
developer has submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local Planning
Authority for, an amendment to the remediation strategy detailing how this
unsuspected contamination will be dealt with.

Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to
safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from
irreversible risks associated with the contaminants which are present by ensuring
that the contaminated land is properly treated and made safe before development.
Depending on the outcome of any ground investigation and subsequent risk
assessment, it may be necessary for remediation to be carried out. If this is the
case, it will be necessary to demonstrate that any work has been carried out
effectively and the environmental risks have been satisfactorily managed (Policies
5.21 of the London Plan (2015) and EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

27.

Piling
No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth and
type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be
carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to
subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation

Page 77
with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of
the approved piling method statement.

Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground sewerage
utility infrastructure and piling has the potential to impact on local underground
sewerage utility infrastructure. The applicant is advised to contact Thames Water
Developer Services on 0800 009 3921 to discuss the details of the piling method
statement.

28.

Plant Detail
Prior to the commencement of building works above ground of the relevant part of
the development, full details (including elevational drawings) of any internal and
external plant equipment and trunking, including building services plant, ventilation
and filtration equipment and commercial kitchen exhaust ducting / ventilation, shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All flues,
ducting and other equipment shall be installed in accordance with the approved
details prior to the use commencing on site and shall thereafter be maintained in
accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the
amenities of future residential occupiers or of the area generally (Policy Q2 (of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
29.

Plant Noise
The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not
commence until an assessment of the acoustic impact arising from the operation of
all internally and externally located plant has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The assessment of the acoustic impact shall
be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142: 2014 (or subsequent superseding
equivalent) and current best practice, and shall include a scheme of attenuation
measures to ensure the rating level of noise emitted from the proposed building
services plant is less than background. The use hereby permitted, or the operation
of any building services plant, shall not commence until a post-installation noise
assessment has been carried out to confirm compliance with the noise criteria. The
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
attenuation measures, and they shall be permanently retained and maintained in
working order for the duration of the use and their operation.

Page 78
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area
(Policy Q2 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
30.

Non-road mobile machinery

No non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) shall be used on the application site unless
it is compliant with the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements (or any superseding
requirements) and has been registered for the site on the NRMM Register (or any
superseding register).
Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development in
line with section 9 of the Local Plan and the Mayor’s SPG: The Control of Dust and
Emissions during Construction and Demolition
31.

Basement Impact Assessment
The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the
Basement Impact Assessment dated August 2017 unless the written consent of the
Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: Development must accord with the approved document to avoid hazard in
relation to land instability and increased flood risk caused by the basement
excavation (Paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and
Policy EN5 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

31.

Drainage Strategy
The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles, has been
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. No infiltration of surface
water drainage in to the ground shall be permitted other than with the express
written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts
of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable
risk to controlled waters. The development shall thereafter be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of securing a more sustainable development and to reduce
the impact of flooding both to and from the development and third parties and, to
ensure that the development does not result in risk to public health through
contamination of controlled waters in accordance in accordance with Policies 5.13,

Page 79
5.21 of the London Plan (2016) and Policies EN5 and EN6 of the Lambeth Local
Plan (2015).
32.

Residential Water Use
Within four months of work starting on site evidence (internal water calculations)
must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing that the
internal water consumption of the development will not exceed 105 L/person/day in
line with The Water Efficiency Calculator for new dwellings from the Department of
Communities and Local Government. Prior to first occupation of the building(s)
evidence (schedule of fittings and manufacturer's literature) should be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing to show that the development
has been constructed in accordance with the approved internal water use
calculations.

Reason: To reduce the consumption of potable water in the home from all sources,
including borehole well water, through the use of water efficient fittings, appliances
and water recycling systems in accordance with London Plan Policy 5.15.

33.

Energy Strategy
No development above ground level shall take place until a Finalised Energy
Strategy including detailed overheating assessment and demonstrating how a 35%
carbon dioxide emissions reduction is to be met in line with the Mayor’s energy
hierarch, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning
Authority.

The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved Finalised
Energy Strategy and shall not commence until full Design Stage calculations under
the Standard Assessment Procedure/ National Calculation Method have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority to show that
the development will be constructed in accordance with the approved Energy
Strategy and achieved a 35% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions.

Reason: To ensure that the development makes the fullest contribution to
minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with London Plan Policy 5.2 and
Lambeth Local Plan September 2015 Policy EN3.

34.

BREEAM

Page 80
Within three months of work starting on site a BREEAM UK New Construction 2014
(or such equivalent standard that replaces this) Shell and Core Design Stage
Certificate and summary score sheet must be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority to show that an Excellent rating will be achieved.

Prior to first occupation of the building(s) a BREEAM UK New Construction 2014 (or
such equivalent standard that replaces this) Shell and Core Post Construction
Review Certificate and summary score sheet must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that an Excellent rating has
been achieved. All the measures integrated shall be retained for as long as the
development is in existence.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development meets sustainable design and
construction requirements and to facilitate a reduction of Co2 through the use of
renewables in accordance with Policy 5.2 of the London Plan (2015) and Policy EN4
of the Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015).
35.

Photovoltaics
Prior to commencement of construction of the relevant part of the development
hereby permitted, a scheme showing the siting, size, number and design of the
photovoltaic array including cross sections of the roof of each building showing the
panels in-situ shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The equipment shall be sited so as to minimise its visual impact upon the
external appearance of the buildings. The development shall thereafter be
completed in strict accordance with the approved details and permanently retained
as such for the duration of use.

Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the completed development and to ensure
that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policies Q2, Q7, Q8
and EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan, adopted September (2015)).

36.

Energy Centre
Any proposed Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant and/or gas boiler system
must meet the emission standards set out in the GLA’s Sustainable Design and
Construction Supplementary Planning Guidance 2014 (or its later versions). Full
details of any final proposed CHP plant and gas boiler system must be submitted to
the Council for approval prior to installation. Details of the proposed CHP should be
provided using Combined Heat and Power System information request form.

Page 81

Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development in
line with London Plan policy 7.14 and the Mayor’s SPG: Sustainable Design and
Construction (2014).

Amenity
36.

Office operation hours

The hours of operation of the ground and basement floor B1 use shall not be
outside the hours of 0700 - 2100 hours Monday to Friday (excluding bank holidays).

Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of
the amenities of adjoining occupiers or users of the area generally (policies Q2 and
T6 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
37.

Privacy Screens
The residential units shall not be occupied until details of privacy screening to be
installed to the balconies for units 12, 18 and 22 have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The screens shall thereafter be
permanently retained.

Reason: To safeguard the privacy of residential occupiers (policy Q2 Lambeth Local
Plan).
11 INFORMATIVES
1

In respect of condition 28 submissions must include consideration of tonal and
frequency impacts as well as the frequency performance of any attenuation
equipment.

2

This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required
under any enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

You are advised that this consent is without prejudice to any rights which may be
enjoyed by any tenants/occupiers of the premises.

Page 82
4.

Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations, and related
legislation which must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council's Building
Control Officer.

5.

Your attention is drawn to Sections 4 and 7 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled
Persons Act 1970 and the Code of Practice for Access for the Disabled to Buildings
(B.S. 5810:1979) regarding the provision of means of access, parking facilities and
sanitary conveniences for the needs of persons visiting, using or employed at the
building or premises who are disabled.

6.

You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council's Streetcare team within the
Public Protection Division with regard to the provision of refuse storage and
collection facilities.

7.

You are advised that this permission does not authorise the display of
advertisements at the premises and separate consent may be required from the
Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) Regulations 1992.

8.

You are advised of the necessity to consult the Transport and Highways team within
the Transport Division of the Directorate of Environmental Services, with regard to
any alterations affecting the public footway.

9.

You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council’s Highways team prior to the
commencement of construction at drw@lambeth.gov.uk in order to obtain
necessary approvals and licences prior to undertaking any works within the Public
Highway including Scaffolding, Temporary/Permanent Crossovers,
Oversailing/Undersailing of the Highway, Drainage/Sewer Connections, Hoarding,
Excavations (including adjacent to the highway such as basements, etc), Temporary
Full/Part Road Closures, Craneage Licences etc.

10.

Environment Agency
The applicant is advised to refer to standing advice in respect of Flood Risk, as per
the following links:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-local-planning-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-standing-advice#minorextensions-standing-advice

Page 83

11

Surface Water Drainage - With regard to surface water drainage it is the
responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for drainage to ground, water
courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface water it is recommended that the
applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the
receiving public network through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to
connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and
combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not permitted
for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a
public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be
required. They can be contacted on 0800 009 3921.

12.

There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. In order to protect
public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water can gain access to those sewers
for future repair and maintenance, approval should be sought from Thames Water
where the erection of a building or an extension to a building or underpinning work
would be over the line of, or would come within 3 metres of, a public sewer. Thames
Water will usually refuse such approval in respect of the construction of new
buildings, but approval may be granted for extensions to existing buildings. The
applicant is advised to visit thameswater.co.uk/buildover.

13.

A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit
is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water
Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures
he will undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by
telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk.

14.

Informative: The latest Sustainable Design and Construction SPG can be found on
the GLA’s website https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementinglondon-plan/supplementary-planning-guidance. The Combined Heat and Power
System information request from can be found in the Downloads section of Lambeth
Air Quality Guide www.lambeth.gov.uk/AirQuality .

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 85

SITE DESIGNATIONS

Agenda Item 4

Page 86

Address:

The London Television Centre, 60 - 72 Upper Ground, London, SE1 9LT

Application Number:
17/03986/FUL

Case Officer:
Ben Le Mare

Ward:
Bishops

Date Received:
14.08.2017

Proposal:
Demolition of existing buildings and the construction of two new buildings (up to 14 storeys
and 31 storeys in height with two basement levels) for the provision of circa. 44,434 sq.m of
offices (Use Class B1), 3,634 sq.m of television studios (Sui Generis), 216 sq.m of retail (Use
Class A1) and 213 residential dwellings (Use Class C3) with associated vehicle and cycle
parking, access works, servicing and landscaping.
The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES).
Drawing numbers: Refer to Appendix 1
Documents: Refer to Appendix 1
Recommendation:
Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to any direction that may be
received following referral to the Mayor of London and subject to the completion of a Section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of the planning obligations listed in this
report.
Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Development to:

Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such
amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and Development (in
consultation with the Planning Committee Chair) considers reasonably necessary; and

Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report pursuant
to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, including adding to, amending
and/or deleting the obligations detailed in the heads of terms as the Director of Planning and
Development (in consultation with the Planning Committee Chair) considers reasonably
necessary.
If the Section 106 Agreement is not signed by 31 March 2018 the Director of Planning,
Transport and Development be given delegated powers to consider refusing the application
in the absence of a legal agreement.
In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers, having regard to the heads of
terms set out in the report, to negotiate and complete a document containing obligations
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in order to meet the
requirements of the Planning Inspector.
Applicants:
ITV Plc

Agent:
DP9

Page 87

Relevant site designations:
London Plan Waterloo Opportunity Area
Protected Vista LVMF - Westminster Pier To St Pauls Cathedral - 8A.1
CA38 : South Bank Conservation Area
Flood Risk Zone 3
London Plan Thames Policy Area
Lambeth Local Plan Policy PN1: Site 9 – ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground
LAND USE DETAILS
Site area

1 ha
Use Class

Use Description

Floorspace
(Gross Internal Area)

Existing

Not defined

Offices and television studios

40,359 sq.m

Proposed

B1

Offices

44,434 sq.m

Sui Generis

Television Studios

3,634 sq.m

C3

Residential

40,359 sq.m

A1

Retail

216 sq.m

RESIDENTIAL DETAILS
Residential Tenure
(Use Class C3)
Existing

No. of bedrooms per unit

Studio

1

2
None

3

4

5
0
5

66
19
85

92
3
95

26
0
26

2
0
2

Private units

Total number
of units

Proposed
Private units
Intermediate units
Total

291
22
213

PARKING DETAILS

Existing
Proposed

Total
Car Parking
Spaces
105
54

Car Parking
Spaces
(Disabled)
Not known
29

Motorcycle
Spaces
(for offices)
0
9

Bicycle
Spaces
(for all uses)
200
869

Page 88

Acronyms
ADF
BNPP
BRE
BREEAM
CHP
DCLG
DD
EIA
ES
ESP
HE
ILE
MALP
FTE
FVA
GLA
LLP
LTVC
LVMF
NPPF
NPPG
PAC
PTAL
PV
RICS
RSS
S106
SPD
TA
TfL
TLRN
TVIA
VSC
WSPD

Average Daylight Factor
BNP Paribas – Lambeth’s independent viability assessors
British Research Establishment
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method
Combined Heat and Power
Department of Communities and Local Government
Daylight Distribution
Environmental Impact Assessment
Environmental Statement
Employment and Skills Plan
Historic England
Institute of Lighting Engineers
Minor Alterations to The London Plan
Full Time Equivalent
Financial Viability Appraisal
Greater London Authority
Lambeth Local Plan 2015
London Television Centre
London View Management Framework
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guide
Planning Applications Committee
Public Transport Accessibility Level
Photovoltaic
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
Regulatory Support Service – Lambeth’s Environmental Health advisors
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
Supplementary Planning Document
Transport Assessment
Transport for London
Transport for London Road Network
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Vertical Sky Component
Waterloo Supplementary Planning Document

Page 89

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment London Television Centre (LTVC) on the
South Bank, which includes the demolition of all existing buildings and the erection of a part
9, part 14 storey building for the new ITV headquarters (including offices and three television
studios) and a 31 storey residential tower, together with associated access works, servicing
and landscaping. The application has been subject to detailed pre-application discussions
through the Council’s Planning Performance Agreement process. Proposals for the site were
presented to the Council’s Strategic Panel on both 25 January and 24 May 2017. The current
application was presented at PAC Members Technical Briefing on 22 January 2018.
The proposals generally comply with the Lambeth Local Plan site allocation (Site 9: ITV Centre
and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground SE1) and with the wider land use strategies of the London
Plan through delivering mixed-use development including B1 offices, new television studios,
213 residential units and retail, together with active frontages at ground-floor level. Whilst there
would be a reduction in floorspace to be used as television studios (representing a business
decision by ITV) there would be an overall increase in B1 office floorspace and job creation
through construction, operation of the Development and employment and skills initiatives.
Officers are strongly supportive of ITV’s intention to return to the Cultural Quarter on the South
Bank in a new headquarters building which provides both offices and television studios. ITV is
considered to represent an important bridge between the other existing cultural uses within
the area, such as the National Theatre and the Royal Festival Hall. The return of ITV to this
location following the redevelopment of the Site with the enhanced facilities proposed would
therefore increase the synergies that occur through being co-located in the Cultural Quarter,
delivering significant economic and cultural benefits not just for this part of London, but for the
city as a whole.
The Development would not provide a policy compliant level of affordable housing, and
therefore the viability of the scheme has been assessed and independently verified by both
the Council’s viability advisors and the GLA. ITV’’s offer of 22 intermediate units, together with
a £3.7 million Payment in Lieu towards the off-site provision of affordable housing, is
considered to be the maximum feasible amount that can be provided by the Development.
Given the level of affordable housing being offered, Officers have therefore balanced the
Development’s viability and public benefits flowing from ITV returning to occupy the Site. In
order to support the scheme officers therefore considered it appropriate to recommend a
clause in the Section 106 Agreement requiring a full assessment of the scheme’s viability
should ITV decide not to occupy the Site. Furthermore, officers recommend a review
mechanism through the Section 106 Agreement to ensure that where a surplus occurs (up to
a policy compliant level), this would be payable to the Council in-lieu of an additional provision
of off-site affordable housing.
Officers are supportive of the approach to site layout and the significant improvement which
this offers in the creation of a new public square along Upper Ground. To the north of the new
square, a pedestrian access route into the building is proposed. The site allocation indicates
that redevelopment proposals for the Site should seek to deliver a pedestrian route through to
the Queen’s Walk. Officers are satisfied that whilst the scheme does not deliver the route, a
change in local circumstances with the Garden Bridge project not going ahead will result in
significantly less pedestrian footfall within the area than previously anticipated. Furthermore,
through relocating the studio audience queuing area to the other side of the Site this would
offer an improvement to the existing pedestrian route along the boundary with IBM. The
application however provides for a new route to Queens Walk, which could be fully realised at
a future stage upon the agreement of the adjoining landowners.

Page 90

The overall approach to the scale, layout and detailed design of the of ITV Headquarters
building and residential tower is acceptable by ensuring that the highest part of any
Development is situated closest to Upper Ground, stepping down towards the river and the
existing building line to Queen’s Walk. In terms of views, Historic England consider that the
canyon like development from new buildings would impact upon 'LVMF View 8A.1
Westminster Pier to St Pauls'. Officers consider that viewers would still be able to see clearly
the silhouette of St Paul’s against clear sky, consistent with the existing view. Officers accept
that there would be a slightly adverse impact to the view due to the loss of sky in the view,
however this considered to be outweighed by the scheme’s public benefits. There are a
number of heritage assets surrounding the Site. Officers agree with Historic England that the
Development would result in less than substantial harm to heritage assets surrounding the
Site, which officers consider would be outweighed by the scheme’s public benefits.
The approach that has been taken towards the proposed highway layout and delivery and
servicing measures is supported. The scheme also offers improvements to the road frontage
along Upper Ground through the removal of two vehicle cross over points and upgrades to the
public highway, secured through Section 106 contributions. There would also be a significant
reduction in vehicle parking spaces across the Site and the proposals for cycle parking meet
London Plan standards.
In terms of amenity, the Development would ensure that levels of privacy and outlook of
adjoining residential uses are maintained and they would not experience an unacceptable loss
of daylight or sunlight. Furthermore, the construction impact of the Development has been
given careful consideration by officers and conditions are recommended to ensure that any
noise and disturbance can be mitigated.
The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) provides the information specified by the EIA
Regulations and its content was informed by the Local Planning Authority. The ES has been
independently reviewed by Arup. The quality review confirmed that the ES provides the
information required by the EIA Regulations. Clarifications have been provided in response to
the review. The findings of the ES have been considered and assessed. The proposal raises
no environmental, amenity, or transport issues that are not mitigated by the imposition of
conditions to the consent or a Section 106 legal obligation.
The package of Section 106 contributions and clauses for the delivery of the scheme have
been negotiated having full regard to the nature of the development, to the normal expectations
conferred upon developers by the various planning policy documents, and to the statutory tests
for Section 106 obligations set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations
2010. The applicant has put forward a comprehensive package of employment and training
obligations which is supported. The development also would be liable for both the Lambeth
and Mayoral CIL.
Officers consider that the Development would be in general compliance with the development
plan for the Borough and that there are no material considerations of sufficient weight that
would dictate that the application should otherwise be refused. Officers are therefore
recommending approval of the scheme, subject to conditions (including securing Section 106
obligations) in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development
conferred upon Local Planning Authorities by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
further to Stage 2 referral to the GLA.

Page 91

PLANNING OFFICER’S REPORT
Reason for referral to Planning Applications Committee:
The application is reported to the Planning Applications Committee in accordance with part (1)
of the Committee’s terms of reference as it relates to Major Application proposals given the
proposed scale of Development. The application shall be referred hereon as ‘the
Development’, for the purposes of the report and recommendations to the PAC.
1

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
The application site (‘the Site’) is situated along Upper Ground in the South Bank area
of the London. The Site covers an area of approximately 1.04 hectares. To the north
of the Site is Queens Walk (a public walkway used by pedestrians and cyclists) and
beyond that is the River Thames. Gabriel’s Wharf and Prince’s Wharf are to the east
and the IBM Headquarters to the west adjoin the Site.
The Site was constructed between 1969 and1972 and the applicants have therefore
been located on the South Bank for 45 years. The Site operates as ITV’s global
headquarters and comprises ‘Kent House,’ a 25 storey (basement, ground, 22 upper
floors and plant) office building and an adjoining four-storey podium. The building
includes six television studios (two large ‘entertainment’ studios of 750 sq.m used for
evening productions and four smaller studios of 185 - 280 sq.m of which there support
weekday daytime television output), offices, editing suites, staff and ancillary
accommodation. A basement level car park is accessed from Upper Ground,
comprising 105 car parking spaces and approximately 200 cycle parking spaces.

Figure 1: Ariel view south east of the ITV building

Existing vehicular access to the Site is provided from three locations from Upper
Ground - the West Gate; the car park access and the East Gate. The Site also benefits
from a private forecourt fronting Upper Ground, allowing for deliveries and access to
the underground car park and service yard. The private forecourt is served by all three
of the vehicular access points and is predominantly used by vehicles for drop-off and
collection of staff / visitors / performers, and by larger vehicles that are required on Site
for extended periods (such as articulated vehicles required for television set changes).

Page 92

The Site is situated within the South Bank ‘Cultural Quarter’ and is an area of mixed
use comprising civic, cultural, commercial and residential uses and buildings of
different periods and styles, many of good architectural quality. The buildings in the
surrounding area fronting Queen’s Walk include the Royal Festival Hall, National
Theatre, IBM, The Oxo Tower and Sea Containers. There are also varied types of
residential use to the south of the Site along Upper Ground, where Iroko and Mulberry
Housing Co-Operatives face the Site.
The Site is located within the South Bank Conservation Area. There are no listed
buildings located adjacent to the Site, but the Royal National Theatre (Grade II*) and a
‘Pride’ sculpture (Grade II) on Queen’s Walk are located within close proximity to the
Site. Other listed buildings of relevance to the Development include Somerset House
(Grade I), and the Royal Festival Hall (Grade I). The IBM Headquarters building
adjacent to the west of the Site is a locally listed building as is no. 58 Upper Ground to
the east. It is also dissected by the LVMF 8A.1 viewing corridor from Westminster Pier
to St Paul’s Cathedral.

Figure 2: Plan showing the application site and surrounding sites/places of interest

The Site has an ‘excellent’ level of accessibility to public transport (PTAL rating of 6B).
The closest bus stops are located on Stamford Street (approx. 200m to the south) and
Upper Ground (approx. 280m to the west). The majority of bus services are accessible
on Waterloo Bridge (approx. 350m to the west) of the Site. Furthermore, Waterloo
Station is located approx. 520m from the Site and provides access to London
Underground and national rail services throughout the country. Additionally, Blackfriars
and Southwark Stations are within a suitable walking distance of the Site.
The Site is a designated opportunity site in the Lambeth Local Plan 2015 (LLP), along
with the Princes Wharf and Gabriel’s Wharf. It is also within the Waterloo Opportunity
Area (OA). Further details are discussed in the planning assessment below.

Page 93

2

DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL
Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of all existing buildings and the
redevelopment of the Site, comprising the erection of a part 9, part 14 storey building
for the new ITV headquarters (including offices and three television studios) and a 31
storey residential tower with associated, new public square, access works, servicing
and landscaping. The scheme includes two basement levels, which serve both the
commercial and residential buildings, providing a television studio, vehicle and cycle
parking and associated facilities.

Figure 3: The Development proposals

Figure 4: The Development fronting the River Thames

Page 94

During the determination of the planning application, officers requested some
amendments to the scheme, further information and points of clarification on a number
of issues. The scheme was amended to reconfigure the vehicle drop-off points along
Upper Ground.

Figure 5: Proposed Ground Floor Layout

The applicants have submitted number of addendums to the ES following the first
period of public consultation and comments received from the council’s EIA advisors,
Arup.

Figure 6: CGI of the new public square and ITV Headquarters building, facing north

Page 95

3

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The Site
Application No.
17/02292/EIASCP

Proposals
Request for a Scoping Opinion in
respect of an Environmental Impact
Assessment in relation to a planning
application for the demolition of the
existing structures, including the ITV
Tower, to be replaced with
television, office, and studio
accommodation incorporating a
residential tower of up to 38 storeys.

Princes Wharf, 58 Upper Ground
Application No.
Proposals
17/04152/FUL
Demolition of existing temporary
structures (external staircases,
portacabin, bridge links and other
structures) and making good to the
fabric of the retained building.
Land Bounded by Upper Ground and Doon Street
Application No.
Proposals
06/04078/FUL
Redevelopment of the site, involving
the erection of an 8-storey building
to provide education (Class D1)
and/or office (Class B1) and
751sqm commercial/retail (Class
A1/A2/A3 and A4 uses), plus a
landscaped public space, a
pedestrian bridge link to Waterloo
Road and basement parking on 2
levels.
05/03499/FUL

Redevelopment of the central part of
the site to provide a new six storey
building with lower ground floor level
to accommodate a new
headquarters for Rambert Dance
Company (use class D2) comprising
rehearsal studio, office, technical
and archive space, and exhibition
area. This application will be
referred to within this report as the
Rambert Dance Company. This
application has been made by the
Rambert Dance Company.

Decision
Issued

Date
20.06.2017

Decision
Pending
determination

Date
N/A

Decision
Approved,
subject to
conditions and
s106

Date
30.03.2012

Approved,
subject to
conditions and
s106

30.03.2012

Page 96

05/03498/FUL

Redevelopment of the site to
provide a multi-purpose community
sports centre and swimming pool,
retail/commercial/restaurant/bar
floorspace (use classes A1, A2, A3
and A4), 236 residential units and
underground parking for 56 cars
contained within a 43-storey tower
and a part 7, part 8 storey block with
roof terraces and courtyard.

Approved,
subject to
conditions and
s106

2007

The application has been
implemented but has not completed.

4

CONSULATIONS
The proposal was subject to two periods of consultation. The first consultation period
was based on the original application drawings and documents submitted to the LPA
on 16 September 2016. The second consultation period included amended plans and
additional information, updates to the ES and other supporting information that were
submitted to the LPA by way of addendums. The additional information was made
available on the Council’s website.
The representations are discussed and grouped below under the headings ‘Statutory
Consultees’, ‘Internal Consultees’, ‘Local Groups/Other Consultees’ and
‘Residents/Neighbours’.

4.2

Statutory Consultees
The following section of the report presents the responses received from statutory
consultees. Any issues raised are addressed within the planning assessment section
of the report.
Greater London Authority (GLA) Stage 1 Report (30 October 2017)
 Principle of development: the proposals to retain cultural facilities in the Cultural
Quart on the Southbank in a consolidated headquarters style office and studio
complex, that will provide a significant uplift in new jobs is strongly supported and is
in general accordance with London Plan policies 2.10, 2.11 2.13, 3.3, 4.2, 4.3 and
4.6. The applicant must engage with Film London to ensure any studio displacement
does not impact upon the capital’s ability to service domestic and international TV
productions.
 Affordable housing: 10% intermediate shared ownership. This offer is wholly
unacceptable. GLA officers will robustly scrutinise the viability assessment to
maximise affordable housing provision in the context of the Mayor’s Affordable
Housing and Viability SPG. An early stage review will be required and, if after further
interrogation the maximum level of affordable provision is still below 35%, a late
stage review will be required.
Officer’s Comment: All matters relating to affordable housing are considered below
in Section 6.2

Page 97

 Urban design: The proposed tall building within the CAZ and Waterloo Opportunity
Area will appear as a distinct standalone landmark is not dissimilar to the existing
situation, while also sitting comfortably in relation to the scale and proportions of the
emerging Doon Street tower and Blackfriars Road cluster further to the east and is
supported in principle. The applicant must reconsider the northern frontage of the
studio building to positively address Queens Walk and must continue to engage with
the relevant parties to deliver a fully accessible pedestrian route to the River from
Upper Ground as part of the proposals.
Officer’s Comment: All matters relating to urban design and layout are considered
below in Section 6.3.
 Energy: Further information on overheating risk, efficiency modelling, district
heating opportunities, combined heat and power and renewable technologies is
required and carbon offset payment must be secured.
Officer’s Comment: The applicant has provided the further information which was
requested and agreed making a carbon offset payment via a Section 106
Agreement.
 Transport: Provisions in respect of cycle parking monitoring, contributions towards
public realm improvements, cycle hire mitigation and Legible London updates are
required, in addition to the detailed planning conditions and obligation regarding
travel planning, delivery and servicing and construction logistics.
LB Southwark – No response received to date.
Historic England (Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service – GLASS): No
objection, subject to a condition that requires a potential staged process of
archaeological investigation (Condition 8).
Historic England – We remain of the view that these proposals would cause some harm
to the LVMF View 8A through the mass of the 14 storey office building contributing to
a canyon effect around the viewing corridor, due to its height competing with that of the
Cathedral and by its scale, bulk and material. This is discouraged by the LVMF
strategic policy 7.12. We consider this harm is less than substantial in terms of the
NPPF.
Should your authority be minded to agree to the proposals we would urge you to ensure
that materials and detailed design are of the high quality set out in the application
documents.
TfL – The scheme is acceptable in principle from a strategic transport perspective. The
following elements should however be addressed to ensure full London Plan
compliance:
 Mitigation secured towards a corridor scheme on Upper ground / Belvedere
Road.
 Review of loading bay facilities, ensuring publically accessible space is
maintained around the bays,
 Contribution of £18,050 secured through the s106 payable to Lambeth to fund
the map refresh of Legible London signs,
 Travel Plan to include monitoring mechanism around commercial car parking,
 Separate Visitor Management Plan to be secured by condition (prior to
occupation)
 Contribution of £105,000 secured through the s106 payable to TfL for cycle hire
redistribution.

Page 98

Officer’s comment: The applicant is no longer required to provide financial contribution
the cycle hire retribution as a policy compliant level of cycle parking is proposed.
Furthermore, a DSP and a CLP secured by condition (Condition 26, 27, 28) with the
travel plan measures secured by s106 agreement. TfL requests a discussion regarding
the strategic transport mitigation from this site in light of the Waterloo SPD and in
accordance with the Mayor’s SPG.
TfL – London Underground: No comments on the application.
Thames Water: No objections raised, subject to planning conditions in relation to
surface water drainage (Condition 9), pilling (Condition 7) and water consumption
(Condition 43).
City of Westminster: The City Council has considered the proposals and decided that
it does not wish to comment.
Civil Aviation Authority: The CAA have raised no objection to the development but
offers advice and guidance to the applicants and the council aviation matters. These
would be dealt with through informatives.
4.3

Internal Consultees
The following section of the report presents the responses received from colleagues
across the Council. The details of the comments are presented within the planning
assessment section.
Design and Conservation: No objection to the scheme following the submission of
revisions to the vehicle drop-offs along Upper Ground and points of clarification
regarding various aspects of the proposals.
Designing out Crime officer: No objection raised – there is no reason why the entire
development including the residential aspect cannot achieve Secure By Design.
Conditions have been recommended (Condition’s 30 and 31).
Planning Policy: The proposed mix of uses are acceptable and in accordance with the
preferred uses for Site 9 and Policy ED3. However, the proposed levels of affordable
housing and mix of units are currently not acceptable and this needs to be assessed
further during the on-going viability discussions to ensure the scheme is providing the
maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing in accordance with Policy H2.
Sustainability Team (Air Quality): No objection raised, subject to conditions in relation
to emissions from the energy plan (CHP) and construction machinery, and air quality.
Flood Officer: No objection to the application on the grounds of flood risk or sustainable
drainage. However, should the application be approved, some conditions are
requested.
Environmental Support Officer: Support the waste management plan for both domestic
and commercial properties.
Arboricultural Officer: No objection raised, subject to conditions.
Transport: Revisions to the vehicle drop-offs along Upper Ground requested and points
of clarification regarding various aspects of the proposals, including trip numbers and
vehicle parking provisions.

Page 99

Bioregional (the Council’s sustainability advisors): No objection, subject to the standard
conditions associated with a major mixed-use development.
Flood Officer: No objections, subject a condition addressing drainage issues which
would arise.
Environment Agency: We have no objection to the planning application as submitted,
subject conditions (Condition’s 9, 10) being imposed on any planning permission
granted. Without these conditions, the proposed development on this site poses an
unacceptable risk to the environment and we would wish to object to the planning
application.
4.4

Local Groups / Other Consultees and Stakeholders
South Bank Employer’s Group (SBEG): ITV proposals will deliver a range of economic,
cultural, social and environmental benefits to South Bank, and represent an important
part of the neighbourhood’s future and its ongoing success and growth. SBEG
welcomes ITV’s ambitions and their ongoing commitment to South Bank, and fully
supports their planning application to Lambeth Council.
South Bank Business Improvement District (SBID): Given the range of economic,
cultural and environmental benefits that the project will deliver for the neighbourhood,
SBID fully supports ITV’s proposals and its planning application.
South Bank Centre: Support proposals and ITV’s commitment to remain on the South
Bank as this will continue to add to the creative and commercial success of the area.
The proposed provision of new and generous public open space and enhanced public
realm, including new tree planting and the potential for an additional pedestrian route
to the River is welcomed.
National Theatre:
‘We warmly support the decision by ITV to remain on the South Bank and to gather its
staff together in a single headquarters building adjoining the Queens Walk.
ITV has been a valuable and active member of the South Bank organisations and will
remain so during their absence over the construction period. Their plans will contribute
greatly to the long overdue public realm improvements along Upper Ground, including
the creation of a generous square. Their planting plans and green roofs will also
support the air quality objectives we all share.
It is interesting to view the proposal in the light of Sir Peter Bazalgette's recent review
of the Creative Industries, and the great importance he places on the creation of
"Creative Clusters". The South Bank has been a powerful creative cluster for many
years, and the ITV decision to remain an active component is a matter of huge
importance to the future of the area.’
IBM: Objection on the following grounds1. The need to ensure that the application proposal complies with the criteria set out
in Lambeth Local Plan Policy Q2 ‘Amenity’, which seeks to ensure that development
protects the amenity of existing/future occupants, neighbours and the visual amenity of
the community. Due consideration must be given to amenity when experienced as a
whole and the potential cumulative impact that an overbearing building, which restricts
sunlight, daylight and outlook, will have on the working conditions of IBM.

Page 100

Officer’s comments: Officers are satisfied that through the proposed separation
distances and nature of the use of the IBM building there would not be a detrimental
impact on working conditions.
2. The omission in the submitted daylight and sunlight assessment undertaken by
Cundall (Environmental Statement Volume 2) of the impact of the development on IBM
and the potential for unacceptable solar glare from the proposed glazed façade
treatment. IBM is seeking further advice on these issues.
Officer’s comments: The council’s environmental health and EIA advisors raised no
concerns with the impact of the Development upon the ITV building in terms of solar
glare.
3. The potential for impacts on IBM’s operations arising from the introduction of
residential uses in proximity to IBM, such as the need to install measures to windows
to maintain IBM’s privacy.
Officer’s comments: There is no planning policy requirement for the privacy of the users
of a commercial building to be retained. However, officers are satisfied that there would
sufficient separation distances between the IBM building and the proposed
Development.
4. The ability of the proposed development to retain the shared wall between IBM and
ITV and ability for the development to proceed without any impact on IBM’s access
arrangements both during the demolition/construction phases and with the final
development.
Officer’s comments: This is matter would be dealt with through a detailed CEMP,
secured through a planning condition (Condition 5)
5. Assessment of the significant impacts of the demolition and construction phases on
IBM’s operations. IBM is seeking further advice on these issues.
Officer’s comments: This matter is assessed below in paragraph 6.5.16.
Coin Street Community Builders (CSCB):
-

CSCB objects to those aspects of the development which prejudice a high quality
route from Upper Ground to the Riverside Walkway, including the cul-de-sac
proposals and planter and the intrusion of the single storey buildings to the SE of
the site into the line of a board and legible access to the riverside. This objection
would be overcome by a legally enforceable mechanism to enable a generous and
legible route to be secured on completion of the ITV headquarters.

Officer’s comment: This issue is addressed below in paragraph 6.4.31
-

Objection raised towards the width the pedestrian walkway alongside ITV
Headquarters building

Officer’s comment: The proposed walkway through measuring 7.7m is considered by
the council’s highways team to be acceptable.
-

The use of the proposed public square needs critical examination and to be subject
to condition

Page 101

Officer’s comment: The council’s environmental health advisors consider that that use
of the square could be controlled through a Visitor Management Plan (Condition 34)
and Site Management Plan (Condition 16).
-

The amount of affordable housing currently offered in inadequate

Officer’s comment: The affordable housing offer is discussed below in Section 6.2
-

There should be a significant S106 contribution to the improvement of Bernie Spain
Gardens

Officer’s comment: The development would provide a contribution towards public open
space and the council are to determine where this will be spent.
-

Other than the matters raised above, CSCB is in general support of the
development proposals which we believe will benefit the area.

Twentieth Century Society – Strongly object to the application, and consider that it will
lead to substantial harm to the conservation area, harm to the setting of the Grade II*
National Theatre and harm to non-designated assets through the total loss of the
London Television Centre and the impact on the IBM Building. We consider that it will
seriously compromise the special qualities of the area as set out in the CA statement.
We are not persuaded that this cumulative, substantial harm would be outweighed by
public benefit as is required by paragraph 133 of the NPPF.
Officer’s comment: A full assessment urban design, conservation and heritage
considerations is provided below in Section 6.4.
4.5

Residents/Neighbours
In total 11 letters of objection and 7 letters of support were received following the two
periods of public consultation. A summary of the grounds of objection and support are
set out in the tables below. Where responses to concerns or points of clarification
raised are addressed elsewhere in this report a link is provided to the relevant section
of the report. Where responses to concerns or points of clarification raised are not
addressed within this report, a response is provided in the table below:

Comment

Officer’s Response

Land Use
The loss of three large filming studio spaces would
have a harmful impact upon the South Bank’s
cultural offer. The studios are considered to integrate
with other uses such as the Royal Festival Hall,
National Theatre, BFI and IMAX Cinemas.

Please refer to paragraph 6.1.4,
6.1.5

The three large studios would not need to be
demolished, but could be redesigned and modified
so that they could either operate as three individual
studios or opened up as one media, conference
venue space, which could be used as a live
audience paying central London venue (by adding
360 degree seating), or a conference centre, or any
other use.

Please refer to paragraph 6.1.4,
6.1.5

Page 102

The ITV proposal is to demolish a unique television
studio facility to not only the UK but to Europe and
replace it with a 50-seater auditorium and some
other smaller studios for non-audience type
programmes. No more A list celebrities, European,
and International Productions bringing much needed
publicity and business to the area.

The decision to redevelop the
Site lies with ITV and their
business operations.

The area will also lose a facility that brings in much
sought out industry training for the creative
specialists, not only for full time staff but to
freelancers.

Please refer to paragraph 6.1.4,
6.1.5

The residential tower should not be sold off to a
private property developer, and ITV could go into
partnership with a hotel operator and retain the
Freehold.

The Council have no control over
ITV’s decision to sell off the
residential tower.

Design and Conservation
The residential tower resembles a poorly designed
council block and would not enhance the South
Bank.

Please refer to paragraphs
6.4.19, 6.4.20, 6.4.21

Given the nature of the site, one of the most
prominent on the river, surely something more of a
landmark could be designed? The design is
underwhelming.

Please refer to Section 6.4

The architecture of the ITV building is extremely
basic and unworthy of such a prominent position.
There is too much glass curtain walling which will
require control of the internal climate - this is not
sustainable architecture.

Please refer paragraphs 6.4.15 –
6.4.18

The materials and finish as seen in the renders of
the residential tower look cheap, bland and
uninspired.

Please refer to paragraph 6.4.19
– 6.4.21

The taller tower at the back is bulky and inelegant.
This part of the development would benefit
aesthetically by being more slender and perhaps
taller. The proposed buildings are glass boxes with
no consideration as to the aesthetics of the
Southbank. It does not complement the other cultural
buildings in the area.

Please refer to paragraph 6.4.19
– 6.4.21

The new taller tower is extremely basic in its
architecture and does not represent an improvement
on the existing building, which is balanced, has well
scaled details, a strong crown and architectural
expression. The proposed tower has an unscreened
plant area at the top which is totally unacceptable for
such a prominent building. The building has failed to

Please refer to paragraph 6.4.19
– 6.4.21

Page 103

consider its base, middle and top effectively and thus
contravenes policy
Other Matters
ITV are assuring the community that they are going
to return to the Southbank, but what is to say they
will not have a change of mind if there is
management or economic change.

Whether or not ITV return to
occupy the Site is entirely their
decision and not a planning
consideration.

Support
Delighted to see a continuing commitment from ITV to the culture and economics of the
South Bank.
Pleased that the application has retained the provision of some studio production for their
own core ITV Daytime shows, much of it live, with potential for a small audience.
Welcome the inclusion of a studio, which retains the existing backdrop of views from the
South Bank of the River Thames and towards London. The South Bank building and area
have always been great filming locations which ITV have also recognised in their
application.
High quality mixed-use development in central London. This is what sustainable urban
planning should aspire to. Good stuff.
A beautiful design which will provide more much needed housing for Londoners.
I strongly support this development. As a renter in Lambeth, I would like to stay in the
area when I eventually buy somewhere to live, and increasing the number of units
available is obviously the best way to maximise my chances of doing so. The
development itself is in keeping with the existing character of the area and wellsupported by existing infrastructure links. I also support mixed-use developments like
this, on the basis that they tend to be safer and better served by retailers than housingonly developments.

Page 104

5

POLICIES
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning
decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012. This
document sets out the Government’s planning policies for England including the
presumption in favour of sustainable development and is a material consideration in
the determination of all applications.
The development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (2016, consolidated with
alterations since 2011) and the Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015). The new Draft
London Plan was published on 1 December 2017 for consultation and will eventually
supersede the current 2016 consolidation London Plan once the final version is
published (anticipated Autumn 2019). The Draft London Plan is a material
consideration in planning decisions, but is currently afforded very limited weight.
The current planning application has been considered against all relevant national,
regional and local planning policies as well as any relevant guidance. Set out below
are those policies most relevant to the application, however, consideration is made
against the development plan as a whole.
The London Plan (MALP 2016) (as amended)
Provided below is a list of the key London Plan policies which are considered relevant
in the determination of this planning application:


























Policy 1.1 Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London
Policy 2.1 London in its global, European and United Kingdom context
Policy 2.10 Central Activities Zone – strategic priorities
Policy 2.11 Central Activities Zone – strategic functions
Policy 2.12 Central Activities Zone – predominantly local activities
Policy 2.13 Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
Policy 3.1 Ensuring equal life chances for all
Policy 3.2 Improving health and addressing health inequalities
Policy 3.3 Increasing housing supply
Policy 3.4 Optimising housing potential
Policy 3.5 Quality and design of housing developments
Policy 3.6 Children & young people’s play and informal recreation facilities
Policy 3.8 Housing choice
Policy 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities
Policy 3.10 Definition of affordable housing
Policy 3.11 Affordable housing targets
Policy 3.12 Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential & mixed
use schemes
Policy 3.13 Affordable housing thresholds
Policy 3.15 Coordination of housing development and investment
Policy 4.1 Developing London’s economy Economic sectors & workspaces
Policy 4.2 Offices
Policy 4.3 Mixed use development and offices
Policy 4.5 London’s visitor infrastructure
Policy 4.6 Support for & enhancement of arts, culture, sport & entertainment
Policy 4.7 Retail and town centre development

Page 105

 Policy 4.8 Supporting a successful & diverse retail sector & related facilities &
services
 Policy 4.10 New and emerging economic sectors
 Policy 4.11 Encouraging a connected economy
 Policy 4.12 Improving opportunities for all
 Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation
 Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions
 Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction
 Policy 5.4 Retrofitting
 Policy 5.4 A Electricity and gas supply
 Policy 5.5 Decentralised energy networks
 Policy 5.6 Decentralised energy in development proposals
 Policy 5.7 Renewable energy
 Policy 5.8 Innovative energy technologies
 Policy 5.9 Overheating and cooling
 Policy 5.10 Urban greening
 Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs
 Policy 5.12 Flood risk management
 Policy 5.13 Sustainable drainage
 Policy 5.14 Water quality and wastewater infrastructure
 Policy 5.15 Water use and supplies
 Policy 5.16 Waste net self-sufficiency
 Policy 5.17 Waste capacity
 Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste
 Policy 5.19 Hazardous waste
 Policy 6.1 Strategic approach
 Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity
 Policy 6.4 Enhancing London’s transport connectivity
 Policy 6.7 Better streets and surface transport
 Policy 6.8 Coaches
 Policy 6.9 Cycling
 Policy 6.10 Walking
 Policy 6.12 Road network capacity
 Policy 6.13 Parking
 Policy 7.1 Lifetime neighbourhoods
 Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment
 Policy 7.3 Designing out crime
 Policy 7.4 Local character
 Policy 7.5 Public realm
 Policy 7.6 Architecture
 Policy 7.7 Location and design of tall and large buildings
 Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology
 Policy 7.9 Heritage-led regeneration
 Policy 7.10 World Heritage Sites
 Policy 7.11 London View Management Framework
 Policy 7.12 Implementing the London View Management Framework
 Policy 7.13 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
 Policy 7.14 Improving air quality
 Policy 7.15 Reducing and managing noise
 Policy 7.18 Protecting open space and addressing deficiency
 Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature
 Policy 7.20 Geological conservation

Page 106








Policy 7.21 Trees and woodlands
Policy 7.29 The River Thames
Policy 8.1 Implementation
Policy 8.2 Planning obligations
Policy 8.3 Community infrastructure levy
Policy 8.4 Monitoring and review

London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)
Provided below is a list of the key LLP policies which are considered relevant in the
determination of this planning application:










































D1 (Delivery and monitoring)
D2 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development)
D4 (Planning obligations)
H1 (Maximising housing growth)
H2 (Delivering affordable housing)
H4 (Housing mix in new developments)
H5 (Housing standards)
H8 (Housing to meet specific community needs)
ED2 (Business, industrial and storage uses outside KIBAs)
ED3 (Large offices)
ED6 (Town centres)
ED7 (Evening economy and food and drink uses)
ED11 (Visitor attractions, leisure, arts and culture uses)
ED14 (Employment and training)
T1 (Sustainable travel)
T2 (Walking)
T3 (Cycling)
T4 (Public transport infrastructure)
T6 (Assessing impacts of development on transport capacity)
T7 (Parking)
T8 (Servicing)
T10 (Telecommunications)
EN1 (Open space and biodiversity)
EN3 (Decentralised energy)
EN4 (Sustainable design and construction)
EN5 (Flood risk)
EN6 (Sustainable drainage systems and water management)
EN7 (Sustainable waste management)
Q1 (Inclusive environments)
Q2 (Amenity)
Q3 (Community safety)
Q4 (Public art)
Q5 (Local distinctiveness)
Q6 (Urban design: public realm)
Q7 (Urban design: new development)
Q8 (Design quality: construction detailing)
Q9 (Landscaping)
Q10 (Trees)
Q12 (Refuse/recycling storage)
Q13 (Cycle storage)
Q15 (Boundary treatments)

Page 107














Q16 (Shop fronts)
Q17 (Advertisements and signage)
Q18 (Historic environment strategy)
Q19 (Westminster World Heritage Site)
Q20 (Statutory listed buildings)
Q21 (Registered parks and gardens)
Q22 (Conservation areas)
Q23 (Undesignated heritage assets: local heritage list)
Q24 (River Thames)
Q25 (Views)
Q26 (Tall and large buildings)
PN1 (Waterloo)
- Site 9 ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground SE1

Regional Guidance
Relevant publications from the GLA:












Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (2017)
Housing SPG (2016)
Accessible London: Achieving and Inclusive Environment SPG (2014)
The Control of Dust & Emissions During Construction & Demolition SPG (2014)
Character and Context SPG (2014)
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation SPG (Sep 2012)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (2014)
London View Management Framework SPG (2012)
London World Heritage Sites SPG (2012)
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London SPG (2007)
Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, and the Mayoral
Community Infrastructure Levy SPG (2013)

Local Guidance / Supplementary Planning Documents
Relevant local guidance and SPDs for Lambeth:









Development Viability SPD;
Waterloo SPD;
Advertisement & Signage Guidance;
Parking Survey Guidance;
Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide;
Waste & Recycling Storage and Collection Requirements;
Air Quality Planning Guidance Note
Draft Employment and Skills SPD

Page 108

6

PLANNING OFFICER ASSESSMENT

6.1

Land use and principles
This Site is allocated as Site 9 in the Lambeth Local Plan 2015 (LLP). It is noted that
part of Site 9 (Gabriel’s Wharf) is not included in this application. The Site is currently
occupied by ITV and in use as television studios with office floorspace. The total
existing floorspace of the 40,359 sq.m.
The Site is within the CAZ and the Waterloo Opportunity Area as defined by the London
Plan. LLP Policy PN1 states that the council will support and enhance Waterloo as a
key part of central London and Lambeth and its economy in its various roles as: an
international centre for culture and arts as part of the London Plan South Bank /
Bankside Strategic Cultural Area; a pre-eminent international, domestic and local
tourist leisure and entertainment area; a major location for offices, hotels, healthcare
and higher education; a mixed residential area with appropriate supporting community,
service and shopping facilities; its valued historic character; and its role as being one
of London’s most important transport hubs. The ways in which this will be achieved are
set out in parts (a) to (g) of the policy. Part (a) states that the council will support
sustainable development for jobs and homes in line with London Plan targets, taking
all possible steps to ensure that these are available to Lambeth residents through the
application of affordable housing policy and planning obligations for local training and
employment. The London Plan identifies that the South Bank has the potential to
deliver 15,000 new jobs and at least 2,500 new homes.
The preferred use for Site 9 is mixed-use including B1 offices, residential and active
frontage uses at ground-floor level. The proposal is for offices and television studios,
213 residential units and 216 sq.m of A1 retail. There will be a total of circa 44,434
sq.m of offices (Class B1) and 3,634 sq.m of television studios (Sui Generis), which
represents an increase of 7,710 sq.m. The proposed range of uses therefore comply
with requirements of the site allocation. Each element of the proposal is considered
below. However, it should be noted that Officers are strongly supportive of ITV’s
intention to return to the Cultural Quarter on the South Bank in a new headquarters
building which provides both offices and television studios. ITV is considered to
represent an important bridge between the other existing cultural uses within the area,
such as the National Theatre and the Royal Festival Hall. The return of ITV to this
location following the redevelopment of the Site with the enhanced facilities proposed
would therefore increase the synergies that occur through being co-located in the
Cultural Quarter, delivering significant economic and cultural benefits not just for this
part of London, but for the city as a whole.
Television Studios
ITV currently operate six studios from London Television Centre (LTVC). This
comprises two large ‘entertainment’ studios of circa 740 sq.m, together with four
smaller studios of circa 185 to 280 sq.m for ‘magazine and lifestyle’ productions; three
of which support it core daytime TV output (1,500 hours of live television per annum).
It is understood that location production offices this close proximity to these studios
enables the efficient production of these types of shows. The Development proposes
to retain and improve this model by including a new ‘production village’ by providing
three studios. Two smaller studios (308 sq.m and 190 sq.m) would be located in the
first floor. The larger studio (2,785 sq.m) with circulation and lobbies areas, dressing
rooms and back of house at basement level would have the capacity to accommodate
150 people, with an expectation of approximately 30,000 audience members per year.

Page 109

Figure 7: Floor plans showing the proposed television studios

Page 110

It should be identified that the two larger studios, which are also used by the BBC and
Channel 4, would not be reprovided on site. The planned closure of LTVC has been
timed to coincide with the re-opening of new larger studio capacity at the BBC
Television Centre and Riverside Studios that closed for redevelopment in 2014. It is
anticipated that the provision of 2,200 sq.m of this new studio floorspace would offset
the loss of 1,485 sq.m. In the GLA’s Stage 1 report, ITV are strongly encouraged to
engage with Film London to ensure that the proposals play a fundamental role in the
ongoing growth of London’s film and television industry. ITV are also requested to
engage with other potential future studio providers with Thames Estuary Production
Corridor.
Offices and Employment
In addition to the site allocation, LLP Policy ED3 supports proposals for offices that
greater than 1000sq.m in the CAZ and Opportunity Areas. ED3(c) states that
redevelopment of large offices for a mix of uses will be supported if the quantity of the
original B1 floorspace is replaced or increased as part of the development or
elsewhere. The provision of new office floorspace, together with the television studios,
workplace facilities and reception space would provide for circa 2,400 staff (excluding
freelancers), which is strongly supported. A further assessment of the construction and
post-construction job creation is provided below in socio-economic section below
(paragraphs 6.5.4 to 6.5.10).
LLP Policy ED14 states that the council will support employment and training schemes
in order to maximise local employment opportunities and help address skills deficits in
the local population. The policy further requires all major developments within the
borough to ensure that job opportunities and apprenticeships are notified to the council
or appropriate nominated agencies so that suitable local people can be given the
opportunity to fill these vacancies.
ITV have set out a comprehensive commitment equating to approximately £1.5m of
employment and skills interventions across opportunities in creative and digital media
and construction. In line with the specific request from Lambeth Council, these
commitments are agreed to be in the form of equivalent, in-kind commitments and not
direct financial contributions to the Council. The proposed Section 106 heads of terms
in relation to this include the principles under which such programmes of activity will
be undertaken with more details being set out within the respective Employment and
Skills Plans post-implementation. The proposals are agreed to provide (at least)
minimum equivalence to the required financial contributions and have been developed
jointly with Lambeth Council to ensure that they align with Borough Plan priorities and
provide targeted and meaningful programmes of activity which support wider Council
objectives such as those referenced in the Equalities Commission.
The proposals include an intention to secure local labour opportunities for both
construction and end use roles, an undertaking to support the development of
pathways for residents to be able to take up the roles and the development of a
coordinated offer for schools and young people. In recognition of the need for our
priority groups of residents to be better supported to take up the opportunities available
(paid and unpaid work experience, apprenticeships or jobs) the proposals include
activities supporting outreach, support and engagement; these will be jointly designed.
The delivery of these programmes will support Lambeth’s joint objectives of supporting
residents across all our communities to be able to get into a career in creative and
digital media. The additional provision of paid work experience placements for adults
will open up the opportunities for a number of our residents who may not have been
able to take up unpaid roles due to other financial commitments.

Page 111

Whilst there has been some discussion in developing the end-use offer (focusing
primarily on consideration of where added value was being provided against the
elements of the programme which might have formed part of an existing ITV CSR
offer), there is no doubt that the current proposition offers Lambeth residents access
to ITV’s basic employment and skills offer plus an equivalent in-kind commitment which
would deliver additional support for Lambeth residents to the value of at least £800,000.
Officers are in ongoing discussions with ITV concerning the in-kind employment and
skills offer and particularly how this will be targeted at hard-to-reach groups, it is
anticipated that a further update will be provided in advance of PAC.
Retail
LLP Policy ED6 states that the council will support the vitality and viability of Lambeth’s
hierarchy of major, district and local centres and CAZ frontage. Proposals for town
centre uses in edge of centre and out of centre locations will be assessed against the
sequential test set out in the NPPF. Paragraph 6.25 of Policy ED6 dictates that Central
Activities Zone proposals for retail, service, leisure, recreation or other appropriate
uses should be focussed in the identified CAZ frontages. However, such proposals will
be acceptable elsewhere in the CAZ without the need for a sequential test, provided
any impact on the identified CAZ frontages is carefully considered. Site 9 (vi) states
that the council will support development that includes active-frontage uses to Upper
Ground, Queen’s Walk and Bernie Spain Gardens.
The proposed 216 sq.m of retail floor space introduces a town centre use outside of a
town centre and the CAZ frontage. Given the distance of the proposed unit from the
CAZ frontage and its size, it is considered that there would not be a negative impact
upon the CAZ frontage and provide an active frontage partly to Upper Ground and to
the new square.
Residential
As stated previously, the Site is considered suitable for the provision of new housing
as part of a mixed-use redevelopment. Given its central location, the London Plan
density matrix (Table 3.2) suggests a residential density of between 215 to 405 units
per hectare (u/ha) or 650 to 1100 habitable rooms per hectare (hr/ha). In applying the
guidance set out by the Mayor’s Housing SPG for calculating densities for mixed-use
developments, the scheme equates to 591 u/ha (1583 hr/ha). Whilst these figures do
comfortably exceed the suggested residential densities, consideration should be given
towards the local character of the area, combined with the proposed design principles
and accessibility to public transport, as required by the SPG. Having regard to the SPG
officers are satisfied that in the context of the mixed-use scheme and heights across
the Site, residential density of the scheme is acceptable.
Policy H4 sets out a preferred borough-wide housing mix for affordable housing and
seeks a balanced mix of unit sizes for market housing, to include family-sized
accommodation (3-bed +). The residential tower would provide the following mix:
Unit type
Studio
1-bedroom
2-bedrooms
3-bedrooms
4-bedrooms
Total

Number of units
5
85
95
26
2
213

Percentage mix
2%
43%
42%
12%
1%
100%

Page 112

The proposals would provide a range of unit sizes (including 28 family size units) within
a single residential tower. Given the site’s location, the proposed mix is considered
appropriate.
Summary
The proposed mix of uses on the site are in accordance with the preferred use for Site
9 and are acceptable in principle provided that the proposal satisfies the design
principles and key development considerations. Although there will be a reduction in
floorspace to be used as television studios (a business decision of ITV) there would be
an overall increase in B1 office floorspace. As the site is within the CAZ, the provision
of large offices is supported, particularly since there is an increase in B1 floorspace. It
is also considered the proposed A1 floor space will not affect the vitality and viability of
the CAZ frontage. The public benefits deriving from the Development are assessed
below in paragraph 6.4.80 to 6.4.82.
6.2

Viability and Affordable housing
LLP Policy H2(a) seeks 40% affordable housing (50% with grant funding) from sites
capable of accommodating 10 or more units, and a 70:30 social / affordable rent and
intermediate tenure split. Part (d) of Policy H2 requires a Financial Viability Appraisal,
to be submitted where a scheme would not deliver a policy compliant level of affordable
housing. The only circumstances in which a lesser provision may be acceptable is
where it is demonstrated to the council’s satisfaction, through a FVA, that a
development cannot viably deliver affordable housing in line with LLP policy
requirements.
Since the application was submitted, the scheme’s viability has been subject to ongoing
discussions and assessment between ITV and Lambeth. Whilst convergence has been
achieved in a number of areas, there are four main elements where the parties
diverged on, these include Build Cost, Developer’s Contingency, Investment Yield on
EUV and EUV Premium. These differences of opinion between the applicants’ valuers
and those for the Council, led to different conclusions on scheme viability. On ITV’s
figures the scheme cannot support the delivery of any affordable housing, indeed a
significant deficit is demonstrated. On BNPP’s calculations a very modest surplus was
demonstrated which could be invested in affordable housing. Notwithstanding these
differences in opinion, in order to move matters forward ITV have agreed to provide
affordable housing on site and with an additional payment in lieu which reflects the
viability conclusions of BNPP.
During the viability discussions, ITV provided evidence of ‘abnormal costs’ which would
be incurred by them redeveloping and returning back to occupy the Site. These include
the following:



Double move costs (to Grays Inn Road and White City – and then back to South
Bank): circa. £40 million
Television studio complex costs: circa. £60 million

These ‘abnormal costs’ did not form part of the viability reviews undertaken by KF and
BNPP as they were assessing the scheme assuming that the Development is
speculative.

Page 113

In the GLA’s assessment of viability, they adopted the approach of assessing the
scheme as an owner-occupier instead of the speculative developer approach, which
KF and BNPP adopted. Taking in to account the relocation costs, finance costs for this
and the reduced costs of the respective viability inputs, GLA officers consider that the
overall position is neutral in comparison to the BNPP assessment. Therefore, whilst
the GLA officers do not agree with the overall method taken to the assessment
approach to viability, they agree with BNPP’s conclusion that a modest surplus is
currently achieved against the BLV.
Notwithstanding the differences that exist between the viability assessors, and the fact
that on ITV’s viability calculations the scheme cannot support any affordable housing,
ITV have offered on-site provision with the residential tower of 22 intermediate tenure
units (comprising 19 x 1-bed units and 3 x 2-bed units, on Floors 1-3) – representing
10.3% of the total units (8.5% of total habitable rooms). ITV have also confirmed that
the units would be provided at an affordability that does not exceed the levels for
households on £60,000, in line with Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG.
It should be noted, that the introduction of social or affordable rent tenures in the
scheme would have a significant impact on the overall provision of affordable housing.
These products have a lower value in comparison to shared ownership units. Such an
arrangement would have likely required a separate core and entrance, as Registered
Providers (RPs) generally require this for ease of management. Furthermore, the
introduction of a separate core entrance at the front of the building is considered likely
to result in a reduction in total number of units. Officers therefore accept that the
provision on an on-site intermediate tenure is appropriate in this instance.
Alongside this, ITV’s offer includes a Payment in Lieu equivalent to the £3.7 million
surplus which BNPP has identified, which would fund additional off-site affordable
housing. Through calculations undertaken by the Council’s Housing team, this would
equate to the provision of at least 11 additional Social Target Rent Units as part of the
Council’s Housing Estate Regeneration Programme, or 13 properties if GLA 2016/21
Affordable Homes for Londoners’ Programme Funding can be obtained on the basis
that the accommodation is let as the Mayor of London’s London Affordable Rented
Product where rent levels are slightly higher than Social Target Rents.
The computation was undertaken on the basis that the Council’s Estate Regeneration
Programme excludes land costs as development is undertaken on Council owned land,
and account is taken of the required policy mix. In addition, in regard to the timing of
the payment of the £3.7m, ITV has confirmed that this would be made as an upfront
contribution at the start of redevelopment of the ITV Building, which has the advantage
that the money can be more easily fed into the funding of the Council’s Estate
Regeneration Programme than if paid in installments or at a much later date in the
redevelopment of this.
Whilst Council officers are not persuaded that the double move costs should
necessarily be factored in to the viability analysis of this scheme, the costs of fitting out
the television studios (the provision of which are a key public benefit of the scheme
given the contribution to the Cultural Quarter, benefits for tourism, creative
employment) are considered to be abnormal costs which arguably should be taken into
account in determining the application. Such abnormal costs, on top of the already
challenging viability position, demonstrate why the scheme cannot achieve anywhere
close to the 35% threshold in the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG.

Page 114

Therefore, given the very challenging nature of the scheme’s viability, the public benefit
to the Cultural Quarter - and indeed London - of ITV retuning to the South Bank, and
the resulting abnormal costs incurred in the provision of three new television studios,
officers consider that the maximum amount of affordable housing is being achieved by
the development. This offer exceeds the position suggested by the Council’s viability
assessors and results from negotiation and the applicants taking a commercial view in
order to secure planning permission and enable their programme (which envisages
moving from the site this year and returning in 2022/23) to remain on track.
In order to support ITV’s affordable housing offer, officers have balanced the
Development’s viability and public benefits flowing from ITV returning back to occupy
the Site. It is therefore considered entirely appropriate that officers recommend a
clause in the Section 106 Agreement requiring a full assessment of the scheme’s
viability should ITV decide not to occupy the Site. Furthermore, officers recommend
that the S106 include a two stage review mechanism clause to ensure that any uplift
in values up to a policy compliant provision of affordable housing, can be captured.
6.3

Quality of the residential accommodation
All of the proposed flats would either meet or exceed the minimum space standards for
room and unit sizes that are set by the London Plan Housing SPG, which is welcomed.
The Development would also provide 10% of the dwellings (22 units - 8 x 1-beds, 7 x
2-beds and 7 x 3 beds) as wheelchairs units and 90% as being accessible and
adaptable. The provision of parking spaces for wheelchair units is discussed below in
Section 6.7.
LLP Policy H5 (a)(i) requires that all new developments should provide dual aspect
accommodation unless exceptional circumstances are demonstrated. The scheme
proposes a residential tower that would occupy the Site on a similar footprint to the
existing office tower. There are a significant number of single aspect units within the
tower (60 out of 213 – 28%), however, the majority of the units are studios and 1-beds
and would benefit from a very good level of outlook and daylighting. Furthermore, the
scheme would not deliver any north facing single aspect units, which given constraints
of designing a residential tower is welcomed.
LLP Policy H5(b)(ii) requires for new flatted developments, communal amenity space
of at least 50sq.m per scheme should be provided, plus a further 10sq.m per flat
provided either as a balcony/terrace/private garden or consolidated with the communal
amenity space. Due to design constraints of the Site and the residential tower which
has been proposed, each flat is not provided with 10 sq.m of private external amenity
space. The following is proposed:




4 balconies (measuring 10 sq.m) on each floor, one for each corner apartment.
2 smaller balconies (measuring 5 sq.m) would be provided for apartments on
floors 21 to 27.
Incorporating the floorspace of amenity areas not provided as a balcony within
internal floorspace of the apartment – between 4 sq.m and 10 sq.m. Where this
is not feasible, the area would be delivered as internal communal amenity space
(explained below).

Page 115

The shortfall of amenity space of 416 sq.m is proposed as 444 sq.m of internal
communal residents’ space at ground floor (120 sq.m) and basement level 1 (324
sq.m). The applicant has indicated in the DAS that these areas would provide a lounge
/screening room, gym and relaxation areas. To ensure that these areas are accessible
to all residents within the tower (the occupants of both private and affordable units)
officers are recommending that this requirement is captured within the S106
agreement.
London Plan Policy 3.6 anticipates that development, which includes housing, shall
make provision for play and informal recreation based on the expected child population
it would generate. A minimum 10sqm per child, regardless of age, is recommended as
a basis for assessing future requirements arising from an increase in the child
population of an area. Policy H5 states that provision for playspace should be to at
least the requirements set out within the London Plan guidance. In accordance with
the Mayor’s Play and Informal Recreation SPG (2012), 19 children are predicted to live
in the development - 11 children under 5, five children aged 5 to 11 and three children
would be 12+. The Development is required to make a total provision of 190 sq.m of
playspace, which is not proposed on Site and therefore would be secured through a
financial contribution towards playspace within the local area.
6.4

Urban Design, Heritage and Conservation
This section of the report deals with design and conservation (heritage) matters arising
from the proposed development. It is set out under the following sub-headings:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Layout and Scale;
Materials and Appearance;
Strategic and Local Views;
Public realm and landscaping;
Impact on heritage assets;

The Council’s Design and Conservation Team’s comments have been incorporated
into this section of the report.
(a) Layout and Scale
As introduced earlier in this report (refer to Section 1: Site and Surroundings) there are
different contexts to the application site that inform the Development.
ITV Headquarters building
The proposed new ITV Headquarters would occupy most of the site similar to the
existing building. The main differences between the existing and proposed building
being an increase in scale along Queen’s Walk, a new public square along Upper
Ground and contemporary architectural aesthetic.
In terms of scale the form and massing of the new building has been influenced by the
LVMF (in particular Linear View 8A.1), the context of Queen’s Walk and the
surrounding areas. The plan form is set back from Upper Ground approximately 31m,
creating a generous new public square that also forms the principal route to the
building’s main entrance. The entrance looks directly onto the square providing an
active edge and natural surveillance. Setting back the main entrance also has the
benefit of placing the activities, the coming and going of staff and audience members
as far as possible from Upper Ground. From the main entrance the ITV Headquarters
fills most of the northern portion of the site; extending to the site’s northern boundary
along Queen’s Walk and set back from its northern boundaries to the east and west of
the site 4.5m – 7.9m and 2.6m – 4.8m respectively.

Page 116

The main body of the ITV Headquarters (south portion of the building) is part five and
part six storeys in height. The height and mass of this part of the building would be
similar scale to the existing building and as such would have a similar impact. However,
this would have the added benefit of being set back from Upper Ground and a new
public square. The northern portion of the building fronting Queen’s Walk increases to
9 and 14 storeys in the form of two blocks. The 14 storey block is located adjacent to
IBM and has a maximum height of 59.79m (AOD) including roof plant. The 9 storey
block is located adjacent to Prince’s and Gabriel’s Wharves and has a maximum height
of 40.29m (AOD) which also includes the roof plant. Both blocks are connected by a
seven storey central glazed atrium set back from the blocks between 8.4 and 10.4m.
The new blocks would be taller than the existing building and closer to Queen’s Walk.
However, the proposed siting of the building and its height is not unusual for Queen’s
Walk; Sea Containers and the OXO tower are large buildings of similar height to the
ITV Headquarters located closer to the River Thames. Although comparable in height
to these existing buildings, the ITV Headquarters would have a reduced visual impact
in comparison to these buildings. The proposal would be significantly set back from the
River Thames with a dense green screen in front reducing its visual prominence;
furthermore, the north elevation would not have a continuous flat elevation. The
composition of three distinct elements within the frontage, two blocks and separated
by an atrium would be successful in reducing the buildings perceived bulk and mass.
The offset alignment, substantial separation of 21.5m by glazed atrium and differing
heights ensure that the buildings do not appear in views as one large imposing block,
but rather as individual well-proportioned buildings separated.
Overall officers are supportive of the proposal’s scale and layout, which would not
appear dominant in the townscape.
Residential Tower
A new residential tower with a maximum height of 108.14m (AOD) forms part of the
Development and would replace an existing tower on site. The existing tower is 89.20m
(AOD) in height and located in the southwest corner of the site fronting onto Upper
Ground. The proposed residential tower is proposed in the same location and on a very
similar footprint as the existing tower with the main entrance accessed from Upper
Ground. As a tall building is proposed LLP Policy Q26 part a) is relevant in the
assessment of this scheme and states that proposals for tall buildings will be supported
where:
i) They are not located within areas identified as inappropriate for tall buildings in
Annex 11;
ii) There is no adverse impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage
assets including their settings;
iii) Design excellence is achieved (in terms of form, silhouette, materials, detailing etc.);
iv) The proposal makes a positive contribution to the townscape and skyline either
individually to form a distinctive landmark or as a contribution to a group;
v) They are of the highest standards of architecture and materials; and
vi) It does not have an unacceptably harmful impact on its surroundings including
microclimate, wind turbulence, noise, reflected glare, aviation, navigation and
telecommunication or broadcast interference.

Page 117

Part i) will be considered in this section of the report. The Waterloo Opportunity Area
Framework (OAPF, 2007) identifies Waterloo as a growth area and the supporting LBL
Waterloo Supplementary Planning Document (WSPD, 2013) provides a greater level
of detail on how growth might be delivered. Figure 11 of the WSPD is a map showing
areas ‘sensitive’ and ‘inappropriate’ for tall building development, the map is also
referenced in the LLP as Annex 11.
Annex 11 Waterloo map shows that the site is located within an area identified as
‘inappropriate’ for tall buildings. Although identified as inappropriate for tall buildings,
officers have taken into consideration the existing site conditions, primarily the fact that
there is an existing tall building on site, when assessing the proposal against policy
Q26 part a) i). There are no formal assessments that conclude the existing tower
represents a harmful impact on the surrounding area. Indeed, the existence of tall
buildings in this part of Lambeth is acknowledged in the Lambeth Tall Buildings Study
which states that ‘The South Bank, Waterloo, Albert Embankment and Vauxhall
riverside areas very much exhibit central London characteristics in terms of building
densities, building forms and general character. Much of this dates from the 20th
Century and includes various large and tall buildings. Sites are normally constrained
and large and tall buildings (normally commercial) typically rise out of the conventional
street scene without piazzas or public spaces. This often means that they have little
impact in their immediate urban context—the greatest impact being in distant views.
Examples include The Union Jack Club, Waterloo Road and Elizabeth House, York
Road’. Furthermore, the South Bank Conservation Area Statement 2007 refers to the
tower as ‘reasonably attractive’ and a ‘crisply detailed tower’. Another key
consideration is that Policy PN1 Site 9 designation provides tactic support for the
provision of tall buildings on the Site. The designation states that ‘tall buildings on the
site will need to be sensitive to the surrounding context and improve the current
arrangement/design to improve both the quality and built form of the public realm’.
Officers are therefore giving therefore a considerable weight to the Policy PN1 Site 9
designation.
It should also be noted that The Shell Centre and the Doon Street tower site are in the
area ‘sensitive’ to tall building development whilst the tall buildings of St Thomas’
Hospital and the ITV site are in the area ‘inappropriate’ for tall building development.
The supporting text identifies strategic views and the setting of the Westminster World
Heritage Site as being key considerations when the map was being prepared and the
impact of the proposed tower on these elements are discussed in full detail below.
The application of Policy Q26 a) i) in assessing the proposal is clearly not
straightforward. Although the scheme would not meet the policy requirements, as the
area is deemed ‘inappropriate’ for tall buildings, Policy PN1 Site 9 allocation offers clear
support for tall buildings on the Site. It should also be noted that the presence of an
existing tall building forms part of the established character of the area. Through
balancing the requirements of LLP policies, officers conclude that the Development
does not constitute a departure from the Local Plan. Officers therefore consider that
the assessment of the ‘appropriateness’ of the site for tall buildings should be based
on its urban design merits and other policy criteria.
Summary
The overall approach the scale and layout of ITV Headquarters and Residential tower
is acceptable according with relevant policies including LLP Policy PN1 ‘Site 9’ which
amongst other design guidance and key considerations states that the council will
support development that;

Page 118

i) ensures that the highest part of any development is situated closest to Upper
Ground, stepping down towards the river, subject to detailed design;
ii) retains the existing building line to Queen’s Walk;
(b) Materials and Appearance
ITV Headquarters
The façade of the building is designed as a sinuous glass skin wrapping around the
subtle curved corners of the building. The glass elevations are set out on a notional 9m
x 9m grid comprising glazed panels. The glazed panels are expressed by a recess
aluminium channel at each floor level and back painted spandrels above and below
the channels. The back painted spandrels appear more solid as opposed to the clear
glass used between spandrels, creating a continuous band effect around the building.
This relates to and reinforces the horizontal character of the existing major buildings in
the South Bank Conservation Area. Spandrels are proposed in a white or light grey
colour to respond to the pale and neutral colours of Portland stone and concrete
buildings typically found along the Thames. A plant area and screen is located on top
of the eight and thirteen storey blocks and provides an appropriate termination to these
buildings. The plant screen would be metal clad comprising of louvres. The ITV
Headquarters would have a generous glazed floor to ceiling height at ground floor
compared to upper floors creating a clearly defined base to the building.
Overall, the ITV Headquarters architecture is simple and material palette is restrained,
this approach works well in this setting. Whilst officers acknowledge that buildings
along the South Bank appear quite solid because the high proportion of masonry
elevations. The principle use of glass in this instance is considered acceptable in large
part due to the incorporation of back painted glass which will counterbalance the use
of clear glass in elevations and provide a suitable degree of solidity to elevations.
The Council and GLA have raised issues with regard to the treatment of ground and
first floor levels of the proposed building’s north elevation and how these address
Queen’s Walk. The current proposals, through the provision of solid stone plinth, are
considered to offer little in terms of an interface along this important frontage. Officers
therefore consider that a better solution can provided, the details of which would be
secured through a planning condition.
To conclude, officers are satisfied that the proposed materials and appearance of the
building would fit into the townscape successfully.

Page 119

Residential Tower
The dimensions of the tower floor plan are similar to the existing tower, albeit slightly
taller (circa. 20m). This would result in a more refined tower form with elegant
silhouette. The materials proposed for the tower have also been selected to be
contextual and high quality. The principal material for the tower would be a bespoke
reconstituted stone façade in a colour to match as close as possible Portland stone.
As mentioned previously the buildings along the River Thames are typically in Portland
stone and concrete therefore the use of a solid robust material for the tower would
reinforce this character. The reconstituted stone grid frame is punctuated with large
glazed openings. The solid (recon. stone) to void (glass) ratio is similar to the existing
tower. Whilst the proposed materials are considered generally acceptable, officers
suggest a darker aluminium frame than what is currently proposed. A darker colour
would create more contrast between the reconstituted stone façade and window
openings. Bronze tones in particular would bring warmth to the composition and create
a stronger residential identity for the block. These matters could be dealt with via
condition and informative.
Officers welcome the architectural approach to the tower; its calm, restrained treatment
and Portland stone like finish would ensure that it would not be distracting within the
cityscape. The lower stories have also been carefully considered; the base of the tower
is well defined comprising the mostly glazed ground floor and floors one to five which
have obscured glazing to corner balconies to increase the perception of ‘solidity’ at the
towers base. At the top of the tower a metal clad plant area terminates the building,
which is considered appropriate.
To conclude, the proposal would have a satisfactory architectural appearance using
appropriate materials. As such the proposal would make a positive contribution to the
townscape and overall area in accordance with LLP Policy Q26 (a) (i)(ii)(iii).
(c) Strategic and Local Views
Policy Q26 part a) ii) states that tall buildings will be supported ‘where there is no
adverse impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage assets
including their settings’. LVMF 8A.1 ‘Westminster Pier – the orientation plaque’ runs
across the centre and north of the site.

Figure 8: 'LVMF View 8A.1 Westminster Pier – St Pauls' view

Page 120

The ITV Headquarters building would frame the left of 'LVMF View 8A.1 Westminster
Pier – St Pauls' view. Historic England (HE) have identified less than substantial harm
to the view would result, by the proposal failing to meet London Plan Policy 7.13 (a)
‘The management of views containing strategically important landmarks should afford
them an appropriate setting and prevent a canyon like development from new buildings
crowding in too close’. It should however be noted that assessing the degree of ‘harm’
relates to ‘heritage assets’ as opposed to protected views. Officers have assessed the
building in terms of ‘impact’ on the view, which is the appropriate test.

Figure 9: LVMF View 8A.1 Westminster Pier – St Pauls view, existing (top image) and proposed
(bottom image)

Page 121

The specific LVMF description of the view acknowledges that ‘the two buildings that
currently frame St Paul’s Cathedral allow an unimpeded view of the peristyle, upper
drum and dome, silhouetted against the sky. This is a key attribute of this view
[emphasis added]’. Furthermore, the LVMF visual management guidance for this view
seeks to ‘maintain the existing visual frame around the Cathedral’. Whilst there is a
loss of sky, officers have taken into consideration that there would be no encroachment
closer to St Paul’s (narrowing of the view) and the buildings either side of St Paul’s
including the new ITV Headquarters would continue to frame the view consistent with
the character of the view. Officers consider that viewers would still be able to see
clearly the silhouette of St Paul’s against clear sky consistent with the existing view.
Officers accept that there would be a slightly adverse impact to the view due to the loss
of sky in the view, which would need to be balanced with the wider public benefits of
the scheme.
Local Views - London Borough of Lambeth
The site falls within the following Lambeth Panoramas identified in LLP Policy Q25:
i)

Views North, North West (NNW) from Brockwell Park of Brixton Landmarks
(Lambeth Town Hall’s tower and St Matthew’s Church tower); and views N and NE
to the city
ii) View North, North East (NNE) from Norwood Park (across LB Southwark to the
city)
In regards to the view from Brockwell Park looking NNW to the City, officers have
undertaken a desk based assessment, which shows that the Development would not
impede views of landmark buildings identified in the Lambeth Local Views Study
(2014). These landmark buildings are noted as The Shard, The Gherkin, St Paul’s
Cathedral, and London Eye. The proposed residential tower is likely to appear in this
view. However the introduction of a tall building in this view is considered to be
beneficial adding to the ‘richness of the cityscape of modern all buildings and historic
buildings from a registered parkland and conservation area’ (Lambeth Local View
Study, 2014).
View NNE is also a wide panorama view, with the park and peripheral tree screen in
the foreground, low undistinguished development in the middle ground and tall
buildings seen in the horizon some distance away in the centre of the view. The
proposal is likely to be seen within the group of existing tall buildings reinforcing the
‘contrast of the tall building cluster of city with the low uniform height of the foreground’
(Lambeth Local View Study, 2014).
Overall officers are satisfied that there would be no adverse on impact to Lambeth
Local Views by the Development.
Local Views - City of Westminster
The view south through the archway into Somerset House courtyard from The Strand
is identified in City of Westminster’s ‘The Strand Conservation Area Audit’ 2003. The
proposal would not be visible in that view and as such, officers consider there would
be no impact. Furthermore, the consultation response received from Westminster City
Council raises no objection to the Development. The impact of designated local views
are considered acceptable.

Page 122

(d) Public Realm, Access Routes and Landscaping
The existing public realm around the Site is recognised as being convoluted and mainly
focused on the provision of a vehicle drop-off outside of the front of the ITV
Headquarters with a number of crossovers. The front of the Site also has an area
alongside the IBM building / pedestrian route to the Thames, used for audience
members to queue for productions, which at certain times during the day can obstruct
the footpaths. The Site comprises mainly hardstanding and buildings with little or no
vegetation. There are however some trees along Upper Ground and Queens Walk
(these are discussed below in paragraphs 6.5.38 to 6.5.42)
As discussed above, the Development would provide a new public square, which would
be fully accessible to the public, maintained by ITV and benefit from 24hr security. It is
intended that the new square and landscaping proposals within it would integrate
seamlessly into the existing surrounding public realm. Policy PN1 (Waterloo) - Site 9
ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground SE1, indicates that redevelopment
proposals for the Site should seek to deliver a pedestrian route through to the Queen’s
Walk, alongside the boundary with Prince’s Wharf. To the north of the square a
pedestrian access route is proposed to the ITV studios, which is flanked by a ‘Wall of
Fame’. The proposed route along the side of the building offers the potential to provide
a link through to the Queen’s Walk and the River Thames. Officers are satisfied that
whilst the scheme does not deliver this route (the plans show it terminated on the
boundary by planters), a change in local circumstances with the Garden Bridge project
not going ahead will result in significantly less pedestrian footfall within the area than
previously anticipated. Furthermore, through relocating the studio audience queuing
area to the other side of the Site this would offer an improvement to the existing
pedestrian route along the boundary with IBM. The application however provides for
a new route to Queens Walk, which could be fully realised at a future stage upon the
agreement of the adjoining landowners.
The square is proposed to be hard standing to allow for a flexibility in its use (for general
use and to host events) and would surrounded by fixed bespoke furniture (offering a
Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) security perimeter). The lighting of the square is also
an important feature as these would be in the form of two lighting rigs offering day-today lighting of the square and animation during events. The areas around the square
would include pocket parks (with informal seating areas, trees and planters), new tree
planting along Upper Ground. On the upper levels of the ITV Headquarters, three
terraces are proposed (at Levels 1, 5 and 6) which would provide seating areas and
green roofs. The general approach to landscaping of the square and the open spaces
that surround it are considered sensible given that it needs to be robust to withstand
the local conditions.
Officers have reviewed the public realm and landscaping proposals and there appears
to be no reason why these would not be achieved, subject to further details being
provide through planning conditions.
(e) Impact on heritage assets
Legislative framework and national policy considerations
This section sets out the legislative and national policy context for the officer
assessment of the impact of the development proposal on the historic environment and
its heritage assets.

Page 123

Legislative framework
The following legal commentary is provided.
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
(“PLBCAA”) provides that in considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority
shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Section 72(1) PLBCAA provides that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or
other land in a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of (amongst
others) the planning Acts, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving
or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.
The South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment case and
the Barnwell Manor case (East Northamptonshire DC v SSCLG) establish that
“preserving” in both s.66 and s.72 means “doing no harm’.
National Planning Policy Framework
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out 12 “core planning principles” that should underpin
both plan-making and decision-taking. Those principles include the following:
“Planning should always seek to secure high quality design and should conserve
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance so that they can be
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.
The NPPF defines a “heritage asset” as:
“A building, monument, site place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage
interest”.
The definition includes both designated heritage assets (of which, a Listed Building and
a Conservation Area are relevant here) and assets identified by the Local Planning
Authority (including local listing).
“Significance” is defined within the NPPF as being:
“the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage
interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic.
Significance derives from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its
setting”.
Paragraph 129 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and assess
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal
(including by development affecting its setting), taking account of the available
evidence and any necessary expertise. That assessment should then be taken into
account when considering the impact of the proposal on the heritage asset, to avoid or
minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the
proposal.
Paragraphs 131 and 132 of the NPPF provide as follows:
‘131. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take
account of:

Page 124

- the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
- the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
- the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character
and distinctiveness.’
‘132. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require
clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed
building, park or garden should be exceptional…’
Paragraph 133 of the NPPF deals with substantial harm to, or total loss of significance
of significance, of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF provides
that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of the designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.
Officers also have regard to the accompanying Planning Practice Guidance to the
NPPF in respect of conserving and enhancing the historic environment.
Approach required
Turning to consider the application of the legislative and policy requirements set out
above, the first step is for the decision-maker to consider each of the designated
heritage assets (referred to hereafter simply as “heritage assets”) which would be
affected by the Development in turn and assess whether the proposed development
would result in any harm to the heritage asset.
The decision of the Court of Appeal in Barnwell Manor confirms that the assessment
of the degree of harm to the heritage asset is a matter for the planning judgement of
the decision-maker.
However, where the decision-maker concludes that there would be some harm to the
heritage asset, in deciding whether that harm would be outweighed by the advantages
of the proposed development the decision-maker is not free to give the harm such
weight as the decision-maker thinks appropriate. Rather, Barnwell Manor establishes
that a finding of harm to a heritage asset is a consideration to which the decision-maker
must give considerable importance and weight in carrying out the balancing exercise.
There is therefore a “strong presumption” against granting planning permission for
development which would harm a heritage asset. In the Forge Field case, the High
Court explained that the presumption is a statutory one. It is not irrebuttable. It can be
outweighed by material considerations powerful enough to do so. However, a Local
Planning Authority can only properly strike the balance between harm to a heritage
asset on the one hand, planning benefits on the other if it is conscious of the statutory
presumption in favour of preservation, and if it demonstrably applies that presumption
to the proposal it is considering.
The case law also establishes that even where the harm identified is less than
substantial (i.e. falls within paragraph 134 of the NPPF), that harm must still be given
considerable importance and weight.

Page 125

Where more than one heritage asset would be harmed by the proposed development,
the decision-maker also needs to ensure that when the balancing exercise is
undertaken, the cumulative effect of those several harms to individual assets is
properly considered. The decision-maker might for example conclude that there are
adverse impacts on heritage features, which individually and cumulatively result in less
than substantial harm. However, less than substantial harm does not mean
insignificant harm. Considerable importance and weight must be attached to each of
the harms identified and to their cumulative effect.
What follows is an officer assessment of the extent of harm which would result from
the proposed development to the scoped heritage assets provided by the applicant as
part of its submission. Both an individual assessment against each heritage asset as
well a cumulative assessment is provided. This is then followed by an assessment of
the heritage benefits of the proposals.
Officers have taken into account the design and conservation team’s comments has
they have carried out an assessment of the significance required by paragraph 129 of
the NPPF. In these circumstances, the table below (taken from British Standard
document BS7913-2013) is useful in terms of assessing impact:

Figure 10: Magnitude of impact plotted against value.

Statutory Listed Buildings
As per the NPPF and LLP Policy Q20, development should conserve and not harm the
significance/special interest of statutory listed buildings and should not harm the
significance of their setting (including views to and from). There are an assortment of
listed buildings nearby, officers have assessed the Development on all of those which
are affected -Somerset House, St Paul’s Cathedral and the Royal National Theatre
(NT).

Page 126

Somerset House (Grade I)
Somerset House lies within the City of Westminster and is located along the River
Thames North Bank. Built 1776-1796 and designed by Sir William Chambers,
Somerset House boasts splendid neo-classical Portland Stone elevations which front
onto the River Thames, Waterloo Bridge and The Strand. The Townscape, Heritage,
Visual Impact Assessment (THVIA) View 20 ‘Somerset House Courtyard: main
entrance’ demonstrates that the residential tower would appear amongst the
chimneystacks of Somerset House (South East corner). The applicant’s original preapplication scheme proposed a taller tower which would have a greater impact but the
height has been reduced, on officer’s advice, to minimise the harm to this heritage
asset. In View 20, the viewer is able to appreciate the impressive symmetrical
composition of Somerset House with the dense array of Portland Stone chimney stacks
of varying sizes extend above the strong continuous parapet. Currently Somerset
House is seen against a clear sky background; however, the Doon Street tower, once
built, would be visible left of the central dome and would be of comparable height.

Figure 11: TVIA View 20 Somerset House Courtyard: main entrance

The proposed residential tower would be seen in the background of one of the
chimneystacks (Figure 11 above). The tower would be seen at a lower height and
partially screened behind the chimney, it would blend in with the grouping of chimney
stacks although illumination at night would likely set it apart from the stacks. Somerset
House is High Value as a Grade I listed building. The impact of the proposal is
‘negligible / minor’. Therefore, the Magnitude of Impact is ‘Slight’, representing less
than substantial harm. Historic England has reached the same conclusion.
The GLA consider that tower would not interfere with the viewer’s ability to recognise
or appreciate Somerset House or cause harm to the setting of the listed building. They
also identify that the tower would disappear from view when moving further into the
courtyard.
St Paul’s Cathedral (Grade I)

Page 127

St Paul’s Cathedral is located within the City of London and was built 1675 to 1710 by
Sir Christopher Wren in ‘Classical style mainly of Portland stone, with Central dome
and western towers’ (Historic England listing description). The relationship of the
application site to St Paul’s Cathedral relates largely to its presence within LVMF View
8A.1 ‘Westminster Pier - the orientation plaque' which runs across the centre and north
of the site. Currently the existing ITV tower frames the right side of St Paul’s dome and
with redevelopment the replacement tower would be taller occupying a similar position
in the view. The new ITV Headquarters would frame the other side (left) of the dome.
The result is that some of the sky currently visible on either side of the Cathedral would
lost. It would be ‘hemmed in’ a little bit more than it is at present.
Again, using the table above, St Paul’s is High Value as a Grade I listed building. The
impact of the proposal is considered by officers to be ‘negligible/ minor’. Therefore, the
magnitude of impact is ‘Slight’ and would border on less than substantial harm. Officers
note that HE have reached a different conclusion that there is no harm to the setting of
St Paul’s as a listed building, which does highlight how borderline the impact is in this
instance.
National Theatre (Grade II*)
The National Theatre is located on Upper Ground and its primary elevation fronts the
South Bank. Designed by architect Denys Lasdun and built 1969-1976 the theatre is
constructed in concrete with stratified horizontal planes that wrap around the buildings
side elevations and frontage (North, East and West elevations). Two impressive fly
towers create a contrasting vertical counterpart elevating the height and presence of
the building along the Thames. Part of the buildings significance is its striking
monumental form and civic presence along the Thames. The ‘frontage’ is best
appreciated from the Queens Walk, in long views along Waterloo Bridge and along the
North Bank. The existing ITV tower is visible within the setting of the NT in views from
the bridges, across the river and along Upper Ground. The fly towers are large, solid
concrete boxes (one taller than the other) and the existing ITV tower is similarly
orthogonal but taller again. The existing relationship is a comfortable one. The
replacement tower would be taller but understated architecturally and it would have a
simple orthogonal form. The impact would be similar and as such, there will be no harm
to the setting of the NT.
Conclusion
Officers have identified that there would be less than substantial harm to Somerset
House and St Paul’s Cathedral. However, the impact would be ‘Slight’ and would not
impact on the overall appreciation of these designated heritage assets. The NPPF
allows the decision maker to consider public benefits in circumstances where harm
results to designated heritage assets.
Locally Listed Buildings
IBM Building
IBM is also designed by Denys Lasdun, completed in 1985 this building is locally listed
because of is architectural interest and its architectural and physical relationship with
Lasdun’s adjoining National Theatre. IBM incorporates and continues the horizontal
architectural emphasis seen at NT; clean concrete bands are expressed continuously
around the building with landscaping that effectively transitions between private and
public realm.

Page 128

IBM is hardly visible from across the River because it is largely screened by the trees
on the Queens Walk. The Queen’s Walk is fairly intimate, curving and the tree planting
during the spring and summer months is quite dense which means views of ITV and
IBM are somewhat obscured. Where the proposal can be seen, it will be a noticeable
improvement on the Queen’s Walk. The simple articulated elevations of the ITV
Headquarters would front Queens Walk providing an attractive backdrop to IBM when
looking east along Queen’s Walk. Whilst the understated ‘band’ effect of back painted
glazing within the Headquarters elevations would subtly reference the horizontal
character of IBM and NT. Although taller, the ITV Headquarters would be significantly
set back from IBM frontage between approximately 30m-40m ensuring IBM would
continue to be appreciated in the east and west views along Queen’s Walk.

Figure 12: THVIA View 42 ‘The Queen’s Walk, at Gabriel’s Wharf’ looking west .

On Upper Ground the proposed residential tower would be sited in the same location
as the existing tower and marginally taller and as such would have a similar impact to
the existing tower. The proposal would include public realm works along Upper Ground
including a new square that would significantly improve the setting of the street and the
locally listed building.
Officers do not consider that the Development would result in harm to the setting of the
IBM building.
Conservation Areas
South Bank Conservation Area
The site is within the South Bank Conservation Area. As stated above, the character
appraisal for this conservation area (published in 2007) acknowledges that the existing
tower is ‘reasonably attractive’ but that the lower buildings are ‘of little architectural
interest’. The CA appraisal concludes that the buildings on the Site make a neutral
contribution to character or appearance the conservation area. Officers are therefore
able to support the replacement of these buildings as long as the replacements would
not cause harm conservation area. Officers are satisfied that the proposal would cause
no harm to the South Bank Conservation Area, and in fact the uplift in design quality
and the proposed new public space would be enhancements.

Page 129

Waterloo Conservation Area
The Waterloo Conservation Area lies to the south of the site and contains mostly 19 th
and early 20th Century development comprising a mix of building types and uses
ranging from formal terraces to large commercial buildings. The existing tall building
on the ITV site is already visible from this conservation area, mostly in glimpse views.

Figure 13: Glimpse of the existing ITV tower from junction of Coin Street and Aquinas Street
looking north west

The most prominent view of the site is from the corner of Cornwall Road and Stamford
Street where a vacant site in the frontage allows the current ITV tower to be viewed in
isolation in the background of the view (Figure 14 below).

Figure 14: View looking north from Stamford Street/Coin Street junction

Page 130

It should be noted that the recently approved Mamma Mia: The Party temporary show
venue is to be erected on this vacant site (planning ref: 17/03658/FUL). The temporary
venue is three storeys high (15.23m AOD) and includes a tall chimney shaft (31.57m
(AOD) that would be positioned in front of the ITV tower in the view. Although the
proposed residential tower would be taller than the existing office tower, the building’s
chimney shaft would obscure a large portion of the residential tower east and south
elevations. Even with a vacant site, the presence of a taller tower in this view is
considered acceptable. Indeed numerous tall buildings in Waterloo and Blackfriars are
visible, especially in views up and down Stamford Street.
The townscape is rich and varied and the narrowness of the side streets and their
arrangement means that there would be little more than passing glimpses. On balance,
the impact on the conservation area as a whole will be negligible and results in no
harm.
Roupell Street Conservation Area
The Roupell Street Conservation Area is located to the south of the Waterloo
Conservation Area and consists mainly of 19th Century terrace housing. Although taller
buildings can be seen in the distance terminating the vistas to west and east, much of
the surrounding taller and larger development is screened from views north and south
due to the tight-knit nature of rows of historic terraced housing. One exception is the
view looking north up Theed Street from its junction with Roupell Street. This is an
attractive, intimate townscape terminated by Victorian commercial properties, identified
within the Roupell Street Conservation Area Statement 2007 as an important view. In
this view, the existing ITV tower is visible in the backdrop and then disappears as the
viewer proceeds north along Theed Street. The current building is pale, architecturally
calm and recessive meaning it does not distract.

Figure 15: THVIA View 36 Roupell Street, corner with Theed Street

The increase in height of the new tower will make it more visible in this view. However,
the townscape and architecture of the conservation area is rich, immediate and robust.
Furthermore, the new tower will be pale and architecturally calm. On balance, officers
consider the impact will be negligible and results in no harm.

Page 131

Old Barge Alley Conservation Area
Old Barge Conservation Area lies within the London Borough of Southwark;
overlapping and adjoining the South Bank Conservation Area to the east. The
conservation area includes two historic thoroughfares and warehouses. The streets
are narrow and intimate, survivors of the area’s industrial past. Views west from the
edge of conservation area (borough boundary) look along Upper Ground towards the
ITV tower (THVIA View 45 ‘Broadwall, just outside Southwark CA ‘Old Barge House
Alley’). In this view Bernie Spain Gardens provides a dense leafy foreground. The
replacement tower will benefit from this leafy context. The increased height and new
design will not have an adverse impact on this view.

Figure 16: THVIA View 45 Broadwall, just outside Southwark Conservation Area ‘Old Barge
House Alley’

The Strand, Savoy and Temple Conservation Areas.
On the north side of the River Thames immediately opposite the application site are
The Strand, Savoy and Temple Conservation Areas and include the great sweep of
the tree-lined Victoria Embankment.
The existing ITV site is visible across the River Thames from the Victoria Embankment
although the trees on the Queen’s Walk screen much of its lower podium at present.
From the Embankment, the wider context is also readily appreciable to the west
(Blackfriars cluster) and East - National Theatre etc. The Development will be more
visible due to the increase in height of the tower and the new ITV Headquarters.
However, this change is considered to sit comfortably in the varied and largely 20th
Century context on the south side of the river. The impact would not adversely impact
views from the Victoria Embankment.

Page 132

Figure 17: THVIA View 16 ‘Victoria Embankment, south of Temple Gardens’

The Strand is on raised ground which runs parallel to the River Thames and then side
streets run downhill to the Victoria Embankment. The current ITV tower terminates the
view south along Arundel Street where it can be seen rising above the treeline of the
Embankment (THVIA View 17). The new tower will be taller and therefore more of it
will be visible. However, the subdued design and orthogonal form will mean that the
impact is negligible, resulting in no harm.

Figure 18: THVIA View 17 ‘Arundel Street’

Page 133

Westminster World Heritage Site
The Westminster World Heritage Site (WWHS) is located some distance to the south
west of the Site on the north bank of the River Thames and comprises the Palace of
Westminster and Westminster Abbey and associated public open spaces. The existing
ITV tower is visible from the eastern end of the southern side of Parliament Square.
The view here is looking northwest towards the Elizabeth Tower with the Shell Centre
and London Eye beyond. THVIA View 31 demonstrates that when the fore and middle
ground trees are not in leaf the existing ITV tower is visible between the structural legs
of the London Eye. The viewer would really have to be looking for the ITV building to
see it in this view. Mainly due to the tower being partially obscured by trees in the fore
and middle ground, sited behind the London eye and the sheer dominance of the
Elizabeth Tower and Portcullis House in the foreground which draws the focus in the
view. The proposed taller tower would have a neutral impact on this view.

Figure 19: THVIA View 31 ‘Parliament Square: south-east corner’

A similar view of the ITV tower can be gained from western end of Westminster Bridge
(north side – THVIA View 30 ‘LVMF 18B.1 Westminster Bridge: downstream – at
Westminster bank). This is just outside the WWHS but is clearly part of its approaches
and immediate setting. Officers consider that the increase in height of the proposed
tower would result in a negligible change to the view and have no impact on the setting
of the WWHS.

Page 134

Figure 20: THVIA View 30 LVMF 18B.1 ‘Westminster Bridge: downstream – at Westminster
bank’.

Impact on heritage assets: summary
Officers have considered the heritage assets individually and collectively and assessed
impact of the development. Overall, it has been concluded that less than substantial
harm would result, which is the same conclusion that was reached by Historic England.
Assessment of Benefits
A definition of public benefits is given in the NPPG. It advises that public benefits:
“may follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic,
social or environmental progress as described in the National Planning Policy
Framework. Public benefits should flow from the proposed development. They should
be of a nature of scale to be of benefit to the public at large and should not just be a
private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible or accessible to the
public in order to be genuine public benefits”
The NPPG further identifies that a public benefit can include securing a buildings
optimal viable use: “the vast majority of heritage assets are in private hands. Thus,
sustaining heritage assets in the long term often requires an incentive for their active
conservation. Putting heritage assets to a viable use is likely to lead to the investment
in their maintenance necessary for their long-term conservation’
Officers agree with Historic England’s assessment that the Development would result
in less than substantial harm to heritage assets surrounding the Site. An assessment
of harm versus benefits with regard to heritage assets that are considered to
experience either ‘less than substantial harm’ or ‘substantial harm’ is therefore
required. To assist the final decision maker (in this case the PAC), a summary list of
public benefits that arise from the development is set out below:
Employment and Training

Page 135









The offices and television studios would result in the creation of 2,400 FT jobs for
Lambeth, which represents an uplift of 900 FT jobs on the existing site. It should
be noted that this figure does not include freelance employees;
The retail element of the scheme would create 7.5 FT jobs;
Creation of up to 593 construction jobs on Site;
Local labour in construction contribution of up to £750,000 or the provision of
construction employment training scheme initiatives of equivalent value (the detail
to be discussed with the Council’s Head of Economic Inclusion);
Employment and skills services and programme of up to £800,000 of targeted
activity delivered by ITV;
ITV are committed to making available its conference spaces and facilities;
Specific focus on local outreach to the immediate community – schools; volunteer
days; mentoring.

Cultural / Creative Industries





Television production studios being retained and updated in the South Bank
Cultural Quarter;
Improved audience experience through the provision of a designated queuing area
alongside the building and a ‘wall of fame’
The ability to reinforce links with other cultural organisations / venues (like the
South Bank Centre and National Theatre) and enhance the arts, cultural and
entertainment character of the area;
It is anticipated that £1bn of programming will be commissioned from the Site;

Housing



213 new apartments would contribute towards London Plan housing targets;
The scheme would deliver 22 intermediate affordable housing units onsite and a
Payment in Lieu of £3.7 million towards the off-site provision of affordable housing.

Public Realm and Highway Improvements






A new square is proposed on the south of the Site accessible to the public,
providing opportunities for local residents and businesses, visitors to the South
Bank and the ITV building. The square would have 24hr security and be
maintained by ITV;
Increase in the number of street trees and improved pedestrian experience and
highway safety through the removal of two vehicle crossovers along Upper
Ground;
The potential for the creation of a new pedestrian route from Upper Ground to
Queen’s Walk in the future.
The scheme would result in a reduction in the number of car parking spaces across
the Site by approximately 50%, which offer improvements in terms of air quality
and traffic congestion.

Sustainability



The buildings designed to high quality specification in respect of energy and
sustainability providing long-term sustainable buildings. BREEAM ‘Excellent’ has
also be proved to be achievable;
The scheme incorporates the provision of renewable technologies in the form of
solar panels.

Page 136

6.5

Environmental Impacts
At pre-application stage, the applicants opted not to undertake a screening exercise to
determine whether the Development would constitute EIA development. The applicant
instead submitted an EIA scoping opinion which was duly assessed by the council and
sets out an agreement to what the scope of an EIA and the content of the
Environmental Statement (ES) should be (ref: 17/02292/EIASCP). In assessing this
planning application, the Council appointed Arup to conduct an independent review the
information provided within the ES, and ES Addendum, which included a sufficient and
robust assessment of potential environmental effects resulting from the proposed
Development.
The ES submitted with the application has been prepared by Cundall on behalf of the
applicant. Together with the addendum, the ES considers the following effects on the
local environment:
(a) Townscape, Heritage & Visual Impacts
(b) Socio-Economic Effects
(c) Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing, Light Pollution and Solar Glare
(d) Transport
(e) Noise and Vibration
(f) Air Quality
(g) Wind Microclimate
(h) Geotechnical and Ground Conditions
(i) Ecology and Trees
(j) Water Resources and Flood Risk
(k) Archaeology
(l) Waste
Arup’s review was undertaken in two stages: preliminary and final form. The preliminary
review was undertaken of the submitted ES, and sought clarification regarding the
information contained within the ES. This included where a number of issues relating
to the ES may give rise to potential planning risks. These risks were typified by a need
for further explanation of certain information/data within the ES that would have
otherwise resulted in erroneous and misleading assessment results. The preliminary
review proposed potential remedial measures to reduce these risks.
(a) Townscape, Heritage & Visual Impacts
This matter dealt with in Section 6.4 above.
(b) Socio-Economic Effects
This part of the ES considers the likely socio-economic effects of the proposed
Development on the local and borough-wide economy, on employment and demand
on local facilities (schools, healthcare facilities and other community facilities and
infrastructure). Two of the three components to achieving sustainable development
include social and economic elements.

Page 137

The proposed Development will create a number of temporary construction jobs. A
legal obligation, to be drafted in close consultation with Lambeth Working, would
secure a proportion for local labour to seek to address the Borough’s unemployment
levels. The unemployment rate in Lambeth in 2015 was calculated at around 6.8% of
the Borough’s working-age population (0.8% increase since the 2011 census). The
Development is expected to provide circa 748 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) construction
jobs over a 4 - 5 year build out period (up to 320 workers potentially on-site). This would
equate to a net total of 154 FTE construction jobs at borough level, of which 14 FTE
are predicted to be created on an indirect basis in the borough.
Turning to direct employment, the ITV Headquarters would cater for 2400 staff which
represents an increase from the 1500 staff currently supported at the Site (a net
increase of 900 staff). The applicant anticipate that an additional 500 freelance posts
would be created. Having regard to the relevant adjustment s set out in the ES Chapter,
this would equate to 290 FTE. In addition, the retail unit is expected to create about
circa 9 FTE jobs. The number of jobs generated by the housing element is however
currently difficult to ascertain as ITV have confirmed that they would not build out and
operate this element of the Development. It is however expected that this would
generate some employment through the concierge and management of the building.
From the 213 households arising from the Development, annual expenditure (based
on Family Spending in the UK (ONS, 2016) of £528.90 per household per week) would
be circa £5,858,095. The net additional expenditure is expected to generate a further
15 FTE jobs in retail and other service sectors in the local economy.
It is envisaged that 445 ‘new residents’ from the Development would generate an
additional 17.5 primary (5-11) and 7.5 secondary school age (11-16) people to the
Borough. With the exception of the Archbishop Sumner Primary School, it has been
identified that none of the schools are at capacity within the north of the borough, and
none are within the local study area, or within 1000 metres of the Site. There is primary
and secondary school capacity to accommodate the likely population arising from the
Development.
With regard to healthcare, the baseline assessment reported in the ES Chapter has
identified a range of accessible and high-quality healthcare facilities in the area, which
in all cases are able to accommodate new patients. The ratio of FTE GPs to patients
within the area is identified as being above average for England.
Overall, the socio-economic impacts the Development are considered to result in public
benefits that would otherwise not be achieved in the absence of approving the
Development. The additional demand for social infrastructure is also considered to be
met by the existing provision within the borough and CIL liability.
(c) Daylight, Sunlight, Overshadowing, Light Pollution and Solar Glare
This matter is dealt with below in the Section 6.6 on residential amenity.
(d) Transport
This matter is dealt within in Section 6.7 below.

Page 138

(e) Noise and Vibration
The ES describes the predicted noise and vibration impacts associated with the
proposed Development. The assessment compromises a desk-base study of predicted
changes in traffic noise level and noise and vibration emissions from typical demolition
and construction activities and an assessment of impacts upon identified receptors,
using relevant standards and guidelines. It is considered that this chapter of the ES
has referenced relevant standards and that an appropriate environmental noise
methodology has been adopted.
Impacts of construction noise
During the demolition and construction periods, as may be expected, a significant
adverse level of noise is anticipated, as it is possible for disturbance caused by
vibration, as common with construction projects in urban locations. LLP Policy Q2
makes it clear that proposals should ensure that any adverse impact in terms of noise
and vibration should be reduced and minimised as far as possible to ensure the
amenity of existing and future occupants of neighbouring properties and local
businesses are protected. Furthermore, the policy requires for the adverse impact of
noise be reduced to an acceptable level using attenuation, distance, screening, or
internal layout/orientation.
The applicant has submitted an outline Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) and a draft Demolition & Construction Logistics Plan that set out a number of
important recommendations. It is noted that once the basement levels are constructed
by the principal contractor, the site will be separated into two separate work sites for
the ITV building and residential building separately as each building will be under
separate ownership and are likely to have different contractors. However, until the final
construction programme has been compiled and the contractors have been instructed
to work on the project it is too early to suggest which measures would be most suitable
for the site. RSS have advised officers that a full CEMP (secured through a planning
condition) would need to include a number of measures to minimise the impact of the
development, including the following: careful selection of construction methods and
plant to be used; switching off plant when not in use; enforcement of restricted working
hours for excessive noise activities; use of temporary acoustic barriers and boundary
monitoring of noise and vibration levels linked to an alarm system to warn site
management of possible significant levels.
During the consultation process, IBM raised significant concerns with regard to the
construction phase of development having a detrimental impact on their business
operations, given the type of noise sensitive commercial activities that currently take
place on the eastern side of their building (opposite the Site). Furthermore, IBM
consider that the CEMP required through a S106 clause as opposed to a planning
condition would ensure that IBM can have a greater involvement in the working up of
the final CEMP. RSS have reviewed IBM’s representations and advised officers that a
planning condition would still be the most effective method for dealing with construction
impacts. RSS however have also advised that the council’s standard CEMP condition
is amended to require for a construction noise management and monitoring plan to
written and administered by a suitably qualified person with due consideration to
BS5228: Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open
sites. The applicants would also be required to sign up to Considerate Contractor
Scheme
and
to
participate
in
the
Waterloo
Maintenance
Group
(construction/development forum for other major developers in the area) through a
S106 clause.

Page 139

In summary, RSS consider that the combination of the amended CEMP condition with
a Section 61 Agreement (where a building contractor applies to us for a
prior consent for works under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974. The
application details how noise is to be managed on-site), would be the best way to
control the construction impacts.
Impacts on future residential occupiers of the Development
Ambient noise levels are typically adopted for assessing the building envelope sound
insulation requirements for the development. The Environmental noise survey (ENS)
report undertaken by Sandy Brown, states that ambient sound levels at the north of the
site ranged from LAeq 56-65 dB during the day time and LAeq 52-60 dB at night.
Ambient sound levels at the south of the site ranged from LAeq 59-70dB during the
daytime and LAeq 55-65 dB at night. ENS report identifies that the site falls into Noise
Exposure Category C, whereby the guidance states that permission should not
normally be granted unless conditions can be imposed to ensure a commensurate level
of protection to the future occupiers of the Development. RSS have reviewed the
submission and recommended conditions requiring a noise and vibration attenuation
scheme to submitted, along with a set of prescribed noise standards which would need
to be met within the residential units.
Environmental noise impacts during operation of the development
As stated above, the ENS report has been used as the basis for setting plant noise
limits at nearest noise receptive areas. These are presented in the table below:

Figure 21: Plant Noise Limits

ENS report also states, that the representative background sound levels at the north
of the site are LA90,15min 52 dB during the day time and LA90,15min 49 dB at night.
The representative background sound levels at the south of the site are LA90,15min
56 dB and during the day time and LA90,15min 52 dB at night. These are background
sound levels are typically adopted for purposes of setting building services noise
egress limits to adjacent noise sensitive premises in line with the council’s
requirements. The council usually require that noise from building services plant should
not exceed the LA90 background noise level measured at 1m outside the windows of
the nearest noise sensitive premise. The applicants have not specified the building
services plant, ventilation and filtration equipment or kitchen exhaust ducting /
ventilation they intend on using, however RSS are satisfied that the details this
equipment, together with a limit on the noise levels, could be secured through planning
conditions.

Page 140

The operational noise impacts with regard to matters such as patron noise have been
presented under the Site Management Strategy and generally considered by RSS as
being satisfactory. However, RSS have raised some concerns about the use of the
new public square and other likely use impact of the terraces to the rear of the ITV
Building, especially the large roof space on the sixth floor.

Figure 21: Roof level terraces on the ITV Headquarters

In terms of the public square, the application states that this represents a new,
contemporary, flexible plaza with a strong character and the ability to transform for a
variety of activities, events and performances. Further, it is understood, that the square
would be used occasionally by ITV for promotional events at various times of the year;
and that ITV will advise, inform and consult with its immediate neighbours and the
community regarding the timing and logistics of any event. It also states that ITV is
committed to the delivery of a high-quality development that would provide for a safe
and secure working environment for its employees and those visiting its headquarters
or the site and the local community. At the central to achieving these objectives is the
development of a detailed Estate Management Plan that will identify how the site is to
be managed, both the office and residential buildings and improved landscape areas
and features that are also proposed. In managing the site, ITV have expressed that it
is committed to protecting the adjoining residents from undue disturbance.
In addition, the scheme includes three main terraces, associated with the ITV Building
to the rear facing the new residential tower namely Level 6 roof terrace, the largest,
with hard landscaped pockets designed to provide a number of opportunities for group
gathering of different scales. The Level 1 terrace providing an opportunity to create an
additional private outdoor area for informal recreation and relaxation; and the Level 5
terrace allowing spill out areas and featuring a lawn area.
RSS are satisfied the potential noise and disturbance of use of the public square and
terraces would be mitigated through a detailed estates management plan secured via
a planning condition.

Page 141

(f) Air Quality
Lambeth has a borough-wide Air Quality Management Area, the Site is within 300m of
the GLA’s designated Air Quality Focus Area (area of high pollution combined with high
exposure) of Waterloo Road as well as in the CAZ for the purpose of Non-Road Mobile
Machinery (NRMM) emission standard requirements. The Council’s Sustainability
Team and Regulatory Support Services (RSS) have reviewed the relevant chapter
within the ES, the outline CEMP, draft Demolition and Construction Logistics Plan,
Energy Sustainability Statement and Framework Travel Plan.
The Site has been identified by the ES as High risk for dust soiling demolition,
earthworks and construction, Medium risk for dust soiling from trackout (the
transportation of dust and dirt from the construction/demolition site onto the public road
network) and Medium risk for human health during demolition, which is considered
appropriate to the proposed development. Officers and RSS consider that suitable
mitigation measures through the final CEMP, including an Air Quality and Dust
Management Plan with automatic continuous PM10 monitoring commence at least three
months before the commencement of the demolition phase and continue throughout
all construction phases, would ensure that the overall impacts during construction
would be not be significant. Furthermore, a condition will ensure that all NRMM has
been registered are compliant with the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements.
Policy 6.13 of the London Plan requires developments must ensure that 1 in 5 spaces
(both active and passive) provide an electrical charging point to encourage the uptake
of electric vehicles for both the commercial and residential land uses. The applicants
have shown their intention to meet these requirements a suitable planning condition is
proposed to ensure that it is implemented.
The ES explains that the impact on air quality are mostly considered negligible and
would be from the operation of boiler plants, energy plants, building emissions,
transport emissions and road traffic. However, the Development would present a
significant risk for Operational Air Quality Effects without mitigation, due to the high
existing concentration of pollutant particles and introduction of new sources by the
Development. The ES proposes a number of other mitigation measures that have been
accepted by officers, these include:
 Mitigation by design through provision of travel plan, provision of adequate
pedestrian and cycle access, installation of low emission rates boilers, and space
layout.
 Provision of Dust Management Plan and monitoring of pollution concentration.
 Installation of ventilation scheme for residential tower.
 Conforming to the GLA’s Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Guidance regarding energy plants.
The Development has been reported as at least ‘air quality neutral’ in terms of both
building and transport emissions and is therefore considered compliant with Policy 7.14
of the London Plan.
Offices that a condition is appended requiring for proposed building stack to be
increased in height so that it terminates 1m above the height of the tallest part of the
building (currently at 108.14m) to further mitigate the impacts of the CHP. Details of
the stack would also be secured by condition.
(g) Wind Microclimate

Page 142

As the Development proposes two new tall buildings, measuring 14 and 31 storeys in
height, the impact on the wind microclimate within and around the Site is assessed in
the ES. All tall buildings can generate significant adverse impacts on the wind
microclimate in the vicinity of the building, in the form of various wind conditions on
thoroughfares, winder conditions around entrances to the surrounding buildings,
ground level amenity spaces, roof terrace amenity spaces and strong wind caused by
down-drafting of upper level winds. The significance of these impacts can be managed
by deployment of appropriate design features such as podiums, canopies, trees and
planters that act to deflect or dissipate turbulent airflow.
The ES includes an assessment on the pedestrian level wind microclimate. This
assessment details the outcome of wind tunnel modelling and its environs to identify
any negative wind impacts caused by the proposed development. The modelling has
been undertaken for a number of configurations including a cumulative impact model
where the interactions between the scheme and other developments in the locality are
taken into account. This assessment has identified 6 receptors at which wind conditions
would exceed the safety exceedance threshold of 15m/s by a small margin. One is in
the middle of Upper Ground (18), four are clustered around the north east of the
residential element (50, 77, 78 and 79), and one is to the north west of the site (121).
There are also two instances of strong winds along Upper Ground and the corner of
Upper Ground / Doon Street which exceed the safety threshold, occurring due to a
combination of the proposed development and the Doon Street development. Further
wind tunnel testing demonstrated that the mitigation measures would enable the wind
speeds to be reduced to appropriate levels.
The proposed mitigation measures include physical adaptation of the building together
with tree planting, porous screens and other landscaping measures. RSS recommend
that a condition to ensure that the mitigation measures recommended in the
assessment are implemented. The assessment also highlights the significance of both
the layout of the scheme and its built form in influencing wind flows around the
development. It is important that if any changes or modifications to the scheme are
proposed the impact on the wind climate should be re-assessed. A further condition is
therefore recommended for this objective to be achieved.
(h) Geotechnical and Ground Conditions
The potential impacts of the Development to geotechnical and ground conditions has
been assessed in respect of geology and ground model, hydrogeology, and hydrology
in the ES chapter. The chapter highlights that geological consideration is needed for
belowground proposal due to the Site’s history concerning the ground thickness and
properties, obstructions from previous site use and relic features. As would be
expected given the riverside location, an analysis of the history further introduces
potential contamination sources, including gas sources and contamination elements
from previous uses. The groundwater inflow within the Site is limited, yet there are
potential fluctuations and impact from tidal wave on the substructure. The report details
a conceptual model of risk pathways and concludes that an intrusive investigation will
be required to fully explore and manage these risks. The council’s environmental health
advisors consider that it is important to ensure that the site is subject to adequate
investigations and that any necessary remedial works are implemented. A number of
conditions are therefore recommended to address these issues and to ensure the
Development is suitable for use.

Page 143

(i) Ecology and Trees
The ES includes an ecological assessment, identifying that the Site does not have a
statutory designation and habitats within the Site appear to be of low conservation
value. The Site is largely developed or with hardstanding with no green spaces within
the red line boundary. There is an existing green area along the northern boundary but
this does not appear to be an ecological habitat. The shrubs and trees may provide
opportunity for roosting for birds, but the survey did not document any roosting activity.
There are 36 non-statutory sites listed within the 2km search area, with the closest
identified as River Thames and Tidal Tributaries Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation (SINC) to the north. The River Thames has also been recommended as
a Marine Conservation Zone (MCZ). A large number of bird species are present within
2 km radius around the Site. The applicant has confirmed that best practice guidance
would be implemented to avoid or reduce risks of water pollution and land
contamination. Furthermore, any dust during the construction phase would likely be
contained within and immediately adjacent to the Site.
The final landscaping designs should endeavour to incorporate species and habitats
which have high ecological value and which can be of benefit to wildlife. This is
particularly important as the application site is on the River Thames, thus offering
additional habitat opportunities for invertebrates, foraging bats and birds, including the
Black Redstart, which is a national priority bird species and has been known to frequent
the Thames foreshore and associated buildings in Lambeth. Furthermore, the Design
and Access Statement, and the recommendations of the Ecology Report, propose the
inclusion of areas of extensive green roof with high biodiversity value, e.g. a
‘biodiversity brown roof’. This approach is welcomed, and the applicant should ensure
that areas of the new buildings include extensive biodiversity roofs. A condition for
detailed designs, plans and planting/maintenance schedules relating to all areas of
green roof proposed for the development will enable the council to assess their
biodiversity value and ensure they offer enhanced habitat opportunities for
invertebrates, bats and birds. The scheme should also provide Black Redstart bird
boxes as recommended by the ecology report.
The Development is considered to result in no additional impacts towards the
ecological environment. There would be no significant impacts on protected sites or
species of ecology and nature conservation importance, therefore no mitigation
measures for adverse impacts are proposed.
The existing trees within and adjoining the site were assessed as part of an
Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The report surveys 20 trees and these are identified
on the tree Constraints Plan. A breakdown of their subsequent amenity value was
provided in the report whereby Category A = high value and Category C = low value.
The report confirms that trees T17, T18 & T19 situated along the southern boundary of
the site (located on Upper Ground) will require removal to facilitate the Development.
These trees are identified on the Tree Constraints Plan – they trees provide moderate
visual amenity to the locality (Category B/C) and will be replaced as part of the wider
landscape strategy for the Site. As the trees are within the control of the Lambeth and
therefore consultation with the council tree section should be sought.

Page 144

The remaining trees, as identified on the Tree Constraints Plan, are situated on the
northern boundary of the site (on third party land). The identified groups make up tree
numbers T3 – T15, these have been surveyed and evaluated as poor specimens. The
council’s tree officer agrees with this assessment. The trees would require remedial
pruning to facilitate the construction of the Development as well as protection arising
from any root system impacts, however, the extent of this work can be controlled by a
planning condition.
As identified on the Tree Constraints Plan, Tree T1 would be unaffected by the
proposal. The plan identifies that Tree T2 is situated within an area closer to Site and
would require protection during the construction phase. This should be in the form of
an Arboricultural Method Statement secured by condition, in line with LLP Policies Q9.
(j) Water Resources and Flood Risk
The risk of flooding and pollution to and from the proposed Development and the need
for potential mitigation is assessed within this ES chapter. The assessment is
accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and has been prepared having
referred to the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.
The FRA identifies that the Site lies within Flood Zone 3a and the Environment
Agency’s online flood map and of high vulnerability to flooding from tidal water, but is
protected by the current flood defences along the river Thames. The breach modelling
has been assessed to understand the future flood levels and the development would
therefore have no residential dwellings below the future flood levels.
It is indicated in the FRA that the site is 100% hardstanding and due to the basement
that is proposed to cover the site there are limited areas for infiltration. The proposed
drainage strategy involves attenuating water on-site and limiting the surface water
discharge rate to 15 l/s. In order to reduce the surface water runoff to 15 l/s the FRA
proposes 498 sq.m of water storage on-site, which is proposed through permaviod
storage throughout the site. The Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SuDS)
hierarchy has been considered in reaching this solution. In the proposed drainage
strategy layout drawing, the attenuation area is shown to be adjacent to the building.
In practice, given there are basements present, below ground storage features would
require a buffer distance to the edge of the building to prevent any interaction with the
basements and foundations.
The Council’s Flood Officer has assessed the Development and raised no objections
on the grounds of flood risk or sustainable drainage, subject to a pre-construction
condition requiring; final surface water design details demonstrating sufficient buffer
distance between the below ground SuDS and the basement / foundations,
confirmation that Thames Water has an agreed point and rate of discharge, timetable
for implementation and management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the
development.

Page 145

(k) Archaeology
The Site lies within the South Bank Conservation Area and Lambeth Waterfront
Archaeological Priority Area. A desk-based approach to the archaeological impact
assessment has been prepared to assess the Site, in line with London Plan Policy 7.8
and LLP Policy Q23. The assessment seeks to incorporate measures that identify,
record, interpret, protect and (where appropriate) present the site’s archaeology. The
ES chapter identifies that the significance of the Site towards potential remains dating
back to the Roman and early medieval period as low, therefore no impacts are
associated with these periods. It has been found that minor/moderate adverse impact
could occur on palaeo-environmental remains during demolition and construction
phase due to the construction of two basement levels and piled foundations. In
addition, due to the same demolition and construction works, major/moderate adverse
impacts have the potential to occur on prehistoric remains, later medieval remains and
post-medieval remains.
Historic England’s Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service (GLAAS) has
reviewed ES chapter, together with a Geoarchaeological Deposit Model: Historic
Environment Assessment Supplement, which they requested. GLAAS advise that the
Development is acceptable subject to a condition requiring a potential staged process
of archaeological investigation. If further geotechnical site investigation is to occur,
observation and recording will need to be required to clarify the nature and extent of
surviving remains. This will be been followed by a limited programme of
geo/archaeological evaluation and then at the evaluation stage a programme of
suitable mitigation, if it is determined that there is an on-going archaeological interest
with the site.
(l) Waste
This ES chapter identifies the types and volumes of waste generated at each stage of
the Development and concentrated down into main waste streams. As is expected,
main sources of waste are identified as demolition, construction and operational. The
proposals are for a pre-demolition phase to precede demolition works starting at the
main podium level, followed by demolition of the tower, basement slab and water tanks.
The waste generated would be transported to by road to a pre-determined transfer /
processing centre. Due to the site’s close proximity to the Thames, transporting the
waste on the river was considered by the applicants. However, the pedestrian walkway
adjacent and the subsequent risks to health and safety through using this route were
considered too high. The applicant expects that 99% of generated waste is expected
to be diverted from landfill, resulting in no adverse impact on landfill void capacity or
waste treatment infrastructure capacity. At this stage, applicants are unable to quantify
the amount of waste from excavation and constructor stages of the Development.
However the amount and type of waste is proposed to be monitored and recorded the
guidance set out in the CIRIA C513: Reclaimed and recycled construction materials
handbook, in the form of skip audits and accurate and up to date recording of materials
brought on to the site and used as part of the work. This would be required through the
CEMP and provide mitigation measures to divert from landfill.

Page 146

Once the development is occupied and operating, there would be waste and recycling
produced with each of the proposed uses. Waste reduction measures would be taken
by the design team and these will provide a waste management strategy for the
Development which includes storage collection areas within the Site boundary and
sufficient turning for refuse vehicles to enter and leave in a forward gear. It is
anticipated that there would be six refuse collections per week. The Council’s
Environmental Management has reviewed the submission and has advised that
provision for refuse storage for all aspect of the scheme are in accordance with
Lambeth Council’s Waste and Recycling Storage Guidance.
6.6

Amenity
LLP Policy Q2 seeks to protect the amenity of existing neighbours and the visual
amenity of the community as a whole. This is measured in terms of potential impacts
in relation to outlook and privacy, daylight and sunlight, solar glare, noise and air quality
and impacts during construction. Issues relating noise, air quality and construction
impacts have been considered above.
Sense of enclosure, outlook and privacy
As identified above, the closest residential properties that are potentially affected by
the Development are located on the opposite side of Upper Ground and along Coin
Street. Officers are however satisfied that the separation distances between these
properties and the Development, over 23m from the residential tower and over 45m
from the office building, ensures that the occupiers would not experience an
unacceptable impact upon their living conditions in terms of a loss of privacy or
outlook/ensure of enclosure.
IBM have raised concerns in respect of the development having harmful impact on the
privacy to their workforce on the east side of the building. It should however be noted
that the privacy of commercial operators is not a material planning consideration.
Daylight, sunlight and overshadowing
The ES chapter has been undertaken by Point 2 surveyors. Arup are satisfied with the
methodology used to assess the potential likely impacts of the Development in terms
of daylight and sunlight to the residential properties surrounding the site,
overshadowing to gardens, amenity spaces and open space around and within the site,
light pollution effects and solar glare as this is in accordance with the BRE Guidelines.
In terms of residential properties surrounding the Site, the following were tested: 73-93
Upper Ground, 1, 2 & 3 Coin Street, 95 A-H Upper Ground and 97 A-D Upper Ground
and 62 Cornwall Road. In total there are 155 windows serving 130 residential rooms
within these properties. The daylighting results shows there would be no losses greater
than 20% in terms of the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and Daylight Distribution tests,
and in some cases properties will experience a minor improvement on the existing
situation. With regard to sunlight amenity, 33 windows serving 17 residential rooms
required testing, by having windows falling within 90 degrees of due south. Again, the
figures for total Average Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) and winter APSH tests would
all meet the BRE Guidelines, by having a negligible impact on sunlight to all properties
tested. Officers are therefore satisfied that the development would have a negligible to
minor beneficial impact on daylight and sunlight to neighbouring dwellings.
The impact of the Development on the adjoining sites to the west (IBM) and east (retail
units and restaurants within Princes Wharf) were not tested for daylight/sunlight
impacts, as these are commercial buildings. The BRE Guidelines only require
residential units to be assessed.

Page 147

Turning to sunlight to amenity spaces, Point 2 undertook an assessment on Queens
Walk and Gabriel’s Wharf as these are considered the amenity spaces most likely to
be affected by the Development. The results demonstrate that both would retain good
levels of sunlight throughout the year, with over 50% of the spaces (75.2% for Queens
Walk and 94.8% for Gabriel’s Wharf) receiving more than 2 hours of sunlight on 21
March, in accordance with the BRE Guidelines.
With regard to transient overshadowing, Point 2 have prepared diagrams showing the
impact of the Development on the surrounding area on the March 21st, December 21st
and June 21st. These show that on December 21 (winter), the Development would
result in almost no additional overshadowing to the existing situation on Queens Walk,
Gabriel’s Wharf or Bernie Spain Gardens. On March 21 (spring), the diagrams
demonstrate that the shadows cast would be longer and cover some additional areas
throughout the day at Gabriel’s Wharf (8am - 6pm), Queens Walk (8am - 3pm) and
Bernie Spain Gardens (3pm - 5pm). This impact is however considered of negligible
significance given that the sun on ground to these amenity areas would still meet the
BRE Guide. Lastly, on June 21st (summer), the diagrams show that there would be
additional overshadowing to commercial and cultural buildings (IBM and National
Theatre) to the west of the Site (7am - 11am), some marginal additional overshadowing
of the Queens Walk (11am - 2pm) and Bernie Spain Gardens (5pm - 9pm). Again,
officers are satisfied that that negligible significance given the overall high level of sun
on ground which these areas would receive.
Solar glare
The BRE guidelines outline a brief methodology for evaluation of the scale of a solar
glare issue: “If it is likely that a building may cause solar dazzle the exact scale of the
problem should be evaluated...by identifying key locations such as road junctions and
windows of nearby buildings, and working out the number of hours of the year that
sunlight can be reflected to these points.”
There are no quantitative criteria within the BRE Guidelines regarding acceptable
levels of solar glare. There is, however, research which suggests that the significance
of a glare occurrence is largely dependent upon its angle from the line of sight and the
relevance of this with respect to the human field of vision. Between 10° and 30°
corresponds to Near Periphery field of view and therefore where glare occurs between
these angles, the impact would be considered minor or moderate depending upon the
location and use of the adjacent sensitive receptor and the period of time the glare
occurs. An angle of greater than 30° corresponds to the Far Periphery field of view
and, therefore, the risk of reflective solar glare causing a hazard is reduced. As such,
the impact would be considered to be of negligible significance.
The applicant has undertaken solar glare assessments for the entire year around the
Development in order to establish the locations, times, duration and direction of solar
reflections and identify where these may affect sensitive locations, with a particular
focus on road users and pedestrians. The assessment results show that the majority
of instances are visible beyond 30 degrees of the line of sight and only occur for limited
times. The majority of instances of solar glare, which are visible within 30 degrees of
the line of sight, occur for only a very short period of time (typically 5mins). Those
viewpoints that are likely to experience more notable instances of solar glare are as
follows: driving East along upper ground, driving North along Coin Street and the
junction with Upper Ground. All effects are considered to be of no greater than minor
adverse in significance. It has been assessed that instances of solar glare only appear
for a short period of time and the intensity of those instances is unlikely to be significant.
Officers are therefore satisfied that mitigation measures are not considered necessary.

Page 148

Light Pollution
The ES provides an assessment on the likely light pollution effects of the development
on the occupiers of surrounding residential properties. As the Site is flanked by
commercial uses (IBM and shop units within Princes Wharf) on the east and west
boundaries and the River Thames to the North, the residential properties which have
been identified for consideration are 73-97d Upper Ground (situated on the opposite
side of the road).
The assessment was undertaken on the assumption that all of the office and reception
area lights are on, post curfew (11pm to 6am), with clear glass glazing, and this
identifies that an amount of light would spill onto the neighbouring elevations on the
opposite side of Upper Ground. The results of the initial assessment show light levels
above those recommended by the Institute of Lighting Engineers (ILE) are likely to
occur to the neighbouring buildings which would be considered an adverse effect. As
blinds on curved glass sections of the building would not be closed, an assessment
was undertaken by the applicants assuming the blinds to the straight sections of
window wall would be closed. The results show that light pollution levels would be
within the ILE guidance post curfew.
Officers consider that the instances of light pollution that may occur post curfew should
be mitigated through a site management plan (secured through a planning condition),
including planning restrictions on the use of the outdoor space (events with a curfew of
11pm) and the use of electricity saving items within the buildings such as Passive
Infrared (PIR) sensors. In addition, the glazing, due to its southerly aspect is to be tinted
which will stop some of the light being emitted through the façade. Given these
mitigation measures, it can therefore be concluded that the potential for light pollution
to occur from the office spaces onto the nearby residential flats/houses, with effective
building management, is considered negligible.
6.7

Transport, highways and accessibility
The Site has a PTAL score of 6b, which is considered ‘excellent’. As identified above,
Waterloo Station is located approx. 520m from the Site. The closest bus stops are
located on Stamford Street (approx. 200m to the south) and Upper Ground (approx.
280m to the west). In terms of vehicle parking, there are currently 105 spaces on Site.
The surrounding have number of on-street parking bays - the area is within a Controlled
Parking Zone (CPZ).
Trip Generation and Modal Split
The trip generation analysis for Development was updated via an addendum following
a review by the Council’s Transport Officer and TfL of the Transport Assessment which
was submitted with the application. The multi-modal trips has been based on a
comparison between the existing ITV use (based on a footfall survey) and proposed
use (based on a TRICS assessment of the full floor area). This assesses the effects
should the proposed building be occupied by a generic office user, i.e. it is not
reoccupied by ITV. Provided below is a table summarising the anticipated change in
multi-modal trip generation resulting from the Development.

Page 149

Given the excellent access to the Site by public transport, it is anticipated that the
majority of trips will be undertaken by Underground, train or bus, or by cycling or
walking. As such, and as noted above, the Development would result in an increased
use of the public transport network; however, it is considered by TfL that this increased
demand can be accommodated by the existing public transport network. Furthermore,
the studies prepared by the applicants confirm that there would be a 7% increase in
additional trip generation because of the Development and committed schemes within
the area, which again was not raised as a concern by TfL.
Walking and Cycling
A Pedestrian and Cycling audit utilising the Pedestrian and Cycling Environment
Review Systems (PERS / CERS) has been undertaken by the applicants between
Waterloo and Blackfriars bridges. This reflects the pre-application advice that Upper
Ground requires significant improvements in both the surface quality and aesthetically.
centred on carriageway and footway conditions, traffic calming, delivering a clear and
continuous footway and improving legibility for cyclists.
Whilst the application would deliver improvements at the site frontage, wider corridor
improvements are required in collaboration with the Council, South Bank Employers
Group (SBEG) and TfL. The principle is that developments on the ‘South Bank Spine
Route’ should help deliver a significant upgrade to the public realm of the area, both to
site frontages and to the public highway in order to deliver a world class setting and
one that encourages and enables walking and cycling. Scoping work has been carried
out previously to identify potential improvements and treatments along this corridor.
The applicants have agreed to fund highway improvement works for the ‘South Bank
Spine Route’ to the northern side of Upper Ground as they extend west from the
boundary of the site to the edge of the National Theatre. The applications have also
agree to be a financial contribution towards Legible London signs which would provide
way finding to the Queen’s Walk.
Vehicle, cycle and coach parking
The Development proposes 20 car parking spaces at Basement Level 1 for the office
and television studio uses. This represents an 81% reduction based on the existing on
site provision for this particular use. Of these spaces, eight would be accessible spaces
(equating to a ratio of circa one space per 6,000sqm GEA). ITV have confirmed that
they will monitor use of the disabled parking, along with any requests from employees
for a disabled parking space. ITV are to convert further standard office spaces to
disabled provision should future demand dictate this is necessary. 20% of spaces (four
spaces) would be provided with ‘active’ Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP), while
a further 10% (two spaces) would be designed as ‘passive’ EVCP spaces. A minimum
of five motorcycle spaces are proposed. The provision of 12 standard car spaces are
required by ITV for operational requirements (including maintenance workers).
Turning to car parking provisions for the residential tower, 34 spaces are proposed (13
standard spaces and 21 accessible spaces) at Basement Level 2. Whilst the provision
of 21 accessible spaces is considered acceptable, the transport officer has raised
concerns over the inclusion of 13 standard spaces in an area with an ‘excellent’ PTAL
rating. The scheme however proposes 28 family sized units and this would offer half of
these units with a parking space, and on balance the level of provision is acceptable in
this regard. Furthermore, future residents of the development would not be able to
obtain parking permits in the local CPZ, this is to prevent in additional parking stress
on surrounding roads.

Page 150

The scheme proposes a London Plan policy compliant 330 cycle parking for the future
occupiers of the residential tower and six short stay spaces for the retail unit. In terms
of the office and television studio elements the applicant amended the basement
layouts to ensure that the scheme can accommodate a London Plan policy compliant
provision of 533 cycle spaces. The provision would include 54 Sheffield stands (10%),
474 two tier stands (89%) and 5 accessible bike stands (1%), with a significant
provision for shower and changing facilities. The council’s transport officer is satisfied
with the level of provision subject to further details being secured through a condition.
At present, organised audience groups travel by private hire coach services to attend
television show productions at ITV. Coaches are able to use the free coach parking
facilities located on the Upper Ground Slip Road that permits parking for a maximum
of 15 minutes between 08:30-23:59 each day. The Development would result in a
reduction in the size of audience capacity of productions and thereby a significantly
reduced number of coach journeys to the Site are anticipated. ITV have the opportunity
to use coach parking along Upper Ground associated with the National Theatre subject
to pre-booking. A separate Visitor Management Plan for the television studios is
required (including detail of coach management measures incorporating directions for
visitors and parking measures) and should be secured by condition.
Office and Residential drop-offs
In terms of the existing situation, the Site has a drop-off along Upper Ground for the
offices / television, which is not regarded to be fit for purpose as the legibility for
pedestrians using the footway is poor. The proposed offices / television drop-off in front
of the new public square would improve this situation by providing a blended
‘Copenhagen’ 3.5m wide crossing, which through the use of materials would ensure
that vehicles to give priority to pedestrians (example below in Figure 23). The vehicle
drop off would cater for four vehicles and purely be used by ITV employees, contractors
and visitors, not servicing and deliveries.

Figure 23: Example of a Copenhagen crossing within the borough

A single vehicle drop-off, with an additional secure facility for infrequent visits by ‘Very
Very Important Visitors (VVIP)’ such the Prime Minister, has been designed in to the
western side of the building. As VVIP drop-off is located within the Site and an
operational requirement of ITV, officers have no objection to its provision. The scheme
also proposes a residential drop-off in front proposed residential tower, which was
reduced in size so that it can accommodate one vehicle. This level of provision is
considered to be appropriate to ensure that the tower can accommodate mated for taxi
and other vehicle movements.

Page 151

Delivery and servicing arrangements
The anticipated number of servicing trips is calculated to be 162 trips per day for the
offices and the television studios. Servicing trip rates have been produced using TRICS
output for B1 use and the ITV’s surveys of the existing and anticipated situation and
which is considered appropriate. Servicing for the ITV office and studios aspect of the
site will be undertaken from the on-site servicing yard to be provided. The servicing
yard has been designed to be accessible in forward gear and to allow the site to be
egressed in forward gear, with a turning area provided adjacent to the servicing yard.
Officers are satisfied with the swept path analysis and supporting information which
has been provided to ensure that the scheme would not have a detrimental impact
upon highway safety and the transport network, subject to securing a Delivery and
Servicing Management Plan through a planning condition.

Figure 24: Plan showing the Proposed Servicing and delivery arrangement

Page 152

The residential building will have its own dedicated concierge located in the reception
of the building to receive the anticipated 19 deliveries per day. The concierge will take
receipt of all deliveries and liaise with residents regarding food/grocery deliveries and
bulky items/removals. Following the submission of revised plans all deliveries
associated with the residential element are proposed to take place an on-site from a
designated loading bay alongside the tower, an arrangement that is supported by the
transport officer.
Travel plans
The applicants have submitted a framework Travel Plan which has been reviewed by
the council’s transport team and considered to ensure that occupants/users of the
Development benefit from sustainable travel options and reduce car trips, in line with
Policy T1. It has been recommended that conditions are imposed requiring submission
of a separate Travel Plan for the office and residential elements development. A Travel
Plan monitoring fee for both the two travel plans is also to be secured through the S106
Agreement.
6.8

Renewable Energy and Sustainability
The proposed Development has been accompanied by an Energy Statement and a
Sustainability Statement. The submission of these are in accordance with LLP and
London Plan policies and have been reviewed by the Council’s sustainability advisors,
Bioregional.
The office and television studio building has been designed to achieve BREEAM
‘Excellent’ rating. Bioregional confirm that the pre-assessments adequately
demonstrate that these aspects of the Development would meet with the BREEAM
ratings, however through scoring 70.1% there is only a 0.1% margin for error. Officers
therefore recommended that further exploration into achieving additional credits be
assessed by the applicant with further details provided through a planning condition.
Different emission reduction expectations are set out for residential and non-domestic
dwellings. There should be an improvement on 2010 Building Regulations leading to
zero carbon residential buildings from 2016 Development should demonstrate a 35 per
cent improvement on Part L of the 2013 Building Regulations.
The applicant has indicated that the cumulative carbon savings from the residential
part of the development will be 36.2%. This is compliant with policy, which requires that
a 35% reduction in carbon emissions be met against Part L 2013 for all major
residential developments. The applicant has indicated the remaining carbon emissions
to be offset from the residential development after the energy hierarchy has been used
is 149.2 tones CO2. Over the 30 years this is estimated to be 4,477.3 tonnes CO2.
Using £60 a tonne annually, this would result in an offset payment of approximately
£269,000, secured through a clause in the S106. The applicant has indicated that the
cumulative carbon savings from the non-residential part of the development will be
35.3%. This is compliant with policy, which requires that a 35% reduction in carbon
emissions is met against Part L 2013 for all major non-residential developments.
The applicant has incorporated appropriate climate change adaptation measures,
which includes consideration of the cooling hierarchy, overheating potential and flood
risk mitigation. The compliant overheating analysis indicates that all spaces pass the
required criteria under the three differing climate scenarios (moderately warm summer,
intense extreme year and a long, less intense warm year). Additionally, it shows that
the natural ventilation system should be capable of mitigating overheating risks without
the need for comfort cooling.

Page 153

The applicants have confirmed in their supporting material that the water usage for the
residential units would be 99.64 litres per person per day. This is welcomed and is
below the London Plan target of 105 litres/p/d, a condition should be imposed to ensure
that this would be met.
As required by the London Plan, all major development proposals are required to
demonstrate how the targets for carbon dioxide emissions reduction would be met
within the framework of the energy hierarchy (‘Be Lean’, ‘Be Clean’ and ‘Be Green’) this is considered further below.
‘Be Lean’ – The Development would be insulated ensuring that heat losses are kept to
a minimum with enhanced U-values in the building envelope exceeding Building
Regulations standards. This would reduce any potential heat losses via conduction.
Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery will reduce the heating load associated with
incoming fresh air and improve the internal air quality. The properties would also have
openable windows in order to mitigate overheating risks. Individual MVHR units are
proposed for the residential development and centralised AHUs are proposed for the
non-domestic elements. Energy efficient lighting would be specified throughout, with
zonal controls and daylight dimming used in applicable non-domestic areas to further
reduce electrical consumption. Metering would be used in all elements to inform
building users of their energy consumption. As stated above, cooling will be provided
to a portion of residential units and throughout the non-domestic building. The
combination of passive design features and energy efficient systems across domestic
and non-domestic development results could result in a site wide reduction in CO2
emissions of 30% over the area weighted Target Emission Rate.
‘Be Clean’ – The feasibility of connecting to an existing or proposed district heating
network has been investigated for the site in accordance with Policy 5.6 of the London
Plan. The London Heat Map indicates that there are no existing district networks within
the vicinity of the site. In this case, the proposals set aside space in a basement plant
room for a future plate heat exchanger, in the event that a future district heating plan
is created. The feasibility of utilising a CHP unit to deliver a portion of the development’s
heat demand and electricity was analysed by the applicants. The energy centre will
contain a combined heat and power unit, meeting the base heat load of the
development, which could reduce CO2 emissions by a further 4.8% across the site.
Officers are satisfied with these proposals.
‘Be Green’ – In accordance with Policy 5.7 of the London Plan, the applicant
investigated into providing a proportion of the site’s energy requirements through
renewables. Wind turbines are not considered viable given the built up nature of the
area and. In terms of the solar thermal collectors, these are incompatible with the
development’s district heating network and CHP unit. Biomass boilers also were ruled
out as being unviable due to local air quality concerns and competing for the base heat
load with the preferred solution, the CHP unit. PV panels would therefore be
incorporated into the roof of the residential tower. The analysis indicates that
approximately 110 sq.m of PV panels with a modular efficiency of at least 17.2% could
provide a further 0.8% reduction in domestic CO2 emissions. Details of the PV panels
would be secured through a planning condition.
In summary, officers and Bioregional are satisfied that the Development would meet
with the LLP and London Plan policy expectations in achieving high ratings of BREEAM
together with an acceptable reduction in carbon emissions.

Page 154

6.9

Crime and Terrorism
Tall buildings within the CAZ and public facing organisations like ITV represent a
potential target for terrorism. As required by LLP Policy Q3, the proposals have been
worked up through a series of pre-application discussions with applicants and the
Council’s Design Out Crime Officer and the Counter Terrorism advisors. The scheme
offers a significant amount of natural surveillance through open glazed facades of the
offices and the retail unit. There would be 24hr security for the ITV Headquarters and
the residential building, in the form of access control systems, reception desks and
concierges. CCTV is proposed around the whole site and within the internal communal
areas of buildings. As highlighted above, the public square and landscaping would be
design to incorporate well-designed HVM measures, in line with the Centre for the
Protection of National Infrastructure guidelines. The loading bays, car park access and
back of house areas are physically separate from the pedestrian entrance routes and
would be managed and supervised by ITV security staff. With regard to the television
studios, the public access through this area will be managed through the ITV
operational staff and include visitor and bag screening before admittance to the
audience handling area and the studios.
Officers are therefore satisfied that a number of mitigation measures can be secured
through a condition, including requiring the Development to obtain Secured by Design
certification. The applicants have also confirmed that the proposals for security would
be integrated with the established set of security principles of the South Bank
Employers’ Group, which is welcomed.

6.10 Planning Obligations and CIL
The Local Plan (Policy D4 and Annex 10) sets out the Council’s policy in relation to
seeking planning obligations and the charging approaches for various types of
obligation. For contributions that are not covered by Annex 10, the Council’s approach
to calculating contributions is guided by its July 2013 revised draft S106 Planning
Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) produced for consultation.
The following planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the development and are fairly and
reasonably related in kind and in scale to the development. They are therefore
compliant with the requirements of Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010.







Occupancy / Affordable Housing
Securing the on-site provision of 22 ‘intermediate’ affordable housing units and a
Payment in Lieu of £3.7million towards the off-set provision for affordable housing
Viability
Requirement for viability to be reassessed should ITV not occupy the Development.
Standard viability review clause:
- If construction works (excluding demolition) has not commenced within 24 months
of the date of the permission; and
- At the sale of no more than 75% of the market units.
Any financial contribution arising (in-lieu of providing additional affordable housing onsite) from a review of viability would be capped to the policy requirement to provide
40% affordable housing, with the surplus split between the developer (20%) and the
Council (80%).
Access to communal space

Page 155













Ensure that all residents of the residential building have access to the communal
areas that have been identified on the submitted plans and drawings.
Transport, highways and public realm
Travel Plan monitoring - £3,000 per Travel Plan – Total: £6,000.
Legible London contribution - £18,050.
S278 Agreement for public realm and highway works to Upper Ground. This is
agreed.
ITV proposes to secure enhancements to the stretch of Upper Ground immediately to
the south of the site. These works to be documented through the S278 process.
S278 works of circa £133,000.
ITV fund works to the northern side of Upper Ground as they extend west from its site
boundary to the edge of the National Theatre of circa £67,000.
Free Car Club membership for period of 3 years.
Car-free - No residential or commercial parking permits.
Public access in perpetuity to the footpath to the south of the site.
Employment, training and enterprise











Local labour in construction contribution of £750,000 or the provision of construction
employment training scheme initiatives of equivalent value (the detail to be discussed
with the Council’s Head of Economic Inclusion)
Employment and skills Services of £800,000 of targeted activity delivered by ITV
Works to be carried out in keeping with the Considerate Contractor Scheme;
ITV to commit to working with / as part of the construction / development forum,
Waterloo Maintenance Group.
Environment and Sustainability
Carbon contribution of circa £269,000;
Energy Strategy confirming the various statements/approaches included in the
relevant application documents that have already been submitted in this respect;
Safeguarding the connection to the future heat network;
Play space contribution circa £43,538.
The Lambeth CIL contribution is estimated, based on information supplied with the
planning application, to be circa £7.18 million. Expenditure of the majority of a future
CIL receipt will be applied towards Borough infrastructure needs as contained in the
published CIL Regulation 123 List, which defines what CIL may be spent on. 25% of
the CIL receipt, would be applied towards local neighbourhood spend, in the Stockwell
Cooperative Local Investment Plan (CLIP) area in which the Development is located.
Local neighbourhood funding from CIL may be applied to infrastructure needs in line
with the CIL Regulation 123 List, or to anything else that is concerned with addressing
the demands that the Development places on an area.
Allocation of CIL monies to particular infrastructure projects is not a matter for
consideration in the determination of planning applications. Separate governance
arrangements are being put in place for Borough Infrastructure needs, and locally
through the Cooperative Local Investment Plan initiative.
The London Mayoral CIL would also be applicable. The London Mayoral CIL would be
applied towards the cost of Crossrail II.

Page 156

6.11

Procedural Matters
The application is referable to the Mayor under the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008. The application has already been referred to
the Mayor at ‘Stage 1’ and a summary of the Mayor’s comments are included above.
Before Lambeth can issue a decision on this application it will need to refer the
application again to the Mayor at ‘Stage 2’; where after the Mayor will have the
opportunity to elect to become determining authority, direct refusal, or allow Lambeth
to proceed and issue the decision in line with its resolution.

6.12

Conclusion
The proposals generally comply with the Lambeth Local Plan site allocation (Site 9:
ITV Centre and Gabriel’s Wharf, Upper Ground SE1) and with the wider land use
strategies of the London Plan through delivering mixed-use development including B1
offices, new television studios, 213 residential units and retail, together with active
frontages at ground-floor level. Whilst there would be a reduction in floorspace to be
used as television studios (representing a business decision by ITV) there would be an
overall increase in B1 office floorspace and job creation through construction, operation
of the Development and employment and skills initiatives.
Officers are strongly supportive of ITV’s intention to return to the Cultural Quarter on
the South Bank in a new headquarters building which provides both offices and
television studios. ITV is considered to represent an important bridge between the other
existing cultural uses within the area, such as the National Theatre and the Royal
Festival Hall. The return of ITV to this location following the redevelopment of the Site
with the enhanced facilities proposed would therefore increase the synergies that occur
through being co-located in the Cultural Quarter, delivering significant economic and
cultural benefits not just for this part of London, but for the city as a whole.
The Development would not provide a policy compliant level of affordable housing, and
therefore the viability of the scheme has been assessed and independently verified by
both the Council’s viability advisors and the GLA. ITV’’s offer of 22 intermediate units,
together with a £3.7 million Payment in Lieu towards the off-site provision of affordable
housing, is considered to be the maximum feasible amount that can be provided by the
Development. Given the level of affordable housing being offered, Officers have
therefore balanced the Development’s viability and public benefits flowing from ITV
returning to occupy the Site. In order to support the scheme officers therefore
considered it appropriate to recommend a clause in the Section 106 Agreement
requiring a full assessment of the scheme’s viability should ITV decide not to occupy
the Site. Furthermore, officers recommend a review mechanism through the Section
106 Agreement to ensure that where a surplus occurs (up to a policy compliant level),
this would be payable to the Council in-lieu of an additional provision of on-site
affordable housing.
Officers are supportive of the approach to site layout and the significant improvement
which this offers in the creation of a new public square along Upper Ground. To the
north of the new square, a pedestrian access route into the building is proposed. The
site allocation indicates that redevelopment proposals for the Site should seek to
deliver a pedestrian route through to the Queen’s Walk. Officers are satisfied that whilst
the scheme does not deliver the route, a change in local circumstances with the Garden
Bridge project not going ahead will result in significantly less pedestrian footfall within
the area than previously anticipated. Furthermore, through relocating the studio
audience queuing area to the other side of the Site this would offer an improvement to
the existing pedestrian route along the boundary with IBM. The application however
provides for a new route to Queens Walk, which could be fully realised at a future stage
upon the agreement of the adjoining landowners.

Page 157

Figure 25: Route along the side of the building and ‘Wall of Fame’

The overall approach to the scale, layout and detailed design of the of ITV
Headquarters building and residential tower is acceptable by ensuring that the highest
part of any development is situated closest to Upper Ground, stepping down towards
the river and the existing building line to Queen’s Walk. In terms of views, Historic
England consider that the canyon like development from new buildings would impact
upon 'LVMF View 8A.1 Westminster Pier to St Pauls'. Officers consider that viewers
would still be able to see clearly the silhouette of St Paul’s against clear sky, consistent
with the existing view. Officers accept that there would be a slightly adverse impact to
the view due to the loss of sky in the view, however this considered to be outweighed
by the scheme’s public benefits. There are a number of heritage assets surrounding
the Site. Officers agree with Historic England that the Development would result in less
than substantial harm to heritage assets surrounding the Site, which officers consider
would be outweighed by the scheme’s public benefits.
The approach that has been taken towards the proposed highway layout and delivery
and servicing measures is supported. The scheme also offers improvements to the
road frontage along Upper Ground through the removal of two vehicle cross over points
and upgrades to the public highway, secured through Section 106 contributions. There
would also be a significant reduction in vehicle parking spaces across the Site and the
proposals for cycle parking meet London Plan standards.
In terms of amenity, the Development would ensure that levels of privacy and outlook
of adjoining residential uses are maintained and they would not experience an
unacceptable loss of daylight or sunlight. Furthermore, the construction impact of the
Development has been given careful consideration by officers and conditions are
recommended to ensure that any noise and disturbance can be mitigated.
The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) provides the information specified by the
EIA Regulations and its content was informed by the Local Planning Authority. The ES
has been independently reviewed by Arup. The quality review confirmed that the ES
provides the information required by the EIA Regulations. Clarifications have been
provided in response to the review. The findings of the ES have been considered and
assessed. The proposal raises no environmental, amenity, or transport issues that are
not mitigated by the imposition of conditions to the consent or a Section 106 legal
obligation.

Page 158

The package of Section 106 contributions and clauses for the delivery of the scheme
have been negotiated having full regard to the nature of the Development, to the normal
expectations conferred upon developers by the various planning policy documents,
and to the statutory tests for Section 106 obligations set out in the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010. The applicant has put forward a
comprehensive package of employment and training obligations which is supported.
The Development also would be liable for both the Lambeth and Mayoral CIL.
Officers consider that the Development would be in general compliance with the
development plan for the Borough and that there are no material considerations of
sufficient weight that would dictate that the application should otherwise be refused.
Officers are therefore recommending approval of the scheme, subject to conditions
(including securing Section 106 obligations) in accordance with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development conferred upon Local Planning Authorities by the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), further to Stage 2 referral to the GLA.
7

RECOMMENDATIONS
Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to any direction that may be
received following referral to the Mayor of London and subject to the provision pursuant
to an undertaking under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 of
the planning obligations listed in this report.
Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Development to:
 Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such
amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and Development
(in consultation with the Planning Committee Chair) considers reasonably necessary;
and
 Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, including adding
to, amending and/or deleting the obligations detailed in the heads of terms as the
Director of Planning and Development (in consultation with the Planning Committee
Chair) considers reasonably necessary.
In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers, having regard to the heads
of terms set out in the report, to negotiate and complete a document containing
obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in
order to meet the requirements of the Planning Inspector.

8

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

Standard Conditions
1.

Commencement Date

The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than three years
from the date of this decision notice.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1) (a) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.)

Page 159

2.

Approved plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
and documents listed in this notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the
requirements of the conditions of this planning permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Land Uses
3.

Television Studios 1

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987
or the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any
orders revoking and re-enacting those orders with or without modification), the television
studios (including audience handling, production and support areas) shown on the approved
drawings [insert drawing numbers] shall only be used for this purpose only and for no other
purposes whatsoever.
Reason: To ensure that the scheme delivers the appropriate level cultural and public benefits
within the South Bank Cultural Quarter (Policy PN1 of the Lambeth Local Plan and Policy 4.6
of the London Plan MALP 2016).
4.

Television Studios 2

The television studios (including audience handling, production and support areas) shown on
the approved drawings [A_ITV_2302 Rev F, A_ITV_2303 Rev J and A_ITV_2304 Rev H] shall
be provided and operational with 12 months of first occupation of the ITV Headquarters
building hereby approved and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the scheme delivers the appropriate level cultural and public benefits
within the South Bank Cultural Quarter (Policy PN1 of the Lambeth Local Plan and Policy 4.6
of the London Plan MALP 2016).
5.

Construction Management

The development hereby approved shall not commence until a Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include details of the following relevant
measures:
i. An introduction consisting of construction phase environmental management plan definitions
and abbreviations and project description and location;
ii. A description of management responsibilities;
iii. A description of the construction programme which identifies activities likely to cause high
levels of noise or dust;
iv. Site working hours and a named person for residents to contact;
v. Detailed Site logistics arrangements;
vi. Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;
vii. Details regarding dust and noise mitigation measures to be deployed including identification
of sensitive receptors and ongoing monitoring;
Viii A suitably qualified person shall develop separate scheme of noise monitoring and
management;
ix. Details of the hours of works and other measures to mitigate the impact of construction on
the amenity of the area and safety of the highway network; and

Page 160

xi. Communication procedures with the LBL and local community regarding key construction
issues – newsletters, fliers etc.
The construction shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures
approved in the CEMP , unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received
for any variation.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition has been discharged to avoid
hazard and obstruction being caused to users of the public highway and to safeguard
residential amenity during the whole of the construction period. (Policies T6 and Q2 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
6.

Construction machinery

No non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) shall be used on the site during construction unless
it is compliant with the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements (or any superseding
requirements) and until it has been registered for use on the site on the NRMM register (or
any superseding register).
Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development (Policy 7.14
of the London Plan MALP 2016 and the Mayor’s SPG: The Control of Dust and Emissions
During Construction and Demolition)
7.

Piling Method Statement

No impact piling or other penetrative foundation work shall take place until a Piling Method
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Piling Method Statement shall include details of:
a) The depth and type of piling to be undertaken;
b) The methodology by which such piling will be carried out;
c) Measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface water
infrastructure;
d) Measures to ensure there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater as a result
of the work; and
e) The programme for the works.
Any piling or other penetrative works must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the
approved Piling Method Statement, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority
is received for any variation.

Reason: To ensure that any piling works would not unduly impact upon the local underground
sewerage utility infrastructure and in order to avoid adverse environmental impact upon the
community. (Policies EN5 and EN6 of Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
8.

Archaeology

a) No development other than demolition to existing ground level shall take place until a
programme of geoarchaeological borehole evaluation has been implemented in accordance
with a Written Scheme of Investigation (which has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing) and a report on that evaluation has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.

Page 161

b) No development other than demolition to existing ground level within the current building
footprint and basement level shall take place until a programme of archaeological trial trench
evaluation has been implemented in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (which
has been submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing) and a report on
that evaluation has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.
c) No development other than demolition to existing ground level within the current building
footprint and basement level shall take place until a programme of archaeological mitigation
has been implemented in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (which has been
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing) and a report on that
evaluation has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.
d) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post-investigation
assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written
Scheme of Investigation approved under Parts (a, b and c), and the provision for analysis,
publication and dissemination of the results and archive deposition has been secured.
Reason: Heritage assets of archaeological interest may survive on the site. The Local Planning
Authority wishes to secure the provision of appropriate archaeological investigation, including
the publication of results, in accordance with Section 12 of the NPPF.
9.

Surface water drainage

No development other than demolition shall be commenced until a detailed scheme for the
provision of surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, the submitted details shall:
i. Provide a final surface water drainage design to scale showing all SuDs features, and
demonstrating sufficient buffer distance between the below ground SuDS and the
basement / foundations;
ii. Provide written confirmation from Thames Water that the site has an agreed point of
discharge and discharge rate;
iii. Provide a time table for its implementation and,
iv. Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.
All provisions for surface water drainage must be undertaken in accordance with the details
herby approved, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any
variation.
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding (Policy EN6 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
10. Ground contamination
No demolition or development shall commence until the following components of a scheme to
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
i) A site investigation scheme, based on previous findings to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that are likely to be affected, including
those off-site;
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment resulting from i);
iii) An options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation
measures required and how they are to be undertaken;
iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in iii) are complete and identifying any requirements
for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for
contingency action.

Page 162

The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details and
measures approved.
Prior to occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a time table submitted
to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, verification report(s) demonstrating
completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of
the remediation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It
shall also include any plan for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the verification plan, and for the reporting
of this to the Local Planning Authority.
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the
site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and
obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, an amendment to the
remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination will be dealt with.
Reason: To safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from
irreversible risks associated with the contaminants which are present by ensuring that the
contaminated land is properly treated and made safe before development. Depending on the
outcome of any ground investigation and subsequent risk assessment, it may be necessary
for remediation to be carried out. If this is the case, it will be necessary to demonstrate that
any work has been carried out effectively and the environmental risks have been satisfactorily
managed (Policies 5.21 of the London Plan and EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Amenity
11. Noise and Vibration
Prior to the commencement of building works above ground of the relevant part of the
development, a scheme of noise and vibration attenuation shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved noise and vibration attenuation
measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the
use in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities
of future occupiers (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
12. Residential noise standards
The residential units shall be designed and constructed to meet the following noise standards:
a. for living rooms, 35dB LAeq 16 hour between 0700 and 2300 hours;
b. for bedrooms, 30dB LAeq 8 hour between 2300 and 0700 hours; and
c. to not normally exceed 45dB(A) max for any individual noise event (measured with F
time weighting) between 2300 and 0700 hrs.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities
of future occupiers (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 163

13. Residential noise standards – amenity space
Prior to the commencement of building works above ground of the relevant part of the
development, a scheme of measures to ensure that all residential units have access to amenity
space within the development where noise levels do not exceed 55dB LAEQ(16 hour) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include
details of post construction validation. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and a separate validation report shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 3 months prior to occupation of the
residential units.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities
of future occupiers (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
14. Plant
Prior to the commencement of building works above ground of the relevant part of the
development, full details (including elevational drawings) of any internal and external plant
equipment and trunking, including building services plant, ventilation and filtration equipment
and commercial kitchen exhaust ducting / ventilation, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
All flues, ducting and other equipment shall be installed in accordance with the approved
details prior to the use commencing on site and shall thereafter be maintained in accordance
with the manufacturer's instructions.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities
of future residential occupiers or of the area generally (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan
2015).
15. Plant noise assessment
The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not commence
until an assessment of the acoustic impact arising from the operation of all internally and
externally located plant has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The assessment of the acoustic impact shall be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142: 2014
(or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current best practice, and shall include a scheme
of attenuation measures to ensure the specific sound level of noise emitted from the proposed
building services plant is 10 dB less than background.
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and attenuation
measures.
The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not commence
until a post-installation noise assessment has been carried out to confirm compliance with the
noise criteria.
The approved attenuation measures shall be permanently retained and maintained in working
order for the duration of the use and their operation.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (policy Q2
of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 164

16. Site Management Plan
The use hereby permitted shall not commence until a customer/staff/patrons management
plan has been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This should
include but not be limited to: hours of operation, management responsibilities during all
operating hours, measures to control noise from live and amplified music (including the
screening of sporting events and public-address systems) and minimising the effects of
patrons coming and going from site and demonstrating how customers leaving the building will
be prevented from causing nuisance for people in the area. The approved customer / staff /
patrons’ management plan shall be implemented and complied with for the duration of the use.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2
of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Design Details
17. Sample Materials – ITV Headquarters building
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved no erection / construction
of the ITV Headquarters building facades on site shall take place until sample panels of all
external materials have been erected on site for inspection by a council officer and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance
with the samples thus approved.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not
detract from the character and visual amenity of the area along with the setting of the nearby
conservation areas (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
18. Sample Materials – Residential tower
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, no erection / construction
of the residential tower’s facades on site shall take place until sample panels of all external
materials have been erected on site for inspection by a council officer and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the
samples thus approved.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not
detract from the character and visual amenity of the area along with the setting of the nearby
conservation areas (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
19. Detailing – Residential tower
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, no above ground
development of the residential tower shall take place until drawings at 1:10 scale (including
sections) or at another scale agreed by the Local Planning Authority showing all external
construction detailing of that part of the development has been submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority in writing, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The drawings shall include details of:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

the façade of the building including details of ground and first floor.
main entrances including canopies
balconies and terrace including balustrades
boundary walls
roof and parapet including detailed design of plant

Page 165

f.
g.
h.
i.
j.

windows and doors including service entrances
signage strategy
lighting strategy for building
rainwater pipes in external elevations
window cleaning apparatus

The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details and
drawings thus approved.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not
detract from the character and visual amenity of the area along with setting of the nearby
conservation areas (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
20. Detailing – ITV Headquarters building
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, no above ground
construction of the ITV Headquarters building shall take place until drawings at 1:10 scale
(including sections) or at another scale agreed by the Local Planning Authority showing all
external construction detailing of that part of the development has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The drawings shall include details of:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.
k.

the façade of the building including details of ground and first floor.
main entrances including canopies
balconies and terrace including balustrades
boundary walls
roof and parapet including detailed design of plant
windows and doors including service entrances
signage strategy
lighting strategy for building
rainwater pipes in external elevations
photovoltaic panels
window cleaning apparatus

The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details and
drawings thus approved.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not
detract from the character and visual amenity of the area along with setting of the nearby
conservation areas (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
21. Plumbing
No plumbing or pipes, other than rainwater pipes, shall be fixed to the external faces of
buildings.
Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of design (Policies Q6, Q8 and PN3 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 166

22. Wheelchair units
At least ten per cent of the residential units hereby permitted shall be constructed to comply
with Part M4(3) of the Building Regulations. Any communal areas and accesses serving the
M4(3) compliant Wheelchair User Dwellings should also comply with Part M4(3).
Reason: To secure appropriate access for disabled people, older people and others with
mobility constraints (Policy 3.8 of the London Plan MALP 2016 and Policy Q1 of the Lambeth
Local Plan 2015).
23. ITV signage fronting Queen’s Walk
Notwithstanding drawings and documents hereby approved, drawings at 1:10 scale and
details (including means of illumination) of the proposed ITV Sign fronting Queen's Walk shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The ITV Sign shall
not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details and drawings thereby
approved.
Reason: To ensure that signage does not detract from the character and visual amenity of the
area along with setting of the nearby conservation areas (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
24. Wall of Fame details
Notwithstanding drawings and documents hereby approved, drawings at 1:10 scale and a
pallet of the proposed materials of the ‘Wall of Fame’ shown within the Design and Access
Statement by Hopkins, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The ‘Wall of Fame’ shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the
details and drawings thus approved.
Reason: To ensure that appearance of the ‘Wall of Fame’ is satisfactory and does not detract
from the character and visual amenity of the area (Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Site Maintenance and Management
25. Cycle Parking
Details of the provision to be made for cycle parking shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the development hereby
permitted. The cycle parking shall thereafter be implemented in full in accordance with the
approved details before the uses hereby permitted commences and shall thereafter be
retained solely for its designated use.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available on site and to promote sustainable
modes of transport (Policies T1, T3 and Q13 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
26. Delivery and Servicing Management Plan – Residential tower
Prior to the occupation of the residential units, a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
relating to deliveries to and servicing of those units shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter all deliveries and servicing to/from the
relevant part of the development shall only occur in accordance with the approved Delivery
and Service Management Plan, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is
received for any variation.

Page 167

Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction, and inconvenience to users of the highway (Policies
T6 and T8 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
27. Delivery and Servicing Management Plan – ITV Headquarters building
Prior to the use of the ITV Headquarters building commencing, a Delivery and Servicing
Management Plan relating to deliveries to and servicing of that building shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter all deliveries and servicing
to/from the relevant part of the development shall only occur in accordance with the approved
Delivery and Service Management Plan, unless the written consent of the Local Planning
Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction, and inconvenience to users of the highway (Policies
T6 and T8 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
28. Travel Plan – ITV Headquarters Building
Prior to the use of the ITV Headquarters building commencing, a Travel Plan relating to that
building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
measures approved in the Travel Plan to be implemented before occupation shall so be
implemented prior to the use commencing and shall be so maintained for the duration of the
use, unless the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority is obtained to any
variation.
Reason: To ensure that the travel arrangements to the site are appropriate and to limit the
effects of the increase in travel movements (Policy 6.3 of the London Plan MALP 2016 and
Policies T1 and T6 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
29. Travel Plan – Residential tower
Prior to the occupation of the residential units, a Travel Plan relating to those units shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The measures approved
in the Travel Plan to be implemented before occupation shall be implemented prior to the use
commencing and shall be so maintained for the duration of the use, unless the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority is obtained to any variation.
Reason: To ensure that the travel arrangements to the site are appropriate and to limit the
effects of the increase in travel movements (Policy 6.3 of the London Plan MALP 2016 and
Policies T1 and T6 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
30. Crime Prevention
Prior to the occupation of buildings, a Crime Prevention Strategy including a Security
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The submitted details will include the following:
a) A summary of known crime risks in the area;
b) Details of how the development has mitigated known crime risks in the area; and
c) Detail of how the development seeks to achieve 'Secured by Design Standards',
including details of a CCTV scheme, external security, street lighting and landscaping.
The use shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details, unless the
written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To ensure that the development maintains and enhances community safety. (Policy
Q3 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 168

31. Counter Terrorism Strategy
Notwithstanding the details of the application hereby approved, a detailed counter terrorism
strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior
to the occupation of buildings
The use shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details, unless the
written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To minimise the risk of the occupants of the development from terrorism (Policy Q3
of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015)
32. Refuse and Recycling Storage and Collection Area Design
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, prior to the
commencement of building works above ground for each building, drawings detailing the
design of the refuse and recycling stores shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in writing, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The drawings shall include details of:
a) The size and dimensions of the waste and recycling stores and collection areas;
b) The location of storage space for redundant bulky goods (such as furniture, cookers
and beds);
c) The wash down and drainage facilities;
d) The equipment specified for compacting and/or containing the waste;
e) Space allocated for Food Waste storage and collection;
f) Any signage or safety markings; and
g) The materials used including any materials to reduce noise from the storage areas.
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the details and
drawings thus approved.
Reason: The details are required before the commencement to construction to ensure that
adequate provision is made for the storage of refuse and the provision of recycling facilities on
the site and in the interests of the amenities of the area. (Policies T8, EN7 and Q12 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
33. Permitted Development Rights
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or
without modification), no aerials, antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications
equipment shall be erected on any part of the development hereby permitted, without planning
permission first being granted.
Reason: To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the
surrounding area can be considered. (Policies 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan MALP 2016 and
Policies T10, Q6 and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 169

34. Visitor Management Plan
Notwithstanding the details of the application hereby approved, a Visitor Management Plan
detailing how visitors to audience productions at the television studios and events within the
public square will be managed (including provisions for coach parties) shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the ITV
Headquarters building. The Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with
the approved details unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for
any variation.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities
of future occupiers (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
35. Waste Management
Prior to the occupation of each building hereby permitted, a Waste Management Strategy for
that building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The proposed uses hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the
approved Waste Management Strategy unless the written consent of the Local Planning
Authority is received for any variation. The Waste Management Strategy will align with the
guide for architects and developers on waste and recycling storage and collection
requirements as set out in Lambeth Council’s Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide
(2013), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to encourage the
sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual amenities of the area (Policies
Q2 and Q12 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Landscaping, Biodiversity and External Amenity
36. Tree Protection
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, the following details shall
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval:
(a) A Tree Protection Plan that accords with Section 7 of BS5837:2012 and relates to all
retained trees on the site;
(b) Details of all proposed Access Facilitation Pruning required to permit the development.
Thereafter, the approved works shall be carried out in accordance with BS3998:2010;
(c) An Arboricultural Method Statement in accordance with section 7 of the BS5837:2012
relating to (i) the removal of existing hard surface material and installation of new surfacing
within the root protection area of retained trees and (ii) the associated lowering or building up
of soil levels around the retained trees;
(d) Details of a scheme of Arboricultural Site Supervision and Tree Protection Monitoring. The
details shall include an on-site ‘Pre-commencement’ meeting to include the Lambeth Council’s
Arboricultural Officer as part of the site induction process.
The development shall thereafter be implemented in strict accordance with the approved
details listed above. The approved details of the Tree Protection Plan shall be put in place
before any machinery, demolition, materials storage or development commences on the site.
Reason: To ensure the retention of, and avoid damage to, the retained trees on the site which
represent an important visual amenity to the locality (Policies Q2, Q9 and Q10 of the London
Borough of Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 170

37. Landscaping Scheme
Prior to the commencement of landscaping works on site, a Soft and Hard Landscaping
Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All tree,
shrub and hedge planting included shall accord with BS3936:1992, BS4043:1989 and
BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding equivalent). [The submitted details shall
demonstrate the following:
a) The treatment of all parts of the site not covered by buildings including walls and boundary
features;
b) The quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all trees and
shrubs to be planted;
c) An indication of how all trees and shrubs will integrate with the proposal in the long term
with regard to their mature size and anticipated routine maintenance and protection;
d) Specification of which shrubs and hedges to be planted that are intended to achieve a
significant size and presence in the landscape; and
e) All hard landscaping including all ground surfaces, seating, refuse disposal points, cycle
parking facilities, bollards, vehicle crossovers/access points, any ramps or stairs plus
wheel chair access together with finished ground levels and site wide topographical levels.
The approved Landscaping Scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details within 6 months of the date of occupation of any building and maintained thereafter,
unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: In order to introduce high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in the
interests of the ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site
in the interests of visual amenity (Policy Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
38. Green Roof
Prior to the use of the ITV Headquarters building commencing full details of the green roof
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
details shall demonstrate the following:
a) Details on materials used in the design, construction and installation of the green or
brown roof based on the Green Roof Code and the use of biodiversity based
extensive/semi-intensive soils;
b) Details on substrate and plants used in the green or brown roof, based on a commercial
brick-based aggregate or equivalent with a varied substrate depth of 80 -150mm planted
with 50% locally native herbs/wildflowers in addition to a variety of sedum species;
c) Details on additional features to the proposed green or brown roof, such as areas of
bare shingle, areas of sand for burrowing invertebrates and individual logs or log piles.
d) An ecological management and maintenance plan including landscape features and a
cross section of the green or brown roof.
e) Details of how the roof is compliant with GRO Green Roof Code 2011.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details approved, shall be
maintained as such thereafter and no alterations to the approved scheme shall be permitted
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. Evidence that the green or
brown roof has been installed in accordance with the details above should be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability and provides
for ecology (Policy EN2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015)

Page 171

39. Lighting Strategy
Prior to the commencement of external lighting works on site, full details of a lighting strategy
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting
strategy shall include details of the lighting of all public areas and buildings. The approved
lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before the commencement
of the use and shall be retained and maintained thereafter, unless the written consent of the
Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To ensure that the lighting enhances community safety and does not unreasonably
affect residential amenity (Policies Q2, Q3 and Q7 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015)
Sustainability and Energy
40. BREEAM
Prior to the commencement of above ground works a design stage BREEAM certificate with a
summary score sheet should be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority demonstrating that the development will achieve a rating of ‘Excellent’.
Within 3 months of the Development being occupied BREEAM post construction certificate
with a summary score sheet should be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority demonstrating that the development has achieved a minimum rating of
‘Excellent’.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4
of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
41. SAP Calculations
Prior to occupation of the residential building, SAP calculations with summary sheets as an
output of the National Calculation Method (incorporating all Be Lean, Be Clean and Be Green
measures) for all 213 dwellings should be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, demonstrating that the dwellings were built in accordance with the Energy
and Sustainability Statement by Cundall and achieve a 35% reduction in carbon emissions
over that required by Part L of the Building Regulations 2013.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4
of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
42. SBEM Calculations – ITV Headquarters building
Prior to first occupation of the ITV Headquarters building, SBEM calculations with summary
score sheets should be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
demonstrating that the building has been built in accordance with the Energy and Sustainability
Statement by Cundall and that a maximum feasible reduction in carbon emissions has been
achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4
of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

Page 172

43. Internal residential water use
Prior to first occupation of the residential units evidence (schedule of fittings
and manufacturer's literature) should be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, to show that the development has been constructed in accordance with
the approved internal water use calculations so as not to exceed 105 L/person/day.
Reason: To reduce the consumption of potable water in the home from all sources, including
borehole well water, through the use of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling
systems (Policy 5.15 of the London Plan MALP 2016)
44. Wind Microclimate
Prior to the commencement of above ground works, mitigation of the impact of the
development hereby permitted on local wind microclimate shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall incorporate the recommended
mitigation measures set out in the Pedestrian Level Wind Microclimate Assessment reference
RWDI #1702419 PLW REV-A and dated 18 July 2017. The scheme shall ensure that all
external spaces achieve the relevant standards set out in the Lawson Comfort Criteria,
allowing for cumulative development and including mitigation of any identified off-site impacts.
The scheme of mitigation shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
mitigation measures, and they shall be fully installed prior to occupation and permanently
retained and maintained for the duration of the use and their operation.
Any variation to the layout or built form of the development shall be accompanied by a revised
Wind Microclimate Assessment which details any additional identified adverse wind
microclimate impacts. Any additional steps required to mitigate these impacts shall be detailed
and implemented, as necessary. The revised assessment shall be submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority and the details as approved shall thereafter be permanently
retained.
Reason: To protect the amenities of future residential occupiers and the surrounding area
(Policy Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
45. CHP
Prior to installation, the proposed Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant must meet the
emission standards set out in the GLA’s Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary
Planning Guidance 2014 (or its later versions). Full details of the proposed CHP plant must be
submitted to the Council for approval using Combined Heat and Power System information
request form.
Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development (policy EN4
of the Local Plan)
46. Flood Defences
Prior to the commencement of development (excluding demolition), details of how the
landscaping will be formed without threatening the integrity of the tidal River Thames flood
defences, including by containing tree roots in areas within close proximity to the flood
defences, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in
conjunction with the Environment Agency. The development shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details.

Page 173

Reason: To ensure that the tidal River Thames flood defences are not adversely impacted.
(Policy EN5 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015)

Page 174

Informatives
1)
This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required
under any enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.
2)
Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations, and related
legislation which must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council's Building Control
Officer.
3)
You are advised to consult the Council's Environmental Health Division concerning
compliance with any requirements under the Housing, Food, Safety and Public Health and
Environmental Protection Acts and any by-laws or regulations made there under.
4)
Your attention is drawn to the provisions of The Party Wall Act 1996 in relation to the
rights of adjoining owners regarding party walls etc. These rights are a matter for civil
enforcement and you may wish to consult a surveyor or architect.
5)
You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council's Streetcare team within the
Public Protection Division with regard to the provision of refuse storage and collection facilities.
6)
You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council’s Highways team prior to the
commencement of construction on 020 7926 9000 in order to obtain necessary approvals and
licences prior to undertaking any works within the Public Highway including Scaffolding,
Temporary/Permanent Crossovers, Oversailing/Undersailing of the Highway, Drainage/Sewer
Connections, Hoarding, Excavations (including adjacent to the highway such as basements,
etc), Temporary Full/Part Road Closures, Craneage Licences etc.
7)
You are advised that this permission does not authorise the display of illuminated
advertisements at the premises and separate consent may be required from the Local
Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)
Regulations 1992.
8)
As soon as building work starts on the development, you must contact the Street
Naming and Numbering Officer if you need to do the following:
- name a new street
- name a new or existing building
- apply new street numbers to a new or existing building
This will ensure that any changes are agreed with Lambeth Council before use, in accordance
with the London Buildings Acts (Amendment) Act 1939 and the Local Government Act 1985.
Although it is not essential, we also advise you to contact the Street Naming and Numbering
Officer before applying new names or numbers to internal flats or units. Contact details are
listed below. Street Naming and Numbering Officer
e-mail: streetnn@lambeth.gov.uk
tel: 020 7926 2283
fax: 020 7926 9104
9)
For information on the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements and to register
NRMM, please visit “http://nrmm.london/”. Background documents – Case file (this can be
accessed via the planning Advice Desk, Telephone 020 7 926 1180). For advice on how to
make further written submissions or to register to speak on this item, please contact
Democratic Services, 020 796 2170 or email.

Page 175

10)
Written schemes of investigation will need to be prepared and implemented by a
suitably qualified archaeological practice in accordance with English Heritage Greater London
Archaeology guidelines. They must be approved by the planning authority before any on-site
development related activity occurs.
11)
When construction timeframes are known the developer will need to pass related
details (precise location, maximum hgt and associated timescales) to the Defence Geographic
Centre (DGC) which maintains the UK's master database of tall structures (the Digital Vertical
Obstruction File). The DGC point of contact is 0208 818 2702/dvof@mod.uk.
12)
Temporary structures such as cranes can be notified through the means of a Notice to
Airmen (NOTAM). If above a hight of 300ft (91.4m) above ground level, the developer must
ensure that the crane operator contacts the CAA's Airspace Regulation (AR) section on
ARops@caa.co.uk or 02074536599.
For cranes below this high the developer must ensure that the crane operator contacts Low
Flying Operations at RAF Wittering CAS-ASLFOSOpsLF@mod.uk / 01780 146 208. However,
in this case that is not necessary as no military low-flying routinely takes place in this location.
If the crane is to be in place for in excess of 90 days it should be considered a permanent
structure and will need to be notified as such: to that end the developer should also contact
the DGC (see above). Additionally, any crane of a height of 60m or more will need to be
equipped with aviation warning lighting in line with CAA guidance concerning crane operations
which is again available at:
http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP%201096%20In%20Focus%20%20Crane%20Ops.pdf

Page 176

APPENDIX 1: Drawings and Documents
Location Drawings
A_ITV_2000 Rev F - Site Location Plan
A_ITV_2001 Rev B - Site Location Plan (A1)
A_ITV_2005 Rev D - Existing Site Plan (Topographical Survey)
A_ITV_2007 Rev D - Existing Roof Plan - Key Plan of Existing Section and Elevation
A_ITV_2008 Rev F - Proposed Roof Plan - Key Plan of Proposed Section and Elevation Lines
Existing Floor Plans
A_ITV_2100 Rev D - Existing Lower Basement Plan
A_ITV_2101 Rev D - Existing Basement Plan
A_ITV_2102 Rev D - Existing Ground Floor Plan
A_ITV_2103 Rev D - Existing First Floor Plan
A_ITV_2104 Rev D - Existing Second Floor Plan
A_ITV_2105 Rev D - Existing Third Floor Plan
A_ITV_2106 Rev D - Existing Fourth to Twenty-Second Floor Plan
A_ITV_2107 Rev D - Existing Twenty-third Floor Plan
A_ITV_2108 Rev D - Existing Twenty-fourth Floor Plan
2150 Existing Elevations
A_ITV_2150 Rev D - Existing Context Sections through Thames River
A_ITV_2151 Rev D - Site Context Existing Elevations - North & South
A_ITV_2152 Rev D - Site Context Existing Elevations - East & West
A_ITV_2153 Rev D - Existing North Elevation
A_ITV_2154 Rev D - Existing East Elevation
A_ITV_2155 Rev D - Existing West Elevation
A_ITV_2156 Rev D - Existing South Elevation
2170 Existing Sections
A_ITV_2170 Rev D - Existing Section CC
A_ITV_2171 Rev D - Existing Section DD
A_ITV_2172 Rev D - Existing Section AA
A_ITV_2173 Rev D - Existing Section BB
2200 Demolition Plans
A_ITV_2200 Rev B - Demolition Lower Basement Plan
A_ITV_2201 Rev B - Demolition Basement Plan
A_ITV_2202 Rev E - Demolition Ground Floor Plan
A_ITV_2203 Rev E Demolition First Floor Plan
A_ITV_2204 Rev B Demolition Second Floor Plan
A_ITV_2205 Rev B Demolition Third Floor Plan
A_ITV_2206 Rev D Demolition Fourth to Twenty-Fifth Floor Plan
2300 Proposed GA Plans
A_ITV_2300 Rev F - Proposed Plan - Basement Floor Level -3
A_ITV_2301 Rev F - Proposed Plan - Basement Floor Level -2
A_ITV_2302 Rev F - Proposed Plan - Basement Floor Level -1
A_ITV_2303 Rev J - Proposed Plan - Ground Floor
A_ITV_2304 Rev H - Proposed Plan - 1st Floor
A_ITV_2305 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 2nd Floor
A_ITV_2306 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 3rd Floor
A_ITV_2307 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 4th Floor
A_ITV_2308 Rev G - Proposed Plan - 5th Floor
A_ITV_2309 Rev G - Proposed Plan - 6th Floor
A_ITV_2310 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 7th Floor
A_ITV_2311 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 8th Floor
A_ITV_2312 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 9th Floor
A_ITV_2313 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 10th Floor
A_ITV_2314 Rev F - Proposed Plans - 11th-12th Floor

Page 177

A_ITV_2316 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 13th Floor - Office Roof
A_ITV_2317 Rev G - Proposed Plans - 14th-20th Floor - Residential Building
A_ITV_2318 Rev F - Proposed Plans - 21st-27th Floor - Residential Building
A_ITV_2319 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 28th Floor - Residential Building
A_ITV_2320 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 29th Floor - Residential Building
A_ITV_2321 Rev F - Proposed Plan - 30th Floor Residential Roof
A_ITV_2322 Rev G - Proposed Plan - Roof Plan
2350 Proposed Residential Layouts - Illustrative Only
A_ITV_2350 Rev E - Residential Layouts - 1st Floor
A_ITV_2351 Rev E - Residential Layouts - 2nd to 5th Floors
A_ITV_2352 Rev D - Residential Layouts - 6th to 27th Floors
A_ITV_2353 Rev B - Residential Layouts - 28th and 29th Floors
A_ITV_2355 Rev B - Residential Layouts - Wheelchair Adaptable Apartment Types
2400 Proposed Elevations
A_ITV_2400 Rev D - Proposed Site Context
A_ITV_2401 Rev D - Site Context Proposed Elevations - North & South
A_ITV_2402 Rev D - Site Context Proposed Elevations - East & West
A_ITV_2403 Rev D - Proposed North Elevation
A_ITV_2404 Rev E - Proposed East Elevation
A_ITV_2405 Rev E - Proposed South Elevation
A_ITV_2406 Rev E - Proposed West Elevation
A_ITV_2409 Rev A - Proposed North Elevation without Trees
A_ITV_2410 Rev D - Proposed Residential Elevations
2500 Proposed Sections
A_ITV_2500 Rev E - Proposed Section AA
A_ITV_2501 Rev D - Proposed Section BB
A_ITV_2502 Rev D - Proposed Section CC
A_ITV_2503 Rev D - Proposed Section DD
A_ITV_2504 Rev D - Proposed Section EE
A_ITV_2505 Rev D - Proposed Section FF
A_ITV_2506 Rev A - Proposed Section GG
A_ITV_2507 Rev B - Proposed Section HH
2600 Proposed Typical Bay and Details
A_ITV_2600 Rev D - Office Façade Bay Study - Typical Window Detail
A_ITV_2601 Rev D - Office Façade Bay Study - South Façade - Entrance Bay
A_ITV_2610 Rev A - Plant Screen Façade Bay Study
A_ITV_2650 Rev D - Residential Façade Bay Study - Typical Floor - Window & Juliet Balcony
A_ITV_2651 Rev D - Residential Façade Bay Study - Typical Floor - Corner Balcony
A_ITV_2652 Rev D - Residential Façade Bay Study - Typical Floor - Recessed Balcony
A_ITV_2653 Rev E - Residential Façade Bay Study - Ground Floor - Residential Entrance
A_ITV_2654 Rev E - Residential Façade Bay Study - Ground Floor - Retail Entrance
A_ITV_2655 Rev E - Residential Façade Bay Study - Ground Floor - Corner
A_ITV_2656 Rev C - Residential Façade Typical Details - Sheet 1
A_ITV_2657 Rev D - Residential Façade Typical Details - Sheet 2
A_ITV_2658 Rev D - Residential Façade Materials Palette
DOCUMENTS
 A_ITV_9500 Design and Access Statement (including Landscaping and Lighting Scheme)– Rev F
 Planning Statement by DP9
 Energy and Sustainability Statement by Cundall
 Framework Travel Plan by Caneparo Associates
 Delivery and Service Management Plan by Caneparo Associates
 Site Waste Management Plan by Caneparo Associates
 Environmental Statement, including Townscape and Visual Impact and Heritage Assessment by
Cundall:
- Chapter 1 – Introduction (Rev B) by Cundall

Page 178

-

Chapter 2 – EIA Methodology (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 3 – Proposed
Chapter 4 – Alternatives and Design Development (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 5 – Air Quality (B) by Cundall
Chapter 6 – Archaeology and Heritage (Rev B) by Cundall
Chapter 7 – Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 8 – Ecology (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 9 – Geotechnical and Ground Conditions (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 10 – Microclimate and Wind (Rev B) by Cundall
Chapter 11 – Noise and Vibration (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 12 - Socio-Economic (Rev D) by Cundall
Chapter 13 – Transportation (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 14 – Waste (Rev D) by Cundall
Chapter 15 – Water Resources and Flood Risk (Rev C) by Cundall
Chapter 16 – Cumulative Effects (Rev B) by Cundall
ITV Headquarters ES Vol III Townscape, Heritage and Visual Impact Assessment (THVIA)
(additional information)

Page 179

Agenda Item 5

Page 180

Address: Graphite Square, London SE11 5EE
Application Number: 17/02936/FUL

Case Officer: Mr Michael Cassidy

Ward: Princes

Date Received: 18/07/2017

Proposal:
Demolition of existing office, warehouse and church buildings (use classes B1, B8, and
D1), and redevelopment of the site to provide a residential led mixed-use development
with a podium building of ground plus 3 storeys (fronting onto Worgan Street) connecting
a ground plus 9 storey building (fronting onto Worgan Street), a ground plus 13 storey
building (fronting onto Worgan Street), and ground plus 13 storey building (at the junction
of Worgan Street and Jonathan Street) to provide 160 residential units, offices (use class
B1), a ground-floor flexible retail/café/office (flexible use class A1/A3/B1), a replacement
Methodist church (use class D1), and provision of a single level basement, together with
servicing, car and cycle parking, and provision of new public realm and associated works.
Drawing numbers: Refer to Appendix 1
Documents: Refer to Appendix 1
RECOMMENDATION:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to any direction that may be
received following referral to the Mayor of London and subject to the completion of an
agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
including the planning obligations listed in this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and
Development to:


Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report; and



Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to officers, having regard to the heads
of terms set out in the report, to negotiate and complete a document containing
obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in
order to meet the requirements of the Planning Inspector.
Applicant:
BMOR

Agent:
DP9 Ltd

Page 181

SITE DESIGNATIONS
Designation

Description

Listed Building

No

Locally Listed Building

War memorial at Vauxhall Walk under-croft entrance

Conservation Area (CA)

Albert Embankment (CA57)

Protected views/vistas

2A.2 Parliament Hill summit to Palace of Westminster
2B.1 Parliament Hill oak tree to Palace of Westminster
27B Parliament Square to Palace of Westminster

Local Views

LV_12 Brockwell Park to Victoria Tower (Brixton rooftop
view)
LV_19 Brockwell Park to the city (Brixton panoramic)

Archaeological
Areas

Priority No

Flood Zone

Flood Zone 3 (high risk)

Central Activities Zone

Central Activities Zone

SITE AREA
Total site area (sqm)

Total site area (hectares(ha))

4,234sqm

0.42ha

FLOORSPACE COMPARISON
Use
class

Description

Existing
floorspace
(Gross

Proposed
floorspace
(GEA)

Difference of
proposed

External Area
(GEA))
B1

Office

3,893

9,050

+ 5157

B8

Warehouse

1,228

0

- 1228

C3

Dwellings

0

16915

+ 16915

D1

Methodist Church

403

255

- 148

Page 182

A1/A3/B1 Flexible unit
n/a

0

90

+ 90

0

1,244

+ 1244

5,524

27,554

Common/ancillary
areas

Total

HOUSING DETAILS
Residential Type

No. of bedrooms per unit
1

2

3

4

5+

Total

Existing

NB: No existing
housing

0

0

0

0

0

0

Proposed

Private flats

46

55

9

0

0

110

Private houses

0

0

0

0

0

0

Affordable
(rented flats)

4

15

17

0

0

36

Affordable
(shared
ownership)

6

7

1

0

0

14

Total proposed

56

77

27

0

0

160

PARKING
Car spaces (general)

Car spaces (Disabled)

Cycle spaces

Existing

25

0

10

Proposed

0

16

390

(10 immediately available
– 6 retained for use by

(24 visitor spaces
(short stay), 264

Walker Books)

residential,
101 office & 1
church)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
There is no objection in principle to the proposal. The proposed development will bring forward
the regeneration of a run down and underused site and is aligned with the desire for growth
within the Vauxhall area. A residential-led mixed use development is appropriate given the
significant housing demand within the Borough.

Page 183

The height and massing of the development has been assessed in relation to its impact from
a wide range of viewpoints and has been found to be satisfactory, including in relation to its
impact on heritage assets. There is no objection to the development’s height in this location,
which has a very high public transport accessibility level.

The proposed buildings on the site have been sensitively designed, taking inspiration from the
surroundings and historic context of the site, and would respect the character, context and the
form and scale of neighbouring buildings and would sit comfortably within the streetscene and
surrounding area. The appearance and detailed façade treatment of the development is
considered to be high quality, displaying an appropriate response to the surrounding
character. They would have no adverse impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings.

The proposed housing density would be in line with that outlined as normally acceptable in the
London Plan for a Central location. The proposed unit mix would meet the Council’s
aspirations and the scheme would deliver a good proportion of larger affordable family sized
units.

The proposal would provide 160 residential units of which 50 would be affordable units (which
is 31% of units or 35% by habitable room). The affordable units would be split 72% affordable
rent and 28% shared ownership. This is less than the Council’s policy aim, which is for 40%
of units to be affordable or 50% where grant is available, but is eligible for consideration under
the Mayor’s Fast Track route. Therefore a viability appraisal has not been required.

The proposed development would meet all relevant residential space standards and the
provision for private and communal amenity space and play space proposed is considered to
be acceptable. Adequate levels of daylight would also be provided within the flats for future
residents.

The proposal provides units with a good standard of accommodation, in terms of unit sizes,
aspect and amenity space provision, being provided.

Given the distance and orientation to the nearest residential properties, and the inclusion of
appropriate mitigation measures, the proposal would not result in any significant material
impact in terms of overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring residential properties.

The proposed scheme does result in some adverse and noticeable reductions in daylight and
sunlight, particularly to 79 Vauxhall Walk. However, some consideration should be given to

Page 184

the particular characteristics of the properties reviewed and to the fairly minimal existing
massing on the application site which is unusual in an urban context. It is also reasonable to
consider the identified effects alongside the planning merits of the scheme overall.

The development would regenerate this under use site. It maximises the potential of the site
providing 160 residential units which will contribute to meeting the housing needs of the
Borough and delivers a significant quantum of affordable homes within the Borough, including
a large proportion of affordable family housing. It further provides a significant amount of
flexible Class B1 office accommodation, including workspace targeted towards small and
medium sized businesses, and delivers a significant amount of new public realm, including
the creation of new pedestrian routes through the site, improving connectivity within the
immediate area.

In conclusion officers consider that the many planning benefits that the scheme would deliver
are sufficient to outweigh the identified impacts on residential amenity.

The development would have a sustainable construction, meeting all of the relevant
sustainability standards.

PLANNING OFFICER’S REPORT
Reason for referral to Planning Applications Committee:
The application is reported to the Planning Applications Committee in accordance with part
(1) of the Committee’s terms of reference as it relates to Major Application proposals. Given
the proposed scale of Development. The application shall be referred hereon as ‘the
Development’, for the purposes of the report and recommendations before the PAC.

1. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS
1.1
1.1.1

Application site
The site (0.42 hectares) is located in Vauxhall approximately 350m northeast of
Vauxhall train station. It comprises several commercial buildings and a church
and forms the north eastern part of an urban block bounded by Jonathan Street
to the north, Worgan Street to the east, Glasshouse Walk to the south and

Page 185

Vauxhall Walk to the west. Street access to the site is from Jonathan Street and
Worgan Street, as seen in Figure 1 below.

Figure 1- Site and context

1.1.2

The site currently comprises several separate buildings, the names and uses of
which are shown in Figure 2 below.Error! Reference source not found.The site
is broadly split into three sections, the southernmost part comprises office and
warehouse blocks with parking in between. This area includes:
 1) 24 Worgan Street (also known as Vauxhall House - marked
Warehouse/Entrance in Figure 2) – a single storey warehouse (1,156sqm
GIA) on the southeast corner of the site (use class B8), and the west part of
24 Worgan Street which is a part single-storey, part two-storey warehouse
(use class B8), with a covered entrance and care-taker office;
 2) Hall House – five-storey office block (use class B1) (939sqm GIA) running
east/west in the middle of the site;
 3) Spring House – four-storeys office block (use class B1) (2,818sqm GIA)
fronting onto Worgan Street; and
 4) 2-4 Graphite Square (External Offices in Error! Reference source not
found.) – single storey office units (use class B1) (335sqm GIA), the
northernmost block on the site.

Page 186

1.1.3

Moving north, the next section of the site hosts a single-storey Methodist Church
(use class D1 and identified as 5 in Figure 2 above), accessed from Worgan
Street. This is split into two main sections – the eastern section, fronting Worgan
Street, houses the area of worship for the church and measures approximately
103sqm GIA. The western section is larger (and taller, though still single-storey)
and set back into the site, behind the main church hall. This includes a large hall
(used for storage of carnival equipment), toilets, and a kitchen area. It is not clear
whether this space is used ancillary to the church (use class D1), or whether its
use operates independently as storage space (use class B8). This latter space
does appear, however, to be used on a sporadic basis.

1.1.4

Finally, the northern most part of the site houses the office units at 3 Jonathan
Street (use class B1 and identified as 6 in Figure 2 above). This includes two
buildings, with access from both Worgan Street and Jonathan Street. The small
single-storey building appears to have provided office or storage space. The main
two-storey building provides a large open area with internal mezzanine which
appears to have been used for a combination of office space and fabrication/light
industry (use class B1). These are currently unoccupied but are used for
occasional storage.

1.2 Surrounding area
1.2.1

The uses surrounding the site are largely office and residential. There is a nearby
public house (The Black Dog) and hotel, with more food and drink uses and
shops to the east at the end of Jonathan Street, and to the west along Albert
Embankment.

1.2.2

The site is on the western edge of the Vauxhall Gardens Estate, with several
estate blocks directly neighbouring it. To the north, on the other side of Jonathan
Street, are two residential point blocks – Haymans Point and Coverly Point. The
two 13 storey blocks sit within a grass amenity space which also provides some
parking. The Carmelita Centre – a single-storey community centre and former
housing office – is located to the southwest of Haymans Point and to the
northwest of the application site, on the corner of Vauxhall Walk and Jonathan
Street. To the southeast of Haymans point and the northeast of the application

Page 187

site is Amber Heights, a 4 storey residential block in a relatively new addition to a
former public house on the corner of Jonathan Street and Tyers Street.

1.2.3

To the east, on the opposite side of Worgan Street, is Arne House, a 5 storey
residential block built by the London County Council (“LCC”) and characteristic of
the Vauxhall Gardens Estate. The block has a deck access which faces directly
toward the site, with car parking to the Worgan Street frontage. Beyond this to the
east are more residential LCC blocks.

1.2.4

Directly to the south of the site, within the same urban block as the application
site, are two further 5 storey LCC blocks - Kennedy and Jameson House. These
form a ‘U’ shape perimeter block with access and parking facing towards the
application site. Beyond these to the south is another LCC block, Darley House,
as well as the Glasshouse Walk Playground and Vauxhall Gardens Estate
Allotment. Vauxhall Pleasure Gardens, covering almost 3.5ha, sits to the south
and southwest on the other site of Glasshouse Walk.

1.2.5

The site is bounded to the west within its urban block by former industrial
buildings (now used as offices) between four and five storeys in height. These
buildings front onto Vauxhall Walk and have rear windows and an emergency
access facing directly into the application site. Walker Books is housed in the
southern part of this adjacent block. Undercroft access is provided through this
block into the application site from Vauxhall Walk. In the north-western corner of
the urban block is 79 Vauxhall Walk, a relatively modern 5 storey residential
block of 21 flats completed in 1998 - known as Spring Gardens Court. Beyond
these to the west, on the other side of Vauxhall Walk and to the north of Tinworth
Street, is Citadel Place - a 4 storey office complex housing the National Crime
Agency. On the southern side of Tinworth Street is a mix of uses including
student accommodation (Spring Mews), residential, hotel, offices and light
industry.

1.3
1.3.1

Heritage
There are several conservation areas (“CAs”) near the site which are shown in
Figure 2. The southwest part of the site is itself located within the Albert
Embankment Conservation Area (CA57), which extends westward to the
Thames. Vauxhall Gardens CA (CA56) is to the east of the site and covers much

Page 188

of the LCC blocks in the Vauxhall Gardens estate. Vauxhall CA (CA32) is to the
south of the site and covers a large area extending south from Vauxhall Pleasure
Gardens. The boundary of Kennington CA is 150m east of the site, and Millbank
CA boundary meets the centre of the Thames 350m west of the site.

Figure 2 - Conservation Areas

1.3.2

There are no listed buildings within the site, or in the immediate vicinity. There
are, however, several listed buildings in the wider area and these range from
plaque memorials and statues (for example, the Following the Leader memorial
on Darley House some 115m south of the site), to churches and towers (for
example, Millbank Tower on the western bank of the Thames).

1.3.3

There are several locally listed buildings in the area include the Tea House
Theatre (the former Queen Anne pub on the edge of Vauxhall Pleasure
Gardens), the Black Dog pub, and the war memorial plaque on the wall in the
under-croft access to the site from Vauxhall Walk. The Rose pub, on the corner
of Tinworth Street and Albert Embankment 160m to the west, is also locally
listed.

1.3.4

The site falls within several protected views and vistas, most significant of which
are those from Parliament Hill and Parliament Square to the Palace of
Westminster. Although not actually within the protected vista, the site is also just
outside the edge of the protected vista from Primrose Hill to the Palace of
Westminster. The site is also within local views northwest from Brockwell Park.

Page 189

1.4 Other designations
1.4.1

The site is in the Central Activities Zone (CAZ). Although outside the Vauxhall
Nine Elms Battersea Opportunity Area (VNEB), the application site abuts its
western boundary which runs along Vauxhall Walk.

1.4.2

Vauxhall District Centre is 350m south of the site. The site itself is not designated
within the town centre hierarchy, but Vauxhall Street and Jonathan Street Local
Centre is 85m to the east.

1.4.3

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a which is
considered excellent. The site it within the Congestion Charge zone with
Kennington Lane (a TfL road) 280m to the south defining its southern boundary.
The site is in the Kennington ‘K’ Controlled Parking Zone (“CPZ”), which operates
Monday to Friday, 8:30am to 6:30pm.

1.4.4

The site is in Flood Zone 3 and benefits from flood defences. Land in this flood
zone would have a high probability of flooding without the local flood defences.
The site falls on the edge of the Vauxhall Cross Air Quality Focus Area.

2. PROPOSAL
2.1 Scheme overview
2.1.1

The application proposes a mixed-use development which would provide
approximately 9,000sqm (GEA) of flexible office and work space, 160 homes, a
church, a flexible retail/café/office ground-floor unit, a basement with servicing,
car and cycle parking, and a new public realm including a publicly accessible
square.

2.1.2

The massing of the development consists of a podium at 4 storeys, with 3 taller
blocks rising from the podium from 10 to 14 storeys in height. Private amenity
space is provided on the roof of the podium, with shared amenity on the ground
floor between the building and the existing buildings along Vauxhall Walk. The
general massing is shown in below, in Figure 4, in context with the surrounding
buildings.

Page 190

Figure 4 - Massing of the proposed building

2.1.3

The architecture of the proposal is contemporary with a pallet of materials in
keeping with the wider area – the use of brick and metal work combined with the
detailing very deliberately reference the industrial history of the site and its
surroundings. The podium design varies by elevation, with clearly defined
alternating sections of fenestration that each respond to the taller blocks that rise
from the podium. Balconies are integrated into the facades of the residential
blocks with planting proposed in the amenity spaces on the podium roof and
ground floor. Ecological roof planting is also proposed on the roofs of the taller
blocks which is supplemented with photovoltaic panels.

Page 191

Figure 5 - East elevation (Worgan Street)

2.1.4

The mix of uses is shown in the north to south section looking west, in Figure 6
below.

2.1.5

The office space would be accommodated in a four-storey podium block that runs
along the east edge of the site, addressing Worgan Street. Part of the basement
also accommodates smaller workspaces. The office and work space has been
designed to accommodate a range of business sizes, including individuals, startups, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), and larger employers.

2.1.6

Rising out of the podium are three larger residential blocks - Block A to the south,
Block B in the centre, and Block C to the north. Block A would accommodate
social rented accommodation and is 10 storeys high. Blocks B and C rise to 14
storeys high, with flats for private sale. Some intermediate shared ownership
units would be included in Block B.

Page 192

Figure 6 - Section showing uses

2.1.7

The basement provides disabled accessible parking spaces, cycle parking, and
waste storage, as well as areas for servicing.

2.1.8

A new square, publicly accessible, would be defined between the podium and the
existing buildings to the west of the site. Access into the square would be
provided from Jonathan Street to the north, leading to the south into the estate
land with Jameson and Kennedy House. There would also be a link from Worgan
Street to the west, via a double-height under-croft, and across into Vauxhall Walk
via the existing under-croft to the west of the site. The ground floor plan, showing
the access routes into the new space is shown in Figure 7 below.

Page 193

Figure 7 - Ground floor and access into site

2.2
2.2.1

Amendments and additional information
During the course of the application, the following amendments were made and
additional information provided:
 Additional information provided on basement impact, including a hydrogeology
report;
 A minor alteration to the ground floor layout to increase the Class D1 unit
floorspace by approximately 31sqm, from 209sqm to 240sqm, resulting in a
31sqm reduction in the proposed flexible unit floorspace;
 Additional information on energy/sustainability compliance;
 Additional BRE daylight and sunlight assessment with updated report; and
 Additional information on office and workspace.

3.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

Application history

Page 194

3.1.1

The site has a long industrial and commercial history including the Surrey
Ironworks Horatio Myer & Co. Ltd. Beadstead company. This produced iron and
brass bedsteads and by 1914 the company employed over 200 workers.

3.1.2

Although the main front building with its signage remains on Vauxhall Walk, the
original factory building has since been replaced with other industrial and
commercial buildings.

3.1.3

Planning permissions granted in 1989 (89/00301/PLANAP) and 1993
(93/01169/PLANAP) allowed the change of use of parts of the buildings into
Class D1 - training centres. There is no evidence available to confirm these were
implemented and the current uses on site remain in Class B1 and B8
employment use, except for the church. Although the current church building is
not historic, the presence of a church on that part of the site has been present
since at least the early 19th Century.

3.2 Planning Enforcement History
3.2.1

Many of the current buildings on the site fell into disrepair over the last ten years;
their dilapidated condition resulting in high vacancy rates. In 2014, the council
received complaints about the condition of the land and the planning enforcement
team, unable to secure voluntary improvements to the site, issued notices under
Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 on 07 May 2015
(14/00185/3CNS).

3.2.2

The notice required steps to be taken to improve the condition of the land to
abate the site’s detrimental impact on amenity. The site was then sold to the
current owners who complied with the requirements of the notice upon purchase,
undertaking several interim remedial steps to improve the site whilst awaiting full
redevelopment and regeneration.

4. CONSULTATION
4.1 Pre-application developer consultation
4.1.1

The submitted Statement of Community Involvement outlines the public
engagement undertaken by the developer prior to submission of the scheme.

Page 195

This sets out the pre-application consultation and outlines door-knocking
sessions distributing around 300 leaflets, a public exhibition over six days,
distribution of around 2,000 newsletters, and briefings with local groups including
VGERTA and Lambeth Methodist Church.

4.1.2

In addition, the developer held a series of pre-application consultation sessions
with Lambeth and the GLA prior to submission of this application.

4.2 Application consultation - Organisations
4.2.1

The following organisations were consulted during the course of the application:

The Greater London Authority (GLA)
4.2.2

The GLA have made the following comments:


Principle of development: The redevelopment of this under-used site for
residential-led mixed use purposes is strongly supported; however, the
applicant must provide details on the relocation plans and assistance for all
current occupiers, confirm that a workspace provider has been secured, and
affordable workspace provision should be considered. Further information
must be submitted on how the successful co-location of church and
residential uses will be achieved, and the planning permission must secure
management and mitigation measures.



Affordable housing: The proposed 35% (by habitable room) affordable
housing is strongly supported as a starting point; however, the applicant must
fully investigate the provision of grant funding and any other available public
subsidy. An early stage review is also required.



Urban design, strategic views and historic environment: The proposals are
generally of a high quality; however, there are concerns about the impact of
balconies in Block C, which will overlook adjacent residential units. Further
discussion is required with the applicant and residential layouts may need to
be amended.

Page 196



Outstanding issues on inclusive design, transport, and climate change should
also be addressed.

4.2.3

Officer comment: Conditions of approval are recommended along with s106
Heads of Terms (HoTs) to address the issues raised. Further energy information
has been supplied by the applicant to the GLA in advance of Stage II.

Historic England – Archaeology
4.2.4

No objection, subject to conditions and informative requiring further
archaeological evaluation to safeguard any assets that may exist on site.

4.2.5

Officer comment: An appropriately worded condition is recommended if the
council is minded to approve the application.

Environment Agency
4.2.6

No objection, subject to conditions and informative requiring the approval of a site
investigation and detailed risk assessment scheme, contamination investigation
and submission of a verification report demonstrating completion of any
remediation works required, no piling except without express written consent and
drainage.

4.2.7

Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions are recommended if the
council is minded to approve the application.

Historic England
4.2.8

No comments received to date.

Transport for London (TfL)
4.2.9

TfL considers the application to be in general conformity with the strategic
transport policies of the London Plan but requests that the following is secured to
ensure full compliance with the London Plan and to mitigate the impact of the
development on the transport network:

Page 197



A Car Parking Management Plan to be secured by condition and the allocation
of a single blue badge bay for commercial occupants;



Provide a draft Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) prior to determination with
the full CLP secured by condition prior to commencement;



A Car Park Management Plan secured by condition to manage the allocation
of disabled car parking spaces;



Secure Electric Vehicle Charging Points;



A Travel Plan secured by obligation with addition of cycle hire memberships
for staff and residents;



Inclusion of the church use within the Travel Plan; and



Provision of the car club.

4.2.10 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions are recommended if the
council is minded to approve the application.

Thames Water
4.2.11 No objection to the scheme subject to no piling condition and informative.

4.2.12 Officer comment: An appropriately worded condition and informative are
recommended if the council is minded to approve the application.

London Fire Brigade
4.2.13 No response received.
4.2.14 Officer comment: matters are covered by British Standard BS9999:2017,
Building Regulations and the appropriate Home Office Fire Safety Guidance
Document. An informative can be included (ref Informative Error! Reference
source not found.) drawing attention to:


Access for Fire Brigade appliances is to be provided in accordance with LFB
Fire Safety Guidance Note GN29;



Sprinklers to be considered for this development.

Page 198

4.3 Internal Consultees

4.3.1 The following section of the report presents the responses received from
colleagues across the Council. The details of the comments are presented within
the planning assessment section.

Planning Policy
4.3.2 No objection to the proposal. The redevelopment of the site to provide a mixed
use scheme with increased B1 floorspace is acceptable in principle provided that
the commercial and residential elements of the scheme are made available at the
same time. The loss of B8 floor space, to be replaced by B1 floorspace, is
acceptable. There is an existing church that will be re-provided on site. Although
there is a small loss of floor space for the church, it is considered that this is
acceptable as the church has been involved in the design of the re-provision and it
is likely that the new facility is of better quality to meet their needs.

Transport and Highways
4.3.3

No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to visibility, closure of
existing access, Delivery Management Strategy, Cycle Parking, Travel Plan,
Method of Construction Statement and Refuse and Recycling Storage Details
being attached to any permission granted and a commitment being provided to
enter into a S278 agreement for off-site highways works including improvements
along Worgan Street and provision of shared surface loading bay, adoption of
footways, additional Car Club bay and 2 on-street disabled bays.

Conservation and Design
4.3.4

No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to external construction
detailing and a sample panel of the external materials being attached to any
permission granted.

Environmental Support Officer
4.3.5

No objection. The waste management plan is approved.

Page 199

Housing
4.3.6 The Boroughs greatest need is for large family homes for rent, and this scheme
complies with the Housing Department’s Tenancy Strategy requirements that 3
bed rents should be target / social rents and 1 and 2 beds should be at blended
rents and within LHA levels.

Employment and Enterprise

4.3.7 No objection subject to both employment and skills and local labour in
construction contributions being secured by S.106 legal agreement in line with the
Employment Skills SPD.

Designing Out Crime Officer
4.3.8 No objection subject to a ‘Secured by Design’ condition being attached to any
permission granted.

Bioregional (the Council’s Energy and Sustainability Advisors)
4.3.9

No objection to the proposal subject to conditions, in relation to BREEAM
Excellent, an updated Sustainability Statement, Green roofs, water consumption
and photovoltaic panel details, being attached to any permission granted.

Sustainability Team (Air Quality)
4.3.10 No objection subject to conditions, in relation to Air Quality and Dust
Management Plan, cycle parking, electric vehicle parking, emissions from the
energy plan (CHP) and construction machinery and air quality, being attached to
any permission granted.

Flood Officer
4.3.11 No objection subject to a condition relating to drainage being attached to any
permission granted.

Page 200

Environmental Health (Food Health and Safety Team)
4.3.12 No objection to the proposal.

Parks and Biodiversity
4.3.13 Support for the application as it proposes to provide suitable hard and soft
landscaping that will have benefits to both residents and the overall quality of
open space in the area. Conditions relating to green roofs and landscaping
should be attached to any permission granted.

Environmental Health (Contamination)
4.3.14 No objection subject to conditions relating to a Basement Risk Assessment and
contamination being attached to any permission granted.

4.4

Local Groups / Other Consultees and Stakeholders

4.4.1 The following local groups were consulted as part of the application process:

9 Albert Embankment Residents Association
4.4.2

No response received.

Association of Waterloo Groups
4.4.3

No response received.

Brook Drive Tenants Residents Association
4.4.4

No response received.

Cleaver Square Residents Association
4.4.5

No response received.

Page 201

Dryden Court Residents Association

4.4.6

No response received.

Friends of Archbishop’s Park
4.4.7

No response received.

Friends of Old Paradise Gardens
4.4.8

No response received.

Friends of Vauxhall Spring Gardens
4.4.9

No response received.

Heart of Kennington Residents Association
4.4.10 No response received.

IMPACT
4.4.11 No response received.

Jubilee Walkway Trust
4.4.12 No response received.

Kennington Association Planning Forum
4.4.13 No response received.

Kennington Oval and Vauxhall Forum
4.4.14 No response received.

Page 202

London Duck Tours
4.4.15 No response received.

Oval and Kennington Residents Association
4.4.16 No response received.

Vanburgh Court Residents Association
4.4.17 No response received.

Vauxhall Gardens Estate Resident and Tenant Association
4.4.18 A petition of objection with 190 signatures has been received raising the following
concerns:


The proposals are a hostile addition to this diverse and thriving
neighbourhood. The violation of the Vauxhall Gardens conservation area is
astonishing;



High density and size of the scheme (sitting right on the boundary on Worgan
Street and Jonathan Street, limiting space for greening, public realm and
accessibility);



The height of the 3 blocks, which will dominate our neighbourhood, change
the landscape and set a precedent for similar developments in our village feel
neighbourhoods;



The aesthetic violation of the conservation area of Vauxhall Gardens estate;



The shading impact of the proposed development on Arne, Jameson and
Kennedy Houses and Hayman Point, the Carmelita Centre and the Carmelita
Centre community garden;



The gating of the public realm areas will promote a lack of social cohesion
and a "them and us" environment for the residents of the new development
and Vauxhall Gardens residents. The planned public realms would remain
unused and provide no value to the local community;



The boundary of the scheme on Worgan Street i.e. the building should align
with Jameson House to allow more public realm improvements on Worgan

Page 203

Street and also explore the possibility of improving the appearance of the
Arne House, Jameson and Kennedy Houses public spaces to match the new
development;


The greening initiatives at street level are nil i.e. Worgan Street and Jonathan
Street;



The echoing effect in Worgan Street due to the close proximity of the
development to the existing blocks;



Lack of clarity regarding the proposed Café and Church (i.e. accessibility,
hours of operation etc.);



Loss of privacy;



The two existing tower-blocks (Hayman's and Coverley Point) are widely
spaced, quite modest and surrounded by greenery - the Northernmost of the
proposed blocks would in contrast loom over them rising straight from the
street;



Lack of clarity on new jobs in consultation material;



Lack of sustainability/green credentials;



The wind impact through the new development and the impact on the nearby
buildings and public spaces;



Disruption to adjacent buildings and wider area from construction traffic;



Increase in dust from construction;



The development feels/seems like a standalone entity without social housing
which will antagonise social cohesion;



The proposed green roof/gardens will be higher than the existing low rise
blocks therefore estate residents will not benefit from them in terms of views;



Clarity needed on deliveries after the development is complete and in full use.
The impact on the already narrow Worgan Street is currently unknown and it
is already a congested and narrow street that will be heavily congested with
limited accessibility; and



The scheme is intrusive and traumatic for our thriving Vauxhall Gardens
diverse and united community.

Vauxhall One Business Improvement District
4.4.19 No response received.

Page 204

The Vauxhall Society

4.4.20 No response received.

Vauxhall St Peters Heritage Centre
4.4.21 No response received.

Waterloo Community Development Group
4.4.22 No response received.

Walcot Estate Tenants Association
4.4.23 No response received.

Whitgift Estate Tenants Association
4.4.24 No response received.

We are Waterloo
4.4.25 No response received.

Kate Hoey, MP Vauxhall
4.4.26 This is a formal objection to the above planning application. Whilst I recognise
that a development will happen on this area at some stage the scale and density
of the current application is not in any way in keeping with the very special
neighbourhood of the Vauxhall Gardens Estate and surrounds. It seems that the
developers did not appreciate the Vauxhall gardens conservation area. This is
probably so as they have not engaged with the VGERTA committee or residents
or listened to any of the suggestions made as to how the scheme could be made
more friendly to those living there.

Page 205

4.4.27 I oppose the high density and its size. I believe that there will be a big effect by
shading on many of the blocks as well as the Carmelita Centre. I object to the
public areas being gated and the loss of privacy for the residents of Arne and
Hayman point. There will no benefit for existing residents of the green roofs/
gardens. There are a number of other concerns relating to the number and
quality of local employment opportunities, construction plans and general
disruption and of course the lack of social housing in the immediate development.

Lambeth Mission and St. Mary’s Methodist Church and Vauxhall Mission
4.4.28 Support for the following reasons:


The Vauxhall Mission is part of the overall responsibility of Lambeth Mission
and St Mary’s and we intend for the new site/plant to be part of the outreach
work of LMSM;



The opportunity to open up and regenerate this site, making it a part of the
local community rather than allowing it to remain in its current dilapidated
state, should be embraced by the community and the council;



Over the past few months Bmor has been working with the church to bring
forward proposals that include a new flexible space within the development
that is better suited to our specific needs;



In recent years our facilities have become run down, which has left us
vulnerable to anti-social behaviour and squatters and unable to accommodate
a wide range of community activities that is essential to any church that
wishes to place itself at the heart of a local community;



The church has an important role in this area as a place of worship and as a
place where local people can come together and socialise. Re-providing a
modern Church and community space on this site will give us the opportunity
we need to expand the work of the church and continue serving the local
community;



We strongly support the development of Graphite Square not only for the
benefits it will bring the church, but also because it will bring much needed
affordable homes to Vauxhall, it will create new jobs and dramatically
improved public space that will benefit not only those people who will live and
work on the site but the wider local community as a whole; and

Page 206



We believe these proposals have the potential to greatly enhance the area
and we would be grateful if members of the Council could take our views into
account when making their decision regarding this application.

4.5

Residents / Neighbours

4.5.1

The application has been publicised by way of one or more site notices displayed
in the vicinity of the application site. The application has also been publicised in
the local press.

4.5.2

In total, 263 local residents were consulted. There have been 46 comments
received to-date with 34 letters of objection, 2 providing neutral comments and 10
letters of support having been received. A summary of the grounds of objection
and support are set out below.

Objections
4.5.3

34 letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:


Loss of existing courtyard features;



Excessive height;



Excessive density;



Scale and design is out of keeping with the surrounding area;



Adverse impact on conservation area;



Visually overbearing;



Loss of light;



Loss of privacy;



Unnecessary coffee shop provided;



Impact on safety and security;



Impact on trees;



Proposed public realm should have 24 hour access;



Having gates would segregate and alienate the community;



Increase in traffic and pollution;



Increase in noise;



Noise and disruption from construction; and



Wind impact.

Page 207

Support
4.5.4

10 letters of support have been received raising the following points:


The opportunity to open up and regenerate this site, making it part of the local
community rather than allowing it to remain in its current dilapidated state,
should be embraced by the community and the council;



The proposal makes better use of the land;



The church has an important role in this area as a place of worship and as a
place where local people can come together and socialise. Re-providing a
modern church and community space will help the church to continue serving
the local community;



Many people and visitors to the area are extremely positive about this well
designed and well thought through mixed use development plan;



The proposed private and affordable homes will bring a better balance in this
still for many socially deprived area;



The proposal contains much needed workspaces/jobs, a place to worship and
commercial spaces with gardens and much appreciated green surroundings;
and



The height of the development respects Hayman’s Point which is 13 storeys,
plus the ones being built by Albert Embankment which are even higher.

5.

POLICY

5.1

Context

5.1.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
planning decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

5.1.2

The National Planning Policy Framework was published in 2012. This document
sets out the Government’s planning policies for England including the
presumption in favour of sustainable development and is a material consideration
in the determination of all applications. The National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), together with Council Supplementary Planning Documents and
Guidance and National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), are material
considerations alongside the council’s development plan.

Page 208

5.1.3

The development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (MALP 2016) and the
Lambeth Local Plan adopted in September 2015. The new Draft London Plan
was published on 1 December 2017 for consultation and will eventually
supersede the current 2016 consolidation London Plan once the final version is
published (anticipated Autumn 2019). The Draft London Plan is a material
consideration in planning decisions, but is currently afforded very limited weight.

5.1.4

The current planning application has been considered against all relevant
national, regional and local planning policies as well as any relevant guidance.
The assessment set out in section 6 of this report refers to those policies most
relevant to the application, however, consideration is made against the whole
development plan.

The London Plan (MALP 2016) (as amended)
5.1.5

Provided below is a list of the key London Plan policies which are considered
relevant in the determination of this planning application:


Policy 1.1 Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London



Policy 2.1 London in its global, European and United Kingdom context



Policy 2.10 Central Activities Zone – strategic priorities



Policy 2.11 Central Activities Zone – strategic functions



Policy 2.12 Central Activities Zone – predominantly local activities



Policy 2.13 Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas



Policy 3.1 Ensuring equal life chances for all



Policy 3.2 Improving health and addressing health inequalities



Policy 3.3 Increasing housing supply



Policy 3.4 Optimising housing potential



Policy 3.5 Quality and design of housing developments



Policy 3.6 Children & young people’s play and informal recreation facilities



Policy 3.8 Housing choice



Policy 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities



Policy 3.10 Definition of affordable housing



Policy 3.11 Affordable housing targets



Policy 3.12 Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential &
mixed use schemes

Page 209



Policy 3.13 Affordable housing thresholds



Policy 3.15 Coordination of housing development and investment



Policy 4.1 Developing London’s economy Economic sectors & workspaces



Policy 4.2 Offices



Policy 4.3 Mixed use development and offices



Policy 4.5 London’s visitor infrastructure



Policy 4.6 Support for & enhancement of arts, culture, sport & entertainment



Policy 4.7 Retail and town centre development



Policy 4.8 Supporting a successful & diverse retail sector & related facilities &
services



Policy 4.10 New and emerging economic sectors



Policy 4.11 Encouraging a connected economy



Policy 4.12 Improving opportunities for all



Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation



Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions



Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction



Policy 5.4 Retrofitting



Policy 5.4 A Electricity and gas supply



Policy 5.5 Decentralised energy networks



Policy 5.6 Decentralised energy in development proposals



Policy 5.7 Renewable energy



Policy 5.8 Innovative energy technologies



Policy 5.9 Overheating and cooling



Policy 5.10 Urban greening



Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs



Policy 5.12 Flood risk management



Policy 5.13 Sustainable drainage



Policy 5.14 Water quality and wastewater infrastructure



Policy 5.15 Water use and supplies



Policy 5.16 Waste net self-sufficiency



Policy 5.17 Waste capacity



Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste



Policy 5.19 Hazardous waste



Policy 6.1 Strategic approach



Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity

Page 210



Policy 6.4 Enhancing London’s transport connectivity



Policy 6.7 Better streets and surface transport



Policy 6.8 Coaches



Policy 6.9 Cycling



Policy 6.10 Walking



Policy 6.12 Road network capacity



Policy 6.13 Parking



Policy 7.1 Lifetime neighbourhoods



Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment



Policy 7.3 Designing out crime



Policy 7.4 Local character



Policy 7.5 Public realm



Policy 7.6 Architecture



Policy 7.7 Location and design of tall and large buildings



Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology



Policy 7.9 Heritage-led regeneration



Policy 7.10 World Heritage Sites



Policy 7.11 London View Management Framework



Policy 7.12 Implementing the London View Management Framework



Policy 7.13 Safety, security and resilience to emergency



Policy 7.14 Improving air quality



Policy 7.15 Reducing and managing noise



Policy 7.18 Protecting open space and addressing deficiency



Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature



Policy 7.20 Geological conservation



Policy 7.21 Trees and woodlands



Policy 7.29 The River Thames



Policy 8.1 Implementation



Policy 8.2 Planning obligations



Policy 8.3 Community infrastructure levy



Policy 8.4 Monitoring and review

Lambeth Local Plan (2015) policies:
5.1.6

Provided below is a list of the key Local Plan policies which are considered
relevant in the determination of this planning application:

Page 211



D1 Delivery and monitoring



D2 Presumption in favour of sustainable development



D3 Infrastructure



D4 Planning obligations



D5 Enforcement



H1 Maximising housing growth



H2 Delivering affordable housing



H4 Housing mix in new developments



H5 Housing standards



ED2 Business, industrial and storage uses outside KIBAs



ED3 Large offices (greater than 1,000 m2)



ED7 Evening economy and food and drink uses



ED8 Public houses



ED14 Employment and training



S1 Safeguarding existing community premises



S2 New or improved community premises



T1 Sustainable travel



T2 Walking



T3 Cycling



T4 Public transport infrastructure



T6 Assessing impacts of development on transport capacity



T7 Parking



T8 Servicing



EN1 Open space and biodiversity



EN3 Decentralised energy



EN4 Sustainable design and construction



EN5 Flood risk



EN6 Sustainable drainage systems and water management



EN7 Sustainable waste management



Q1 Inclusive environments



Q2 Amenity



Q3 Community safety



Q5 Local distinctiveness



Q6 Urban design: public realm

Page 212



Q7 Urban design: new development



Q8 Design quality: construction detailing



Q9 Landscaping



Q10 Trees



Q12 Refuse/recycling storage



Q13 Cycle storage



Q15 Boundary treatments



Q17 Advertisements and signage



Q19 Westminster World Heritage Site



Q20 Statutory listed buildings



Q22 Conservation areas



Q23 Undesignated heritage assets: local heritage list



Q24 River Thames



Q25 Views



Q26 Tall and large buildings



PN2 Vauxhall

Regional Guidance
5.1.7

Relevant publications from the GLA include:


Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (August 2017);



Housing SPG (March 2016);



Central Activities Zone (March 2016)



Social Infrastructure (May 2015)



Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)



The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July
2014)



Character and Context (June 2014)



Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2014)



Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, and the Mayoral
Community Infrastructure Levy SPG (2013)



Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation SPG (Sep 2012)



London View Management Framework (March 2012)

Page 213

Local Guidance / Supplementary Planning Documents
5.1.8

Relevant local guidance and SPDs for Lambeth include:


Development Viability SPD



Vauxhall SPD



Albert Embankment Conservation Area Character Appraisal



Kennington Conservation Area Statement



Advertising & Signage Guidance



Parking Survey Guidance Notes



Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide



Waste Storage and Collection Requirements - Technical Specification



Air Quality Planning Guidance Notes

6. ASSESSMENT
6.1 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)
6.1.1

The development falls within 10(b) of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, exceeding the
threshold criteria of more than 150 dwellings. A screening opinion has not been
sought, but the requirement for an EIA has nonetheless been considered. This
has taken account of the relevant criteria and guidance, particularly with
reference to the Schedule 3 selection criteria for screening, the indicative
thresholds and criteria (NPPG Paragraph: 058 Reference ID: 4-058-20150326),
and the accompanying guidance in the NPPG.

6.1.2

The NPPG makes clear that only a very small proportion of Schedule 2
development will require an Environmental Impact Assessment. The proposed
development falls within the guideline density matrix of the London Plan for
Central locations and is not of a significantly greater scale than the surrounding
area. Contamination risks at the site could be mitigated by condition requiring a
watching brief and remediation strategy where necessary. The site is currently at
a lower density and scale of development than one would expect for the area.
Also considering the level of commercial floorspace proposed, and the site area,

Page 214

the proposal would not have significant environmental impacts that cannot be
mitigated by condition in this central urban environment.

6.1.3

The location and design of the scheme mean that the scale is appropriate for the
area, with minimal traffic and environmental health impacts that can also be
controlled and managed through conditions or planning obligations.
Consequently, an EIA is not required for the development under the 2017
Regulations.

6.2
6.2.1

Principle of mixed-use
The site is located within an area (‘Vauxhall north of Kennington Lane’) identified
for regeneration in policy 2.14 (map 2.5) of the London Plan. In accordance with
London Plan Policies 2.9, 2.10, 2.11, 2.12, 2.14, 3.7, 4.3, 4.7, 4.8, this residentialled, mixed use development in the CAZ will regenerate an urban block in a poor
state of repair. The scheme proposes an increase in office floorspace whilst
providing for a mix of uses, including housing, a church, and a flexible
commercial unit, in compliance with the aims of the development plan.

6.3

Office and workspace
Increase in employment floorspace
6.3.1

The development would promote an increased stock of business use across the
borough, in line with Local Plan Policies ED2 and ED3, and London Plan policies
4.2 and 4.3. Local Plan Policy ED2 (b) requires that any loss of a B class use (B8
in this case) should consider redevelopment for Class B1, as is being proposed in
this case. The housing-led mixed-use development in this scheme would
increase the overall B class floorspace in accordance with Local Plan Policy
ED2(c). This increase from 4,611sqm GIA (B1 and B8) to 8,694sqm GIA
represents an 89% increase in employment floorspace.

6.3.2

Local Plan Policy ED3 promotes large offices (more than 1,000sqm) in the CAZ
and in appropriate locations with a high PTAL. Redevelopment of the existing
offices on the site, for a mix of uses, increases the original B1 floorspace in
compliance with the requirements of Policy ED3 (c). As such, the increase in

Page 215

employment floorspace, and consolidation of the existing Class B1 and B8 uses
into a range of flexible B1 spaces would comply with policy and be appropriate for
the area.

Nature of employment workspace
6.3.3

The scheme has been designed to provide a mix of unit sizes and types to meet
local business needs. These are split into two main types – B1 workspace at
basement and ground floor level, and B1 office space at ground, first, second and
third floors. The spaces are well designed and flexible, and can be subdivided or
expanded through removable partitions, with capped off services provided across
units and floors. A reception area at ground floor level provides a shared space
and activates the ground floor of the square within the site, with other unit
entrances provided along Worgan Street helping to activate this street. The
basement units include double-height voids (internal lightwells) that allow natural
light penetration. The office core into the basement provides convenient access
to cycle storage, showers and toilets for use by the occupants of the business
units. The smaller workspaces at basement and ground level are also linked
within the units with stairs. The general layout, within potential subdivisions, is
shown in Figure 3 below.

Page 216

Figure 3 - Workspace layout

6.3.4

The spaces have also been design with accessibility in mind with level access at
ground floor level, covered reception access, and a lift access available across all
floors. The promotion of the office uses as an inclusive environment, as per the
requirements of Local Plan Policy Q1, also extend to the potentially selfcontained workspace units that run across the ground and basement floors.
Access is available through lift cores outside of the units themselves, but if lift
access is required within the units, they can be fitted within the internal light-wells
which provide adequate space for adaption.

6.3.5

Local Plan Policy ED2 (d) states that where small business units are provided as
part of a mixed-use scheme, these should incorporate a range of unit sizes and
types to meet local business needs, be well designed and flexible, and be fully
fitted out to turnkey standard. The range of the unit sizes provided, as well as the
flexibility of the space, is wholly supported by this policy. Indeed, the range
proposed in the scheme is extremely positive with spaces to accommodate

Page 217

individuals and hot-desking, but with the ability to expand up to entire floor plates
of around 2,000sqm (including cores). The first, second, and third floors all
provide more traditional office space with large floor plates, but these have also
been designed with flexibility in mind, allowing subdivision where appropriate.

6.3.6

Local Plan Policy ED2(c) requires mixed-used development to ensure
commercial and residential elements of the development be made available for
occupation at the same time. Local Plan Policy ED2 (d) states that where small
business units are provided as part of a mixed-use scheme, these should be fully
fitted out to turnkey standard. A condition is proposed to ensure the office
accommodation is fitted out to turn-key standard before occupation of more than
50% of the residential units.

6.3.7

Halkin, a serviced office operator developing and delivering spaces for small
businesses as well as more established enterprises, have provided a statement
that sets out its vision for the operation of the office and workspace. Some of the
workspace will be specifically targeted towards small businesses and individuals,
giving a platform for growth and development towards a more mature business.
As SME businesses grow, the operator can assist their development by providing
a collaborative co-working environment and event networking opportunities. This
allows SMEs to staircase into larger premises, or alternative parts of the building.
An example of the model is shown in Figure 4 below.

Figure 4 - Office/workspace management model

Page 218

6.3.8

As mentioned in the Halkin statement, in providing the flexible office space within
the development, the developer and any workspace operator would invest in high
speed broadband and WIFI across the facility. This aligns with the Mayor’s
aspirations to encourage a connected economy – London Plan Policy 4.11.

6.3.9

The applicant has engaged with Halkin and continues to explore opportunities for
long-term management of the units by a company specialising in the
management of space for small businesses in line with Local Plan Policy ED2 (d).
In order to secure the benefits of the management approach outlined above, the
applicant has agreed to a planning obligation to submit an office and Workspace
Management Plan based on the principles set out in the Design and Access
Statement and the Halkin Statement.

6.3.10 Although no discounted office space is offered, the design of the spaces and their
flexibility will result in low cost employment units being available to workers and
employers.

6.4

Community use
Loss of existing community premises

6.4.1

The existing church on the site is safeguarded under Local Plan Policy S1.
However, Policy S1 (b)(ii) allows for a loss where replacement facilities are
proposed on site of the same or better size and quality to serve the needs of the
area.

6.4.2

Although there is a small loss of floor space for the church, this is acceptable
against Policy S1(b)(ii) as the church has been involved in the design of the reprovision, including an increase in its floorspace to current proposed levels made
by amendment during the course of the application. The space is simple and
functional and it would provide a new facility of better quality to meet the needs of
the current proposed end user (the same church currently on site).

Page 219

New community facility
6.4.3

The proposed new facility will re-provide the current church on the site in line with
Local Plan Policy S1, albeit at a reduced total floorspace. Policy S1(b)(ii)
safeguards the community use unless it can be demonstrated that replacement
facilities are proposed on site of the same or better size and quality to serve the
needs of the area.

6.4.4

The proposed Class D1 unit is a simple and functional design, developed in
collaboration with the intended end user which is a Methodist church. Located on
the ground floor of Block A, it has access provided directly into the unit from the
square, but away from the residential and office entrances. It allows effective use
of space and flexibility with a large level-access space including the provision of
toilets (including disabled-accessible) and a niche suitable for kitchen services or
tea points, compliant with Local Plan Policy Q1 (Inclusive environments).

6.4.5

The church will be re-provided with 241sqm (GIA) of Class D1 floorspace being
proposed. Although there is a small loss of floorspace for the church of 128sqm
in total, it is considered acceptable against policy S1 (ii) as the church has been
involved in the design of the re-provision and the new facility is of better quality to
meet their needs, as confirmed in their strong letter of support for the
development.

6.4.6

It is also worth noting that, in part due to the poor condition of the current
facilities, the full floorspace has not actually been actively used as a Class D1
church for some time. The area currently used for services equates to
approximately 102sqm (GIA) with the remainder being used for storage for
carnival paraphernalia. When compared with this “active” floorspace, the reprovision would in fact offer an increase of usable floorspace for the community
use of 139sqm.

6.4.7

Local Plan Policy S2 (a) requires new or improved community facilities to be
appropriate for their intended use and accessible to the community. As outlined
above, the accessible unit has been designed in collaboration with the intended
end user. The policy also requires the proposal, including its hours of operation,
to not unacceptably harm the amenities of the area through noise, disturbance,
traffic generation, congestion, local parking or negative impacts on road safety.

Page 220

The church replaces a church already on site so the impacts are expected to be
comparable to historical impacts on the site.

6.4.8

However, given the period of low-intensity use, and the relocation of the use
within the site, it would be appropriate in this instance to put controls in place to
ensure any future community use has appropriate management to prevent and
mitigate any harm that may arise. This can be secured by a condition requiring
the approval of a Community Use Plan outlining the nature of the D1 use,
operational hours, numbers of staff and visitors, and a description of how
activities will be managed to minimise an impacts on the area (condition 20).

6.4.9

Also in line with requirements of Policy S2 (a), buildings and facilities have been
designed to be flexible, adaptable and sited to maximise shared community use
of premises, being located on the edge of the Vauxhall Gardens Estate. To
promote shared community use, the Community Use Plan will also secure details
of the provision of community access to and use of the proposed Class D1
space, and a fee strategy for community access to the proposed Class D1 space.

6.5
6.5.1

Flexible use
The proposed flexible use covers three use classes – either Class B1 workspace,
a Class A1 shop or a Class A3 café. Granting permission for a flexible use will
allow changes between the classes for a period of 10 years – permitted by Class
V of Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015.

6.5.2

Local Plan Policy PN2 states that a new district centre will be created at Vauxhall.
The Council will promote the new district centre which will increase the vitality of
the area and form a growth pole in keeping with the CAZ designation; creating
opportunities for affordable retail and focusing active-frontage uses to support the
district centre and underpin its viability. Paragraph 6.25 of the Local Plan states
that in the CAZ, proposals for retail should be focussed in the identified CAZ
frontages. However, such proposals will be acceptable elsewhere in the CAZ
without the need for a sequential test, provided that any impact on the identified
CAZ frontages is carefully considered first.

Page 221

6.5.3

The retail or café elements proposed (Class A1 and A3 respectively) are unlikely
to have a significant impact on the CAZ frontage further to the west. The size of
the unit, at 49sqm, will most likely serve local workers or residents in the
immediate vicinity, and is not of a scale to sufficiently compete with or undermine
the CAZ frontage. The range of uses proposed within the units is therefore
acceptable in policy terms.

6.5.4

One area with potential impact is the fume extraction system required for any
Class A3 use. Again, the size of the unit will be unlikely to provide a significant
scale of cooking so any Class A3 use is more likely to be a café. Nonetheless, in
order to ensure appropriate appearance of any systems, and that no nuisance is
caused to adjoining occupiers or the wider area – an issue raised by the council’s
food safety team, in line with Local Plan Policies Q2, Q7 and ED7, a condition is
proposed preventing any Class A3 use from commencing until details of fume
extraction have been approved.

6.6

Housing
Principle of housing and density

6.6.1

London Plan Policy 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential), supported by Local Plan
policy H1 (Maximising housing growth), seek to optimise development densities
based on local context, character and accessibility. In addition, Local Plan Policy
D1 seeks to maximise the use of previously developed land and vacant buildings
in fully exploring regeneration opportunities, as is the case in this application.

6.6.2

The site has a PTAL of 6a (Highly accessible). For the purposes of considering
density, the scheme falls within the ‘central’ area with a guideline density range of
650-1100 habitable rooms per hectare (hr/ha) (Table 3.2 of the London Plan).
The site proposal falls in this range with a residential density of 1,013hr/ha.

Housing mix in the development
6.6.3

London Plan Policy 3.11 gives priority to family sized housing in the affordable
tenure and Lambeth Local Plan Policy H4 suggests that for new housing, a
balanced mix, including family housing, should be provided for market housing.

Page 222

Affordable housing should reflect a mix not more than 20% 1 bed, 20-50% 2 bed
and 40% 3 bed units.

6.6.4

The mix proposed complies with policy and provides a mix of housing, with a
focus on 2 bed units, as shown in Table 1 below. The emphasis on 2 and 3 bed
units for the affordable housing is particularly positive and meets local housing
needs.

Tenure

1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

Total

% of total

Market

46

55

9

110

69%

% Mix (market)

42%

50%

8%

100%

Affordable
Housing –
Affordable Rent

4

15

17

36

23%

Affordable
Housing – Shared
Ownership

6

7

1

14

9%

% Mix (affordable)

20%

44%

36%

100%

Total units

56

77

27

160

% Mix (total)

35%

48%

17%

100%

Table 1 - Housing mix

Affordable Housing tenure and viability
6.6.5

London Plan Policy 3.13 and Local Plan Policy H2 require affordable housing for
schemes of 10 or more units, with a mix of tenures being required in the interests
of balanced and mixed communities. The Local Plan states that the maximum
viable amount of affordable housing should be sought with at least 40% in the
case of no grant funding (as is the case with this scheme). Policy H2 requires
70% of the affordable housing to be affordable and social rent, with 30% being
intermediate (shared ownership).

6.6.6

The scheme proposes a total of 35% affordable housing by habitable room, or
31% by unit, as set out in Table 2 below. The affordable housing tenure is split
between 72% affordable rent and 28% intermediate homes, in line with the
requirements of Policy H2.

Page 223

Tenure

Total units

% of total

Private flats

110

68.8%

Affordable rent

36

22.5%

Shared ownership

14

8.8%

Table 2 - Percentage tenure mix

6.6.7

The Lambeth Development Viability SPD supports the approach taken in the
Mayor’s Affordable Housing & Viability SPG that no viability assessment will be
required for schemes that can provide 35% affordable housing by habitable room
– the Mayor’s Fast Track Scheme. This is subject to meeting other requirements
including a policy compliant tenure split and appropriate housing mix. As the
scheme meets these requirements, the Council has not required a viability
appraisal, in line with the Mayor’s Fast Track Scheme.

6.6.8

However certain provisions are required (that will be secured via s.106 legal
agreement) in the event that the scheme is not built out within a specified time
period in line with the requirement to ensure the scheme is implemented speedily
and if the agreed level of progress is not made within 2 years that the developer
must then submit a full financial viability appraisal, and may be liable to provide
additional affordable housing or a payment-in-lieu.

6.6.9

The applicants have been in detailed discussions with the Council’s appointed
surveyors, BNPP, to agree a benchmark land value and procedures for
monitoring the build period and completion dates. A benchmark land value of
£9.84m, as indicated in the BPS report dated December 2017, has been
accepted by the applicant for the purposes of the s.106 legal agreement.
Procedures for monitoring the build period and completion dates will be secured
in the agreement.

Rents and affordability
6.6.10 Table 3 below provides a breakdown of the 36 affordable/social rented units
proposed at target rents.

Page 224

Bedrooms

No. of units

% of social
rent

Rent pw
(Gross)

% of
market rent

Market
rent pw

1

4

11%

£204

45%

£450

2

15

42%

£265

48%

£550

3

17

47%

£161

25%

£650

Total

36

Table 3 - Breakdown of Social Rented (at Target Rents)

6.6.11 The Boroughs greatest need is for large family homes for rent, and this proposal
complies with the Housing Department’s Tenancy Strategy requirements that 3
bed rents should be target / social rents and 1 and 2 bedroom units should be at
blended rents and within LHA levels. These rents would be secured via s106
legal agreement.

6.7

Quality of residential accommodation
Unit sizes, design and layout

6.7.1

Policy 3.5 of the London Plan promotes high quality design of housing
development that takes into account its physical context, local character, density,
tenure and land use mix and relationship with, and provision for public, communal
and open spaces taking into account the needs of children and older people.

6.7.2

New development should conform to the minimum space standards set out in the
National Technical Housing Standards as shown in Table 4 (Table 3.3 of the
London Plan) below.

Page 225

Table 4 - Percentage tenure mix

6.7.3

Local Plan Policy Q1 further promotes inclusive environments, which is echoed
within the London Plan. Under the London Plan, development should, amongst
other things, enable people to live healthy active lives as per Policy 7.1, and be
inclusive including addressing the specific needs of older and disabled people as
per Policy 7.2.

6.7.4

Within the proposed development, the units would have GIA’s of between 39sqm
for the smallest 1-bedroom 1 person unit and 108sq.m for the largest 3-bedroom
5 person unit. All of the proposed units would meet the National Technical
Housing Standards in terms of overall size and bedroom size.

6.7.5

All of the units would also meet the requirements outlined in the Housing SPG in
relation to amenity space quantum and minimum dimensions. The number of
dwellings accessed from a single core does not exceed six and all units would
achieve a minimum 2.6 metre floor to ceiling heights to help promote natural
ventilation, with all habitable rooms also having access to full height windows.

6.7.6

Under the new National Technical Standards, London Plan Policy 3.8 is to be
interpreted so that the current standards relating to ‘lifetime homes’ and
‘wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable dwellings’ are removed, and instead:


90% of new dwellings will need to be ‘accessible and adaptable’ (this is
defined by building regulations – Part M4 (2)); and

Page 226



10% of new dwellings will need to be ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ (this is
defined by building regulations – Part M4 (3)).

6.7.7

The proposal provides 10% (16) wheelchair units to an adaptable standard, as
shown in Figure 10 below, distributed through all tenures and levels of the
development including provision in the affordable units in accordance with Part
M4 (3). This provision will be secured through an appropriate condition. The rest
of the affordable housing and market housing has been designed to meet Part
M4 (2) ‘Wheelchair User Dwelling’ as confirmed in the Design and Access
Statement. The scheme is therefore considered to accord with London Plan
Policy 3.12 which states that negotiating affordable housing should have regard
to the particular needs and circumstances within a location.

Figure 10 – location of 16 wheelchair adaptable units and layout example

6.7.8

Local Plan Policy H5 further outlines that proposals for new residential
redevelopment should accord with the principles of good design and will be
expected to provide:


Dual-aspect accommodation, unless exceptional circumstances are
demonstrated; and



Require for new flatted developments, communal amenity space of at least
50m2 per scheme should be provided, plus a further 10m2 per flat provided

Page 227

either as a balcony/terrace/private garden or consolidated with the communal
amenity space. Communal amenity space should:

6.7.9



receive natural light;



be screened from parking areas;



be easily accessible to all occupants

For developments of 10 or more units with at least one family-sized dwelling,
children’s play space should be provided where appropriate to at least the levels
set out in the London Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Shaping
Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation’. In exceptional circumstances
off-site provision may be acceptable.

6.7.10 All of the proposed 3-bedroom units would be dual aspect and there are no single
aspect units which are north facing, have 3 or more bedrooms, or are exposed to
a particularly poor external noise environment. All the single aspect units
proposed would be south facing and limited to 1-bedroom (17%) or 2-bedroom
(83%) units. These would all benefit from full height/full width glazing, taller than
usual clear internal height and well-proportioned layout to allow natural sunlight,
ventilation and views out.

Private/communal amenity space and child play space provision
6.7.11 Each residential unit would be provided with external amenity space in the form
of recessed balconies, which operate with a single glazed screen that can be
folded open and closed to allow for year round use.

6.7.12 Policy 3.6 of the London Plan seeks to ensure that development proposals
include suitable provision for play and recreation, with further detail in the Mayor’s
supplementary planning guidance ‘Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal
Recreation’, which sets a benchmark of 10sq.m of useable child play space to be
provided per child, with under-fives play space provided on-site as a minimum.

6.7.13 According to the GLA play space calculator, the child yield is expected to be 60,
with 27 under-fives, requiring 270sq.m of play space as a minimum and 600sqm
overall for the development. A total of 150sq.m of under-fives external play space

Page 228

is proposed at podium level, with illustrative proposals included. Although this is
below the minimum requirement, the proposal also includes a similarly sized area
of external residential amenity space at podium level, as well as generous areas
of new public open space at ground floor level.

6.7.14 The application also includes a detailed play space assessment, which identifies
considerable play provision within easy access of the site, with Pedlars Park,
Glasshouse Walk Playground, Black Prince Road and Playground, and Vauxhall
Pleasure Gardens all less than a minute’s walk away. The on-site provision of
play space on the site is therefore acceptable. In order to address the shortfall in
overall play-space, a financial contribution towards providing improved play
space near to the site would be secured by s.106 legal agreement.

Daylight, sunlight, privacy and aspect
6.7.15 Each apartment would have adequate light and ventilation and the proposal
would provide a good level of aspect for all future residents with appropriate
setbacks from the boundaries of the site and spacing in front of proposed
windows being provided. An internal daylight and sunlight assessment has been
provided with the application, as part of the Daylight and Sunlight Analysis report
undertaken by Point 2 Surveyors, to assess the quality of daylight and sunlight
into the new residential units. The report concludes that the scheme
demonstrates a full compliance with BRE Guidance in terms of internal daylight
amenity. The scheme has been designed well to allow good levels of daylight to
penetrate into the proposed units and distribute throughout the rooms efficiently –
especially in consideration of the site being located in an urban area.

6.7.16 Standard 5.1.1 of the Mayor’s Housing Design Guide states that habitable rooms
should be provided with suitable privacy. 18-21m is indicated as a suitable
minimum distance between facing habitable rooms, although the standard notes
that “adhering rigidly to these measures can limit the variety of urban spaces and
housing types in the city and can sometimes unnecessarily restrict density”. The
application includes a full analysis of separation distances on this spatially
constrained site. A separation distance of 18 metres is achieved between the 3
blocks, which will allow for privacy in line with standards in the Mayor’s Housing
SPG.

Page 229

6.7.17 With respect to the possible implications on amenity by way of overlooking and
impact on privacy to existing neighbouring occupiers, this has been addressed
through the careful positioning of windows and balconies to minimise the
potential for overlooking. The development has been designed to ensure that
privacy is maintained where the separation distances fall short of the 18m. The
windows and balconies within the 3 blocks are appropriately located and
designed to ensure no undue overlooking or loss of privacy to either Jameson or
Kennedy House, located approximately 9m and 10m respectively, to the south or
Arne House, located between 10.4m and 24m, to the east.

6.7.18 Similarly, at its closest point to the rear of the nearest neighbouring residential
properties in 79 Vauxhall Walk, located between 6.5m and 8.5m away to the
west, the western elevation of Block C incorporates directional glass to prevent
any undue overlooking between the proposed office and residential uses on the
second and third floors, as well as overlooking of the existing commercial uses to
the west and residential properties neighbouring the site. The visibility through
the directional glass would be opaque (1.4m from finished floor level) when future
occupants of the proposed residential units look down onto 79 Vauxhall Walk.
There would only be visibility when the occupants look up away from the
neighbouring buildings. Fins would also be incorporated at the edge of the
balcony areas and spaced apart so that there are gaps between the fins to allow
clear views through from certain angles and for air flow onto the proposed
balconies. The fins would be angled so that the clear views are directed away
from the neighbouring buildings’ windows to ensure no undue overlooking or loss
of privacy.

6.8
6.8.1

Design, Conservation and Heritage
The NPPF attaches great importance to the design of the built environment.
Paragraph 17 gives 17 core planning principles. One of these principles is
‘always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all
existing and future occupants of land and buildings’. Paragraph 56 states that
‘The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places
better for people’.

Page 230

6.8.2

Paragraph 58 identifies 6 points that decisions should aim to ensure in all
development. These include, adding to the overall quality of the area,
establishing a strong sense of place, responding to local character and being
visually attractive. Paragraph 59 states that local planning authorities should
consider using design codes where they could help deliver high quality outcomes.
Paragraph 61 highlights the importance of the visual appearance and architecture
but also addresses the importance of connections between people and places
and the natural, built and historic environment.

6.8.3

Paragraph 63 places weight on outstanding or innovative design. Paragraph 69
seeks to promote safe and accessible developments, containing clear and legible
pedestrian routes, and high quality public space, which encourage the active and
continual use of public areas. The NPPF also refers to heritage assets in
paragraph 133 which states that where a development will lead to substantial
harm to a heritage asset it should be refused unless it can be demonstrated that
the substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits which
outweigh that harm or loss. Paragraph 134 states that a less than substantial
harm to the significance of heritage assets should be weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal.

6.8.4

Policies 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan state that new development should be
complementary to the established local character and that architecture should
make a positive contribution and have a design which is appropriate to its
context.

6.8.5

This section of the report considers design and conservation (heritage) matters
arising from the proposed development. It is set out under the following subheadings:

a) Demolition
b) Design, layout and scale;
c) Public realm and landscaping;
d) Impact on heritage assets; and
e) Strategic and Local Views.

6.8.6

The Council’s Design and Conservation Team’s comments have been
incorporated into this section of the report.

Page 231

Demolition
6.8.7

The site comprises a series of C20th mostly vacant and derelict buildings, part of
a former bed manufacturing site, located at the rear of buildings fronting Vauxhall
Walk and fronting Worgan Street and Jonathan Street. The mostly 3 to 4 storey
19th Century former commercial / industrial premises to the west (fronting
Vauxhall Walk) are within the Albert Embankment Conservation Area which has
been identified as being sensitive to tall buildings in the Vauxhall SPD. Nearby is
the Spring Mews student block which is 8 storeys and beyond to the west is the
Albert Embankment tall building cluster.

6.8.8

To the immediate east are Jonathan House and Arne House (5 storey, inter-war
walk-up flats) which form part of the Vauxhall Garden Estate Conservation Area.
The Kennington Conservation Area is further north east. To the north, across
Jonathan Street are Hayman Point and Coverley Point - 13 storey residential
towers set in a soft landscaped urban block. A little distance to the south is the
Vauxhall Conservation Area which includes Vauxhall Pleasure Gardens.

6.8.9

The existing buildings on the site, (both within and outside the conservation area)
are not of architectural or historic interest. As such, no objection is raised to their
demolition and the proposed redevelopment of the site.

Design, layout and scale
6.8.10 The site is located close to but outside the boundary of the Vauxhall SPD Area
which has numerous tall buildings (c90m / 30 storeys) both completed and under
construction. The building heights of the proposal are not tall in this context
(c17m / 4 storeys (Podium) / c38m / 10 storeys (Block A) and c50m / 14 storeys
(Blocks B and C)) and might be best called mid-rise. They mediate between the
tall buildings along Albert Embankment and the established low rise (4/5 storeys)
development further inland to the east. In this regard, the proposal would meet
the SPD aspirations for building heights stepping down from the tallest on Albert
Embankment. The height context already has mid-rise blocks too with Hayman
Point and Coverley Point (each at 13 storeys) to the immediate north. No
objection is therefore raised to the proposed height of the development.

Page 232

6.8.11 The 4 storey podium block fronting onto Worgan Street would have a building line
largely the same as the existing and set slightly further back to create a
consistent pavement depth. The height and width of the podium block is
comparable to the previous manufacturing structures on the site and that of the
surrounding early 20th century housing blocks. Along Worgan Street, the 4 storey
element would be viewed as a continuation of the neighbouring 5 storey
residential block. The building does not appear oppressive due to the two double
storey entrances with double height glazing above which break the building
frontage up. The Podium is acceptable in terms of its bulk, scale and mass.

6.8.12 The podium has an industrial character that references the historic use of the site
and that of the buildings fronting Vauxhall Walk and a horizontal emphasis which
references the adjoining residential and industrial architecture. The punched
openings, the use of facing brick, structural metal bracing and saw-tooth lanterns
add to the industrial aesthetic and provides a good response to its context.

6.8.13 Blocks A (10 storeys) and B (14 storeys) are set back from Worgan Street
towards Vauxhall Walk and Block C (14 storeys) acts as a marker on the junction
of Jonathan Street. The height of Blocks A and B will not be fully appreciated
from Worgan Street and that immediate vicinity because of the narrowness of the
streets. However, they will be visible in views from the west along Tinworth Street
and from Vauxhall Walk. Block C will be fully visible along Worgan Street,
Jonathan Street and the northern section of Vauxhall Walk.

6.8.14 The 3 blocks on the podium would have a similar industrial aesthetic but this is
handled in a slightly lighter manner so that there is a good ratio of wall to window.
The top of each block is pitched referencing the saw-tooth roofline of industrial
buildings and integrates the plant and lift over runs, which will not be visible from
the street or wider views of the building.

6.8.15 Overall, the massing arrangement of 3 distinct residential blocks above a 4-storey
podium creates an efficient core to unit ratio with no more than 6 units per core,
and a good proportion of dual aspect units. The form and massing of the
development is considered acceptable and introduces a defined shoulder height
of 4 commercial storeys, which is broadly consistent with the scale of surrounding
development. In the wider context, the height of the proposed 3 blocks stepping
up from 10 storeys at the southern end of the site, to 14 storeys to the north,

Page 233

adjacent to the 13 storey blocks of Hayman’s Point, mediates between the lower
rise areas to the east, and the emerging cluster of tall buildings of over 20 storeys
along the Albert Embankment.

6.8.16 The architectural response proposed draws on the character and proportions of
the industrial heritage of the area, resulting in a distinctive appearance, which is
supported. The use of high quality brickwork, multi-paned, recessed metal
windows and saw-tooth roofs creates a calm and restrained industrial style
building positively contributes to its context skyline. The development would
therefore respect the character, context and the form and scale of neighbouring
buildings and would sit comfortably within the street scene and surrounding area.

Public realm and landscaping
6.8.17 The proposed internal courtyard accessed from the south, west and east provides
much-needed amenity space within the site and integrates it into the
neighbourhood. The design principles underpinning the application, including new
public pedestrian routes through the site, new areas of public realm, much
improved definition to the urban block, and the widening of the currently narrow
footway on Worgan Street, are strongly supported.

6.8.18 The inclusion of a basement level containing most servicing allows the
development to achieve very good levels of active frontage on surrounding
streets and the proposed public courtyard spaces, will serve both the commercial
and residential users of the site with 3 residential entrance cores located at the
base of each block. Splayed openings provide high visibility to the courtyards
from surrounding streets, encouraging pedestrians to enter the site from the north
and east; and for intended links to the west and south through the existing
developments to Vauxhall Walk.

6.8.19 The landscape drawings provided suggest a high quality and consistent
sequence of new public spaces, including planting, seating and amenity areas.
Shared private external residential amenity space is also provided at fourth floor
podium level, including play space, with access from all 3 cores, which is
welcome. Details of all areas of hard and soft landscaping within the development
are to be secured by condition in any permission granted to ensure that they are
robust and fit for purpose.

Page 234

6.8.20 The applicant’s aspiration to allow the ground floor courtyard space to be
publically accessible during the day is supported. Given the courtyard contains
the residential entrances to the proposed blocks, gates are intended to be
installed at its entrances that would be locked after dark making it private and
reducing the possibility of anti-social behaviour within this area that could disturb
future residents of the development. Conditions requiring full details of the gates
and intended opening times would be attached to any permission granted.

Impact on heritage assets
Legislative framework and national policy considerations
6.8.21 This section sets out the legislative and national policy context for the officer
assessment of the impact of the development proposal on the historic
environment and its heritage assets.

Legislative framework
The following legal commentary is provided:

6.8.22 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
(“PLBCAA”) provides that in considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or
its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses.

6.8.23 Section 72(1) PLBCAA provides that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings
or other land in a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of
(amongst others) the planning Acts, special attention shall be paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the
conservation area.

6.8.24 The South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment
case and the Barnwell Manor case (East Northamptonshire DC v SSCLG)
establish that “preserving” in both s.66 and s.72 means “doing no harm’.

Page 235

National Planning Policy Framework
6.8.25 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out 12 “core planning principles” that should
underpin both plan-making and decision-taking. Those principles include the
following:
“Planning should always seek to secure high quality design and should conserve
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance so that they can be
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations”.
6.8.26 The NPPF defines a “heritage asset” as:
“A building, monument, site place, area or landscape identified as having a
degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its
heritage interest”.

6.8.27 The definition includes both designated heritage assets (of which, a Listed
Building and a Conservation Area are relevant here) and assets identified by the
Local Planning Authority (including local listing).
6.8.28 “Significance” is defined within the NPPF as being:
“The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its
heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or
historic. Significance derives from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also
from its setting”.

6.8.29 Paragraph 129 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a
proposal (including by development affecting its setting), taking account of the
available evidence and any necessary expertise. That assessment should then
be taken into account when considering the impact of the proposal on the
heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.

6.8.30 Paragraphs 131 and 132 of the NPPF provide as follows:

Page 236

“131. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take
account of: the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can
make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character
and distinctiveness.

132. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the
heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage assets are
irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification.
Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or garden should be
exceptional…”

6.8.31 Paragraph 133 of the NPPF deals with substantial harm to, or total loss of
significance of significance, of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 134 of the
NPPF provides that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing
its optimum viable use.

6.8.32 Officers also have regard to the accompanying Planning Practice Guidance to the
NPPF in respect of conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

Approach required
6.8.33 Turning to consider the application of the legislative and policy requirements set
out above, the first step is for the decision-maker to consider each of the
designated heritage assets (referred to hereafter simply as “heritage assets”)
which would be affected by the Development in turn and assess whether the
proposed development would result in any harm to the heritage asset.

Page 237

6.8.34 The decision of the Court of Appeal in Barnwell Manor confirms that the
assessment of the degree of harm to the heritage asset is a matter for the
planning judgement of the decision-maker.

6.8.35 However, where the decision-maker concludes that there would be some harm to
the heritage asset, in deciding whether that harm would be outweighed by the
advantages of the proposed development the decision-maker is not free to give
the harm such weight as the decision-maker thinks appropriate. Rather, Barnwell
Manor establishes that a finding of harm to a heritage asset is a consideration to
which the decision-maker must give considerable importance and weight in
carrying out the balancing exercise.
6.8.36 There is therefore a “strong presumption” against granting planning permission
for development which would harm a heritage asset. In the Forge Field case, the
High Court explained that the presumption is a statutory one. It is not irrefutable.
It can be outweighed by material considerations powerful enough to do so.
However, a Local Planning Authority can only properly strike the balance
between harm to a heritage asset on the one hand, planning benefits on the other
if it is conscious of the statutory presumption in favour of preservation, and if it
demonstrably applies that presumption to the proposal it is considering.

6.8.37 The case law also establishes that even where the harm identified is less than
substantial (i.e. falls within paragraph 134 of the NPPF), that harm must still be
given considerable importance and weight.

6.8.38 Where more than one heritage asset would be harmed by the proposed
development, the decision-maker also needs to ensure that when the balancing
exercise is undertaken, the cumulative effect of those several harms to individual
assets is properly considered. The decision-maker might for example conclude
that there are adverse impacts on heritage features, which individually and
cumulatively result in less than substantial harm. However, less than substantial
harm does not mean insignificant harm. Considerable importance and weight
must be attached to each of the harms identified and to their cumulative effect.

6.8.39 What follows is an officer assessment of the extent of harm which would result
from the proposed development to the scoped heritage assets provided by the
applicant as part of its submission. Both an individual assessment against each

Page 238

heritage asset as well a cumulative assessment is provided. This is then followed
by an assessment of the heritage benefits of the proposals.

6.8.40 Officers have carried out an assessment of the significance required by
paragraph 129 of the NPPF. In these circumstances, the table below (taken from
British Standard document BS7913-2013) is useful in terms of assessing impact:

Figure 11: Magnitude of impact plotted against value.

Designated Heritage Assets

Westminster World Heritage Site
6.8.41 There will be no impact due to the distance between the WHS and the proposal
site and the intervening tall building development.

Statutory Listed Buildings
6.8.42 As per the NPPF and LLP Policy Q20, development should conserve and not
harm the significance/special interest of statutory listed buildings and should not
harm the significance of their setting (including views to and from). The applicant
has provided a detailed analysis of the impacts on statutory listed buildings within
the context of the site. This has been scrutinised by the Council’s Design and
Conservation Team who agree with their findings. Table 5 below sets out the full
consideration of the impacts considered:

Page 239

Building

Assessment

Applicant

Officer

Conclusion

Conclusion

Negligible

No impact

Officers Assessment

Church of

There is likely to be

St Peters

some visibility of the

narrowness of the

Kennington

development within

street, and the

Lane

the locality of the

location of the

Church, however

development site in

there is likely to be

relation to the

very limited or no

church; the church is

direct visibility of the

not seen within the

in relation to the

context of the site.

Grade II*

Given the

Church. It is unlikely
to affect the
immediate setting of
the Church and
would not alter the
general character of
its existing wider
setting.
Former St

There is likely to be

Peters

some visibility of the

of the site along St

School

site in views along St

Oswalds Place

Kennington

Oswald’s Place. It

would be seen within

Lane

would be limited and

the context of the

distant. The tops of

existing and

the blocks would be

emerging Albert

seen within the listed

Embankment tall

building’s wider

building cluster.

Grade II*

Negligible

No impact

The limited visibility

setting which already
includes a range of
building types and
scales.
St Peters

There is likely to be

Vicarage

some visibility of the

of the site along St

St Oswalds

site in relation to the

Oswalds Place

Place

Vicarage in views

would be seen within

along St Oswald’s

the context of the

Place. However it

existing and

would be limited and

emerging Albert

distant. The tops of

Embankment tall

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

The limited visibility

Page 240

the blocks would be

building cluster.

seen within the listed
building’s wider
setting which already
includes a range of
building types and
scales.
Herbert

There is likely to be

House

some visibility of the

of the site along St

St Oswalds

site within the locality

Oswalds Place

of Herbert House,

would be seen within

however there is

the context of the

likely to be very

existing and

limited or no direct

emerging Albert

visibility. The mixed

Embankment tall

character of its wider

building cluster.

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

The limited visibility

setting already
includes a range of
building types and
scales.
337

The south side of

Kennington

Kennington Lane

listed building within

Lane

forms its primary

the context of the

setting, and the

site.

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

You do not view the

distance of the site it
is unlikely that the
site will be seen from
or in relation to the
setting of this
building.

Roman

Due to its location

Negligible

No Impact

You do not view the

Catholic

opposite to the north,

listed building within

Church of

and the distance of

the context of the

St Anne

the site, it is unlikely

site.

Kennington

that the site will be

Lane

seen from or in
relation to the setting

Grade II

of this building.

St Annes

Due to its location

House

opposite to the north,

Negligible

No Impact

You do not view the
listed building within

Page 241

Kennington

and the distance of

the context of the

Lane

the site, it is unlikely

site.

that the site will be
Grade II

seen from or in
relation to the setting
of this building.

365 & 367

Due to its location

Kennington

opposite to the north,

listed building within

Lane

and the distance of

the context of the

the site, it is unlikely

site.

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

You do not view the

that the site will be
seen from or in
relation to the setting
of this building.

Southbank

Due to the

Negligible

No Impact

The site will not be

House

narrowness of Black

seen within the

Black

Prince Road and the

setting of the listed

Prince

separation of the

building.

Road

streetscape by the
rail viaduct in its

Grade II

immediate setting, it
is unlikely that the
site would be visible
from within its close
setting.

Western

Due to the

block of

orientation of Black

of the site within the

No.39

Prince Road, the

context of the listed

Black

distance to the site

building would be

Prince

and existing

viewed in the context

Road

residential blocks in

of the existing and

(Former

the vicinity, there is

emerging Albert

Beaufoy

unlikely to be any

Embankment tall

Institute)

direct visibility

building cluster and

between the listed

Haymans and

building and the site

Coverley Point.

and there is likely to
be very limited or no
visibility of the site
from its setting.

Negligible

No Impact

Any limited visibility

Page 242

Day

As for the

Hospital St

neighbouring Former

of the site within the

Thomas’

Beaufoy Institute,

context of the listed

Children’s

there is unlikely to be

building would be

Department

any direct visibility

viewed in the context

between the listed

of the existing and

Black

building and the site

emerging Albert

Prince

and there is likely to

Embankment tall

Road

be very limited or no

building cluster and

visibility of the site

Haymans and

Grade II

from its setting.

Coverley Point.

Woodstock

Due to the

Court

orientation of Black

of the site within the

Newburn

Prince Road, there is

context of the listed

Street

unlikely to be any

building would be

visibility of the site

viewed in the context

when looking across

of the existing and

Woodstock Court

emerging Albert

from that street.

Embankment tall

There is likely to be

building cluster and

some visibility from

Haymans and

within its setting to

Coverley Point.

Grade II*

Negligible

Negligible

No Impact

No Impact

Any limited visibility

Any limited visibility

the south on Sancroft
Street, however it is
likely to be very
limited and fleeting.
Newquay

The same as for

House

Woodstock Court

Negligible

No Impact

Any limited visibility
of the site within the

Newburn

context of the listed

Street

building would be
viewed in the context

Grade II

of the existing and
emerging Albert
Embankment tall
building cluster.

Page 243

Kennington

The same as for

Palace
Court

Woodstock Court

Negligible

No Impact

Any limited visibility
of the site within the
context of the listed
building would be
viewed in the context

Sandcroft
Street

of the existing and
emerging Albert
Embankment tall

Grade II

building cluster.
49 and 51

There would be

Sancroft

some visibility of the

of the site within the

Street

top of the northerly
block (C) due to the

context of the listed
building would be

orientation of the
street. However very

viewed in the context
of the existing and

little of it would be
seen, it would be

emerging Albert
Embankment tall

screened by street

building cluster.

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

Any limited visibility

trees in most places
and would appear in
relation to existing
tall building tops
beyond on the Albert
Embankment.
1-32, 45-

Due to the

Negligible

51, 2-16,
54-84, 86

orientation of
Cardigan Street, it is

of the site within the
context of the listed

and 88,

unlikely that the site

building would be

Cardigan
Street

will be seen in
relation to or from

viewed in the context
of the existing and

Grade II

close to the listed
buildings on this

emerging Albert
Embankment tall

street.

building cluster.
No Impact

Any limited visibility

231245,Kennin

Due to the distance
of the site, its scale,

gton Lane

and townscape in
between, it is unlikely

context of the listed
building would be

that the site will be
seen in relation to or

viewed in the context
of the existing and

from the close setting

emerging Albert

of these listed
buildings.

Embankment tall
building cluster.

Grade II

Negligible

No Impact

Any limited visibility
of the site within the

Page 244

Officers

Parts of the blocks

Mess and
Commanda

will be glimpsed
between the

nts House

residential towers on
Albert Embankment

Negligible

No Impact

The site is not seen
within the setting of
the listed building.

and will contribute to
Tate
Gallery

Millbank
Tower

the visual character
of the eastbank. The
site would have very
little visibility beyond
the River frontage
and would not alter
the overall character
of the east bank and
how it appears from
within the setting of
the listed building.

Table 5 – Impact on statutory listed buildings

6.8.43 The nearest listed building is approximately 200 metres from the site. The
proposal will not harm the setting of any statutory listed buildings and any impact
would be negligible.

Conservation Areas
Albert Embankment Conservation Area
6.8.44 The site sits partly within the conservation area which largely runs along
Lambeth’s River Thames frontage from the borough boundary at Nine Elms to
Westminster Bridge. In the immediate locality of the site, the conservation area is
characterised by the Victoria railway viaduct and surviving elements of the 19th
century industrial development which are all largely constructed in brick. This 19th
Century industrial character is important.

6.8.45 As stated above, the proposal would be constructed in brick and with an industrial
character it provides a correct, contextual response to the locality. Whilst the top
of the blocks will be visible in views eats along Tinworth Street, the impact is not
a harmful one. Indeed the design reinforces the industrial character. There is
clearly a change to the setting of the conservation area but the design quality is

Page 245

high and contextual. The proposal would preserve the character and setting of
the Albert Embankment Conservation Area.

Vauxhall Gardens Estate Conservation Area
6.8.46 This conservation area is located to the east and is a large inter-war estate of
walk-up blocks and amenity spaces. The architectural character is a sort-of
streamlined Neo-Georgian and the buildings are all in brick. The proposal’s linear
podium reinforces the strong parapet line and massing of the 1930’s blocks
across Worgan Street. This is a contextual response to the character of the
conservation area. Looking west from the conservation area, modern and tall
development is already characterful of its setting. Blocks A, B and C will reinforce
this existing varied character. Whilst the scheme will be visible from the
conservation area it will cause no harm to its setting of the Vauxhall Gardens
Estate Conservation Area.

Vauxhall Conservation Area
6.8.47 This conservation area covers a substantial area which stretches from Vauxhall
Pleasure Gardens to South Lambeth Road and Kennington Oval and has a 19th
century mixed urban character. In views across Vauxhall Pleasure Gardens, the
proposed Blocks A, B, and C will be visible in views north across Vauxhall
Gardens and the side street leading from Kennington Lane northwards (Tyers
Street, Auckland Street etc.). However, in these views the proposed Blocks A, B
and C sit within the wider context of taller buildings in the background of varying
scale. The use of brick also helps to anchor them into their historic urban context.
The proposal will not harm the setting of the Vauxhall Conservation Area.

Kennington Conservation Area
6.8.48 This conservation area is located further east of the site and is characterised by
smart terraced housing dating from the 18th century onwards. The brick forms of
Blocks A, B and C will be visible in the distance from locations along the western
side of the conservation area. In these views they are seen in the foreground of
the existing Albert Embankment tall building cluster and Heyman and Coverley

Page 246

Point. The addition of these relatively small brick forms in these views will cause
no harm to the setting of the Kennington Conservation Area.

6.8.49 In conclusion, the proposal will have no adverse impact on the character and
appearance of any conservation areas.

Non-designated Heritage Assets (local heritage list)
6.8.50 There are a number of locally listed assets in the immediate locality. These are
mostly 19th Century corner public houses (Crown, Block Dog, Tea House
Theatre, etc.). The little war memorial plaque in the western entrance to the site
is also locally listed. The proposal will not impact on the settings of these assets.

Strategic and Local Views.
Strategic Views
Protected Vista Parliament Hill Summit to Palace of Westminster 2A.2
6.8.51 The development would be 1.8m above the height of the threshold plane in the
background of the viewing corridor although it would be largely concealed by the
Regents Place development on Euston Road. This is a very modest height
increase given the long distance of the view. It is likely not to be discernible to the
naked eye and would not affect a viewer’s ability to recognise and appreciate the
Palace of Westminster in this view. The proposal would not therefore have any
adverse impact on this protected vista.

Protected Vista Parliament Hill Oak Tree to Palace of Westminster 2B.1
6.8.52 The development would be 1.8m above the height of the threshold plane in the
background of the viewing corridor. The central block would appear at the base of
the central lobby lantern of the Palace of Westminster, with the northerly block to
the left. Viewed form this angle the blocks overlap and appear as a single
roofline. It may just be visible to the naked eye. This amounts to small scale
incremental change to the background of the three towers and would not
dominate the individual towers or diminish the spatial relationship between them.

Page 247

It would not affect the viewer’s ability to recognise and appreciate the Palace of
Westminster. The protected vista does not preclude the development in the
backdrop of these protect views, it seeks to ensure that the Palace of
Westminster is recognisable as stated in paragraph 103 of the applicant’s
Townscape Heritage and Visual Impact Assessment. At this distance, the 1.8m
above the threshold plane would form part of the various shades of grey at the
rear of the palace and would not have an adverse visual impact.

Protected Silhouette Parliament Square to Palace of Westminster 27a
6.8.53 The site is within the backdrop of this protected silhouette. The proposal will have
no adverse impact on this view.

Local Views
6.8.54 The impact on the views protected in the Lambeth Local Plan, with particular
emphasis on those in the locality, have been carefully considered. The
development would not be visible in the following local views:


View NNE from Brockwell Park to Victoria Tower;



View N from Brockwell Park to the city; and



View NNE from Norwood Park to the city.

Millbank opposite Tate Britain

6.8.55 Part of the northern block will be visible, but is considerably lower than the
foreground embankment schemes and would be seen within the context of lower
scale hinterland buildings. As such, the proposal would have no adverse impact
on this locally protected view.

6.8.56 In summary, the proposal would not harm the setting of any of the neighbouring
listed buildings or designate heritage assets and would respect the character and
appearance of the conservation areas which are nearby. It would respect the
character, context and the form and scale of neighbouring buildings and would sit
comfortably within the streetscene and surrounding area. Conditions requiring
external construction detailing at 1:10 scale (including sections) to include soffits,

Page 248

screens, hard landscaping, boundaries and means of enclosure, vents, plant,
screening, extracts, balustrades, copings, rain water goods, windows and doors
etc. and a sample panel of the external materials (showing key construction
details) to be erected on site for the approval of a conservation / design officer
are considered appropriate to ensure a satisfactory appearance on completion of
the development.

6.8.57 As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990,
the NPPF and Council policy.

6.9
6.9.1

Neighbour Amenity
One of the core planning principles (paragraph 17) in the NPPF is that decisions
should “always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”. London Plan
Policy 7.1 states that in their neighbourhoods, people should have a good quality
environment.

6.9.2

Local Plan policy Q2 only supports development if visual amenity from adjoining
sites and from the public realm is not unacceptably compromised, acceptable
standards of privacy are provided, adequate outlook is provided, while undue
sense of enclosure and overlooking is avoided, and daylight and sunlight levels to
both the host property and surrounding properties are not compromised.

Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
6.9.3

In accordance with Lambeth Local Plan 2015 Policy Q2 (Amenity) the application
is accompanied by a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment prepared by
Point2Surveyors. This provides an assessment of the potential impact of the
development on sunlight, daylight and overshadowing to neighbouring residential
properties based on the approach set out in the Building Research
Establishment’s (BRE) ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Good
Practice Guide’. This includes an assessment of impacts on the site’s residential
neighbours.

Page 249

6.9.4

The BRE guidelines are not mandatory; they do however act as a guide to help
understand the impact of a development upon properties, while acknowledging
that in some circumstances, such as that of an urban environment or where the
existing site is only previously partially developed some impact may be
unavoidable. It should be further noted that the BRE guide considers level of
daylight, sunlight and overshadowing tests based on an expectation of
reasonable levels of light within a suburban context and this should be kept in
mind when considering a central London context as is the case for the application
site.

6.9.5

The Council has sought an independent review of the report findings in respect of
possible impacts of the new development on surrounding sites and within the
development itself. This review was undertaken by Schroeders Begg Ltd. Their
assessment considers a number of tests:


The 25 degree line: Properties will very likely retain good levels of daylight
and sunlight if new development does falls below a 25 degree line to the
horizontal drawn from the centre of the lowest window;



Vertical Sky Component (VSC): A measure of the amount of skylight
available at the centre of a habitable room window (ratio compared to
horizontal plane) and also, the amount of direct skylight received inside the
corresponding habitable room. The BRE guide states that daylighting may be
affected if the VSC calculation is less than 27% and less than 0.8 times its
former value;



Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH): Is a measure of the average
number of hours per year in which direct sunlight is received by a window.
The BRE guide states that rooms may be affected if they receive less than
25% APSH for the year and 5% APSH for the winter; and less than 0.8 times
former value;



Daylight Distribution / No skyline test: A measure that calculates the
amount of area of a habitable rooms which receives direct skylight and how
much does not. The BRE guide highlights if less than 0.8 times former value,
reductions will be noticeable;



Shadowing: The BRE guide recommends that at least half the area of an
amenity space should receive at least 2hrs of sunlight on the equinox (21
March); and

Page 250



Average Daylight Factor (ADF): Is a measure of the daylight received inside
a habitable room. The BRE guide recommends that the minimum ADF values
should be achieved for bedrooms (1%), living rooms (1.5%) and kitchens
(2%).

6.9.6

The following surrounding properties, as shown in Figure 11 below, contain
residential accommodation and, due to their proximity to the development site,
have been assessed in terms of the effects of the proposed development upon
their daylight and sunlight amenity:
 79 Vauxhall Walk;
 1-87 Arne House, Worgan Street;
 1-25 Jameson House;
 1-25 Kennedy House, Vauxhall Walk;
 1-72 Haymans Point;
 1-10 Amber Heights, Jonathan Street; and

Daylight
6.9.7

The main consideration for neighbouring daylight review is in reference to the
vertical sky component (VSC) and daylight distribution (where room layouts are
known) as per the BRE Guide but reference can and has also be made to the
average daylight factor (ADF) to assist with supplementary consideration on
daylighting levels, especially given the existing massing on site is fairly limited
and so some neighbouring properties have higher levels of daylight (ordinarily the
case of an urban location).

6.9.8

The review has focused upon the conventional BRE Guide analysis of VSC and
daylight distribution review. However, given that a significant number of analysis
results do not meet BRE Guide target criteria (especially given the fairly minimal
massing on site), the extent of any ‘adverse impact’ has been categorised on the
basis of the typical Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) with reductions that
exceed 20% (i.e. ‘adverse / noticeable effect) being defined as follows:
 Minor Adverse: Reductions in VSC of 20% to 29.9%;
 Moderate Adverse: Reductions VSC 30% to 39.9%; and

Page 251

 Major Adverse: Reduction is VSC equal / greater than 40%.

6.9.9

The reductions in daylight for the residential neighbouring properties can be
summarised as follows:

79 Vauxhall Walk
6.9.10 There are 10 existing flats with windows facing the site of which 8 flats have living
rooms with primary windows facing the site and 2 flats have only ‘secondary’
living room windows facing the site. Based on a review of the living rooms (with
other habitable rooms such as bedrooms having similar results), there are major
adverse noticeable reductions in VSC (not meeting the BRE Guide) to the 8 living
room. Whilst 3 of the living rooms have a balcony soffit above which restricts
daylight, an analysis ‘without balconies’ results in a fairly minimal difference
compared to the ‘with balconies’ analysis as the balconies are relatively small.
Conversely, in terms of daylight distribution, only 2 of the living rooms do not
meet BRE Guide target criteria with ‘major adverse’ noticeable reductions.

6.9.11 In order to further consider the impact of daylight reduction, ADF has also been
considered and it can be concluded that an adverse effect in ADF will occur to 6
living rooms (associated bedrooms, follow a slightly worse outcome albeit
daylight to bedrooms is considered less important than to living rooms). Thus in
summary, there is a major adverse noticeable reduction to daylight to 8 living
rooms (and associated bedrooms etc.) based on a VSC review but this could be
considered to reduce to 6 living rooms (but also , various bedrooms etc.) if
alternative target values for retained ADF are included.

6.9.12 There is therefore some significant adverse effect from the proposal to this
neighbouring property. However, it is fair to say, the situation is in part,
exacerbated by the fairly minimal existing massing on the application site, which
is unusual for an urban context, and the proximity of windows to the boundary (in
consideration of such aspects as mirror-development etc.).

Page 252

1-87 Arne House, Worgan Street
6.9.13 This residential block, which runs parallel and opposite to the site for circa twothirds of its length, has a deck access facing the site with the main living rooms
predominately face away from the site (on the elevation facing onto Tyers Street).
Whilst the main rooms facing the site appear to be bedrooms (where daylight
could be considered less important) and small kitchens (which could be
considered strictly not a ‘habitable room’ due to limited size), there may be some
isolated living rooms (Point2Surveyors have considered 4 possible living rooms
per floor as an anticipated ‘worst case’ scenario).

6.9.14 The building comprises 5 storeys and it would appear that there are 17 flats per
storey. The analysis has considered results for windows serving habitable rooms
outside of the deck-access areas and has divided Arne House into 3 sections for
interpretation (‘south section’, ‘mid-section’ and ‘north section’). Based on these
sample-points , the following can be concluded in terms of the VSC and daylight
distribution:

6.9.15 South section of Arne House: Reductions to sample points typically met BRE
Guide target criteria.

6.9.16 Mid-section of Arne House: Reductions to sample points typically do not meet
BRE Guide target criteria. Typically, for VSC reductions, these are noticeable and
range from ‘moderate’ to ‘major’ adverse and ‘minor’ to ‘moderate’ for daylight
distribution with some lessening impact, especially for the 4th floor for daylight
distribution.
6.9.17 North section of Arne House: Similar to the results for the ‘mid-section’ although
perhaps slightly worse. In consideration of windows / rooms analysed where the
deck-access is present, it is evident that percentage reductions are often greater
than the aforementioned sample analysis. This is because the presence of the
deck-access results in fairly minimal existing levels of VSC (daylight distribution is
less affected). Increased sensitivity to any increase in obstruction or massing
occurs when starting with such small VSC levels. Therefore a reduction of a few
percentage points in VSC level can result in a proportionately high percentage
reduction overall.

Page 253

The BRE Guide does allow for analysis, ‘without balconies’ but the review
concludes that the results would be similar to those sample points which do not
have balcony soffits present. However, it is worth highlighting that when such
daylight levels are so low to start with (and in consideration also of the ADF
results provided by Point 2 Surveyors), it is probable that, for the deck-access
rooms, a greater degree of artificial electrical lighting will be relied upon
(compared to well-lit rooms). Therefore the shift change with the proposal is
unlikely to be dramatically altered when some already increased reliance on
artificial lighting exists.

6.9.18 In summary, for approximately 2/3rds of Arne House (north and mid-sections), it
can be concluded that there will be an adverse effect from the proposal resulting
in moderate to major adverse reductions in VSC daylight and to a lesser extent in
daylight distribution. In terms of windows / rooms along the deck-access / soffit,
such reductions are exacerbated by the presence of the deck-access bringing
greater sensitivity to the increase in obstruction / massing, albeit, there is already
an anticipated increase in the reliance of electrical lighting to such rooms.

1-25 Jameson House
6.9.19 Jameson House is a 5 storey deck-accessed residential block similar in
arrangement to that of Arne House but smaller and on plan, similar in size to the
south section of Arne House but on the opposite side of Worgan Street (albeit the
deck-access does not face out onto Worgan Street but towards the twin block
opposite known as Kennedy House). Given the L-shape arrangement of
Jameson House, there are few windows that face the proposal directly. Similar to
Arne House, for windows reviewed outside of the deck-access, with only isolated
exception (adverse moderate reduction), reductions in VSC range from meeting
the BRE Guide to ‘minor adverse’ and should be considered reasonable for an
urban context.

6.9.1

By way of background, the windows set-back within the deck-access walkway
have greater reductions but for the same reasons as outlined for Arne House in
terms of increase sensitivity and for ‘without balconies’ analysis, results should be
no worse than those considered for the sample review. However, in addition,
where windows are placed within the set-back of the deck-access and close to
internal corner of the block, reductions will be more acute but equally, with limited

Page 254

daylight to commence with. In terms of daylight distribution, this is typically
slightly better than VSC albeit some isolated rooms with windows within the deckaccess have an adverse reduction.

6.9.2

In summary, the reduction in daylight for Jameson House should be considered
reasonable in an urban context and given / factoring the inherent deck-access
and L-shape design arrangement of Jameson House.

1-25 Kennedy House, Vauxhall Walk
6.9.3

Kennedy House is a 5 storey deck-accessed residential block and appears
effectively as a twin block to Jameson House and in mirror-arrangement opposite.
However, unlike Jameson House, there is a window in the north flank end.

6.9.4

Given the L-shape arrangement of Kennedy House, there are few windows that
face the proposal directly. Similar to Jameson House, windows outside of the
deck-access have been reviewed although in this instance, the reductions in VSC
are typically ‘minor adverse’ with some reductions just falling within ‘moderate
adverse’. Whilst such reductions are slightly worse than Jameson House, these
should still be considered reasonable for an urban context.

6.9.5

By way of background, windows set-back within the deck-access walkway have
greater reductions but for the same reasons as outlined for Arne House in terms
of increase sensitive and for ‘without balconies’ analysis, results should be no
worse than those considered in the sample review. However, in addition, where
windows are placed within the set-back of the deck-access and close to internal
corner of the block, reductions will be more acute but equally, with limited daylight
to commence with). In terms of daylight distribution, this is typically better than
VSC albeit some isolated rooms with windows within the deck-access have a
minor adverse reduction.

6.9.6

In summary, the reduction in daylight for Kennedy House should be considered
reasonable in an urban context and given / factoring the inherent deck-access
and L-shape design arrangement of Kennedy House.

Page 255

1-72 Haymans Point
6.9.7

The tower block to the north comprises ground + 12 storeys of residential
(although ground floor is ancillary / non-residential). The 12 storeys of residential
(above ground storey) appear repetitive and for the south facing elevation facing
site, this appears to comprise windows serving 3 No bedrooms at the mid-section
with then windows serving a living room at either end (with each living room then
having a secondary window on the respective return flanks for provision of
daylight to a kitchen area at the back of the each living room). Thus at each
storey, the anticipated arrangement can be summarised as a two bedroom flat
and one bedroom flat with primary windows in the elevation facing site. The
bedroom windows are flush with the main façade whilst the living room windows
are recessed within a balcony thus balcony soffits are positioned above living
room windows.

6.9.8

In terms of daylight review, for VSC, the bedrooms, there are ‘moderate adverse’
noticeable reductions at 1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th floors (reductions up to 35.5%) and
‘minor adverse’ noticeable reductions at 5th floor (reductions up to 29.5%). At 6th
floor and above, reductions meet the BRE Guide target criteria. Despite these
adverse VSC reductions to the bedroom windows to circa mid-height of Haymans
Point, it should be highlighted that there is still a residual value in the proposed
scenario of circa VSC 21 at the lowest residential floor which could still be
considered reasonable for an urban context.

6.9.9

For the living room windows (in reference to the main living room windows which
face the site), there are ‘major adverse’ noticeable reductions in VSC for the
majority of all floors (up to and including the 9th floor), with the top three floors
having reductions that diminish but still range from ‘minor’ to ‘moderate’ adverse.
For the secondary flank windows (which serve the kitchen area), there is
negligible reductions as they do not face the site (these are away and
perpendicular to site). Whilst ‘without balconies’ (in reference to the living rooms)
analysis has not been provided, should such analysis be undertaken to the living
rooms, it is anticipated that the results would be similar to those of the reductions
presented for the bedroom windows (bedroom windows being flush with the
façade and adjacent to living rooms). Thus the adversity in terms of Haymans
Point could be stated overall (in view of both living room and bedroom windows)

Page 256

as being ‘moderate adverse’ reductions to one-third of the residential tower with
diminishing effects thereafter (for VSC).

6.9.10 In terms of daylight distribution, all reductions are fairly minimal and readily meet
BRE Guide target criteria. The review anticipates that this limited affect from the
proposal to daylight distribution within these habitable rooms is in part, the result
that the largest rooms i.e. living rooms, are actually dual aspect given the
secondary flank window (serving the rear kitchen area).

6.9.11 As a further check on daylight to Haymans Point, consideration has also been
given to ADF. In the existing situation, all living rooms and bedrooms are above
target minimum standards. In the proposed scenario, whilst bedrooms would
continue to above the minimum target for ADF, for living rooms, the living rooms
to the 1st, 2nd ,3rd and 4th floor would fall below minimum ADF targets (albeit all
would be above bedroom standard). Thus it is reasonable to state and with
reference back to VSC and daylight distribution, there is a ‘moderate adverse’
noticeable reduction to the lowest one-third of applicable habitable rooms within
the Haymans Point / tower closest and facing site.

Amber Heights, Jonathan Street
6.9.12 Whilst the arrangement of this building is not fully known, the focus of the review
should be in reference to the south-west corner flat (closest to the proposal) at
raised ground floor, 1st, 2nd and 3rd floor. In terms of arrangement, it would
appear that each of these flats has an open-plan living room / kitchen in the
south-west corner which is dual aspect with west elevation window and those
windows forming the south-west corner balcony.

6.9.13 In terms of VSC, the reductions to the west window range from 35.82% at raised
ground floor to 34.91% at 3rd floor thus such reductions can be classed as
‘moderately’ adverse. For the balcony windows, from 1st to 3rd floor, windows
typically have a reduction of just over a reduction of 50% thus ‘major’ adverse
(analysis for raised ground floor may have an anomaly). For the remainder of
windows, the only other main window for consideration is on the south elevation
window with Juliet balcony (again at raised ground, 1st, 2nd & 3rd floor) which
may serve either a primary bedroom or living room. The reductions to this window

Page 257

range from 31.59% at raised ground floor to 25.70% at 3rd floor thus such
reductions can be classed as broadly ‘minor adverse’.

6.9.14 Thus in summary, VSC reductions to the 4 corner living rooms can be considered
‘moderate’ to ‘major’ adverse and south elevation primary bedroom/ living room
as broadly ‘minor’ adverse. In terms of daylight distribution, all reductions meet
BRE Guide target criteria with the exception of the room served by the south
elevation window with Juliet balcony which has reductions of 60.3% at raised
ground floor, 52.8% at 1st floor, 26.4% at 2nd floor and 25.4% at 3rd floor. Thus
in summary, a ‘major’ adverse noticeable reduction at raised and 1st floor and
‘minor’ adverse reduction at 2nd and 3rd floor.

6.9.15 In terms of ADF, for the corner living rooms, these would maintain a minimum
level of 1.5% with the exception of the raised ground floor which would achieve
an ADF of 1.34%. It is not possible to consider fully ADF analysis for the room
served by Juliet balcony window as room use is unknown.

Sunlight and overshadowing
6.9.16 On the aspect of sunlight to neighbouring habitable rooms (living rooms are the
main sun important rooms), the review considers that acceptable sunlight levels
are retained to applicable neighbouring living rooms with the exception of 79
Vauxhall Walk.

6.9.17 In consideration of the 10 living rooms applicable for assessment, for annual
sunlight (APSH), 8 living rooms have ‘major’ adverse noticeable reductions in
sunlight (albeit 3 would still retain a minimum level still relative close to target
benchmark of 25% APSH). Only 2 living rooms (out of the 10) would meet the
BRE Guide target criteria for APSH. For winter sunlight, out of the 10 living rooms
applicable for review, 8 living rooms have ‘major’ adverse noticeable reductions in
winter sunlight. Only 2 living rooms (out of the 10) would meet the BRE Guide
target criteria for winter sunlight. Thus in consideration to both APSH and winter
sunlight, it is reasonable to state that there is ‘major’ adverse reductions to
sunlight to 8 living rooms (although 3 of those living rooms would retain APSH still
relatively close to target benchmark).

Page 258

6.9.18 Point 2 have analysed one amenity / public area which is effectively the grassed
area in front of Haymans Point and that of Jonathan Street which meets the BRE
Guide target criteria. There appears to be no other amenity areas that are likely to
be affected by the proposal other than those highlight in respect of 79 Vauxhall
Walk. There are 2 amenity terraces at 3rd floor level which should also be
considered for analysis (anticipated adverse effect). In addition, there are 3 small
balconies albeit balconies are not normally analysis for sunlight given they often
relate to such a small area.

6.9.19 In terms of the self-testing of the proposed scheme, reasonable levels of daylight
and sunlight are provided to the residential elements of the scheme proposal.
Similarly, the amenity areas would receive acceptable levels of sunlight to allow
them to be appropriately used during the course of the day at peak-times.

6.9.20 On balance, considering all aspects in terms of daylight and sunlight, the
proposed scheme does result in some adverse and noticeable reductions in
daylight (and also for sunlight to 79 Vauxhall Walk) but for such reductions, these
need to be considered in reference to the detail and background to the particular
property under review. Some due consideration should be considered in
reference to the fairly minimal massing already on site which is unusual in an
urban context.

6.9.21 The review concludes that the proposed scheme does result in some adverse
and noticeable reductions in daylight and sunlight, particularly to 79 Vauxhall
Walk. However, some consideration should be given to the particular
characteristics of the properties reviewed and to the fairly minimal existing
massing on the application which is unusual in an urban context. It is also
reasonable to consider the identified effects alongside the planning merits of the
scheme overall.

6.9.22 In terms of provision of daylight and sunlight within the development (self-testing),
the proposal adheres closely to the BRE Guide.

Outlook, Openness, Privacy and Overlooking
6.9.23 As shown in Figure 11 below, the development has been designed to ensure no
undue overlooking or loss of privacy to either Jameson or Kennedy House,

Page 259

located approximately 9m and 10m respectively, to the south or Arne House,
located between 10.4m and 24m, to the east.

Figure 11 – relationship with neighbouring properties

6.9.24 Similarly, at its closest point to the rear of the nearest neighbouring residential
properties in 79 Vauxhall Walk, located between 6.5m and 8.5m away to the
west, the western elevation of Block C incorporates directional glass to prevent
any undue overlooking between the proposed office and residential uses on the
second and third floors, as well as overlooking of the existing commercial uses to
the west and residential properties neighbouring the site.

6.9.25 The visibility through the directional glass would be opaque (1.4m from finished
floor level) when future occupants of the proposed residential units look down
onto 79 Vauxhall Walk. There would only be visibility when the occupants look up
away from the neighbouring buildings. Fins would also be incorporated at the
edge of the balcony areas and spaced apart so that there are gaps between the
fins to allow clear views through from certain angles and for air flow onto the
proposed balconies. The fins would be angled so that the clear views are directed
away from the neighbouring buildings’ windows to ensure no undue overlooking
or loss of privacy. Full details of the fins and directional glass would be secured
by condition.

Page 260

6.9.26 Given the separation distances proposed and positioning of the proposed
windows and amenity areas, the proposed development would not appear
visually overbearing or result in any undue overlooking or loss of privacy to
neighbouring properties.

Noise and General Disturbance
6.9.27 Policy Q2 of the Local Plan states that development will be supported if the
impact of noise is reduced to an acceptable level through such things as the use
of attenuation, distance, screening or internal layout/orientation.

6.9.28 An acoustic assessment, undertaken by WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff, has been
submitted with the application which considers the noise impact of the proposal.
This includes a baseline survey undertaken in March 2017 to establish the
prevailing sound levels across the site and an assessment of the impact of
existing commercial plant affecting the site. Based on the measured sound levels
and the relevant indoor acoustic criteria, an assessment of the acoustic
performance of the glazed elements of the external building fabric has been
undertaken using BS 8233:2014 to determine internal and external sound levels
where no unusual circumstances are identified and BS 4142:2014 to inform plant
noise limits. Plant noise limits have taken into account the context at existing
receptors, and a limit of 5dB below the existing typical background sound level
has been considered suitable.

6.9.29 The assessment identifies the most onerous glazing requirements to be on the
façades with direct line of sight to elements of the railway (to the north, west and
at upper floors of the south façades of the proposed development). In order to
achieve the adopted internal acoustic criteria at these locations, glazing units of
habitable rooms are to be designed to achieve a sound reduction performance of
up to 30 dB RW.

6.9.30 Discussions regarding the potential for use of natural ventilation options have
been presented, and are summarised as follows:


Trickle ventilators are to be selected to provide background ventilation such
that the overall sound insulation performance of the external building fabric is
not undermined;

Page 261



External sound levels will not preclude the use of open windows for
circumstantial purge ventilation; and



Opening windows to provide thermal regulation will lead to exceedances of
the internal acoustic criteria at the worst-affected façades.

6.9.31 It is recommended that detailed calculations in line with BS 8233: 2014 are
undertaken at the detailed design stage to specify exact performance
requirement of the façade elements. This would be controlled by condition. For
buildings services plant likely to be associated with elements of the proposed
development, noise emission limits have been derived. These limits are in
keeping with the Council’s requirements for the protection of the existing and
proposed residential receptors.

6.9.32 The assessment is based on a noise monitoring survey, and the approach has
been discussed and agreed with the Council’s Environmental Health Officer.
Overall, it is concluded that appropriate mitigation can be provided to ensure
internal noise levels are acceptable across the development and within relevant
criteria as agreed with the Council.
6.9.33 No objection has been raised by the Council’s Noise Officer to the proposal. The
proposed development achieves acceptable standards for future and existing
residential occupiers, in accordance with national and local standards.

6.9.34 Subject to the above matters relating to sound insulation being secured by
condition, the proposal would not result in any significant increase in noise and
disturbance to neighbouring properties or future occupiers.

6.10 Transport
6.10.1 The NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport and in doing so it seeks to
ensure that new developments which generate significant movements are located
where the need to travel would be minimized and the use of sustainable modes
can be maximized. This is echoed by policies 6.1 and 6.3 of the London Plan
which also seeks to ensure that the impacts of development in transport capacity
and the transport network are fully assessed.

Page 262

6.10.2 Policies T3, T6, T7 and T8 of the Local Plan seek to ensure that proposals for
development will have a limited impact on the performance and safety of the
highway network and that sufficient and appropriate car parking and cycle
storage is provided whilst meeting objectives to encourage sustainable transport
and to reduce dependence on the private car. If development will have an
unacceptable transport impact, it should be refused in the absence of mitigation
measures to make the development acceptable.

Access and Accessibility

6.10.3 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 6a, which is
considered excellent. Increased housing density is encouraged within areas of
good public transport accessibility, as are car free developments.

6.10.4 The existing site has a number of vehicular access points, but the proposals
would consolidate all vehicular access to one point on Jonathan Street, at the
location of an existing access with crossover. The access will serve two car lifts
to take vehicles to the basement car park and servicing area. The vehicle lifts
would have a 6m waiting area which would be enough to accommodate a
maximum 4.6t box van.

6.10.5 The proposals would improve the Worgan Street footway, which is currently
constrained by existing planters, bollards, dropped kerbs and external steps etc.,
and would create a wider footway with an average width of 2m. It is understand
that all the additional areas of footway would be offered up for adoption, which is
welcomed. This would be secured by s.106 legal agreement.

6.10.6 The proposals would further open up a new area of public realm and would
enhance connectivity through the site, by opening up new public routes east-west
and north-south. This is also welcomed and strongly supported in context of
London Plan policy 6.10. Full details of all the landscape and public realm areas
would be secured by condition.

Page 263

Car Parking
6.10.7 The site is located within the Kennington K Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), which
is operational Monday-Friday 08:30-18:30. Parking survey results contained
within the Transport Assessment (TA) submitted show a low level of parking
stress locally. However, given the high PTAL of the site and the central location,
a permit free designation is considered appropriate for the development.

6.10.8 The existing site includes 25 parking spaces, while the proposals would reduce
on-site parking provision to 16 spaces. This would include 10 disabled spaces for
the proposed residential units and 6 retained for Walker Books. It is understood
that these spaces would be leased from the landowner, and if they were no
longer required by Walker Books could be converted into residential disabled
bays. This level of disabled car parking provision (6.2% based on 10 spaces and
10% based on 16 spaces) is considered to be acceptable for the 160 residential
units proposed.

6.10.9 Since the future of the 6 x Walker Books bays is uncertain these cannot be relied
upon and therefore the Council’s Transport Section has requested that 2 disabled
car parking bays be provided on-street in the vicinity of the site to compensate for
the 6 Walker Books spaces that would not be provided for disabled parking in the
short-term. A contribution of £20,000 (£10,000 per bay) for the installation of
these on-street bays and the cost of any amendments that may be required to
traffic orders, would be secured by s.106 legal agreement.
6.10.1 A Car club space is also to be provided on-street within the vicinity of the site by
Enterprise Car Club with 3yrs free membership being offered per household plus
£50 driving credit. This is welcomed. Details of the Car Club bay together with the
cost of its installation and any amendments that may be required to traffic orders,
would also be secured by s.106 legal agreement.

Cycle Parking
6.10.2 The proposals include 3 x separate residential cycle stores for each block,
totalling 264 spaces, which meets the London Plan requirements. An appropriate
mix of two-tier and stand-alone Sheffield stands is provided, and appropriate
access routes are provided to each store, using either the car lifts or passenger

Page 264

lifts. A commercial cycle parking store accommodating 101 office spaces and 1
church space is also shown. This level of provision also meets London Plan
standards.
6.10.3

Four areas of external cycle parking, providing 24 spaces are also proposed,
which meets the London Plan standard for short-stay cycle parking for the
proposed uses. Further detail on the exact specification of the cycle storage
provision would be secured by condition.

6.10.4

The closest Cycle Hire Docking station is located some 2 minutes’ walk from the
site on Vauxhall Walk. Three years free Cycle Hire membership for the
residential units and cycle hire keys covering 10% of employees based at the
site was previously raised by TfL, and the applicants have agreed to provide this
for the future occupiers of the development. This would be secured by s.106
legal agreement.

Construction management
6.10.5

Policy T8 of the Local Plan requires planning applications to be accompanied by
a construction and logistic plan, demonstrating arrangements for construction
traffic and how environmental, traffic and amenity impacts would be minimised.
An outline of the principles of a construction management plan are set out in the
submitted documents.

6.10.6

A more robust management plan has been submitted in draft form on request of
TfL. However, further details will be required on the details of the demolition and
construction programme to fully protect the locality from the transport and
environmental impacts of construction. These further details would be secured
by condition. A condition is also recommended to ensure any Non-Road Mobile
Machinery (NRMM) used during construction and demolition is compliant with
EU regulations in order to minimise detrimental impact on air quality.

Trip Generation
6.10.7

A trip generation analysis is included in the Transport Assessment which
compares the potential trip generating characteristics of the site to the proposed.
While this approach is questioned (a survey of the current site should be used as

Page 265

the baseline scenario, rather than the potential), it is accepted that the proposed
uses would generate a low level of vehicular activity.

Servicing, Waste & Recycling
6.10.1 Local Plan policy Q12 requires arrangements for waste storage to be integrated
into the design of a development to ensure that it is attractively designed and
conveniently located for users and collection.

6.10.2

The proposal would provide refuse stores for the development at basement level
in accordance with the Council’s refuse and recycling design guide. The refuse
bins would be transferred via the car lifts on collection day to a temporary holding
area on site, for collection from Jonathan Street. A draft Delivery Service Plan
(DSP) has been included in the submission which estimates 26-27 deliveries per
day for both the residential and commercial elements. The majority of these are
expected to be smaller vehicles which would fit in the car lifts / basement
servicing bays. However, some deliveries by larger vehicles, including 10m rigid
and 7.5t box vans are expected, and these would be accommodated in a new
inset loading bay on Worgan Street.

6.10.3

The loading bay would be treated as a shared surface to encourage pedestrians
to walk over and use the space when it is not in use by any servicing vehicles,
and a 2m footway would be maintained to the rear of the loading bay, which is
being offered for adoption. The loading bay would not be a dedicated facility for
the development, and could be used by other users subject to the displayed
restrictions, but given the nature of Worgan Street it is unlikely that there would
be significant local demand from other parties.

6.10.4

The DSP states that a ‘Goods in Manager’ will be appointed to oversee
deliveries, responsible for booking them in, encouraging the use of the basement
servicing bays rather than the on-street bay, and monitoring their use. Swept
paths are also included in the TA showing a 4.6t box van using the car lifts, but it
is not shown manoeuvring within the basement into the 2 x servicing bays. In
order to ensure the practicality and ease of use of these service bays, a
condition requiring swept paths of the use of the bays is considered to be
appropriate.

Page 266

Construction
6.10.5 Given the scale of the development, a full Construction Management Plan would
be secured by condition to ensure that the impact of the construction of the
development to surrounding properties and the highway network is minimised.

Travel Plan
6.10.6 Framework Employee and Residential Travel Plans are included as appendices
to the TA. These aim to reduce single occupancy vehicle trips and to encourage
a shift towards more active modes of travel. These Travel Plans would be
secured by condition.
6.10.7 No objection has been raised by either TfL or the Council’s Transport and
Highways Section to the proposal subject to conditions relating to visibility,
closure of existing access, Car Park Management Plan, Delivery Management
Strategy, Cycle Parking, Electric Vehicle Charging Points, Travel Plan,
Construction Logistics Plan and Refuse and Recycling Storage Details being
attached to any permission granted and a commitment being provided to enter
into a S278 agreement for off-site highways works including improvements along
Worgan Street and provision of shared surface loading bay, adoption of footways,
additional Car Club bay and 2 on-street disabled bays.

6.11

Biodiversity, landscaping and trees
Biodiversity

6.11.1 Local Plan policy EN1 and London Plan policy 7.19 encourage development to
make a positive contribution to protection, enhancement, creation and
management of biodiversity.

6.11.2 The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat
Survey prepared by Greengage Environmental Ltd which concludes that the
proposal will have no adverse impact on local wildlife. The following
enhancements are recommended for the site:

Page 267

•

Sensitive lighting scheme – a lighting strategy which is compliant with best
practice relating to bats and lighting;

•

Provision of wildlife friendly landscaping and an area of living roof; and

•

Provision of alternative potential future roosting sites in the form of at least 10
bat boxes in the new buildings.

6.11.3 Subject to the above being secured by condition, the proposal would result in net
gains for biodiversity.

Landscaping and trees
6.11.4 Local Plan policy Q9 reflects the aims of policy EN1, promoting opportunities for
greening as well as protection and enhancement of existing biodiversity. Policy Q9
also supports the use of landscaping to provide strong boundary treatments, together
with access routes and parking areas compliant with safety standards and minimum
parking standards.

6.11.5 As there are no public routes through the existing site, the proposal places a
strong emphasis on improving permeability. Two newly created public spaces are
to be provided, with new pedestrian routes through the site, both from north to
south and east to west directions.

6.11.6 A total of 1,800sqm of new public realm will be created within the development,
representing over 40% of the total site area. The design of the public realm and
hard/soft landscaping within the development maximises the usability of the
space between the buildings, whilst bringing new soft landscaping and greenery
into the development. The new public realm at ground floor level provides a
formal, yet multi-functional and inviting space at the centre of the site, which has
been purposefully designed to enable its use for a range of activities and
functions by the local community.

6.11.7 The proposals will open up the site, creating new pedestrian routes through,
connecting the surrounding streets and restoring historic permeability through the
site. The new public realm created will be of a high quality and active and will be
enlivened by active frontage and building entrances. A more intimate pocket
space, located on the north-south axis, is proposed where seating planters will be
provided. A row of tree planters is also strategically placed along the north-south

Page 268

axis where the most sunlight will be received, creating a green spine running
through the development.

6.11.8 The proposed building line fronting Worgan Street will create a new defined edge
to the street unlike the existing buildings, which form an untidy street frontage.
The width of the pavement along Worgan Street will be increased between
750mm and 1500mm, with existing planters and other obstructions removed. It is
proposed for the newly increased pavement to be dedicated as new public
highway once the development has been completed. Full details of the public
realm areas and tree and hedge planting proposed are to be secured by
condition in any permission granted.

6.12

Sustainability

6.12.1 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
It states: ‘Planning plays a key role in shaping places to secure radical reductions
in greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing resilience to
the impact of climate change, and supporting the delivery of renewable and low
carbon energy and associated infrastructure’.

6.12.2 The NPPF actively promotes developments which reduce greenhouse gas
emissions (para 95). In determining planning applications it states that local
planning authorities should expect development to comply with local policies and
expect that layout of development in a manner that would reduce energy
consumption through building orientation, massing and landscape (para 96).

6.12.3 Policies 5.2 and 5.3 of the London Plan state that development proposals should
minimise carbon dioxide emissions and exhibit the highest standards of
sustainable design and construction, whilst policy 5.7 states that they should
provide on-site renewable energy generation. London Plan policy 5.5 states that
Boroughs should seek to create decentralised energy networks, whilst Policy 5.6
requires development proposals to connect to an existing heating network as a
first preference if one is available.

6.12.4 London Plan Policy 5.3 provides a list of the sustainability criteria against which
planning applications will be assessed. The London Plan policy seeks to ensure
the following sustainable design principles:

Page 269



Minimizing carbon dioxide emissions across the Site, including buildings and
services



Avoid internal overheating and contributions to the urban heat island effect



Efficient use of natural resources including water



Minimising pollution (including noise and air)



Minimising the generation of waste and maximizing reuse or recycling



Ensuring developments are comfortable and secure for users



Securing sustainable procurement of materials



Promoting and protecting biodiversity and green infrastructure

6.12.5 Local Plan policy EN3 requires development to utilise decentralized heating,
cooling or power networks in the vicinity of the site, or future proof for planned
energy networks.

6.12.6 London Plan Policies 5.1 and 5.2 also expect an overall reduction in carbon
dioxide emissions by 60% by 2025, and it is expected that under guidance from
the GLA, London boroughs will take measures to meet this target. Policy 5.2
requires development to implement measures designed to reduce carbon dioxide
emissions. The London Plan also requires that the development follows an
energy hierarchy when considering reducing CO2 emissions. The energy
hierarchy must consider incorporation of energy efficiency measures including
passive design, supplying energy efficiently (with a particular emphasis on decentralised energy generation including CHP) and using renewable energy
technologies.

6.12.7 The proposed Development has been accompanied by an Energy and
Sustainability Statement. The submission of these are in accordance with LLP
and London Plan policies and have been reviewed by the Council’s sustainability
advisors, Bioregional.

6.12.8 The following summarises the key technical solutions that are proposed for the
development:


Passive design principles (such as large, openable windows for the
residential units) adopted in building massing and orientation;



Glazing designed to reduce the cooling loads (where applicable);

Page 270



Thermal performance of building fabric maximised;



Air permeability improved beyond Part L notional values;



Space heating and domestic hot water for all areas to be supplied from high
efficiency communal gas fired boilers located in a central energy centre (as
back-up to CHP);



Boiler plant linked to BMS and includes central time control, weather
compensation and metering;



Cooling for commercial areas (note left as shell only) to be supplied from high
efficiency air cooled chiller;



Residential ventilation supplied via mechanical ventilation heat recovery units
(whole house MVHR);



Ventilation to commercial areas supplied from centralised air handling units
with low specific fan power and heat recovery;



Ventilation pumps and fans fitted with variable speed motors; and



All buildings to be fitted with high efficiency lighting. Occupancy sensing and
photoelectric daylight sensing in perimeter zones specified to commercial
areas.

6.12.9 The proposed development is currently predicting a site-wide 35% carbon dioxide
emissions reduction over Part L 2013 (based on the approach, information,
analysis and contents reported in this document), through the measures outlined
in 6.168. The final size of CHP and number of Photovoltaic panels will be
designed to suit the ‘As-Designed’ development at RIBA Stage 4. Currently a
predicted 322m2 PV array will be installed on the roof of Building B and Building
C to provide renewable electricity. Connection to the nearest existing district
heating network will not be possible as it is located across the River Thames and
connection to it is not currently feasible. However, the heating systems will be
designed to enable future connection to any future networks.

6.12.10 The design for the scheme has been developed with sustainable design
principles at its core. An integrated and holistic approach to design has been
adopted and the Sustainability Statement provided with the application outlines
the process by which sustainability has been addressed as part of the project.

6.12.11 In supporting this strategy, a number of legislative policies have been used to
inform design decisions. The Energy and Sustainability Statement identifies how

Page 271

the proposed development will meet the objectives of the London Plan, and the
principles outlined in the Mayor of London’s Supplementary Planning Guidance
which requires Local Authorities to ensure future developments meet the highest
standards of sustainable design and construction.

6.12.12 A BREEAM Pre-Assessment has been carried out to evaluate the proposed
development’s possible score under BREEAM New Construction UK 2014 (Shell
and Core) for the office areas of the building. The pre-assessment corroborates
the proposed development’s sustainability credentials, showing that the design is
capable of achieving a BREEAM 'Excellent' rating achieving an overall credit score
of 75.97%.

6.12.13 In order to comply with the London Plan target of 105 litres/p/d for water usage, a
condition is to be imposed to ensure that this would be met. In summary, officers
and Bioregional are satisfied that the Development would meet with the LLP and
London Plan policy expectations in achieving high ratings of BREEAM together
with an acceptable reduction in carbon emissions.

6.12.14 The above sustainability measures, such as the provision of green roofs,
photovoltaic panels and BREEAM ‘Excellent’ for the non-residential uses for
example, would be secured by conditions in any permission granted.

6.13

Environmental Considerations
Sustainable drainage and flooding

6.13.1

Policy 5.12 states that development proposals must meet flood risk assessment
and management requirements. The London Plan SPG states new development
should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and green roofs where
practical with the aim of maximising all opportunities to achieve a Greenfield runoff rate, increasing biodiversity and improving water quality. Greenfield runoff
rates are defined as the runoff rates from a site, in its natural state, prior to any
development. Typically this is between 2 and 8 litres per second per hectare.
Surface water run-off is to be managed as close to source as possible.

Page 272

6.13.2

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application to
demonstrate that the proposed development can be satisfactorily accommodated
without worsening flood risk for the area and without placing the development
itself at risk of flooding, as per National guidance provided within the National
Planning Policy Framework document (NPPF) and in accordance with Policy EN5
of the Local Plan.

6.13.3

The Flood Zone Map (FZM) for the locality as produced by the Environment
Agency (EA) identifies the site as being located within Defended Flood Zone 3
(high risk). Notwithstanding this, the EA identifies that the River Thames is
defended along this section by the Thames Barrier and the Thames Tidal Flood
Defences against a tidal flood event that has a 0.1% probability of occurring.

6.13.4

In summary, the FRA concludes the following:


The Site is defended against tidal flooding to a very high standard. Tidal
flooding could only happen in an extreme breach or overtopping scenario;



Surface water flooding would not significantly impact on the Site itself, but
might affect surrounding roads, especially to the east; and



Flood mitigation measures including raised ground floor levels by at least
100mm in comparison to the existing ground levels, locating residential uses
at first floor level and above, and a safe refuge is provided at first floor level
with unimpeded access from basement and ground floor levels.

6.13.5

The submitted FRA also includes an outline drainage strategy. This identifies that
it is proposed for the Site to discharge to an existing Thames Water sewer
network within proximity of the Site. It is proposed that the Development will
reduce surface water runoff by at least 50% when compared to the existing
situation, which is in accordance with the requirements of the London Plan.

6.13.6

The Development incorporates a variety of sustainable drainage solutions, with
discharge rates predominantly reduced via the use of an attenuation storage
system and associated flow control device located beneath the newly created
public realm areas on the Site. The SuDs features that will be incorporated into
the Development include:

Page 273

6.13.7



Green roofs;



Rainwater harvesting system; and



Geocellular Attenuation and associated flow controls.

The FRA has been undertaken in accordance with the principles set out in NPPF
and it concludes that providing the development adheres to the mitigation
strategy recommended the proposed development can accommodate without
increasing flood risk within the locality in accordance with planning policy
objectives.

Contamination
6.13.8

Chapter 13 of the NPPF relates to facilitating the sustainable use of minerals and
seeks to (in part) ensure that permitted operations do not have unacceptable
adverse impact on migration of contamination from the site.

6.13.9

Policy 5.21 of the London Plan supports the remediation of contaminated sites
and that the development of brownfield sites does not result in significant harm to
human health or the environment and to bring contaminated land to beneficial
use.

6.13.10 The application site does not fall within the definition of ‘contaminated land’ as
described in part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, and consequently
there are no significant contamination risks associated with the proposed
development.

6.13.11 The Local Plan identifies that proposals for basement and other underground
development will require an assessment of the scheme’s impact on drainage,
flooding, groundwater and structural stability. The FRA which accompanies the
planning application provides details in relation to drainage and flooding, whilst a
separate Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) prepared by RSK provides
information in relation to groundwater.
6.13.12 The PRA has been reviewed and discussed with the Council’s independent
consultants who confirmed the report provides sufficient information in light that

Page 274

no residential accommodation is to be located at basement level. A series of
recommendations are outlined in the report as follows:


Cable percussion and window sampler boreholes to ascertain the deeper
ground;



Conditions and install gas/groundwater monitoring wells;



Detailed UXO Threat Assessment and implementation of any
recommendations stemming from the study;



A programme of ground gas and groundwater monitoring;



Soil and groundwater underlying the site should be analysed for a range of
organic and inorganic contaminants, including PCBs and presence of ACMs;



Development of a refined conceptual site model followed by generic
quantitative risk assessment (GQRA) to assess complete pollutant linkages;



Identification of outline mitigation measures for complete pollutant linkages or
recommendations for further work; and



Preliminary assessment of waste classification for soils to be removed from
site.

6.13.13 The Council’s Environmental Health (Contamination) Section has reviewed the
proposal and raises no objection subject to conditions relating to contamination
and securing a Basement Risk Assessment being attached to any permission
granted.

Wind Microclimate
6.13.14 Policy 7.7 of the London Plan states that tall buildings should not have an
unacceptable harmful impact on their surroundings and should not adversely
affect microclimate or wind turbulence.

6.13.15 The application is accompanied by a Wind Microclimate Assessment produced by
BMT Fluid Mechanics that has assessed the wind microclimate for the proposed
development. On the basis of the wind tunnel modelling undertaken, the following
conclusions have been drawn:

Page 275



Wind conditions in and around the existing site are generally suitable, in
terms of both pedestrian safety and comfort, with the exception of one
location to the south-west of the existing site, where the comfort criteria for
outdoor seating is exceeded;



Wind conditions in and around the proposed development in the context of
both existing and approved cumulative surrounds are rated as suitable, in
terms of pedestrian safety;



Wind conditions in and around the proposed development, in the context of
both existing and approved cumulative surrounds, are largely rated as
suitable in terms of pedestrian comfort throughout the year;



A single exception to this occurs at an outdoor seating area to the south-west
of the proposed development, where wind conditions were found to be
suitable only for strolling during winter and for short periods of sitting from
spring to autumn. However, this is a pre-existing condition which is not
attributed to the introduction of the proposed development.

6.13.16 On the basis of the findings of the assessment undertaken, the wind conditions
remain suitable, in terms of pedestrian comfort, in and around the development.

6.14

Community Safety

6.14.1

Local Plan Policy Q3 requires developments to be designed in a manner that does
not engender opportunities for crime or anti-social behaviour, or create a hostile
environment that would produce fear of crime.

6.14.2

For a development of this nature, the main considerations would relate to counter
terrorism, access to the building and the areas of public realm around the building.
Discussions have taken place with the Designing out Crime Officer and the
proposed development would incorporate principles of Secured by Design.
Conditions requiring delivery and servicing plan, public realm management plan
and a car park management plan will ensure that the proposed development
provides a safe and secure environment.

Page 276

6.14.3

The existing cut through from Vauxhall Walk adjacent to Walker Books is to be
gated at night for security purposes. During the daytime all the gates will remain
open to allow free movement into the Site. Full details of the gates together with
their opening times are to be secured by condition.

6.15

Planning obligations and CIL

6.15.1 The Local Plan (Policy D4 and Annex 10) sets out the council’s position in
relation to seeking planning obligations and the charging approaches for various
types of obligation. For contributions that are not covered by Annex 10, the
Council’s approach to calculating contributions is guided by its July 2013 revised
draft S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
produced for consultation. Officers consider several planning obligations are
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and a set of
draft Heads of Terms (HoTs) have been agreed with the applicant:


Affordable housing on-site at 35% (calculated by habitable rooms) with 36
rented units (at affordable rent, in line with the Council’s Tenancy Strategy)
and 14 shared-ownership units being secured;



Early stage/implementation review mechanism;



Play-space contribution of £44,550 (off-setting shortfall of on-site provision £99 x 450sqm shortfall balance of play-space);



Employment and skills plan;



Worksmart Plan;



Employment and training contribution (to be calculated – capital construction
costs required – see SPD pp35);



Local Labour in construction (construction training) contribution (£2,500 per
£1m of capital construction costs up to £30m construction);



Detail of workspace offer e.g. management plan based on Halkin statement;



Considerate contractors scheme/Nine Elms Construction Charter/Compliance
with FORS;



Delivery of public realm improvements to provide link into LBL estate south of
site (Jameson/Kennedy House);



Enter into s278 agreement for public realm works and adoption on Worgan St
and Jonathan St;



Public access in perpetuity to the square during specified hours and a
management plan;



Travel plan and monitoring (fee is £3,000.00), including the community use;



Parking permit free development;

Page 277



Blue badge space release to Graphite Square occupiers upon release of
Walker Books leases;



Provision of 2 on-street disabled car parking spaces within the vicinity of the
site (£10,000 x 2 fee);



Energy strategy for future energy network connection, and identify value of
any carbon off-setting;



3yrs free cycle hire membership for residential units;



Cycle hire keys available covering 10% of employees;



Car club 3yrs free membership per household;



Provision of 1 Car club bay on-street;



Administration and implementation fee (for obligations of this scale, 5% of
total value of financial contributions).

6.15.2 The application site is located in Lambeth CIL charge Zone B – Kennington, Oval
and Clapham where the Levy rate relevant to the Development is £150 per sqm
of residential floorspace. There is no charge for office development or smaller
scale retail floorspace within the area.

6.15.3 The London Mayoral CIL would however be applicable and a charge of £35 per
sqm for the proposed land use would be applied. The London Mayoral CIL will be
applied towards the cost of Crossrail.

7.
7.1.1

EQUALITY DUTY AND HUMAN RIGHTS
In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the council must have due regard to
the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set
out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation,
regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the relevant
protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

7.1.2

In line with the Human Rights Act 1998, it is unlawful for a public authority to act
in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right, as per the European
Convention on Human Rights. The human rights impact have been considered,
with particular reference to Article 1 of the First Protocol (Protection of property),
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life) and Article 14 (Prohibition of
discrimination) of the Convention.

Page 278

7.1.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 does not impair the right of the state to make
decisions and enforce laws as deemed necessary in the public interest. The
recommendation is considered appropriate in upholding the council's adopted
and emerging policies and is not outweighed by any engaged rights.

8.
8.1.1

PROCEDURAL MATTERS
The application is referable to the Mayor under the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008. The application has already been
referred to the Mayor at ‘Stage 1’ and a summary of the Mayor’s comments are
included above. Before Lambeth can issue a decision on this application it will need
to refer the application again to the Mayor at ‘Stage 2’; where after the Mayor will
have the opportunity to elect to become determining authority, direct refusal, or allow
Lambeth to proceed and issue the decision in line with its resolution.

9.
9.1.1

CONCLUSION
The principle of the redevelopment of the site for a residential led mixed-use
development use is supported and complies fully with Council policy.

9.1.2

The proposed buildings on the site have been sensitively designed, taking inspiration
from the surroundings and historic context of the site, and would respect the
character, context and the form and scale of neighbouring buildings and would sit
comfortably within the streetscene and surrounding area. They would have no
adverse impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings.

9.1.3

The application provides an appropriate level of affordable housing and the
density of the development is in accordance with London Plan guidance and
optimises additional housing on an underutilised brownfield site in an accessible
location.

9.1.4

Given the distance and orientation to the nearest residential properties, the proposal
would not appear visually overbearing or result in any significant material impact in
terms of outlook, overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring residential properties.

Page 279

9.1.5

The proposal provides an appropriate mix of tenure and units with a good
standard of accommodation, in terms of unit sizes, aspect and amenity space
provision, being provided.

9.1.6

The proposed scheme does result in some adverse and noticeable reductions in
daylight and sunlight, particularly to 79 Vauxhall Walk. However, some
consideration should be given to the particular characteristics of the properties
reviewed and to the fairly minimal existing massing on the application site which
is unusual in an urban context. It is also reasonable to consider the identified
effects alongside the planning merits of the scheme overall.

9.1.7

The development would regenerate this under used site. It would maximise the
potential of the site providing 160 residential units which will contribute to meeting
the housing needs of the Borough and delivers a significant quantum of
affordable homes within the Borough, including a large proportion of affordable
family housing meeting the criteria for consideration under the Mayor’s Fast Track
procedure. It further provides a significant increase in the amount of flexible Class
B1 office accommodation on the site, including workspace targeted towards small
and medium sized businesses, and delivers a new public realm, including the
creation of new pedestrian routes through the site, improving connectivity within
the immediate area.

9.1.8

In conclusion officers consider that the many planning benefits the development
would deliver are sufficient to outweigh the identified impacts on residential
amenity. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable when judged
against national, London wide and local plan policy and guidance and is
recommended for approval

10. RECOMMENDATION
10.1.1 Grant Conditional Planning Permission subject to s106 legal agreement.

11. CONDITIONS(S) AND REASONS(S)

Page 280

11.1 Standard Conditions
Time period
1.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than
three years from the date of this decision notice.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

In accordance with approved plans
2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance
with the approved plans and drawings listed in this decision notice, other than
where those details are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning
permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

11.2 Pre-commencement
Method of construction
3.

No ground-works, demolition or development shall commence until full details of
the proposed construction methodology, in the form of a Construction
Management Plan (CMP), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The CMP should build on the Outline Construction
Logistics Plan (December 2017) and will include details of:
a) The notification of neighbours with regard to specific works;
b) Advance notification of road closures;
c) Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;
d) Details regarding dust mitigation;
e) Details of measures to prevent the deposit of mud and debris on the public
highway; and
f) Any other measures to mitigate the impact of construction upon the amenity of
the area and the function and safety of the highway network.
No ground-works, demolition or development shall commence until provision has
been made to accommodate all site operatives', visitors' and construction vehicles
loading, off-loading, parking and turning within the site or otherwise during the
construction period in accordance with the approved details. The ground-works,
demolition or development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
details and measures approved in the CMP, unless amendments to it have been
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to
avoid hazard and obstruction being caused to users of the public highway and to

Page 281

safeguard residential amenity from the start of the construction process (policies
6.11, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2016); and policies T6 and T8 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Contamination
4.

Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning permission
(or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority), the following components of a scheme to deal with the
risks associated with contamination of the site shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority:
a)

b)

c)

a site investigation scheme, based on the submitted preliminary risk assessment
(PRA) by RSK Environment Ltd (dated June 2017 with reference 371521-01
(01)), to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors
which may be affected, including those off site;
the results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (1)
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken;
a verification plan providing details of the data which will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (2) are complete
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these
components require the express consent of the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: For the protection of controlled waters. The site is located over a
Secondary Aquifer and it is understood that the site may be affected by historic
contamination.

Basement Risk Assessment
5.

No development shall take place until a Basement Method Statement and Flood
Risk Assessment have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This statement shall include details regarding:
(a) Detailed site specific analysis of hydrological and geotechnical local ground
conditions;
(b) Site specific analysis of how the excavation of the basement may impact on
the water table and any ground water floor, and whether water perched is present;
(c) Details of how flood risk, including risk from groundwater and surface water
flooding has been addressed in the design, including details of any proposed
mitigation measures;
(d) Details of measures proposed to mitigate and monitor any risks in relation to
land instability;

Page 282

(e) Demonstration of how cumulative effects have been considered; and
(f) A comprehensive non- technical summary document of the assessments
provided and information submitted against (a) to (e) of this condition.
Reason: Development must not commence before this conditions is discharged to
avoid hazard in relation to land instability and increased flood risk caused by the
basement excavation (Paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework
2012 and Policy EN5 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).

Archaeology
6.

A) No development other than demolition to existing ground level shall take place
until the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological evaluation in accordance with a
Written Scheme of Investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved by the local planning authority in writing and a report on that evaluation
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing.
B) Under Part A, the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) shall
implement a programme of archaeological evaluation in accordance with a Written
Scheme of Investigation.
C) No development other than demolition to existing ground level shall take place
until the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation in accordance with a
Written Scheme of Investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved by the local planning authority in writing and a report on that evaluation
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing.
D) Under Part A, the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) shall
implement a programme of archaeological mitigation in accordance with a Written
Scheme of Investigation.
E) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and postinvestigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme
set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Part (A), and the
provision for analysis, publication and dissemination of the results and archive
deposition has been secured.
Reason: Heritage assets of archaeological interest may survive on the site. The
planning authority wishes to secure the provision of appropriate archaeological
investigation, including the publication of results, in accordance with Section 12 of
the NPPF (Policy 7.8 of the London Plan 2016).

Tree protection
7.

No works, stationing of equipment, or changes of ground level, shall occur until a
Tree Protection Plan and Method Statement has been submitted to and approved

Page 283

in writing by the local planning authority, and until the measures of tree protection
identified in the approved Tree Protection Plan and Method Statement have been
fully implemented. The Tree Protection Plan shall thereafter be retained and
maintained for the duration of the demolition and construction period, and all
works will be carried out in accordance with the Tree Protection Plan and Method
Statement.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to
ensure the retention of, and avoid irrevocable damage to, the retained trees on
and adjacent to the site that represent an important visual amenity to the locality
and the wider surrounding area (policies 7.21 of the London Plan (2015) and Q10
of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
11.3 Prior to below ground works

Sustainable Drainage
8.

No works below ground level shall commence until details of the implementation,
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be
implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the
approved details. The details shall include:
a) a timetable for its implementation, and
b) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.
No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground
are permitted other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To manage the water environment of the development and mitigate the
impact on flood risk, water quality, habitat and amenity value (policies EN5 and
EN6 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

11.4 Prior to commencement of the use

Submit a Servicing and Access Management plan
9.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, a Servicing and Access
Management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in
accordance with the approved details. The submitted details will include the
following:

Page 284

a) Vehicular servicing of the site (including waste and refuse, and deliveries to and
from the site), for each of the relevant phases.
b) Control of pedestrian access through the site, for each of the relevant phases
including details of the when the entrance gates would be closed to the public..
Reason: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and limit the effects of
the increase in travel movements within the locality as well as safeguarding public
safety and the amenity of the surrounding area, and to ensure that the
development maintains and enhances community safety(policies Q3, T1, T6 and
T8 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Waste and recycling storage (to be submitted and provided)
10.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, details of waste and
recycling storage for the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The waste and recycling storage shall be
provided in accordance with the approved details prior to the commencement of
the use hereby permitted, and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated
use. The waste and recycling storage areas/facilities should comply with the
Lambeth’s Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide (2013), unless it is
demonstrated in the submissions that such provision is inappropriate for this
specific development.
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to
encourage the sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual
amenities of the area (policies Q2 and Q12 of the London Borough of Lambeth
Local Plan (2015)).

Travel Plan
11.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, a Travel Plan shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The
measures approved in the Travel Plan shall be implemented prior to the use
hereby permitted commencing and shall be so maintained for the duration of the
use, unless the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority is obtained to
any variation. The measures will include details of users’ access to information
about sustainable transport options, access to cycle storage and shower facilities,
public transport information, targets, details of monitoring and data returns to the
LPA, and mitigation if targets are not reached.
Reason: To ensure that the travel arrangements to the development are
sustainable and appropriate, and to limit the effects of the increase in travel
(policies T1 and T6 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Page 285

Provide parking spaces
12.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, the parking spaces shall
be laid out in accordance with the approved plans, and the disabled/accessible
parking space shall be retained for the duration of the use. No vehicles, other than
blue-badge holder vehicles and operational vehicles for the users of the site, shall
park on the site. Vehicles shall only park within the designated spaces shown on
the approved plans, and on no other part of the site.
Reason: To enable accessible parking to be provided, prevent excessive parking
and minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the site and
surrounding area (policies T1, T6, T7, T8 and Q2 of the London Borough of
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Electric charging points
13.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, electric vehicle charging
points shall be provided to serve all car parking spaces on the site, and they shall
thereafter be retained for the duration of the development.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking is available on site and to promote
sustainable modes of transport (policies T1 and T6 of the London Borough of
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Details of noise levels from mechanical equipment or plant
14.

The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not
commence until an assessment of the acoustic impact arising from the operation
of all internally and externally located plant has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.

15.

The assessment of the acoustic impact shall be undertaken in accordance with BS
4142: 2014 (or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current best practice, and
shall include a scheme of attenuation measures to ensure the rating level of noise
emitted from the proposed building services plant is less than background.
The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not
commence until a post-installation noise assessment has been carried out to
confirm compliance with the noise criteria. The scheme shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details and attenuation measures, and they shall be
permanently retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the use
and their operation.
Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining residential occupiers and the
surrounding area (policy Q2 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan
(2015)).

Page 286

Details of landscaping
16.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted, a landscaping scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
development hereby permitted shall be thereafter carried out in accordance with
the approved details within 6 months of the date of occupation. All tree, shrub and
hedge planting included within the above specification shall accord with
BS3936:1992, BS4043:1989 and BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding
equivalent) and current Arboricultural best practice. The submitted details are
expected to demonstrate the following:
a) The quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all
trees and shrubs to be planted.
b) An indication of how they integrate with the proposal in the long term with
regard to their mature size and anticipated routine maintenance and protection.
c) Specification of which shrubs and hedges to be planted that are intended to
achieve a significant size and presence in the landscape.
e) Details of the siting and design approach to planters and containers.
f) Details of the provision of wildlife planting, bird and bat boxes, and bug hotels.
h) Details of other hard landscaping, including access roads and pedestrian paths
within the site.
Reason: In order to ensure high quality landscaping and site layout in and around
the site in the interests of the ecological value of the site and in the interests of
visual amenity and safety (policy Q2, Q7, Q9 and Q10 of the London Borough of
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

BREEAM certificate
17.

Prior to occupation of any part of the development a final code certificate shall be
obtained confirming the development hereby permitted has achieved a minimum
BREEAM Refurbishment rating of ‘Excellent’.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability
(policy EN4 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015))

Green roof
18.

Prior to the installation of the green roof, a detailed specification of the green roof
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
specification shall include details of the quantity, size, species, position and the
proposed time of planting of all elements of the green roof, together with details of
their anticipated routine maintenance and protection. The green roof shall only be
installed and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Page 287

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area (policies Q2 and Q9 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Green roof installation
19.

If within 5 years of the installation of the green roof any planting forming part of the
green roof shall die, be removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased, then
either this planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with planting of a
similar size and species, or otherwise the green roof shall be entirely removed
from the site.
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area (policies Q2 and Q9 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

11.5

Prior to any D1 use

Community Use Management Plan
20.

No D1 use shall commence unless a Community Use Management Plan that
includes the following details has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority:
i) a description of the proposed D1 use and its target users
ii) operational hours for the proposed D1 use
iii) estimated numbers of staff and users
iv) measures to minimise impact of the use on the area
v) provision of community access to, and use of, the proposed D1 space
vi) a fee strategy for community access to the proposed D1 space
The D1 use shall only operate in accordance with the Community Use
Management Plan, unless any modification has been agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To control the future use of the site in the public interest, to properly
manage any community use, to ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused
to the detriment of the amenity of adjoining occupiers or users of the area
generally, to protect the long-term use and viability of the business floorspace, and
to limit the chance of harmful future transport impacts (policy Q2, ED2, S2, T6 and
T8 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

11.6 Prior to any A3 use
21.

No A3 use hereby permitted (within the flexible unit) shall commence until details
and full specifications of fume extraction and filtration equipment, and an ongoing
maintenance plan, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local

Page 288

planning authority. The A3 use hereby permitted shall not commence until the
approved details are fully implemented. The approved fume extraction and
filtration equipment shall thereafter be retained and maintained in working order
for the duration of the A3 use in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure appropriate appearance and that no nuisance or disturbance
is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining occupiers or to the area
generally (policy Q2 and Q7 and ED7 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local
Plan (2015)).
11.7 Prior to occupation of more than 50% of the residential

Ensuring Provision of the Commercial Use
22.

Prior to the occupation of more than 50% of the residential units hereby permitted,
or in accordance with an alternative timetable that has first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the office accommodation
shall be fitted out to turnkey standards, including operational toilets, kitchen areas,
heating, air conditioning, power, lighting and data connections.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of employment floorspace on the site
(policy ED2 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

11.8 Compliance

Air quality (Non road-mobile machinery)
23.

No non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) shall be used on the site unless it is
compliant with the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements (or any superseding
requirements) and until it has been registered for use on the site on the NRMM
register (or any superseding register).
Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development in
line with London Plan policy 7.14 and the Mayor’s SPG: The Control of Dust and
Emissions During Construction and Demolition.

